Paul Thurrott

Rafael Rivera Martin McClean

MOUS 10 eld Guide arets F

The quickest way to get it don e with Microsoft Windows 10

mofily d

form of hommosel that required? Futte oforthempse Ind Wintquitance mofile the architectory Micouract whicher off 2 Tarreneplafin a

Windows 10 Field Guide

Includes Reference, Surface Pro 3, Surface Pro 4, and Surface Studio posters

Paul Thurrott, Rafael Rivera and Martin McClean

This book is for sale at http://leanpub.com/windows10fieldguide

This version was published on 2020-05-04



This is a Leanpub book. Leanpub empowers authors and publishers with the Lean Publishing process. Lean Publishing is the act of publishing an in-progress ebook using lightweight tools and many iterations to get reader feedback, pivot until you have the right book and build traction once you do.

 ${\ensuremath{\textcircled{\circ}}}$ 2015 - 2020 Paul Thurrott, Rafael Rivera and Martin McClean

Tweet This Book!

Please help Paul Thurrott, Rafael Rivera and Martin McClean by spreading the word about this book on Twitter!

The suggested tweet for this book is:

Just picked up #Windows10FieldGuide, thanks @thurrott @withinrafael and Martin!

The suggested hashtag for this book is #Windows10FieldGuide.

Find out what other people are saying about the book by clicking on this link to search for this hashtag on Twitter:

#Windows10FieldGuide

Contents

About the Book	1
Trademarks and disclaimers	1
Publication history	2
We want your feedback!	2
Meet the authors	2
Thanks!	3
Introduction	1
Get to Know Windows 10	3
Start: Menu or full-screen	3
Taskbar: Manage apps and windows	5
Search: Find what you need	6
Desisten: Vour constable man	/
Eila European Managa da sumanta and filos	ð
The Microsoft Store, Appendence and more	0
Action Center and notifications: Find out what's new	9 10
Multitasking. Manage multiple windows at once	10
Take a screenshot: Canture an image of the screen	25
Settings: Customize and configure Windows	27
Windows Update: Keep Windows up-to-date	- /
Shutdown, Restart, Sleep, Lock and Sign-Off	33
Quick Access: A menu for power users	34
Install Windows 10	37
Initial Setup: The Out-Of-Box Experience	38
Post-Setup tasks	46
Upgrade from one Windows 10 product edition to another	50
Power user: Clean install Windows 10	51
Personalize	64
Get to know the Settings app	64
Eliminate the biggest annoyances first	65
Customize your privacy settings	70

Customize the display	74
Customize the desktop	78
Configure and customize Start	30
Configure and customize the taskbar	34
Customize the lock screen and sign-in screen	37
Files and Storage	39
Get to know File Explorer	39
Configure or disable Quick access in File Explorer)1
Share pictures and other files from File Explorer) 2
Use OneDrive to sync files between the cloud and your PC)4
Manage vour PC's storage)9
Back up and recover documents and other personal files with File History)2
	, ,
System Recovery)7
Get to know the system recovery options)7
Create a Recovery drive	11
Reinstall Windows and start fresh	12
Perform advanced recovery tasks with the Windows Recovery Environment	18
	-
Devices	24
Get to know Devices settings	24
Connect a device	25
Configure a mouse or touchpad 12	29
Configure a keyboard	32
Configure removable storage	33
Configure a printer	33
Configure a second display	36
Phone	£2
Get to know the Your Phone app 14	ί2
Link your phone with your PC	í4
Access your Android phone's key features from your PC	í9
Use Continue on PC to pick up where you left off	53
Explore more PC and phone integration features	58
I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	
Accounts	55
Get to know Accounts settings	55
You should sign-in to Windows with a Microsoft account	57
Microsoft account security first steps	58
Manage your sign-in account	70
Manage sign-in account security	/2
Manage other sign-in accounts	75
Configure email accounts	79

Configure app accounts	2
Security	4 34
Use Windows Update to keep Windows 10 up-to-date	8
Use Windows Defender to protect your PC from threats	9
Find your PC if it's lost or stolen	0
Use BitLocker to secure your personal data	2
Networking 20	1
Cet to know Windows networking 20	1
Understand network profiles	1
	5
	5
	0
	17
Share your Internet connection	.1
Connect to known-safe public wireless connections automatically	3
Microsoft Store and Apps	4
Get to know the Microsoft Store	4
Before you start	5
Find and install apps and games 21	8
Undate apps	3
Manage app notifications	3
Uningtall an ann	0
Configure default app	יד 1
Configure default apps	1
Configure where apps are located	3
Mail 23	5
Get to know the Mail app 23	5
Manage vour accounts	8
Read and send email messages 24	1
Use Mail more efficiently	6
Customize Meil	:U
	:9
People	3
Get to know the People app	3
Manage accounts	6
Manage contacts with the People ann 25	7
Access your contacts from outside the People app	
Configure Doople	'4 E
Comigure reopie	C
Calendar	7
Get to know the Calendar app	7
11	

Manage accounts and calendars
Manage events and meetings
Create and manage meetings
Access events from outside the Calendar app
Customize Calendar
Skype
Get to know Skype
Configure Skype for the first time
Manage your Skype profile
Manage your contacts
Send and receive Skype messages
Send and receive audio and video calls
Call land lines and smartphones
Configure Skype
Mismosoft Edge
Make sure you re using the new Microsoft Edge
Configure Microsoft Edge
Manage your favorite web pages
Read on the web
Read and manage PDF files
Manage tabs
Manage downloads
Collect and organize web research 334
Do more with Microsoft Edge extensions 338
Mans 344
Get to know the Mans anns 344
Navigate and change the view 346
Find and explore places
Save and manage places
Get directions
Evalore 3D city views
Write on your mone with Ink
OneNote
Get to know OneNote
Create and manage notebooks and sections
Create and manage pages
Share a page
Pin a notebook, section, or page to Start

Photos
Get to know the Photos app
Configure Photos
Edit a photo
View. create. and edit video projects
Import photos from a phone, camera or other device
Access premium Photos features with an Office 365 account
Groove Music 415 Cot to Image the Croove Music and 413
Trucel music playback with the equalizer
Tweak music playback with the equalizer
Find music on your PC or nome network
Pin your favorite music to Start
Movies & TV
Get to know the Movies & TV app 420
Configure Movies & TV
Play and control a video
Rent a movie from Microsoft
Purchase a movie or TV show from Microsoft
Watch movies you've purchased from other services
Use subtitles
Wirelessly cast a video to an HDTV or other display
Xbox and Games 437
Get to know Windows gaming
Configure your PC to play games
Find and buy games
Play a game 445
Capture and broadcast your game play content with the Xbox Game Bar
Use the Xbox Console Companion app to interact with the Xbox Live community 456
Windows Ink
Cet to know Windows Ink Workspace (62)
Configure Windows Ink workspace
Use Sticky Notes to take notes and set reminders (67
Use Sketchned to groate a digital sketch
Use Snip & Sketch to draw on the screen 477
Revision History
Quick Reference Sheets

About the Book



Windows 10® *Field Guide* is written by Paul Thurrott, Rafael Rivera and Martin McClean and is copyright © 2019 by Paul Thurrott, Rafael Rivera and Martin McClean. All rights reserved. The cover design is by Martin McClean. Please do not steal our book and posters.

Trademarks and disclaimers

Windows is a registered trademark of Microsoft Corporation.

All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners.

The authors are not associated with any product or service mentioned in this book.

Publication history

This book is now being updated for Windows 10 version 2004 and 20H2! You can find a revision history for the *Windows 10 Field Guide* at the end of the book.

We want your feedback!

We are very interested in any feedback you may have about the book. If you find a typo or other mistake or would like to see the book expanded to address additional topics, please contact us via email at one of the addresses noted below. Thanks!

Meet the authors



Paul Thurrott is an award-winning technology journalist and blogger with over 20 years of industry experience and the author of 30 books. He is the News Director for the Petri IT Knowledgebase, the major domo at Thurrott.com, and the co-host of three tech podcasts: Windows Weekly with Leo Laporte and Mary Jo Foley, What the Tech with Andrew Zarian, and First Ring Daily with Brad Sams. He was formerly the senior technology analyst at Windows IT Pro and the creator of the SuperSite for Windows. You can reach Paul via email at paul@thurrott.com or on Twitter at *@thurrott*.



Rafael Rivera is a software developer for a VAR 500 company, Telos Corporation, where he works on mission critical systems for the United States Department of Defense and Intelligence Community. He is also a certified reverse engineering analyst and takes Windows apart for fun in his free time. You can reach Rafael via email at rafael@withinwindows.com or on Twitter at @WithinRafael.



Martin McClean is a computer scientist, electronic engineer and writer. He works as a program manager developing mobile software. He is a huge fan of all things Windows and he loves creating visual content, especially technical posters. You can reach Martin via email at McCleanM@outlook.com.

Thanks!

This book is dedicated to you, our readers. Thanks for your support.

– Paul, Rafael and Martin

Introduction

Everything old is new again.

Faced with the overwhelmingly negative reception to Windows 8, its ambitious attempt to meld traditional PCs with mobile devices, Microsoft faced a moment of truth. On one side were about 1.5 billion disenfranchised PC users, many of whom rejected the "touch-first," full-screen mobile interfaces of Windows 8. But on the other was a smaller yet equally vocal audience of customers who had in fact embraced Windows 8, in particular on tablets and a new generation of "2-in-1" PCs for which those new interfaces were in some ways quite well-designed.

Microsoft decided it could please both audiences. More important, perhaps, it decided it could do so with a single platform, called Windows 10, which would provide users with the same store and apps, and a responsive user interface that would adapt or be custom-designed for the hardware on which it runs.

Like its predecessors, Windows 10 runs on PCs, 2-in-1s and tablets. But it also runs on an expanding range of new device types including embedded "Internet of Things" devices, phones and phablets, the Xbox One video game console, and completely new form factors like the HoloLens augmented reality headset and the Surface Hub, an epic 84-inch all-in-one PC aimed at collaborative groups, not individual users.

The result is a system that is in many ways just as audacious as Windows 8, but without most of the downsides.

Windows 10 Field Guide, like its own predecessor, *Windows 8.1 Field Guide*, hits at the volume part of the Windows 10 user base: PCs, 2-in-1s and tablets. Put another way, *Windows 10 Field Guide* is a full-length e-book about the latest version of Microsoft Windows, aimed at those users who will upgrade from Windows 7 or Windows 8.1, or acquire Windows 10 with a new PC or device.

And like its predecessor, Windows 10 Field Guide is...

Self-published. We wrote this book ourselves and there's no publishing company to get in the way. Because it's electronic, not paper, we can and will keep it up to date regularly going forward.

Transparent. This book is written and updated transparently and publicly, over time, so you can follow along, download any and all updates, and provide feedback as it is updated. That is, unlike a book that is published traditionally and left to sit (rot?) on a book store's shelves, *Windows 10 Field Guide* is a living, breathing entity. And it will continue to grow and evolve as Windows 10 does over the coming weeks, months, and years. You get updates for free. For how long? We're not sure yet. Three years? We'll see.

Inexpensive. A traditional technical book about Windows 10 typically retails for \$29.99 to \$49.99 and is made available in print and e-book formats. But the authors receive only a very small portion

of that price. With *Windows 10 Field Guide*, we are using the pricing model popularized by mobile apps, but with a twist: we're letting you, the reader, pick your price so you can pay more (or less) than our recommended price of \$14.99.

Available in multiple formats. So what does \$14.99 buy you these days? In this case, it provides you with one or more electronic versions of the book in the following formats: PDF, MOBI and EPUB. Get one, get them all. And get any and all updates as they come out.

Not available directly from Kindle or other e-book platforms. Thanks to our previous experiences dealing with these organizations for *Windows 8.1 Field Guide*, we are only offering this book directly to you, the reader. No worries: it will always work properly with Kindle, Nook, or whatever other e-book software you use. We're just cutting out the middleman. Again.

A how-to *and* a reference. This book provides tips, how-to's and reference information about Windows 10, and assumes only that you have used some version of Windows previously. But rather than cover every single little checkbox and option in all apps and features, this book focuses on the important stuff, on what's new and what's changed in Windows 10, so you can quickly get up to speed and master this new OS version and be productive as quickly as possible. There's no patter, and no fluff.

Incomplete, by design. Like Windows 10 itself, *Windows 10 Field Guide* will never really be complete. We are updating the book regularly going forward, and whenever Microsoft meaningfully updates Windows 10 or its bundled apps. This was a key reason for self-publishing and doing so electronically: We can and will update this book regularly, and it will never be out of date.

Interactive. You're a part of this, too, or at least you *can* be. We want to hear from you while we're updating the book, and if you have any feedback about what's already written, the topic coverage, the formatting, or whatever, we're listening.

Windows 10 Field Guide is the only Windows book you'll ever need for your PCs, 2-in-1s and tablets. And if it isn't, tell us. We'll fix it.

Thanks for reading. Seriously, we couldn't-and wouldn't-have done this without you.

- Paul Thurrott, Rafael Rivera and Martin McClean

November 2015

Get to Know Windows 10

0												
Recycle Bin				=	Forecast		Ö	☆	면).	م	
		File Hor	File Explorer	v			- 0	× ~ ??	A			
 	Suggested Cick to install Cick to inst	Free	Coffice Explore	A market and the second s	Mail 5p 6p 7p 3 ³ 81° 79° Lower Macun	 ▼ U Search Quick at Downloads This PC ** Pictures ** Music This PC Videos This PC This PC 	cess	ρ	ni 0° Thu 23 ℃ 75° 62° Cloudy	Fri 2 Č 78 Partly	4 • 58° >	>
2 ©	Connect			P		This PC\Pictures\Screenshots		✓ S	Summary	🗄 Detai	ls	
Ċ	Feedback Hub		Diewtsche Ban	Paint 3D	Play							
۶ 🛤	⊃ Type here to search		0	⊒i (e 📄 🔒	*			^ <i>(</i> , ⊄	» === 4:4 5/1	4 PM 9/2019	$\overline{}$

Windows 10 is equally at home on traditional PCs, touch-first devices like tablets, *and* hybrid and convertible PCs that offer both traditional and touch-based usage methods.

For this reason, many basic actions you perform in Windows can be completed in different ways, depending on how you interact with the PC. But it should be familiar, no matter which Windows version you previous used or preferred.

With that in mind, let's take a quick look at the basic user experiences in Windows 10.

Start: Menu or full-screen

The Windows Start experience appears as a menu by default.





You can optionally configure Start to appear as a full-screen experience that is better suited for tablet PCs, if you'd prefer.



However you choose to use it, Start is accessed via the familiar Start button, located by default in the bottom left corner of the screen. You can also use the Windows key on your keyboard or the Windows button on your PC (if present) to display (or hide) Start.

Start offers three main areas: A navigation pane on the left with User, file locations, Settings, and Power options (by default); a center column with Recently Added, Suggested, and All Apps lists (hidden when Start is full-screen); and a third column on the right for live tiles.



You can customize how Start looks, including which items appear in Start. Please refer to the *Personalize* chapter for more information.

When you mouse-over the navigation pane in Start, it expands to display the name of each item it contains.



Taskbar: Manage apps and windows

The taskbar works much like that in previous Windows versions. You can pin shortcuts for the Store apps, desktop applications, web apps and web pages, and other items you use frequently, and running apps and open windows will appear there automatically. A special area—to the right by default—called the notification area provides status icons for OneDrive, networking, sound, the Action Center (which lets you access notifications and quick actions), and other features, plus a clock and calendar.



Most interactions here will be familiar. One of the less obvious features is that you can right-click on taskbar buttons to access special jump lists, which can do things like show frequently-accessed locations for File Explorer, a list of recent documents in applications like Microsoft Word or Excel, or top sites in Microsoft Edge.

	Top sites		
	Facebook		
	Netflix		
	in Linkedin		
	🚬 The Weather Channel		
	🥶 Reddit		
	P Pandora		
	Bing		
	💹 MSN		
	New window		
	New InPrivate window		
	e Microsoft Edge		
	🕫 Unpin from taskbar		
Type here to search	o # 😁 🚍 🏦	a	へ <i>╔</i> 句() 2:42 PM へ <i>╔</i> 句() 5/19/2019 る

And be sure to check out the pop-up windows you see when you select notification area items like Network, Speakers, and the clock/calendar. These are much bigger and easier to use than in previous Windows versions.



Search: Find what you need

The Search feature in Windows helps you find apps, documents, email, folders, music, people, photos, settings, or videos on your PC. You can even use it to search the web if you'd like.

All Apps Documents Email V	√eb More ▼	Feedback ···	
Тор аррз			
File Explorer Mail	Settings Paint	Game bar	
Recent activities Open Timeline			
Screenshot (1).png	This PC\Pictures\Screenshot		•
Screenshot (9).png	This PC\Pictures\Screenshol		
fttp://www.premieropinion.co	m/?siteid http://www.premieropinion	.com/confirmuninstall.a	
//////////////////////////////////////	Local Disk (C:)\Program File	s (x86)\PremierOpinion	
の Type here to search	o 🖽 🤤 🚍 🕯		へ <i>信</i> (10) 2:51 PM 5/19/2019 〇

By default, you access Search using the search box that appears on the taskbar to the right of the Start button. But you can configure smart search to appear as a button instead if you'd like. Or you can hide it and simply access it from Start directly: Just open Start and start typing.



We recommend hiding Search since it takes up valuable taskbar real estate and it works normally without a search box or button.

The tabs at the top of the Search pane let you filter search results to display only certain types of items. If you're looking specifically for a document on your PC, for example, you can select the Documents tab to display only documents.

Cortana: Speak and you shall receive

Windows includes a voice-controlled "personal digital assistant" called Cortana that answers questions, manages your schedule, tracks packages, and can even tell jokes. If it's available where you live—Cortana is enabled for those in Australia, Brazil, Canada (English and French), China (Simplified Chinese), France, Germany, India (English), Italy, Japan, Mexico, Spain, the United Kingdom, and the United States (English)—you will see a round Cortana button on your taskbar to the right of the Search box by default.





You don't need to take up valuable space on the taskbar to use Cortana. Instead, you can configure Windows to invoke Cortana when you say "Hey, Cortana" and/or type WINKEY + C. To do so, navigate to Settings (WINKEY + I) > Cortana and enable either option.

At one time, Microsoft positioned Cortana as a key feature of Windows, and it used to be integrated with Search and Start. Now, however, Cortana is being deprecated in favor of third-party assistants like Amazon Alexa and Google Assistant. For this reason, we mostly ignore Cortana in this book.

Desktop: Your scratch space

The desktop works much as it did in previous Windows versions. As you might expect, given its two decades-plus lifespan, the Windows desktop is optimized for traditional computing interfaces like mouse and keyboard but it does offer some concession for touch—like bigger controls, especially in right-click menus—and it works well with a pen/stylus too, if your PC supports these technologies.



As always, the desktop can be customized with your own wallpaper, color scheme, pinned taskbar apps and more. All this is described in the *Personalize* chapter.

You can hide all on-screen windows and view the desktop at any time, and in various ways. The quickest is to type WINKEY + D. But if you aren't using a keyboard, you can also click the tiny "Peek at desktop" tile to the right of the Action Center, at the far end of the taskbar.

File Explorer: Manage documents and files

File Explorer is the Windows file management application, and it continues forward from previous Windows versions with only subtle changes. Key among them is the name—it used to be called Windows Explorer and File Manager, back in the day—and its new default view, called Quick access.





You can change this to the more traditional This PC view—which used to be called My Computer—if you'd like. And we recommend it. To do so, open File Explorer, navigate to View > Options > Change folder and search options, and locate "Browse folders" in the window that opens.

The Microsoft Store: Apps, games, and more

Windows supports legacy desktop applications—familiar solutions such as Adobe Photoshop and Apple iTunes—as well as new Microsoft Store apps, which are available from the Microsoft Store. Surprising, we know.



Most Store apps, as they're called, are mobile apps, similar to those found on platforms like Android and iPhone. But Microsoft has expanded the definition of the platform to include some speciallypackaged desktop and web apps in the Store as well. For the most part, you don't need to know about the *types* of apps you're using, as they all work similarly, and can be used interchangeably and side-by-side.

Weathe	a.								•	- 8 ×
=	Forecast					Ů ☆	-∺)			م
ል				Lowe	er Macungi	e Township,	PA			
¢					× 0	⊃° F				
≊					ү о	S c				
墙					Sun Updated as	ny оf 3:07 РМ				
8						6 mph Visibility 9. lity 61% Dew Point				
٢	Daily									
	Sun 19 Sun 39° 83° 69° Partly Sunny	Mon 20 Č 81° 55° Partly Sunny	Tue 21 Ö 67° 50° Partly Sunny	Wed 22 Ö 70° 57° Partly Sunny	Thu 23	Fri 24 Ö 77° 58° Partly Sunny	Sat 25 ਠਿੱ 81° 68° Mostly Cloudy	Sun 26 Č 82° 60° Partly Sunny	Mon 27 Č 77° 60° Mostly Cloudy	Tue 28 Č 78° 65° → Mostly Cloux
	Hourly									Details
8										
۲			76*	71°		69.°		73°	- 15	

The Weather app shown here is a Store app that ships with Windows.

Action Center and notifications: Find out what's new

The Action Center in Windows works like the notification center interfaces in mobile platforms like Android and iOS: It collects the system and app notifications you have not explicitly responded to so that you can view and respond to them later. You can visit Action Center at any time to catch up on the notifications you've missed.



Do not confuse Action Center with the identically-named feature in Windows 7 and Windows 8.x. Much of the functionality from the old Action Center can now be found in a new interface called Windows Security.

Action Center is accessed using the Action Center button to the right of the taskbar's notification area.



You can type WINKEY + A to toggle Action Center as well.



If you missed one or more notifications, you'll be alerted via a number badge on the Action Center button. (This number disappears when you open Action Center.)



When you open Action Center, it appears as a pane on the right side of the screen.



The larger top area of this pane is used to hold missed notifications, while the bottom area houses a collapsible grid of quick action tiles, which are frequently-needed system settings like Wi-Fi, screen brightness, Airplane Mode, and the like.

Manage notifications

Notifications vary from app to app. But you can perform the following actions here.

Close a notification. If you wish to close a notification, just select the Clear ("x") button at the top right of the notification.

Close all notifications for one app. If you wish to close all notifications for a single app, just select the Clear ("x") button to the right of the app name in the list.

Close all notifications. Select "Clear all" at the bottom of Action Center to close all current notifications.

Expand and collapse an individual notification. Some notifications provide more information than can be seen in the normal notification display. In these cases, you will see a small downward-pointing caret which you can select to expand the notification and read more.

Interact with a notification. You can interact with some notifications in various ways. For example, like the Calendar notification shown below, provide an on-tile interface for doing so. With others, you can just select the notification to open the app and navigate directly to the item that triggered the notification. When you respond to a notification this way, it is removed from Action Center.

You can also configure certain options related to notifications and Action Center in Settings. To do so, open Settings (WINKEY + I) and navigate to System > Notifications & actions and examine the Notifications section.

Key options here include:

Get notifications from apps and other senders. Enabled by default, this option determines whether the system and apps are allowed to display pop-up notifications at all. If you disable this option, all notifications will be turned off.

Show notifications on the lock screen. Also enabled by default, this option determines whether notifications are displayed over the lock screen.

Show reminders and incoming VoIP calls on the lock screen. Windows can display reminders and incoming Voice over IP (VoIP, as from Skype) calls over the lock screen. This option is enabled by default.

Below the Notifications section, there is also a separate section called Get notifications from these senders that lets you configure notifications from specific apps and system experiences. The "On/Off" toggle switch works as expected. But less obviously, you can select any item in this list to configure notifications for any app or system experience on a more granular level.

Configure quick actions

In addition to its notification functionality, Action Center also provides a grid of *quick action* tiles by which you can quickly access frequently-needed system settings. By default, you will see four of these quick action tiles at the bottom of Action Center.

Expand			
Ę	گ	*	×.
Tablet mode	Location	Microsoft Surface Mouse	Night light

To display more action center tiles, select the "Expand" link. If the grid is already expanded, a "Collapse" link will appear instead.



There are over a dozen quick actions to choose from, and they are discussed throughout the book as needed. But a few many be non-obvious. For example, Focus assist disables notifications and system sounds so that you can stay focused while you work. Nearby sharing is a unique feature that lets you send and receive files and other content with other PCs nearby using Bluetooth or Wi-Fi connectivity. And Night light can be used to remove much of the blue light that is normally emitted by your PC's display, which can ease eye strain.



Windows lets you configure which tiles appear in the quick action area. To do so, navigate to Settings (WINKEY + I) > System > Notifications & actions and select "Edit your quick actions." When you do, the Action Center opens in a special edit mode that lets you add, remove, and position (via drag and drop) the quick action tiles.

\leftarrow Settings		No new notifications
û Home	Notifications & actions	
Find a setting	Quick actions	
System	You can add, remove, or rearrange your quick actions directly in action center.	
🖵 Display	Edit your quick actions	
(아) Sound	Notifications	
Notifications & actions	Get notifications from apps and other senders	Collance
J Focus assist	On On	
🖒 Power & sleep	To control times when you do or don't get notifications, try Focus assist. Focus assist settings	Tablet mode Location Surface Mouse Night light
□ Storage	Show notifications on the lock screen	₩ Ø ÷ Ø @ Ø© Ø
Tablat mada	Show reminders and incoming VoIP calls on the lock screen	Mobile hotspot Airplane mode Nearby sharing All settings
	Show me the Windows welcome experience after updates and occasionally when I sign in to highlight what's new and suggested	
H Multitasking	🧹 Get tips, tricks, and suggestions as you use Windows	Network Connect Project VPN
Projecting to this PC		
X Shared experiences	Get notifications from these senders	rocus assist Screen sinp ✓ Done + Add
E P Type here to search	o # 😋 🖬 💼 🕿 🍅	へ <i>慌</i> 400 3:23 PM 5/19/2019 ロ



The first four tiles are the ones you will see when the quick action tiles area is collapsed. So you should put the tiles you use the most often there, especially if you wish to keep the quick action area collapsed.

Multitasking: Manage multiple windows at once

Windows 10 builds on the multitasking features you know from previous Windows versions and adds a few new methods to help you work more efficiently with multiple applications and open windows.

ALT + TAB

The familiar ALT + TAB interface works as before in Windows 10, letting you switch between open windows on your screen.



Task View

Because so few users are even aware of ALT + TAB, Microsoft has added a feature called Task View to Windows. Like ALT + TAB, Task View also lets you switch between the programs you're using. But Task View is accessed from a new taskbar button (which is enabled by default so you can't miss it), it provides a more modern full-screen experience, and it won't disappear until you press a key or click/tap on the screen.

Get to Know Windows 10





You can also engage Task View by typing WINKEY + TAB.

As with ALT + TAB, just select the application or window you wish to use to get back to work.

Timeline

In addition to basic task-switching functionality, Task View provides access to another Windows feature called Timeline that provides an ongoing history of your activities over time. This lets you scroll "backward through time" to see which documents and other data files you were working on earlier today and on previous days.

But Timeline is even more powerful than that. Thanks to its Microsoft account integration, Timeline can optionally show you documents and data files that you were working on on other PCs and on mobile devices—like iPhones, iPads, and Android devices—too.



Mobile device integration varies by platform. All of Microsoft's mobile apps support this feature, so apps like Microsoft Edge, Word, Excel, PowerPoint, and others will automatically provide you with access to documents you had opened previously on your PCs and on other devices. And Microsoft makes an Android launcher called Microsoft Launcher that provides more native access to Timeline too.

To access your Timeline, open Task View and scroll down. The main view will display previouslyopened documents and data files. And a scroll bar on the right will display the date you are currently viewing.

Get to Know Windows 10





To share your activities between your other PCs and devices, you must select the "Yes" button at the bottom of the Timeline under "See more days in Timeline."



You can also search here for a previously-opened documents by using the Search button in the top right.

To open a previously-edited document or data file, just select it in the Timeline. It will generally open in whatever application is associated with that file type, though Microsoft Office document files—for some reason—open in the corresponding web-based app in Office on the web, using your default browser.

Virtual desktops

Task View also provides access to a *virtual desktops* feature. Virtual desktops let you arrange your open windows and applications in a whole new way, and then switch between desktop views that include only certain windows. For example, you might put your email and calendar applications on one virtual desktop, your web browser, word processing and presentation software on a second virtual desktop, and some games on a third.

From a window management perspective, virtual desktops work much like individual windows. You can create multiple virtual desktops, move applications and other windows between those desktops, and then use keyboard shortcuts—or Task View—to switch between the virtual desktops.

To create a new virtual desktop, open Task View and then select the New desktop link in the top left of the screen. (Or, just type WINKEY + CTRL + D.) You will see thumbnails for the previously available desktop(s) plus the new desktop in a band at the top of the screen.



To switch between the available desktops, open Task View and select the desktop you want. Or, type WINKEY + CTRL + LEFT ARROW (or WINKEY + CTRL + RIGHT ARROW) to switch between the available desktops in turn.



If your PC has a precision touchpad—as Microsoft's Surface devices do—you can also use a four-finger swipe (left or right) to switch between virtual desktops.

To move an app or other window from one desktop to another, open Task View, select the desktop that currently contains that window, and then drag it from the top of the display into the new desktop's thumbnail.



To close a virtual desktop, open Task View and then select the Close box that appears above the desktop thumbnail when you mouse over it. Or, type WINKEY + CTRL + F4. (Any windows open in that desktop will move to another desktop.)



To make app or other window available in all virtual desktops, open Task View and then right-click on the appropriate window and choose "Show this window on all desktops" or "Show windows from this app on all desktops" in the pop-up menu that appears.



While virtual desktops are a boon to the hyper-organized, they have one major downside: They're not persistent. So when the PC reboots or you sign-off and then sign-in again, there's no way to recover the virtual desktops you had previously created and configured.

Snap

A Windows feature called Snap lets you position, or "snap," a floating window to a screen edge or corner, or snap it into a maximized or minimized state.

For example, if you drag a window to the left edge of the screen using the mouse or touch, it will snap in place and occupy the left half of the screen. To do this with the keyboard, make the sure the correct window is selected and then type WINKEY + LEFT ARROW.



As you can see, Snap also provides some much-needed assistance thanks to a related feature called Snap Assist that lets you instantly select another window to place side-by-side with the window you just snapped. When you snap a window, this feature presents thumbnails of your other open windows so that you can optionally choose one to fill the remainder of the screen. To snap another window, just select it from the collection of thumbnails, and it will occupy the other half of the display.



To close Snap Assist without selecting a second window, just type ESC or select a blank area of the screen.

Snap doesn't only work with one side of the screen. You can also snap a window to the right side of the screen, (using WINKEY + RIGHT ARROW as you'd expect). You can snap into the screen corners too, so that you can have up to four windows tiled onscreen: This is most easily done by typing WINKEY + LEFT ARROW followed by WINKEY + DOWN ARROW (or similar). This will place the current window into the lower left corner of the screen.

You can reverse this effect by dragging the window off of the side or corner in which it is snapped, and you can experiment with various WINKEY + ARROW KEY combinations to see the variety of possible snaps.

You can also use Snap to maximize (WINKEY + UP ARROW) or minimize (WINKEY + DOWN ARROW) a floating window. Another fun thing to try is to repeatedly type these keyboard combinations: If you repeatedly type, say, WINKEY + RIGHT ARROW on a floating window, you will cycle it through three states: Snapped right, snapped left, and then floating.

And, of course, you can position windows using your mouse or, on a multitouch display, your finger too.

Clipboard

Most Windows users are probably familiar with the system clipboard, which lets you store (or "copy") formatted text, images, and other items temporarily and then place (or "paste") them elsewhere.



Type CTRL + C to copy selected text or other items to the clipboard. CTRL + V is used to paste. You can also use CTRL + X to "cut" an item; this copies the item to the clipboard and then deletes it.

But the clipboard offers some advanced functionality now that most users are probably unaware of. They are:

History. By default, the clipboard stores only the most recent item that you copied or cut. But the clipboard history feature lets you store multiple items. To choose which of the stored items to paste, use the WINKEY + V shortcut instead of CTRL + V to display a clipboard history window.

ne Edit Format view i	help			~	
Clipboard					
Microsoft announces partnership with Gen that will upskill and re	a new eral Assembly eskill 15,000 wor				
Microsoft has cut the Headphones to a mo \$250.	price of Surface re reasonable				
If true, this could mar of the end of Huawei and smart devices bu	k the beginning 's smartphone siness.				
Tip: No more sending y text between devices.	ourself email to sha There's a better way	ire <u>/.</u>			

Device sync. This feature, sometimes called "cloud clipboard," stores the most recently copied items in your clipboard to the cloud using your Microsoft account so that you can paste it on a different PC.



These items must be pretty small, however. Only text, HTML, and very small images are supported.



Both of these features need to be enabled before you can use them. To do so, navigate to Settings (WINKEY + I) > System > Clipboard.

Multitouch

Windows 10 fully supports multitouch-based systems like tablets and 2-in-1 PCs, and any other PC that includes a multitouch screen. If you want to, you can interact with Windows 10 entirely using touch, and never use a mouse or keyboard again.



OK, you probably don't want that. But if you're just browsing the web, reading, or viewing content with a tablet-type PC, this is a nice way to go.

Touch is mostly intuitive. To select an object onscreen, simply tap the screen. To perform a rightclick, tap and hold on the object with which you wish to do more. You can also "grab" items like icons and windows and drag them to a new location as you would with a mouse.

Windows also supports *edge gestures*. If you swipe in from the left edge of the screen, Task View appears. And if you swipe in from the right edge of the screen, Action Center appears. When using a full-screen app, you can also swipe in from the top of the display to view its title bar, or from the bottom to display the Start button and taskbar.

For those instances in which you need to type, just select a text box, browser address bar, or other area where you would normally enter text and the Windows touch keyboard appears onscreen.





You can also manually display this keyboard by selecting the Touch Keyboard button in the system tray.

This keyboard works as expected, but it has some useful features that might not be immediately obvious.

First, you can move the keyboard around onscreen if needed, though it it is typically docked to the bottom of the screen by default. There are also alternate keyboard layouts that you can select with the Keyboards button in the upper-left. For example, the mini keyboard layout looks and works like a smartphone keyboard.

₩.	j,],	ĉ						×
1 q	2 W	з е	4 r	5 t	⁶ У	7 U	8 i	9 0	° p
asdfghjkl									
\uparrow	z	x	с	v	b	n	m	<	×
&123	\odot	,						?	↵

In certain languages—English (United States), English (United Kingdom), French (France), German (Germany), Italian (Italy), Spanish (Spain), Portuguese (Brazil), Russian, and possibly others—you can even use SwiftKey features like auto-correct and SwiftKey Flow, Microsoft's form of swipe typing.



The touch keyboard even supports emojis. How delightfully frivolous.

Tablet mode

Windows is unique in that it works equally well on traditional PC form factors as well as with newer tablet and 2-in-1 designs. A key reason for this success is a feature called Tablet mode, which can be enabled manually or, with 2-in-1 PCs, automatically as the device changes between usage modes (like laptop mode and tent mode).



In contrast to the normal operating mode—in which Start appears as a menu by default, open apps and windows can float over the desktop, and the user interface is tailored for keyboard and mouse interaction—Tablet mode optimizes Windows for touch.

Among the obvious changes you'll see when you enable this usage mode are:

Everything is full screen. Start and any open apps and windows all switch into a special full screen mode and the desktop is effectively hidden.





You can still access the desktop folder using File Explorer.

App icons in the taskbar disappear. By default, app icons do not appear in the taskbar. This cleans up the look of the system dramatically.

UI elements adapt to be touch-friendly. Among the changes here are a Back button in the taskbar that works like Back button on an Android phone, enabling you to navigate back through the app "back stack." Plus, the icons in the notification area are spaced better for easier use by touch.

Window title bars disappear. And, as a result, so do the buttons—Minimize, Restore/Maximize, and Close—that control the window. However, you can swipe down from the top of the display (or, with a mouse, mouse up into the top of the display) to access the window's Close button.

Tablet mode is the normal operating mode for Windows on tablets. But you can manually enter (or exit) Tablet mode—even on a desktop PC—at any time: open Action Center (WINKEY + A) and select the Tablet mode quick action tile. This tile acts as like a toggle: select it again to return Windows to the normal usage mode.

Thanks to a feature called Continuity, Tablet mode can also be engaged automatically. If you are using a Surface Pro or other 2-in-1 PC, you will be prompted to enter Tablet mode when you remove the Type Cover (or other keyboard). This dialog also provides you with the option to choose whether the system will simply engage Tablet mode automatically whenever that action occurs. (Likewise, it can also disable Tablet mode whenever a keyboard is detached.)

Do you want to switch to tablet mode? This makes Windows more touch-friendly when using your device as a tablet. 2:34 PM					
Always ask me before switching					
Voc	No				
Tes	NU				

To configure Tablet mode to work the way you prefer, open Settings (WINKEY + I) and navigate to System > Tablet mode.

← Settings		- @ ×		
ŵ Home	Tablet mode			
Find a setting Q	When I sign in	What is tablet mode?		
System	Use the appropriate mode for my hardware \checkmark	Tablet mode optimizes your device for touch, so you don't have to use a keyboard and mouse. When tablet		
🖵 Display	When this device automatically switches tablet mode on or off $\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	mode is on, apps open full-screen and taskbar and desktop icons are reduced.		
ゆ》 Sound	Hide app icons on the taskbar in tablet mode			
Notifications & actions	On	Have a question?		
	Automatically hide the taskbar in tablet mode	Get neip		
		Make windows better		

Here, you can configure Tablet mode to be the default, determine whether Windows remembers your Tablet mode configuration each time you sign in, determine whether Tablet mode engages automatically, and choose whether to hide app icons when the PC or device is in Tablet mode.



You can configure Start to be a menu or a full-screen interface independently of Tablet mode (Settings > Personalization > Start). That is, you can use Start as a full-screen interface even when Tablet mode is off.

Get to Know Windows 10

Portrait mode

Windows natively supports screen rotation, and compatible PCs can be used in portrait mode rather than the traditional landscape mode when desired. Indeed, some tablets are designed to be used in portrait mode primarily, as it is particularly well-suited to reading.





Tablet mode is a also good choice for tablets used in portrait mode.

All of the built-in Store apps in Windows are designed to accommodate this orientation change, but desktop applications are not. You will have better results, in portrait mode, and switching between portrait and landscape modes, if you can stick to Store apps.



PCs that support portrait mode will typically switch the orientation of the display as the device itself is rotated physically. However, you can prevent the screen from rotating if you'd like to avoid inadvertent orientation switches as you move around. To do so, open Action Center (WINKEY + A) and select the Rotation lock quick action tile at the bottom of the pane. This tile works like a toggle, so you can select it again to re-enable rotation lock.

Smartpen

Windows natively supports smartpens that can be used for handwriting, drawing, or painting. Smartpens have improved dramatically in recent years too, and they can work and feel just like real writing implements. Many support thousands of levels of pressure, so that you can press down harder to get thicker or bolder drawing and writing strokes. And some now support tilt, so that you can tilt the pen naturally to get broader strokes as you do. Smartpens also sometimes include an electronic eraser that works exactly as you'd expect.



If you would like to use a smartpen to navigate around Windows, the rules are simple. At a basic level, it works much like navigating via touch, and you can press and hold to emulate a right mouse click. But some smartpens also provide a dedicated button on the barrel that provides right-click functionality.

Take a screenshot: Capture an image of the screen

Windows provides many ways to take screenshots, capturing all or part of the screen graphically so you can use the resulting image elsewhere.



None of these methods will capture the mouse pointer. If you need that functionality, you will need a third-party solution such as ShareX, which is available from the Microsoft Store in Windows], or Greenshot. Both are free.
Capture the entire screen

Type PRTSCN ("Print Screen"). This will save the screen image to the clipboard. To paste this image elsewhere (such as in Paint, Word, or other applications), type CTRL + V.

Type WINKEY + PRTSCN. This will save the screen image to the clipboard and will create a screenshot file in your Screenshots folder (in Pictures) in PNG format.

Press START + VOLUME DOWN buttons. On Surface and other Windows devices with hardware START and volume buttons, this will save the screen image to the clipboard and will create a screenshot file in your Screenshots folder (in Pictures) in PNG format.

Screen snip. Windows' built-in Screen snip tool is available from Quick actions in Action Center. It works as a front-end for the Snip & Sketch app, which lets you take a rectangular, free form, windowed, or full-screen screenshot and then optionally mark it up and share it with others.



P

If you like Snip & Sketch, you can configure Windows to trigger it when you press the PRTSCN button, instead of just copying the screenshot to the clipboard. To do so, navigate to Settings > Ease of Access > Display > Print Screen shortcut and enable the option "Use the PrtScn button to open screen snipping."

Capture the active window

Type ALT + PRTSCN. This will save the screen image to the clipboard. To paste this image elsewhere (such as in Paint, Word, or other applications), type CTRL + V.

Screen snip. The Screen snip quick action (in Action Center) and the Snip & Sketch tool both allow you to capture an image of any window.

Automatically save screenshots to OneDrive

While the WINKEY + PRTSCN method of capturing a screenshot will automatically save the resulting images to the Screenshots folders your Pictures folder, you can optionally save them to OneDrive as well. This is useful if you wish to sync screenshots with your other PCs or to the cloud (where they can also be accessed from mobile devices or with a web browser).

Windows will prompt you to save screenshots to OneDrive the first time you take a screenshot by typing WINKEY + PRTSCN. But you can configure this feature at any time if you declined it then.

To do so, open OneDrive Settings (right-click the OneDrive icon in the system tray—it resembles a white cloud, normally—and choose Settings from the pop-up menu that appears. Then, navigate to the Backup tab.

ettings Account Backup Network Office About Important PC Folders Back up my files in the Desktop, Documents, and Pictures folders to OneDrive, so they're protected and available on other devices. Photos and videos Automatically save photos and videos to OneDrive whenever I connect a camera, phone, or other device to my PC
Important PC Folders Back up my files in the Desktop, Documents, and Pictures folders to OneDrive, so they're protected and available on other devices. Photos and videos Automatically save photos and videos to OneDrive whenever I connect a camera, phone, or other device to my PC
Back up my files in the Desktop, Documents, and Pictures folders to OneDrive, so they're protected and available on other devices. Photos and videos Automatically save photos and videos to OneDrive whenever I connect a camera, phone, or other device to my PC
Photos and videos Automatically save photos and videos to OneDrive whenever I connect a camera, phone, or other device to my PC
$\hfill \hfill $
Screenshots
✓ Automatically save screenshots I capture to OneDrive
M2,
OK Cancel

Select "Automatically save screenshots I capture to OneDrive" in the "Screenshots" section, and then click OK.

When this option is enabled, your WINKEY + PRTSCN screenshots will be saved to both the Pictures folder (on your PC) and to PicturesScreenshots in OneDrive (in the cloud).

Settings: Customize and configure Windows

The Settings app is the modern replacement for the Control Panel interface from previous Windows versions. You can launch Settings from Start—it appears in both the leftmost column and in All Apps—or by typing WINKEY + I.



The legacy Control Panel has been largely replaced by Settings, but it is still available. There are various links to Control Panel in Settings, but you can also find it with Start search by searching for *control panel*.

P

When you first configure Windows, you should spend some time in Settings configuring the system to your liking. The *Personalize* chapter describes some of the changes you may wish to make.



While most probably won't need to access individual settings all that often, it is possible to pin the Settings app to the tiles area in Start, or to the taskbar. You can even pin groups and individual settings to the tiles area in Start if you want. As always, right-click is your friend.

Windows Update: Keep Windows up-to-date

Windows Update is the mechanism by which Microsoft delivers software updates to Windows. The rate at which these updates arrive has increased dramatically in recent years, and Microsoft now refers to this process as "Windows as a Service," or WaaS.

← Settings		- @ ×
ம் Home	Windows Update	
Find a setting	You're up to date Last checked: Today, 624 AM	See what's new Your device recently got the latest
Update & Security	Check for updates	important security improvements. Explore new features
Windows Update Delivery Optimization	Additional updates available • 2019-04 Cumulative Undate for Windows 10 Version 1903 for x64-based Systems (KB4497093)	
Windows Security	Download and install now	Looking for into on the latest updates? Learn more
→ Backup	Pause updates for 7 days Visit Advanced options to change the pause period	Related links
Troubleshoot	Change active hours	Check Storage OS build info
관 Recovery	View update intro update intro	
备 Find my device	Advanced options Advanced options	Have a question? Get help
1 For developers	Auditional update controls and settings	Make Windows better
😸 Windows Insider Program		Give us feedback

You will see two types of system software updates in Windows Update, both of which are cumulative and arrives on different schedules. They are:

Quality updates. Consisting of both bug and security fixes, this type of update is delivered at least once a month, and often more frequently.

Feature updates. These updates are really major upgrades that install a new version of Windows. Features updates include bug and security fixes, like quality updates, but as the name suggests, they also bring new Windows features.



You will see other updates in Windows Update, too. Many PCs, including the Surface PCs made by Microsoft, receive firmware and driver updates via Windows Update, for example, and Windows Defender receives multiple signature updates every day.

To Microsoft's credit, Windows as a Service does make it much easier, and much quicker, to completely update a PC than was the case with previous Windows versions. And it's easier still to keep the PC up-to-date going forward: The process is largely automated for you.

That said, these updates can also be disruptive. Most quality updates, and all feature updates, require you to reboot your computer to complete the installation. Worse, our ability to control how and when these updates are installed has changed for the worse in Windows 10. These options are described below.

Windows Update is available in the Settings app. Just navigate to Update & Security > Windows Update.

← Settings		- 0 ×
命 Home	Windows Update	
Find a setting P Update & Security	You're up to date Last checked: Today, 8:38 AM Check for updates	See what's new Your device recently got the latest update with new features and important security improvements.
Windows Update Delivery Optimization Windows Security	Pause updates for 7 days Visit Advanced options to change the pause period Change active hours Change active hours Currently Boo Abl to 5:00 PM	Looking for info on the latest updates?
Troubleshoot	View update history See updates installed on your device Advanced options Advanced options Advanced options	Related links Check Storage

As noted, Windows Update will automatically install any pending updates for you. But you can, of course, select the "Check for updates" button if you wish to manually check for updates.

The functionality provided by the four links in Windows Update—Pause updates for 7 days, Change active hours, View update history, and Advanced options—is very important. So we'll examine each in the following sections.

Pause updates for 7 days (or more)

As suggested by its name, this option, when selected, allows you to pause updates for 7 days. You can select this item repeatedly to add more time to the update pausing in 7 day increments, up to 35 days total. So if you select it twice, it will pause updates for 14 days.

← Settings		- o ×
ش Home	Windows Update	
Find a setting Q	Indates paused	See what's new
Update & Security	Vour device won't be up to date while updates are paused. Updates will resume on 6/2/2019	Your device recently got the latest update with new features and important security improvements.
C Windows Update	Resume updates	Explore new features
凸 Delivery Optimization	Pause updates for 7 more days Visit Advanced options to change the pause period	Looking for info on the latest updates?



To reverse this change, select the "Resume updates" button that appeared.

Those with Windows 10 Pro or better can also separately delay quality and feature updates for longer periods via the Advanced options item, described below.

Change active hours

Windows Update lets you configure those hours during which a pending Windows update will *not* warn you and then trigger an automatic restart. After all, most people don't want to be bothered while they are working.

By default, Windows configures active hours to be between 8:00 and 5:00 pm every day. But if you'd like to change this, select the "Change active hours" link in Windows Update. The largely empty Change active hours page appears.

Here, you can configure Windows to automatically adjust active hours based on how and when you use the PC. Or you can select "Change" to configure specific hours during Windows should not install updates.

Set active ho automatically checking if yo Start time	urs to let us k / restart it dur ou're using it.	now when y ing active h	rou typically use this device. We won't ours, and we won't restart without
8	00	AM]
End time (ma	ax 18 hours)		
	00	PM]
5			
5			

View update history

The View update history display lets you view previously-installed updates, of course, and it's neatly organized to display feature updates and quality updates separately. But the two links at the top of this page—"Uninstall updates" and "Recovery options"—will be useful if you experience reliability issues after installing an update

← Settings		-	٥	×
බ View update history				
Uninstall updates Recovery options	Have a question? Get help			
Update history V Quality Updates (7) 2019-05 Cumulative Update for Windows 10 Version 1903 for x64-based Systems (K84497936) Successfully installed on 5/18/2019				
2019-05 Cumulative Update for Windows 10 Version 1903 for x64-based Systems (K84497936) Successfully installed on 5/14/2019				
2019-05 Security Update for Adobe Flash Player for Windows 10 Version 1903 for x64-based Systems (K84497932) Successfully installed on 5/14/2019				
2019-05 Cumulative Update for .NET Framework 3.5 and 4.8 for Windows 10 version 1903 for x64 (KB4495620) Successfully installed on 5/t4/2019				
2019-04 Cumulative Update for Windows 10 Version 1903 for x64-based Systems (KB4497093) Successfully installed on 5/10/2019				
2019-04 Security Update for Adobe Flash Player for Windows 10 Version 1903 for x64-based Systems (K84493478) Successfully installed on 4/28/2019				
2019-04 Cumulative Update for Windows 10 Version 1903 for x64-based Systems (KB4495666)				

If you select "Uninstall updates," the Installed Updates control panel appears, allowing you to uninstall some, but not all, quality updates.

The Recovery options link navigates to Settings > Update & Security > Recovery so that you can investigate the system recovery tools there.

Advanced options

Windows Update offers many more updating options to configure the via the "Advanced options" link. However, these options vary depending on which Windows product edition you're using. Put simply, Windows 10 Pro provides more control over updates than does Windows 10 Home.

← Settings	- 6
Update options Receive updates for other Microsoft products when you update Windows	Note: Windows Update might update itself automatically first when checking for other updates.
Download updates over metered connections (extra charges may apply) Off Restart this device as soon as possible when a restart is required to install an update. Windows will display a notice before the restart, and the device must be on and plugged in. Off	Have a question? Get help
Update notifications Show a notification when your PC requires a restart to finish updating Off	
Pause updates Temporarily pause updates from being installed on this device for up to 35 days. When you reach the pause limit, your device will need to get new updates before you can pause again. Pause until Select date \checkmark	

Here, you will find:

Update options. The options here—"Receive updates for other Microsoft products when you update Windows," "Download updates over metered data connections (extra charges may apply)," and "Restart this device as soon as possible when a restart is required to install an update"—are all disabled by default. For most people, this is the correct configuration.

Update notifications. Here, you can enable an option that will prompt you when a pending system update requires your PC to reboot. This is disabled by default, but you should consider enabling it so that your PC doesn't reboot unexpectedly.

Pause updates. This option lets you temporarily pause all updates for up to 35 days in one-day increments. Once the specified time period expires, you will be unable to pause updates again until Windows has been completely updated.

Choose when updates are installed. Available only in Windows 10 Pro, this lets you separately defer—meaning "delay"—the installation of both feature and quality updates, and do so using unique schedules for each. Feature updates can be deferred for up to one year in one-day increments. And quality updates can be deferred for up to 30 days, also in one-day increments. Aside from the time frames, the difference between these options and the manual pause capability is that they are permanent and apply to *any* updates that are coming in the future.



Given the issues that Microsoft has had deploying reliable feature updates, we recommend deferring both sets of updates, by two months for feature updates and by at least two weeks for quality updates. That should be enough time for any bugs to be worked out, ensuring that when you do receive updates, they've been thoroughly tested and known to work well.



Windows 10 Home users, of course, cannot take advantage of this useful functionality and will instead need to manually delay updates for up to 35 days. The good news? Feature updates no longer install before you explicitly approve them, so you have some wiggle room there as well. After 35 days, Windows Update will install any pending updates.

Delivery optimization. By default, Windows Update uses peer-to-peer capabilities to allow PCs on your home network to deliver software updates to each other over that network, reducing your Internet bandwidth usage. But you can *also* enable this capability with other PCs over the Internet, which might help Microsoft but could result in *increased* Internet bandwidth for you. So, we recommend leaving it configured as-is.

Shutdown, Restart, Sleep, Lock and Sign-Off

Windows supports powerful power management functionality that helps your PC run as efficiently as possible whether you're using a desktop PC, always-connected desktop PC or laptop, tablet, 2-in-1, or other portable PC. But every once in a while, you may need to shut down or restart your PC, or even put it to sleep. You can do so most easily via Start.

To shut down or restart your PC, or manually enable a Sleep or (if available) Hibernate mode, select the Power button in the bottom-left of Start.





The power management options you see here will vary by PC.

To sign-out of Windows, lock the PC, or sign-in as another user, select your user account name or picture at the bottom-left of Start. Then, choose the appropriate option.





You can also perform some of these actions from the Quick Access menu, as described in the next section.

Quick Access: A menu for power users

The Quick Access menu in Windows works like a hidden power user menu. It provides handy access to advanced legacy system tools like Device Manager, Disk Management, and Power Options.

To display the Quick Access menu, type WINKEY + X from anywhere in Windows. Or, right-click the Start button.

Apps and Features		
Power Options		
Event Viewer		
System		
Device Manager		
Network Connections		
Disk Management		
Computer Management		
Windows PowerShell		
Windows PowerShell (Admin)		
Task Manager		
Settings		
File Explorer		
Search		
Run		
Shut down or sign out		
Desktop		4:10 PM
C Type here to search	H C 📼 🚨 🔼	5/19/2019

Many of these tools are esoteric and even old-fashioned and will be of little use to most users. But a few have broader appeal. These include:

System. System settings provides basic information about your PC and whether its security features are up-to-date.



Windows Command Prompt and **Windows Command Prompt (Admin)**. Available in Windows 10 Home only, these options provide access to the classic Windows command line interface.

Windows PowerShell and Windows PowerShell (Admin). Available in Windows 10 Pro, these options provide access to the advanced Windows shell and scripting environment.

2 Windows PowerShell	-	×
Windows PowerShell Copyright (C) Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved.		^
Try the new cross-platform PowerShell https://aka.ms/pscore6		
PS C:\Users\Book>		
		~



Windows 10 Pro users who would rather access the classic Command Prompt can do so by navigating to Settings > Personalization > Taskbar and disabling the option titled "Replace Command Prompt with Windows PowerShell in the menu when I right-click the Start button or press Windows key + X."

Task Manager. This interface has improved dramatically since Windows 7 and it now provides access to very useful tools like Performance, App history, Startup, and other tools in addition to task management.

🦃 Task Manager				_		<
<u>File Options V</u> iew						
Processes Performance App history Start	tup Users Details Ser	vices				
^		1%	21%	0%	0%	
Name	Status	CPU	Memory	Disk	Network	
Apps (2)						ľ
> 👪 People (2)	φ	0%	2.8 MB	0 MB/s	0 Mbps	
> 🕼 Task Manager		0.1%	20.9 MB	0 MB/s	0 Mbps	
Background processes (57)						
> 🔳 Antimalware Service Executable		0%	134.0 MB	0 MB/s	0 Mbps	
Application Frame Host		0%	14.5 MB	0 MB/s	0 Mbps	
> 🙋 Calendar	φ	0%	0 MB	0 MB/s	0 Mbps	
COM Surrogate		0%	2.3 MB	0 MB/s	0 Mbps	
> O Cortana	φ	0%	0 MB	0 MB/s	0 Mbps	
📝 CTF Loader		0%	9.0 MB	0 MB/s	0 Mbps	
<					>	
> Fewer details					<u>E</u> nd task	

Run. In the days before Start search, the Run dialog (WINKEY + R) was a neat little secret in Windows that was made only slightly less valuable by the fact that you needed to know an application's process name (e.g. regedit for the Registry Editor) to run it from here.

🖅 Run		×
	Type the name of a program, folder, document, or Internet resource, and Windows will open it for you.	
<u>O</u> pen:		~
	OK Cancel Browse	

Install Windows 10

	Services
Choose privacy setti Microsoft puts you in control of your privacy. Choose your settings, then	NGS FOR YOUR DEVICE select 'Accept' to save them. You can change these settings at any time.
Online speech recognition Use your voice for dictation and to talk to Cortana and other apps that use Windows cloud-based speech recognition. Send Microsoft your voice data to help improve our speech services. Yes	Location Get location-based experiences like directions and weather. Let Windows and apps request your location and allow Microsoft to use your location data to improve location services. Yes
Find my device Turn on Find my device and use your device's location data to help you find your device if you lose it. You must sign in to Windows with your Microsoft account to use this feature.	Diagnostic data Send all Basic diagnostic data, along with info about the websites you browse and how you use apps and features, plus additional info about device health, device activity, and enhanced error reporting.
 Yes Inking & typing Send inking and typing data to Microsoft to improve the language recognition and suggestion capabilities of apps and services running on Windows. Yes 	Full Tailored experiences Let Microsoft offer you tailored experiences based on the diagnostic data you have chosen (either Basic or Full). Tailored experiences mean personalized tips, ads, and recommendations to enhance Microsoft products and services for your needs. Yes
	Learn more Accept
	4».

To install Windows 10, you must interact with a software program called Windows Setup. There are a variety of circumstances in which you might encounter this wizard-based application, but the most common by far is that you've acquired a new computer and are setting it up for the first time. So that's the initial focus of this chapter as well.

However, there are other less common scenarios in which you may need to run Windows Setup and install Windows 10. And we cover some of them in this book as well.

These scenarios include:

• You build your own PC or wish to replace a Windows version on an existing PC. Here, you will obtain Windows 10 Setup media and use it to perform a clean install of Windows 10.



We discuss both of these topics in the "Power user" sections later in this chapter.

• You want to upgrade from Windows 10 Home to Windows 10 Pro. Windows 10 lets you upgrade in-place from one Windows 10 product edition to another in a variety of ways.



We cover this circumstance later in this chapter.

You have an existing PC and wish to restore Windows 10 to its factory-fresh initial state. In this case, you can and should use Microsoft's recovery tools.



The Microsoft recovery tools are covered in the System Recovery chapter.

• You want to upgrade from Windows 7 or 8.x to Windows 10 on an existing PC. Here, you will obtain Windows 10 Setup media and use it to upgrade your existing Windows version to Windows 10.



We do not explicitly cover upgrading from Windows 7 or 8.1 because any PC that came with these systems is too old and out-of-date to run Windows 10 effectively.

Initial Setup: The Out-Of-Box Experience

When you purchase a new PC and turn it on for the first time, Windows Setup appears. More specifically, you're seeing the second phase of Windows Setup, called the Out-of-Box Experience, or OOBE; your PC maker completed the initial offline phase of Windows 10 Setup for you.

	0

Power users who clean install Windows 10 using their own Setup media will need to deal with that initial offline phase of Windows 10 Setup too. That topic is discussed later in the chapter.



If you are installing Windows 10 Home, we strongly recommend finding the volume controls on your PC before turning on the computer. In a misplaced attempt to accommodate those with vision impairments, Microsoft enables voice control for its Cortana digital personal assistant in Windows Setup and it is *loud*. You can turn off Cortana's annoying voice-over during Setup by selecting the small microphone icon that appears at the bottom left of the next screen.



Protect your eardrums: It's Cortana.



The OOBE generally follows these steps:

Let's start with region. Is this right? Windows Setup will present what it believes to be your correct region—like "United States"—but if that's not correct, you can change it here.



Is this the right keyboard layout? As with the region, Setup presents what it believes to be the correct keyboard layout ("US" is correct for the United States.)

Want to add a second keyboard layout? In this step, Setup prompts you to install a second keyboard layout. This can be useful if you are bilingual or perhaps have special needs.



Most people should simply choose Skip.

Let's connect you to a network. If your PC uses a Wi-Fi networking interface, you can connect to your Wi-Fi network here before continuing with Setup.



Those with wired Ethernet connections will not see this step.

Windows 10 license agreement. The Microsoft License Terms for Windows 10 basically describes that you have no rights and that if you do have any issues, the agreement is between you and the PC maker, not Microsoft anyway. It's displayed only for legal reasons and can be ignored but not skipped.

How would you like to set up? With Windows 10 Pro only, you will be asked to choose between "Set up for personal use" and "Set up for an organization." Choose the former if you are installing Windows 10 Pro for personal use and/or will sign-in with a Microsoft account or a personal account.



In other words, you will not see this screen if you are installing Windows 10 Home.

Sign in with Microsoft. Here, Microsoft would prompts you to sign-in to your Microsoft account, though you can optionally choose a so-called "offline account" (really, a local user account) by selecting that link instead. If you are configuring a new PC, using your Microsoft account is the way to go.



Power users may prefer to choose an offline account and then switch to a Microsoft or work account later. We discuss this topic in the "Power user: Clean install Windows 10" section later in this chapter.



Choose privacy settings for your device. Here, Setup prompts you to configure several settings related to privacy. Frankly, this is a big topic, and you can—and perhaps should—examine these and other privacy settings in Windows 10 more deeply than is possible here.



We recommend not making any changes to the options you see here because Microsoft is not asking for anything particularly egregious and will use your anonymous usage data to improve Windows for everyone.





Not convinced? We explain how to fully configure Windows 10's privacy features in the Personalize chapter.

Do more across devices with activity history. Windows 10 includes a feature called Timeline that helps you see what you were working on previously so that you can continue with that work later. If you select "Yes" here, Timeline will be configured to work across devices, meaning that you will see your activity on your other PCs and, possibly, your smartphone too. (That latter capability requires you to be using certain Microsoft apps on your phone.)



We recommend selecting "No" here for now, since most people will never use Timeline and this feature can be enabled easily enough at any time in the future.



Let Cortana help you get things done. Here, you are choosing whether to enable Cortana capabilities that require data gathering.



We recommend selecting "No," as few Windows 10 users want or need to use Cortana. But you can enable this functionality later easily enough.



PC maker customizations. Some PC makers will add one or more screens here so that you can register your purchase and perhaps sign-in to an account associated with that company.

Hi. Windows 10 will now install any pending system updates and start installing some apps during a series of color-animated screens that say things like "Hi," "We're getting everything ready for you," "This might take several minutes," "Leave everything to us," and the like.



After this, Windows 10 will display your new desktop. You will see familiar elements here: The desktop, Start button, and taskbar with a handful of pre-configured application shortcuts—Microsoft Edge, File Explorer, Microsoft Store, and Mail—plus a notification area with a clock.

Some elements are new to Windows 10, of course. The Windows 10 taskbar includes a Windows Search box, a Cortana button, and a Task View button to the right of the Start button, for example. But overall, the system should be generally familiar if you were previously using Windows 7 or 8.x, while still feeling fresh and updated.





You might see some other items here too, including additional taskbar or desktop items that were added by your PC maker.

Post-Setup tasks

Next, you should make sure that everything is working properly and prepare your PC for the future. Here are a few post-install tasks to perform.



You should try to perform these tasks in the listed order, and reboot as directed before continuing.

Lower the volume. Microsoft inexplicably configures Windows 10 to output sound at a very high volume, which is why Cortana is so annoying during a clean install. If you didn't already do so, be sure to lower the system volume now using the Volume icon in the system tray.

Check your date and time settings. Windows 10 will try to automatically detect your location and then set the time and date accordingly. But doesn't always work, in my experience, and the system will often default to Pacific Time (where Microsoft's headquarters are) or to whatever time zone your PC maker may have configured. If the time and/or date are not correct, right-click the date and time display in the notification area and then select "Adjust date/time" from the pop-up menu that appears. You can make the necessary changes in the Date & Time settings window that appears.

Rename your PC. Windows Setup creates a nonsense name for the PC instead of letting you choose one that is meaningful to you. This is important because you will see your PC's name referenced by OneDrive and other Microsoft services on the web and elsewhere. So you should change it immediately: Right-click on the Start button (or type WINKEY + X) to display the Quick Access menu, and then choose "System" from the list. In the System settings window that appears, select the "Rename this PC" button and then enter a name that makes sense to you—perhaps *Pauls-PC*, *Laptop*, or whatever—and click Enter. You'll be told you have to reboot the PC. Do so.

← Settings			-	٥
යි Home	About			
Find a setting \wp	Device spec	cifications		
Sustam	Device name	Win7		
System	Processor	Intel(R) Core(TM) i7-8650U CPU @ 1.90GHz 2.11 GHz		
	Installed RAM	4.00 GB		
Battery	Device ID	7F5A2506-0B0E-42F1-AC25-BDC569B67C7C		
,	Product ID	00326-10000-00000-AA765		
Storage	System type	64-bit operating system, x64-based processor		
	Pen and touch	No pen or touch input is available for this display		
□ Tablet mode				
	Rename this I			
目 Multitasking		12		
Projecting to this PC	Windows s	pecifications		
	Windows s	pedifications		
⅔ Shared experiences	Edition	Windows 10 Home		
Cickand	Version	1903		
Щ Спрроаго	Installed on	7/26/2019		
K Remote Deskton	OS build	18362.239		



Sorry, you can't use spaces in the PC name. Yes, we know it's the 21st century.

Use Windows Update to get the PC up-to-date. After that reboot is complete, be sure to check Windows Update—found in Settings (WINKEY + I) > Update & security > Windows Update—for any updates, rebooting as required and rechecking until there are no more updates to install. This is a much faster process with Windows 10 than it was with previous Windows versions thanks to a new system of cumulative monthly updates.

Install Windows 10

← Settings	-,	٥	×
ம் Home	Windows Update		
Find a setting ρ	Dupdates available		
Update & Security	2020-04 Cumulative Update for Windows 10 Version 2004 for x64-based Systems (KB4550936) Status: Downloading - 98%		
€ Windows Update	Windows Malicious Software Removal Tool x64 - March 2020 (KB890830) Status: Installing - 0%		
La Delivery Optimization	Pause up to the pause of 7 days Visit Advanced options to change the pause period		
Windows Security	Change active hours		
↑ Backup	Currently 8:00 AM to 5:00 PM		
2 ⁹ Troubleshoot	See update history		
꾠 Recovery	Advanced options Additional update controls and settings		
 Activation 			

Run your PC maker's support/driver update application. While a handful of PC makers utilize only Windows Setup for software updates, most still provide a custom application—Dell Update, HP Support Assistant, Lenovo Vantage, or similar—for delivering software and driver updates. After Windows Update is completely up-to-date, find this application and install any updates your PC maker provides.

Create a recovery drive (Optional). While Windows 10 comes with various recovery tools, it's possible that the disk on which you installed the OS could experience a problem, making the builtin tools unavailable. So you may want to create a USB-based recovery drive, which can be used to boot your PC and fix problems, including getting Windows 10 reinstalled if needed. The easiest way to find this tool is with Start search: Open the Start menu and type *recovery drive*. In the wizard that appears, be sure to leave the option "Back up system files to the recovery drive" selected.





We discuss the recovery drive a bit more in the System Recovery chapter.

Configure OneDrive for offline use (Optional). Your Microsoft account comes with OneDrive storage, and this cloud-based service will be configured for access via File Explorer when you first sign-in. That said, you can also manually choose which folders to make available for offline use by opening File Explorer and choosing OneDrive in the navigation pane.



This topic is covered in much more detail in the Files and Storage chapter.

Make sure your network is configured correctly (Optional). If you have more than one PC connected to your home network and would like to share files and printers between them, you need to configure your PC to be "visible" on the network. To do so, open File Explorer (WINKEY + E) and select Network in the navigation pane on the left. In the Network view, click OK in the pop-up warning that appears and explains that network discovering is turned off. Then, select the light blue message below the toolbar which reads, "Network discovery and file sharing are turned off. Network computers and devices are not visible. Click to change..." Select "Turn on network discovery and file sharing" from the pop-up menu that appears. Then choose "No, make the network that I am connected to a private network" in the resulting window.





Check out the Networking chapter for more information about configuring your PC to work with different types of networks.

Update the built-in Microsoft Store apps. While Windows 10 will automatically update its built-in Store apps over time—and will do so for any apps you later install—it's likely some are out-of-date even though you just installed Windows. So open the Microsoft Store app, select the "See more"

("...") button, and then select "Downloads and updates". In the Downloads and updates view that appears, select the Get updates button.

Microsoft Store					-	٥	×
← Home Gaming	Entertainment	Productivity	Deals	, ^O Search	R ₊	<u>↓</u> 31	
My library		Downlo	oads and updates		G	et upda	ates
III All owned		In the do	ownload queue (31)			Pau	se all
 Installed 		S Xb	oox Live in-game experience	Downloading 65.00 KB 169.8 Kb/s	_	11	×
<u>↓</u> Downloads		🔊 Xb	box Identity Provider	Downloading 2.62 MB 343.1 Kb/s		II	×
		I Wi	indows Calculator	Pending	3	×	
		😭 Ap	op Installer	Pending	;	×	
		S Sk	ype	Pending	3	×	
		😒 Xb	box Console Companion	Pending)	×	
		🗖 Mo	ovies & TV	Pending	:	×	
		💼 Mi	icrosoft Store	Pending	3	×	
		6 M3	SN Weather	Pending	;	×	

Install the desktop applications you need. Windows doesn't stand alone: Most people have a wide selection of desktop applications—Microsoft Office, Adobe Photoshop, Apple iTunes, and so on—that they use and rely on every day. And now is the time to start visiting the websites for these applications, and downloading and installing them.

Personalize Windows. Windows 10 offers many customization capabilities, so be sure to check out the Personalization section in Settings (WINKEY + I).



Read the *Personalize* chapter next to learn more.

Upgrade from one Windows 10 product edition to another

Windows 10 supports a variety of in-place product edition upgrades. The most common is the upgrade from Windows 10 Home to Windows 10 Pro. But Windows 10 Pro users can also upgrade to Windows 10 Pro for Workstations, an advanced Windows version that supports four processors and up to 6 TB of RAM.

Doing so isn't free and it isn't cheap: The price varies according to the upgrade type and can range from \$100 to \$125 in the United States.

To upgrade to a different Windows 10 product edition, open the Microsoft Store app and search for "Windows 10." In the drop-down menu that appears as you type in the Search box, you will see the applicable product edition to which you can upgrade.



Select the correct item in the search results. The Store navigates to a page that explains the benefits of upgrading and how much it will cost.



If you're ready to buy—and then perform the upgrade—you can do so from here. It's a fast process but it does require a reboot.

Power user: Clean install Windows 10

In certain circumstances, you may find that you need to clean install Windows 10 using USB-based Setup media that you created.

Get ready first

Before you install Windows 10, you should consider the following.

Determine whether you need a product key. If you purchased Windows 10 at retail, or electronically from Microsoft, you will have a 25-digit product key that can be used to activate Windows 10. But if you previously upgraded a genuine version of Windows 7 or Windows 8.x to Windows 10 on that PC, no product key is necessary going forward: Windows 10 should activate automatically if you later choose to clean install the OS on the same PC again.

Completely backup your PC before performing an install (Optional). If you intend to clean install Windows 10 on a PC that already has an existing OS, you should consider backing up the PC first just in case something goes wrong with the Windows 10 install.

Create a system repair disk (Optional). If you do back up your install of a previous Windows version, you will also want to create a system repair disk—which can be USB- or disc-based—that can be used to boot your PC and restore it using the system image backup you made.



The Windows 10 Setup media can also be used as a system repair disk, though of course the tools on that disk are Windows 10-based and can't be used with your previous Windows version.

Separately back up your important data (Optional). When you install Windows 10, you are in most cases also deleting data that may be on that PC's disk(s) as well. There are exceptions, but it's better to be safe than sorry. So if possible, you should also copy of your important personal data— documents, music and video files, photos, whatever—to a location that is physically separate from the PC, like a removable hard drive or network share.

Decide whether to use a Microsoft account. Windows Setup pressures you to sign-in to the PC with a Microsoft account. Doing so is a convenience, as Windows will automatically pass-through your sign-in credentials to apps like Mail, Calendar, and People that are bundled with the operating system. And we recommend that most user do so when setting up a new PC. But this is optional and you can still create a local user account, as you did in previous Windows versions. Then, you can sign-in to these apps individually with a Microsoft account if you want. Windows 10 also lets you switch between the two account types, so you can't switch the local account to a Microsoft account later if you'd like.



You can learn how to convert a local user account to a Microsoft account in the Accounts chapter.

Make sure you're using a 64-bit version of Windows 10. Microsoft still offers 32-bit and 64-bit versions of Windows 10 Home and Windows 10 Pro for sale to the public for backward compatibility reasons. But you want the 64-bit version if there's a choice.

Make sure you know how to boot your PC using a USB flash drive. In the next section, you'll learn how to create the Windows 10 Setup media, but you will need to know how to boot your PC using that USB flash drive as well. This process varies from PC to PC, of course. Some PCs will provide a textual hint during initial boot, but for others you will need to consult with your PC maker's documentation or support website.

Create Windows 10 setup media

Before you can can install or upgrade to Windows 10, you need to have the Windows Setup program and associated files available. This typically takes the form of what Microsoft calls the *Windows 10 Setup media*, which is a USB stick to which the Windows 10 Setup files have been properly copied and configured.

You can create the Setup media using a handy Microsoft utility called the Media Creation Tool. This tool will download the latest version of the Windows 10 Setup files to your PC and then and create a bootable USB drive that can be used to clean install (or upgrade to) Windows 10.



To create the Windows 10 Setup media, you need a USB flash drive with at least 8 GB of storage.

To get started, open your favorite web browser, *navigate to the Download Windows 10 page on the Microsoft website* and select the "Download tool now" button under Create Windows 10 installation media. Once this is downloaded, run the Media Creation Tool.

After accepting the software license terms, you're ready to start.

📹 Windows 10 Setup	-		×
What do you want to do?			
 Upgrade this PC now Create installation media (USB flash drive, DVD, or ISO file) for another P 	С		
Microsoft Support Legal Back		<u>N</u> ext]

Select "Create installation media (USB flash drive, DVD, or ISO file) for another PC." Then, select the Next button.

			-	
Windows 10 Setup		_		X
Select la	anguage architecture and ed	itio	n	
JUICELIE	anguage, architecture, and ca	itio		
Please select from o	one of the available options to continue.			
Language	English (United States)			
Edition	Windows 10 V			
Architecture	64-bit (x64)			
Use the recomm	nended options for this PC			

Here, the wizard automatically selects your language, product edition (Windows 10 Pro, perhaps), and architecture (64-bit or 32-bit) as determined by the current PC's configuration. But you should review those options by deselecting "Use the recommended options for this PC," especially if you intend to use this installer on a different PC.



The "Both" option under Architecture is interesting, as the resulting Setup disk will let you select between 32-bit and 64-bit versions of Setup during the install process. But this will also incur a much bigger download and require a larger capacity USB flash drive.

Once you've selected the right choices for your PC, select Next.



If you are going to create USB-based Setup media directly, which I recommend, insert a formatted USB flash drive into the PC and choose "USB flash drive." Then, click Next.



If your PC has a DVD drive, you will also see an option for DVD. We do not cover this antiquated technology in the book.

After selecting the flash drive from a list of compatible drives, the Windows Setup files will immediately begin downloading to your PC. And when that's done, the wizard will create the Setup media.



What about that other option, "ISO file"? This option lets you download the Windows 10 Setup media to an *ISO file*, which is an *image file* representation of a disk that you can then use later in Windows as if it were a physical disk. ISO files have many advantages, most of which are not pertinent to this process. For example, in Windows 10, you can double-click an ISO file to "mount" the disk image in File Explorer as if it were a physical disk, and then use it normally from there. You can use an ISO file to install Windows 10 in a *virtual machine* using Hyper-V, a Windows 10 Pro feature, or a third-party solution like Oracle Virtual Box or Parallels Desktop. You can also burn this disk image to a DVD disc if you prefer that type of Setup media. Or, you can use a third party utility like *Rufus* to copy the ISO file to a USB flash drive, in essence duplicating the "USB flash drive" option in the Media Creation Tool. Whew.

Run Windows Setup and install Windows 10

Windows 10 Setup is split into two major parts, an offline interactive setup sequence and the Out of Box Experience, or OOBE. When you boot your PC with the Windows 10 Setup media, you will encounter both.

Offline setup

The first phase of Windows Setup generally follows these steps:

Windows Setup. The initial screen will offer three options to customize: Language to install, Time and currency format, and Keyboard or input method. They should be set to the correct choices already, but it's always a good idea to scan them before proceeding.



Install now. Here, you can choose between the prominent "Install now" link and a less obvious "Repair your computer link." Choose "Install now."



That latter choice boots your PC into the Windows Recovery Environment, which is covered in the System Recovery chapter.

Activate Windows. If you purchased Windows 10 from Microsoft or another retailer, you received a 25-character product key which can be used to activate the OS. You can enter that now if you like, but there's no need to do so. Just click the "I don't have a product key" link instead. You can always enter the product key later, and users who are performing a clean install after having previously acquired a free upgrade to Windows 10 will never need to do so anyway.

🌀 💰 Windows Setup		×
Activate Windows		
If this is the first time you're installing Win you need to enter a valid Windows produc email you received after buying a digital co Windows came in.	dows on this PC (or you're installing a different edit t key. Your product key should be in the confirmati opy of Windows or on a label inside the box that	ion), on
The product key looks like this: XXXX-XX	XXX-XXXXX-XXXXX-XXXXX	
If you're reinstalling Windows, select I don automatically activated later.	't have a product key. Your copy of Windows will b	e
[
<u>P</u> rivacy statement	I don't have a product key	Next

Select the operating system you want to install. If you didn't enter your product key and you created Setup media with the Media Creation tool, you will be prompted to choose between various Windows 10 product editions, including Windows 10 Home, Education, and Pro, and possibly others. Choose the correct product edition here.

Windows 10 Home Windows 10 Home N	хб4	7/0/2010
Windows 10 Home N		11512015
	x64	7/9/2019
Windows 10 Home Single Language	x64	7/9/2019
Windows 10 Education	x64	7/9/2019
Windows 10 Education N	х64	7/9/2019
Windows 10 Pro	x64	7/9/2019
Windows 10 Pro N	x64	7/9/2019
escription: íindows 10 Home		



Be sure to choose the product edition that matches your product key or you won't be able to activate it later.

Applicable notices and license terms. You must agree to the terms of the Microsoft software license terms before you can proceed.

Which type of installation do you want? Here, you can choose between Upgrade and Custom install types, the latter of which is used to perform a clean install of Windows 10. Choose "Custom: Install Windows only (advanced)."



Where do you want to install Windows? Here, you choose the drive or disk partition on which you will install Windows 10. If your PC has a single drive, you should see only one drive (really,

partition) listed. Otherwise, use the Delete button to remove all of the partitions until only one item ("Drive 0 Unallocated Space") appears in the list. Then, you can continue.

Name		Total size	Free space	Туре
🛷 Drive O l	Inallocated Space	50.0 GB	50.0 GB	
A Pafrach	Delete	Format	Je New	



If this PC has multiple drives, be careful about installing Windows 10 to the correct drive. You did back up, right?

Installing Windows. Here, Setup copies over the files it needs to boot your PC and install Windows 10. When this process is complete, the PC will reboot.



Getting ready. After a reboot, Windows 10 Setup will configure the hardware devices in your PC. And then your PC will reboot again.



Out-of-Box Experience (OOBE)

We cover the second phase of Windows Setup, called the Out-of-Box Experience, or OOBE, at the beginning of this chapter because it is the only part of Setup that most users will see. That is, the OOBE will be seen by all users, even those who acquire Windows 10 with a new PC purchase.

But there are a few steps to this process that are unique to those who are clean installing Windows 10, or deserve further consideration. They are:

Windows 10 license agreement. This only appears on new PC installs. If you stepped through the offline Setup previous to the OOBE, you already agreed to the license terms.

Sign in with Microsoft. While most people setting up a new PC should simply sign-in with their Microsoft account, power users who clean-install Windows 10 may wish to use a local, or "offline," account instead. To do so, select the "Offline account" link in the lower left.





Yes, you can do this even if you intend to use a Microsoft account. You can convert this so-called offline account to a Microsoft account later if you wish.

Sign in with Microsoft instead? Did we mention that Microsoft would *really* like you to sign-in to your Microsoft account? It's OK. Select the "No" button.



Who's going to use this PC? Here, you should create a simply-named, one-word local user accountlike *Paul*, and not *Paul Thurrott*—because Windows will use this account name as the name of your user folder in the file system, and it won't create a folder name with spaces.

Create a super memorable password. Do *not* create a password now, super-memorable or otherwise, as you will be rebooting the PC several times after you finish Setup. Later, you will either sign-in to your Microsoft account—which will require you to use the password associated with that account—or you can create a password for the local account. Just select "Next."

More post-install tasks

In "Post-Setup tasks" earlier in the chapter, we described the steps you should take when you initially setup Windows 10 and then arrive at the desktop for the first. If you signed-in to the Windows using an offline account instead of a Microsoft account, there are a few additional tasks to consider.

They are:

Check Device Manager. After fully updating via Windows Update, you should run Device Manager (type WINKEY + X—or right-click the Start button—to display the Quick Access menu and then choose "Device Manager" from the list) and make sure all of your hardware devices are supported with working drivers. If you see any yellow exclamation points (called "bangs" in industry lingo), something is wrong.




If possible, you should resolve driver issues using the support capabilities of your PC maker, which may provide a utility via its website that will scan your PC and look for missing or out-of-date drivers or, at the very least, offer manual driver downloads. The issue in the latter case is that it's not always clear which driver(s) are missing. To find out what a "banged" device really is—and thus get the correct driver—right-click it and choose "Update Driver Software" and then "Search automatically for updated driver software." If that doesn't work, right-click the device and choose Properties. In the Properties window that appears, navigate to the Details tab and then choose Hardware Ids from the Property drop-down. Right-click the first item in the Value list and chose Copy. Then, search the web with that string. You will discover what the device is and then be able to find a driver install online, preferably from your PC maker.

Activate Windows. Once you're sure that Windows 10 is up and running correctly, you should check to see whether it has already activated automatically. To do so, navigate to Settings (WINKEY + I) > Update & security > Activation. If Windows needs to be activated, select "Change product key" and enter your 25-digit product key to activate.



If you had previously installed Windows 10 on this PC, it should activate automatically, meaning you won't need to do this.

Sign-in with your Microsoft account (Optional). Many users will want to sign-in to Windows with a Microsoft account, because doing so will sync settings between your PCs by default. This will also cause you to automatically sign-in to apps like Mail, Calendar, Xbox, Groove and others. You can do so by navigating to Settings (WINKEY + I) > Accounts > Your info and selecting "Sign in with a Microsoft account instead." Then, follow the prompts.

Install Windows 10





You will also be prompted to configure a PIN at this point since typing in your Microsoft account password every time you wake up the PC can be tedious. You should do so. And if your PC has a Windows Hello-compatible fingerprint reader or camera, you can configure that now in Settings > Accounts > Sign-in options as well.

Configure OneDrive. If you use Microsoft's OneDrive cloud storage service, and you didn't initially sign-in to Windows with a Microsoft account, you should sign-in to OneDrive now and configure it to sync whichever cloud-based folders and documents you would like to use on this PC. You can find the OneDrive icon—and start the sign-in process—in the system tray.



This topic is covered in more detail in the *Files and Storage* chapter.



Get to know the Settings app

Most of the personalization choices you make in Windows will occur in the Settings app. This app is readily available: You can launch it from the Settings gear in the left of the Start menu, from the apps list in Start, with Start search, or by typing WINKEY + I at any time.

Settings is arranged into several areas, such as System, Devices, Phone, and so on. Each of these areas provide their own pages with specific settings. For example, when you navigate to Personalization, you will see pages for Background, Color, Lock screen, Themes, Fonts, Start, and Taskbar.



Perhaps not surprisingly, much of this chapter involves this part of the Settings app.

Eliminate the biggest annoyances first

Before examining how you can personalize specific parts of Windows, let's address a controversial topic right up-front: For all that Microsoft has gotten right in the latest Windows version, the company has also peppered it with various annoyances, many of which take the form of unwanted advertising. So let's look at eliminating these issues first.



Some people may not be upset by this advertising. And, in some cases, you won't even see it at first. So you should evaluate these on a case-by-case basis and make the right choice for you.

Turn off Lock screen advertising

By default, Windows utilizes a fun Windows Spotlight background that provides a great new wallpaper image from Bing every day. There are usually two or three informational bubbles, too, which provide you with more details about the depicted location.



But Windows Showcase can also display advertising, in particular for Microsoft products and services like the Edge web browser or Cortana.



Unfortunately, you must disable Windows Spotlight to get rid of this; you can't just turn off the advertising.

To do so, navigate to Settings > Personalization > Lock screen. For the Background option, choose "Picture" or "Slideshow," and not "Windows spotlight". (And then choose a favorite personal photo, or photos.)



We discuss other lock screen options in the section *Customize the lock screen and sign-in screen* later in this chapter.

Remove crapware

Even a clean install of Windows comes with several unwanted and unnecessary third-party apps and games, which you'll see littering the Start menu's apps list and tiles areas.



Oddly, some of the tiles you will see represent apps and games that aren't actually installed (yet) on the PC. When you select such a tile, it will install from the Store. Fortunately, you can simply remove both types of tiles.

To do so, right-click the tile for an app (or app advertisement) that you wish to remove. Then, choose "Uninstall" or "Unpin from Start" from the pop-up menu that appears. (In some cases, these choices might be under "More.")



Be sure to scan through the entire apps list for more crapware to uninstall as well.

Turn off Start advertising

The Windows Start experience is much improved over that in previous versions, but it also has a few downsides. Key among them is that it displays a variety of ads by default.

This is seen in a "Suggested" section in the Apps list on the left; this is an advertisement for one or more Windows Store apps or games that appears shortly after you start using a new or upgraded Windows install.



To remove the Suggested section, open Settings (WINKEY + I) and navigate to Personalization > Start. Then, change the option titled "Show suggestions occasionally in Start" to Off.



We discuss other Start options in the section *Customize Start* later in this chapter.

Turn off Action Center advertising

Windows will occasionally display tips, suggestions and other distracting and unnecessary notifications and then store them in Action Center just in case you missed the pop-up banners.



You can prevent this from happening.

To do so, navigate to Settings > System > Notifications & actions and then scroll down to the Notifications section. Here, you will see two options to disable: "Show me the Windows welcome experience after updates and occasionally when I sign in to highlight what's new and suggested" and "Get tips, tricks, and suggestions as you use Windows." Then, under the Get notifications from these senders section, turn off notifications for "Suggested" as well.



We discuss Action Center and notifications in more detail in the Microsoft Store and Apps chapter.

Turn off File Explorer advertising

File Explorer is the Windows *shell*, the place where you go to interact with your PC's file system and various network locations. But Microsoft also uses File Explorer to advertise OneDrive features and Office 365.



You can turn this intrusion off. To do so, open File Explorer and then navigate to View > Options > Change folder and search options. In the Folder Options window that appears, navigate to the View tab. In the Advanced settings list, scroll down until you see the option titled "Show sync provider notifications." Then, uncheck that option and then select OK to close the window.



Turn off Windows Ink Workspace advertising

If you use a tablet or 2-in-1 PC with an active pen, you might find the Suggested area in the Windows Ink Workspace—which can suggested individual apps or just link to Ink-enabled apps in the Store to be objectionable. To disable it, navigate to Settings > Devices > Pen & Windows Ink. Then, change the setting "Show recommended app suggestions" under Windows Ink Workspace to Off.

← Settings		-	٥	×	
Home	Pen & Windows Ink				
Find a setting	Handwriting	Have a question?			
		Change my pen's battery			
Devices	Font when using handwriting	Troubleshoot my pen			
	Segoe UI V	Get help			
Bluetooth & other devices	Some fonts aren't supported in all languages				
凸 Drinter & courses		Make Windows better			
to Printers & scanners	Write in the handwriting panel with your fingertip	Give us feedback			
🖰 Mouse					
Taucknad	Windows Ink Workspace				
EB louchpad	—				
Typing	Show recommended app suggestions				
🧈 Pen & Windows Ink	Learn about Windows Ink				

Customize your privacy settings

Microsoft has clearly gotten the message on privacy, and Window now includes numerous privacyrelated controls and dashboards. You are prompted to configure several of these options during initial Setup but it's important to know that there are many more privacy settings than what is presented then. And that you can change any of these options at any time.



It can be tedious, but we strongly recommend that you review your privacy settings from time-to-time. One strategy is to do so after a new Windows 10 feature update is installed.

Review your privacy settings

You can find Privacy settings by navigating to Settings > Privacy.

← Settings		- 8 ×
命 Home	General	
Find a setting $\ensuremath{\mathcal{P}}$ Privacy	Change privacy options Let apps use advertising ID to make ads more interesting to you based on your app activity (Turning this off will reset your ID.)	Know your privacy options Learn how this setting impacts your privacy. Learn more Privacy dashboard
Windows permissions	Let websites provide locally relevant content by accessing my language list	Privacy statement Have a question?
R [§] Speech	Let Windows track app launches to improve Start and search results On On	Manage Microsoft account privacy settings Change privacy settings
Inking & typing personalization Poignostics & feedback	Show me suggested content in the Settings app On	Change my child's privacy settings Get help
日 Activity history		Make Windows better Give us feedback
App permissions		
出 Location 〇 Camera		

Here, you will find many options organized under the sections Windows permissions and App permissions. They are:

General. Here, you will see options for disabling the personal advertising ID (which will result in non-personalized ads), allowing websites to know your configured languages list so that they can provide you with locally-relevant content, and determine whether Windows can track your app launches so that it can improve the Start and search experiences in the product. Also, you can toggle whether suggested content appears in the Settings app. (Unlike other "suggestions" in Windows, these are actually useful and would not be classified as advertising.)

Speech. Cortana and the general dictation capabilities in Windows will learn your voice over time so that it can more accurately respond to your questions. Likewise, Cortana—which, remember, is a digital personal assistant—must have access to your calendar, contacts, and other personal information in its notebook in order to work properly.

Inking & typing personalization. Windows will learn your handwriting (via smartpen) and typing (via keyboard) over time so that it can create a local (on-PC) dictionary that makes better spelling suggestions as you write or type. If you'd like, you can turn off this capability here, and you can view your personal dictionary, too.

Diagnostics & feedback. By default, Windows sends anonymous *telemetry* data to Microsoft so that the company can improve the product for everyone. But you can configure this data collection to be Basic (which is minimal, not "none") or Full, where you're behaving like a responsible adult.

Likewise, Windows will automatically prompt you for feedback from time to time; if you don't like that, you can change the timing or just turn it off. You can also allow Microsoft to use your usage data to help it send you tailored tips and recommendations. There is also some functionality here related to a tool called the Diagnostic Data Viewer, which we examine in the next section.

Activity history. This set of options is related to the Timeline feature we discuss in the Basic Navigation and Usage chapter. You can enable an option that lets Windows store your activity across apps and documents so that you can view those activities over time and return and work on something from the past. You can also choose to "send my activity history to Microsoft," which isn't as scary as it sounds: This is so your activity is available via Timeline on your other PCs, and on your smartphone too.

Location. Here, you can configure and learn about your location settings. Key among the options here are a way to configure your default location and clear your location history. You can also configure which apps can use your precise location on an app-by-app basis.

Camera. As you might expect, this interface lets you globally enable or disable the camera(s) in or attached to your PC and determine which apps can access them on an app-by-app basis.

Microphone. Ditto, but for the microphone. If you do choose to disable the microphone, you'll be prompted whenever an application or system service needs to use it.

Voice activation. Here, you can configure whether apps like Amazon Alexa, Cortana, and the like can respond to keywords that you speak out loud. This capability, called voice activation, can be enabled or disabled globally and then configured on an app-by-app basis.

Notifications. This interface lets you globally enable or disable whether apps can access your notifications and then configure this capability on an app-by-app basis. (This is unrelated to enabling and configuring notifications for the user; that functionality is configured in Settings > System > Notifications & actions.)



Some apps, including some Microsoft Edge extensions, need this capability to work properly.

Account info. Some Store apps will use your account name, picture, and other info to personalize your experience. You can turn this ability off globally or on an app-by-app basis.

Contacts. Here, you can globally enable or disable whether apps can access your contacts and determine, on an app-by-app basis, which apps can do so.

Calendar. Ditto, but for your schedule.

Phone calls. Certain Windows apps—including Your Phone, Maps, and Cortana—can place phone calls using a connected smartphone. This interface determines whether this functionality is enabled globally and it lets you configure it on an app-by-app basis.

Call history. Here, you can globally enable or disable whether apps can access your call history and determine, on an app-by-app basis, which apps can do so.

Email. Here, you can determine which apps can access your email and send email on your behalf. You can also disable this capability globally.



The Mail and Calendar apps always have access to your email.

Tasks. Here, you can determine which apps can access your online account-based tasks on your behalf. You can also disable this capability globally.



The Mail and Calendar apps always have access to your tasks.

Messaging. You can globally enable or disable the ability of apps to read or send text messages (SMS and MMS) through your smartphone. You can also individually choose which apps have this access.

Radios. Some radios in your PC—like Bluetooth—can be controlled by apps. (For example, the Your Phone app can optionally sync with your smartphone over Bluetooth.) You can disable this functionality globally or on an app-by-app basis.

Other devices. While you will explicitly pair some devices with your PC, there is another class of devices that is implicitly paired when in range. Here, you can determine whether your PC can share data with wireless devices and determine which apps are not allowed to do so.

Background apps. Here, you can determine whether to allow apps to run in the background globally, and further configure background activity on an app-by-app basis. Note that modern app platforms like that in Windows rely on this capability for apps to function properly. The Mail app, for example, can run in the background and alert you when new email arrives even if the app is not running in the foreground (with a visible app window).

App diagnostics. This page determines whether apps can access the telemetry data that Windows 10 gathers and, if so, which apps.

Automatic file downloads. By default, OneDrive and other online storage provider apps will automatically download any file marked as online-only if you open it. But you can block OneDrive from doing so. If you later regret this choice, you can visit this interface and re-enable it.

Documents. This page provides permissions for your so-called Document library—which is either your local Documents folder or your OneDrive Documents folder by default—globally or on an app-by-app basis.



You can move your Documents library to OneDrive in OneDrive settings.

Pictures. This works similarly to Documents, but for your Pictures library.

Videos. This works similarly to Documents, but for your Videos library.

File system. This works similarly to Documents, but for your PC's file system.

See the data that Windows collects

A Diagnostic Data Viewer utility shows you what data Windows collects, albeit in a humanunfriendly XML format. But it's disabled by default because it can use up to 1 GB of disk space.

To enable it, open Settings and navigate to Privacy > Diagnostics & feedback and locate the View diagnostic data section. Then, flip the option toggle there to On. If the app is not install, the Microsoft Store will appear so that you can install it.

To use this utility, selection the "Open Diagnostic Data Viewer" button. If this is the first time you've done this, you'll be prompted to download and install this app from the Microsoft Store. The Diagnostic Data Viewer uses an XML-based formatting scheme and as you can see it is designed for machine reading, not human reading.





This is literally the data that Windows has sent to Microsoft, so viewing it even in this cryptic fashion should allay any fear that the company is "spying" on you, as some conspiracy theorists no doubt suspect.

To delete the diagnostic data that Microsoft has already collected, select the "Delete" button under Delete diagnostic data in the Diagnostics & feedback page in Settings.

Customize the display

Windows will try to select the correct resolution and display scaling for your PC's display based on its understanding of the device's size and capabilities. But you may still want to customize these options to your liking and make other changes related to how Windows looks on your PC. Most of these settings can be found in Settings > System > Display.



You can also jump directly to this Settings page by right-clicking the desktop and choosing Display settings.

Key options here ares described in the following sections.

Change the display resolution

In Display settings, you can choose between the literal (or native) and recommended resolution of your display and several other choices, all of which will be lower than the native resolution. This should always be set to the native resolution, so just be sure that's the case.

← Settings			-	٥	×
යි Home	Display				
Find a setting	Scale and layout	Give us feedback			
System	Change the size of text, apps, and other items 150% (Recommended)				
🖵 Display	Advanced scaling settings				
小 》 Sound	Display resolution				
Notifications & actions	1920 × 1080 (Recommended)				
	1600 × 900				
(¹) Power & sleep	1440 × 900 1400 × 1050				
Battery	1366 × 768				
📼 Storage	1360 × 768 1280 × 1024 matically. Select Detect to				
B Tablet mode	1280 × 960				
日 Multitasking	Advanced display settings				
Projecting to this PC	Graphics settings				



If you find the user interface elements in Windows to be too small (or too big) at your display's native resolution, you can make them bigger using the display scaling and text sizing techniques noted below.

Change the display scaling

Once the display is set properly to its native resolution, you can use the display scaling capabilities in Windows—found under Scale and layout in Display settings—to scale all of the user interface elements in the system so that it looks right to you.

As noted above, Windows will try to set the display scaling—found in the drop-down under "Change the size of text, apps, and other items"—correctly based on its understanding of your display's size

and resolution. But you can adjust it as you'd like. Here, for example, you can see the impact of using a perhaps overly-large scale setting of 175 percent.





The scaling that Windows recommends is denoted with the text "(Recommended)" in the "Change the size of text, apps, and other items" option.

You can also use the "Advanced scaling settings" link to configure a custom scaling size between 100 and 500 percent. This is not recommended as Windows will automatically display the scaling sizes that will work properly on your display and not cut off any user interface elements.

Make text bigger

Using a hidden feature in Windows, you can also optionally scale text independently of other user interface elements. This is useful if you prefer to use a smaller display scaling setting but would like to make just the on-screen text bigger.

To change text scaling independently, you need to first display this hidden option. To do so, use Start search or Setting search and look for *make text bigger*. When you do, Display settings appears with a new section called Make text bigger at the top of the window.

← Settings		- 8 ×
命 Home	Display	
Find a setting	Make your display easier to see.	Related settings Additional display settings
Ease of Access	Make text bigger	Background settings
Malas	Sample text	Color settings
vision	Drag the slider until the sample text is easy to read, then click Apply	Theme settings
Display	A 100%	Have a question?
Cursor & pointer	Apply	Use color filters
♥ Magnifier		Turn on high contrast
Color filters	Make everything bigger	Get help
We think an entropy	Change the size of apps and text on the main display	Make Windows better
A High contrast	150% (Recommended) \vee	Give us feedback

Now, you can use the slider to select the size of text, and use a preview pane to see the impact of this change. Select "Apply" when the text is exactly the size you prefer.

Let Windows try to fix applications so they're not blurry

One of the side-effects of the user interface and text scaling capabilities of Windows is that some applications—especially older desktop applications that were made well before these Windows features even existed—can look blurry. Windows will often prompt you to let it try and fix the display of these applications as this happens. But you can manually enable this setting as well.

To do so, navigate to Settings > Display > "Advanced scaling settings". Then, enable the option titled "Let Windows try to fix apps so they're not blurry."

Enable and configure Night light

Like Android and iOS, Windows supports a special display mode that removes a configurable amount of blue light from your PC's display, making it appear warmer and more orange-colored. This feature, called Night light, is especially desirable at night because blue light is very harsh to our eyes and it impacts our ability to sleep normally.

You can toggle Night light manually in Display settings. But it's better to set Night light to come on automatically on a set schedule—typically from sunset to sunrise—so that your PC is always configured optimally.

To do so, select "Night light settings" under Brightness and color. Then, in Night light settings, switch "Schedule night light" to On and choose "Sunset to sunrise" or your own custom schedule.

← Settings		-	٥
බ Night light settings			
Screens emit blue light, which can keep you up at night. Night light displays warmer colors to help you sleep.	Have a question? Get help		
Off until sunset (9:43 PM)			
Turn on now 74 Strength			
Schedule			
Schedule night light			
On On			
• Sunset to sunrise (9:43 PM – 5:50 AM)			
O Set hours			



Be sure to experiment with the "Color temperature at night" slider as well. I happen to prefer the warmest—or "most orange"—setting to the far left. But you may prefer otherwise.



If you prefer a less harsh display, you should also consider using the Dark app mode in Windows as well. We discuss this mode later in this chapter.

Customize the desktop

You can customize the Windows desktop by specifying a background, a theme, and other options. These options are found by navigating to Settings > Personalization.



There's a nice shortcut to this interface from the desktop, too. Just right-click an empty area of the desktop and choose "Personalize" from the pop-up menu that appears.

Here you can:

Change the background. Windows will retain your previously-configured desktop background if you upgrade from a older Windows version. Otherwise, you may see a default background that was specified by Microsoft or your PC maker. But you can change the background at any time, choosing between a picture, a solid color, or a photo slide show, which is a set of pictures that changes automatically on a schedule. You do so in Settings > Personalization > Background.

Change the color (system theme). Windows supports both Light and Dark system themes—or what Windows unfortunately calls "colors". But you can also configure your "color" to be Custom and then individually configure the system UI ("default Windows mode") and application windows ("default app mode") to be Light or Dark. In other words, you can mix and match and use Light

application windows on top of a Dark system UI (or vice versa). You configure this in Settings > Personalization > Colors.

← Settings		– ø ×
ش Home	Colors	
Find a setting		Related Settings High contrast settings
Personalization	Sample Text	Sync your settings
🖾 Background		Have a question?
Colors Col		Change desktop or background colors
Lock screen		Change taskbar color
🖆 Themes	Choose your color Custom V	Make Windows better
A Fonts	Choose your default Windows mode	Give us feedback
昭 Start	O Light	
🖵 Taskbar	Dark	
	Choose your default app mode Light Dark	



Most legacy Windows desktop applications—like Paint and WordPad—will not adopt the Dark app mode.

Configure an accent color. The *accent color* helps add a bit of contrast to the user interface. Windows can automatically choose an accent color based on the background. Or you can choose whichever accent color you prefer. You configure this in Settings > Personalization > Colors > Choose your accent color.



Configure a theme. In a nod to older Windows versions, you can still configure a Windows theme, which consists of a background, a default (accent) color, a sound scheme, and a mouse cursor style. This occurs in Settings > Personalization > Themes.





You can find professionally made themes in the Microsoft Store. Just select the link "Get more themes in Microsoft Store" to launch that app with the appropriate location displayed.

Configure and customize Start

The Start experience you see in Windows can vary according to whether you're using a traditional PC or a 2-in-1 or tablet PC. Most users will see a Start menu, as they did in Windows 7 and before, while those with 2-in-1 or tablets will often see a full-screen Start experience similar to the one in Windows 8.1. But you're also free to choose either Start style, regardless of your PC's configuration, and personalize Start in other ways too.

Configure Start settings

Many Start customization options can be found in Settings > Personalization > Start.



Here, you can customize the following:

Show more tiles on Start. By default, the tile columns in Start are wide enough to display three medium-sized (square) tiles side-by-side. If you enable this option, you can display four medium tiles side-by-side in each column.

Configure the app list and the items it displays. Several options apply to items on the left side of Start, called the app list, which can include Recently added, Most used, and Suggested sections. You can determine whether to display this area at all and/or individually toggle Recently added, Most used, and Suggested within the app list.

Use Start full screen. Windows 10 will automatically tailor Start to your PC, and will generally use a menu on traditional PCs and a full-screen experience for tablets. But you can choose to display Start in either mode, regardless of your PC. Just configure the option "Use Start full screen" accordingly.





This is *not* the same as Tablet mode. When using a full-screen Start experience, the taskbar is available normally, and apps and other windows can still run in windowed (rather than full-screen) mode. To configure Tablet mode, in which the taskbar is hidden by default and apps always run full-screen, navigate to Settings > System > Tablet mode.

Show recently-opened items in Jump Lists on Start or the taskbar and in File Explorer Quick Access. When enabled—as it is by default—this option lets you access app jump lists in the Start menu, the taskbar, and in the Quick Access view in File Explorer. Jump lists often include options that are app-specific, so these lists will vary from app to app. For example, here you can see the jump list for File Explorer, which contains links to recently accessed file system locations under the "Frequent" heading.



Choose which system folders appear in Start. Start can display several system locations—File Explorer, Settings, Documents, Downloads, and many others—in a menu on the far left. But you can configure which system locations appear in this list by selecting "Choose which folders appear on Start." Just enable the items you wish to display.



Two items in this list, for your user account and the PC's power options, cannot be configured: They are always displayed in Start.

Customize Start

In addition to the Start settings you configure from the Settings app, you can also make many, many customizations directly from the Start menu itself.

Some key examples include:

Resize the Start menu. You can dramatically alter the size and shape of the Start menu by resizing it. To do so, grab the top or right edge of Start with the mouse cursor and drag in the desired direction. (You can also rearrange tile groups, as described below, to complete the effect.) For example, here is a thinner Start menu.





You can only resize Start when it is displayed as a menu. You can't really alter the size or shape of Start in full-screen mode beyond displaying more tiles and arranging tile groups.

Customize the Start tiles. Start provides an area for live tiles that display information from within the apps they represent. This can include such things as the weather forecast (Weather), recently received email messages (Mail), your next appointment (Calendar), and the like. These tiles can be arranged, grouped, and resized on the right side of Start, and you can also do things like create and name Start folders, disable live updating, and more.



Pin an app to Start. If you would like to access an app from the tiles area in Start, right-click it in the apps list and select "Pin to Start" from the pop-up menu that appears.

Configure and customize the taskbar

The Windows taskbar can be configured in a variety of ways.

Configure taskbar settings

You can find some options by navigating to Settings > Personalization > Taskbar.

← Settings		- 8 ×
命 Home	Taskbar	
Find a setting \wp	Lock the taskbar	Have a question?
Personalization	Automatically hide the taskbar in desktop mode	Pin contacts to the taskbar
Sa Background	Off Automatically hide the taskbar in tablet mode	Show the battery icon on the taskbar
Colors Col	• off	occup
Ca Lock screen	Use small taskbar buttons Off	Make Windows better Give us feedback
😰 Themes	Use Peek to preview the desktop when you move your mouse to the Show desktop button at the end of the taskbar	
"A Fonts	Off Replace Command Prompt with Windows PowerShell in the menu	
🗖 Taskbar	when I right-click the start button or press Windows key+X On	
	Show badges on taskbar buttons	
	Taskbar location on screen Bottom	



You can also access these options directly by right-clicking an empty area of the taskbar and choosing "Taskbar settings" from the pop-up menu that appears.

Since most of these options will be familiar to long-time Windows users, we won't belabor the obvious.

Customize the taskbar

You can further configure the taskbar by right-clicking it and examining the options you see in the menu that appears.



Some of the newer taskbar options here with which you may be unfamiliar include:

Search. Windows Search can be configured as a taskbar search box (the default) or a taskbar button. Or it can be hidden.



Even if you hide Search, you can still access Windows Search by typing WINKEY or by selecting the Start button and then typing. As you type, the Windows Search interface will appear.

Show Cortana button. By default, a Cortana button sits to the right of the Windows Search box in the taskbar, providing an obvious interface to Microsoft's personal digital assistant. Most users do not want or need Cortana, however, so you can hide this button.

Show Task View button. Microsoft places a Task View button in the Windows taskbar because only a tiny percentage of users are familiar with, or use, the ALT + TAB or WINKEY + TAB multitasking keyboard shortcuts. So this button provides access to a thumbnail view of all of your open apps and windows, and also lets you access Timeline and create a new virtual desktop. But you can also access Task View with the WINKEY + TAB keyboard shortcut. So you can safely hide it, freeing up space on your taskbar.

Customize the Quick Access menu

Microsoft provides a hidden list of power user and legacy options in the Quick Access menu that can be accessed by right-clicking the Start button.



By default, the Quick Access menu provides links for the Windows PowerShell command line environment rather than Command Prompt. If you wish to change this, navigate to Settings > Personalization > Taskbar and disable the option titled "Replace Command Prompt with Windows PowerShell in the menu when I right-click the start button or press Windows key + X."



As suggested above, you can also access the Quick access menu by typing WINKEY + X.

Customize the notification area

The notification area—which some incorrectly call the system tray—at the right of the taskbar houses notification and system icons, the clock and time, and the Action Center button. While you can configure all of these items, managing the notification icons—which connect to applications—and system icons that proliferate in this area is key to maintaining a less-cluttered Windows desktop.

Both icon types are configured from the Settings app. So Navigate to Settings > Personalization > Taskbar, and then look for the Notification area heading. Here, you will see the links "Select which icons appear on the taskbar" and "Turn system icons on or off."

If you select the former, you can configure which icons appears in the notification area.

\leftarrow	Settings				-	٥	×
ώ	Select which icons a	ppea	r on the taskbar				
Alw	ays show all icons in the notification area Off			Have a question? Get help			
9	Power 95% available (plugged in)		On				
a	Network Hill Villa Internet access		On				
d,	Volume Speakers: 30%		On				
8	Windows Explorer Bluetooth Devices		Off				
4	Windows Security notification icon Windows Security - Actions recomm		Off				
6	Microsoft OneDrive OneDrive Online		Off				
	Greenshot Greenshot		Off				
S	SkypeBridge Skype - Signed In		Off				
	Location Notification		O#				



You can also position notification icons by dragging them around in the notification area as you did in previous Windows versions.

And if you select the latter, you can configure which system icons appear in the notification area.





You cannot rearrange the order in which system icons appear, as you can with notification icons.

Customize the lock screen and sign-in screen

The lock screen is the first thing you see when you power on or wake up your PC. It provides a number of useful displays, including the date and time, app notifications, and a background image

(or photo slide show). Most of these items can be customized in some way, and most of this is fairly obvious. But if you wish to check out what's possible, navigate to Settings > Personalization > Lock screen.



Files and Storage



When it comes to files and storage, Windows hasn't changed much over the past several years, and most of the functionality you see today will be familiar to any Windows user. So this chapter will largely focus on the most recent changes, plus a key file backup solution that is surprisingly well-hidden.

Get to know File Explorer

File Explorer is the primary interface to the files on your PC. It is essentially the same file management application that Microsoft has included in Windows since 1995.



In Windows 7 and earlier Windows versions, File Explorer was called Windows Explorer.

File Explorer works as it did in previous Windows versions, and it utilizes a ribbon-based user interface that provides access to lots of commands. These commands are often context-sensitive, too, so some will appear only when needed, such as when you select a file or navigate to a certain

location in the file system. But since the ribbon is minimized, or collapsed, by default, File Explorer usually looks pretty svelte and minimalistic.



To temporarily display the ribbon and access the commands it contains, you can click on a ribbon tab like Home, Share, or View.





If you prefer to keep the ribbon visible at all times, just select the Expand the Ribbon caret in the top right of the File Explorer window. Or, type CTRL + F1.



You can open multiple File Explorer windows if needed and drag and drop files between them. To open a new File Explorer window, type WINKEY + E. Or, right-click the File Explorer button in the taskbar and choose "File Explorer" from the menu that appears.



You can also open a new File Explorer window from within an existing File Explorer window, as long as there is a folder visible in that window. To do so, hold down the SHIFT key and then right-click on the folder and choose "Open in new window" from the menu that appears.

Configure or disable Quick access in File Explorer

File Explorer defaults to a view called Quick access instead of displaying This PC, as in previous Windows versions. Quick access dynamically displays your recently and frequently accessed files and folders, so it is document-centric and changes over time.



This PC was called My PC, Computer, and My Computer in older Windows versions.

Quick access contains special shortcuts—called *pins* or *pinned items*—like the Desktop, Documents, Downloads, and Pictures folders—that are added for you automatically as well.

Fortunately, you can easily unpin items you don't want displayed in this view: Just right-click the item you wish to remove and choose "Unpin from Quick access" (or, for items that are added later, "Remove from Quick access") from the pop-up menu that appears.

💶 🛃 📜 = [Desktop					_	
File Home	Share View						~ ?
$\leftarrow \ \rightarrow \ \checkmark \ \uparrow$	This PC > Desktop			~	υ	Search Desktop	,
✓ ≱ Quick access	Name	^	[Date modified		Туре	Siz
📃 Desktop			This folder	is empty.			
🖊 Download	Expand						
불 Documen	Unpin from Quick access						
Not the second s	Open in new window 🔍 🔍						
b Music	Open in Visual Studio						
Videos	Scan with Windows Defender						
	Give access to	>					
> oneDrive	Restore previous versions						
> 💄 This PC	Include in library	>					
> 🔿 Network	Pin to Start						
, network	Send to	>					
	Сору						
	New	>					
	Properties						>
0 items							

As noted, Quick access changes over time: As you open files and folders on your PC and local network, these items will appear in this view automatically. Folders appear in the Frequent folders section at the top and documents and other data files appear in Recent files.

This behavior may be desirable to you. But if you prefer for File Explorer to work more like it did in previous Windows versions, you can make a few useful configuration changes in File Explorer's Folder Options. To display this window, open File Explorer and navigate to View > Options > Change folder and search options.

Folder Options	\times
General View Search	
Open File Explorer to: Quick access Browse folders Image: Comparison of the same window Image: Comparison of the same window Open each folder in its own window	
Click items as follows Single-click to open an item (point to select) Underline icon titles consistent with my browser Underline icon titles only when I point at them Double-click to open an item (single-click to select)	
Privacy Show recently used files in Quick access Show frequently used folders in Quick access Clear File Explorer history Qlear Restore Defaults	
OK Cancel Apply	/

To make File Explorer work like it did in previous Windows versions, consider making the following changes in the General tab.

Display the This PC view by default. Though File Explorer displays Quick access by default, you can change this to the more traditional This PC view by changing "Open File Explorer to:" to "This PC."

Prevent Quick access from automatically displaying frequently-used files. Deselect the option "Show recently used files in Quick access" in the Privacy section.

Prevent Quick access from automatically displaying frequently-used folders. Deselect the option "Show frequently used folders in Quick access" in the Privacy section.

Share pictures and other files from File Explorer

Though it is a legacy desktop application, File Explorer supports the system-level file sharing functionality in Windows in manner similar to more modern Store-based apps. This way, when you're looking at photos or other files, you can share them with others right from the interface you're already using.

To share from File Explorer, select one or more files in the same view. Then, select the Share tab to display the Share ribbon.



Now, select the Share button on the left. When you do, a floating Share pane appears, letting you share the files with others. You can choose to share with people—your most frequently-used contacts are listed at the top—or by app.



What you see here will vary depending on your contacts and which apps you have installed.



If you select a person, you will have to share the selected items via the Mail app.

Use OneDrive to sync files between the cloud and your PC

OneDrive is Microsoft's cloud storage service. It provides any user with a Microsoft account with 5 GB of free cloud storage space and the ability to buy more on an annual basis.



Office 365 subscribers also get an additional 1 TB of OneDrive storage.

You can reach OneDrive on the web at onedrive.com, and use this interface to upload and download files, watch photo slide shows and videos, share files with others, and perform other file-related tasks.





You can also manage your OneDrive storage by selecting the storage usage link in the lower left of the display or by navigating directly to the OneDrive Manage Storage page.

But OneDrive isn't just about the web. On iPhones and Android phones, you can configure the service to automatically back up all of the photos you take to the cloud, for example. OneDrive is also available on Microsoft's Xbox video game consoles. And on Windows and the Mac, the software giant provides a full-featured client sync experience with File Explorer (or, on the Mac, Finder) integration. So you can access your documents, photos, and other files from anywhere, at any time.

In this chapter, we are going to focus exclusively on OneDrive's integration with File Explorer and your PC's file system. This integration is a big deal because Windows lets you view and access your OneDrive-based files in a seamless way. And because you can configure those OneDrive files to *sync* with your PC so that they are always available, even if the PC is offline. Any changes you make to these files will automatically be synced with the cloud when you are online again. All you have to do is a little configuration work.

Configure OneDrive sync

When you initially set up Windows or otherwise sign-in as a new user for the first time, you'll eventually be prompted to use OneDrive. This can happen via a banner notification, a "Set up OneDrive" window, or a promotion at the top of the File Explorer window.

Microsoft	DneDrive	<u></u>	×
	Set up OneDrive Put your files in OneDrive to get them from any	device.	
	Enter your email address Sig	n in	



If you wish to use OneDrive, you must sign-in to the application with a Microsoft account. This is true whether you sign-in to Windows with a Microsoft account or not.

OneDrive will configure itself automatically, based on how much storage is available on your PC *and* how much online storage you're using in OneDrive. If the contents in your OneDrive storage can fit comfortably on your PC, it will simply sync all of your OneDrive content with your PC. Otherwise, it will use a feature called Files On-Demand to *display* all of your OneDrive contents on your PC and then download files as you access them.



You can optionally choose to make any OneDrive files and folders always available, syncing them with the PC so that you can access them more quickly and access them while the PC is offline.

This behavior is likely suitable for most people. But you should configure OneDrive to make sure

that it's optimized for your needs. To do so, select the OneDrive icon in the notification area and choose More ("...") and then "Settings." The Microsoft OneDrive settings window appears.

 Microsoft OneDrive 	×
Settings Account Backup Network Office Al OneDrive	Add an account
Get more storage Unlink this PC	
Folders you choose will be available on this F	PC. <u>C</u> hoose folders
	OK Cancel

There are a number of important options to consider in this window. Unfortunately, they are spread out over multiple tabs.

Files On-Demand. In the Settings tab, make sure that Files On-Demand is enabled. This is the feature that lets you browse and open all of the files in folders in your OneDrive storage, even if they're not synced, and assuming your PC is online. This is described in more detail later in this chapter.

Choose which folders to sync. On the Account tab, the Choose folders button is used to determine which of your OneDrive-based folders—and their contents—will be synced with your PC. If you're using Files On-Demand, all of your OneDrive folders will be accessible on your PC. But if you're not, you can choose exactly which folders will be synced to the PC, which makes them both viewable and available offline.



Use OneDrive to backup your Desktop, Documents, and Pictures folders. In the Backup tab, you can choose whether OneDrive automatically backs up your Desktop, Documents, and Pictures folders to OneDrive. To configure this, select the Manage backup button to display the Back up your folders window.

 OneDrive 		- 🗆 X
Back up your folders		
Selected folders will sync in O backed up, and available on y	neDrive. New and existing fil our other devices even if you	les will be added to OneDrive, J lose this PC. Learn more.
•		
Desktop	Pictures	Documents
UKB	0 IVIB	UKB
		Start backup

Automatically save photos, videos, and screenshots to OneDrive. The Backup tab also has two more options for determining whether you will backup photos and videos from connected cameras, phones, or other devices, and screenshots, respectively, to OneDrive.
Use OneDrive Files On-Demand

Files On-Demand lets you browse and access all of the files in your OneDrive storage without forcing you to sync them first and make them available when the PC is offline. This feature is enabled by default if the contents of your OneDrive storage is too big to fit in your PC's storage. Otherwise, OneDrive will simply sync everything in OneDrive to your PC.

With Files On-Demand enabled, File Explorer will show you all of the content you have in Microsoft's online cloud storage service. Just select the OneDrive item in the navigation pane to dive in.



This view differs from other File Explorer views in one key way: There's a Status column with associated icons that indicate the availability status of each file or folder in the current view. Above, you can see two of the availability status types: "Available when online" (the blue-outlined cloud) and "Available on this device" (the solid green check mark).

There are four different icons in all. They are:



Always keep on this device. These are the items that you have explicitly chosen to sync, as described above. They are available offline.



Available on this device. These are files that are syncing because you previously opened them. They are available offline.

Available when online. These items are available in OneDrive and can be opened if the PC is online. They are not available offline.



Syncing/Sync pending. When you explicitly sync content to the PC, you will see this icon while that initial sync is occurring.

On-demand files and folders work like normal, local content, even when they're only accessible online. You can open them, copy and move them, basically do everything you do with files that are stored locally. You just need to wait a few seconds for the files to download when you first access them.

That said, when you *do* open an on-demand file, it will automatically be synced to that PC. In other words, it will be available offline going forward.

You don't need to rely on this implicit form of sync to ensure that the files you always need are always available. Instead, you can explicitly mark folders and even individual files so that they will always be synced to that PC and will thus always be available offline.

To do so, find some content you wish to sync, right-click it, and choose "Always keep on this device" from the context menu that appears.



Likewise, if you'd like to stop syncing content, you can right-click it and choose "Free up space."

Manage your PC's storage

Windows lets you manage how your PC utilizes the storage space in its hard drives and other storage devices. This functionality is especially useful for those PCs that include a second storage device, since you can configure which to use for your apps, games, and data. For example, many gamers will use a fast SSD drive for the system drive—where Windows is located—and then a larger traditional hard drive (HDD) for installing games.

You manage device storage in Storage settings, which can be accessed by navigating to Settings > System > Storage.

← Settings		- 8 ×
命 Home	Storage	
Find a setting	Storage Sense can automatically free up space by getting rid of files you don't need, like temporary files and content in your recycle bin	Keep clutter off your PC When Storage sense is turned on it'll
System	● Off	free up space only when your PC is low on space. To clean up unused files
🖵 Display	Configure Storage Sense or run it now	now, select Configure Storage Sense or run it now > Clean now.
아) Sound	Windows (C:) - 476 GB	Have a question?
Notifications & actions	65.5 GB used 411 GB free	Use disk cleanup
J Focus assist	This is how your storage is used and how you can free up space.	Fix low disk space Disk management belo
() Power & sleep	Apps & features 16.4 GB Uninstall unused or undesired apps & features	Get help
Battery	Other people 13.0 GB	Make Windows better
📼 Storage	Remove unused local accounts	Give us feedback
- Tablet mode	Cher 8.62 GB Manage other large folders	
H Multitasking	Temporary files 531 MB	
Projecting to this PC	Choose which temporary hies to remove	

We discuss the various notable features provided on this Settings page in the sections to follow.

See what's taking up storage space

Under the C: drive heading—which will be labeled according to the name it has in File Explorer—you can see what is taking up the storage space in your PC's system drive.

← Settings		- 5 ×
û Home	Storage	
Find a setting	Windows (C:) - 476 GB	Have a question?
System	65.4 GB used 411 GB free This is how your storage is used and how you can free up space.	Use disk cleanup Fix low disk space
🖵 Display	System & reserved 26.7 GB	Disk management help Get help
ゆ Sound	System files help Windows run properly	
Notifications & actions	Apps & features 16.3 GB Uninstall unused or undesired apps & features	Make Windows better Give us feedback
D Focus assist	Other people 13.0 GB	
🖒 Power & sleep	Remove unused local accounts Other 8.63 GB	
🗁 Battery	Manage other large folders	
📼 Storage	Temporary files 526 MB	
-B Tablet mode	Choose which temporary lifes to remove Maps 8.94 MB	
H Multitasking	Delete offline maps or change their location	
Projecting to this PC	Pictures 6.50 MB	

The usage is grouped by type. Some of these entries are read-only, but some can be further configured. For example, if you select Apps & features, a new page appears, allowing you to uninstall apps and games, or move them to a different storage device.

← Settings			- 0 ×
Choose where to get apps Installing apps only from Windows Store helps prote Anywhere	tet your device.	Relate Progra Have a Geth	d settings ims and Features a question?
Apps & features Optional features		Make Give u	Windows better s feedback
App execution aliases Search, sort, and filter by drive. If you would like to u app, select it from the list.	ininstall or move an		
Sort by: Name \checkmark Filter by: Windows (C:) \checkmark			
3D Viewer Microsoft Corporation	16.0 KB 7/11/2019		
Alarms & Clock Microsoft Corporation	16.0 KB 7/11/2019		
App Installer	16.0 KB		

You can also see what's taking up space on other fixed and removable storage devices by selecting the link "View storage usage on other drives" under the More storage settings header on the main Storage settings page.

Use Storage Sense to automatically free up storage space

An optional feature called Storage Sense will automatically delete unnecessary files if you're low on storage space.

To enable Storage Sense, change the Storage Sense toggle at the top of Settings > Storage to On.

← Settings		- 0 ×
û Home	Storage	
Find a setting	Storage Sense can automatically free up space by getting rid of files	Keep clutter off your PC
,	you don't need, like temporary files and content in your recycle bin.	When Storage sense is turned on, it'll
System	on 💦	free up space only when your PC is low on space. To clean up unused files now select Configure Storage Sense
🖵 Display	Configure Storage Sense or run it now	or run it now > Clean now.

Then, select the link "Configure Storage Sense or run it now" to display a page that lets you configure this feature and, via the Clean now button at the bottom, manually clear up some storage space.

Storage Sense		Have a question?
storage sense		Get help
On On		
Storage Sense runs automatic cleaned up 0 bytes of space i	cally when you're low on disk space. We n the past month.	
Run Storage Sense		
During low free disk space	~	
Temporary Files	iat my apps aren't using	
Temporary Files	iat my apps aren't using if they have been there for over	
Temporary Files Delete temporary files th Delete files in my recycle bin 30 days	iat my apps aren't using if they have been there for over	
Temporary Files Delete temporary files th Delete files in my recycle bin 30 days Delete files in my Downloads	ait my apps aren't using if they have been there for over	
Temporary Files Delete temporary files th Delete files in my recycle bin 30 days Delete files in my Downloads Never	ait my apps aren't using if they have been there for over 	



The Clean now button is a friendly front-end to the old-fashioned Disk Cleanup tool, which is still available in Windows. To find it, open the Start menu and search for *clean*.

Configure where new content is stored

If you have more than one SSD and/or HDD, you can select the "Change where new content is saved" link under More storage settings to configure where new apps, documents, music, photos and videos, movies and TV shows, and offline maps will be stored.

← Settings		-	٥	×
$\widehat{\mbox{\ }}$ Change where new content is saved				
Change where your apps, documents, music, pictures, videos and maps are saved by default.	Have a question? Get help			
New apps will save to: Windows (C) Data (D) Verw uocumenias will save to:				
New music will save to:				

To make a change, just select the drop-down under one of the content types and select a new drive.

Back up and recover documents and other personal files with File History

File History is a useful but well-hidden tool that backs up your documents and other important personal files—including, crucially, previous versions of those files—so that you can "go back in

time" and recover older versions of files when needed. It pretty much requires a second drive of some kind, but even an SD or microSD card will do.



You should enable File History backup if you are concerned with the integrity of your documents and other personal files and might need to recover previous versions of those files.

File History works with specific folder locations by default. It will back up all of the files you're syncing with OneDrive, your Desktop, Documents, Music, Pictures, and Videos folders, and several other locations. You can remove any of these folders from the backup if you'd like, however, and add others.

Enable and configure File History

To get started with File History, you will need a storage device, separate from that used by Windows, on which to store the backups. This will typically be a second internal (HDD/SSD) or external (USB) storage device. Once this is made available to your PC, navigate to Settings > Update & security > Backup. Then, select "Add a drive" and you will be presented with a list of acceptable backup storage devices.

< ↔	Searching for drives	Backup	- 0 ×
Fir	147 GB free of 148 GB	Back up using File History	Have a question? Map a network drive
Upd		Back up your files to another drive and restore them if the originals are lost, damaged, or deleted.	Get help
) E		+ Add a drive More options	Make Windows better Give us feedback
•		Looking for an older backup?	
⊼ 19		If you created a backup using the Windows 7 Backup and Restore tool, If!I still work Windows 10. Go to Backup and Restore (Windows 7)	
තු	Show all network locations		
\odot	Activation		



If you have a tablet PC or other portable PC, you can use an SD or microSD card, if available, for File History.



You can also navigate to this view if you insert a new storage device and choose "Configure this drive for backup" in the AutoPlay window that appears.

With the drive selected, the option "Automatically back up my files" will be set to On. Now, you should configure File History options. To do, select the link "More options."

← Settings	-	c c	9 >
Overview Have Size of backup: 0 bytes Get h Total space on Data (D:) (D): 148 GB Your data is not yet backed up. Back up now Back up now	a question? nelp		
Back up my files Every hour (default)			
Keep my backups Forever (default)			
Back up these folders + Add a folder			
Saved Games C\Users\thurr			
CAUserstthurr			

Here, you can take the following actions:

Back up now. Select this button to initiate a manual File History backup.

Make a schedule. Select the drop-down under "Back up my files" to determine how frequently File History backups occur: Every 10, 15, 20, or 30 minutes, every hour (the default), every 3, 6 or 12 hours, or Daily.

Determine how long to keep your File History backups. Select the drop-down under "Keep my backups" to configure how long File History backups are kept: Until space is needed, 1, 3, 6 or 9 months, 1 year, 2 years, or Forever (the default).

Add or exclude folders from the backups. File History backs up everything from a fairly long list of folders by default. But you can add folders you wish to include in these backups and, if desired, remove any of the default folders that are backed up.

Back up to a different drive. Select the "Stop using drive" button to disable File History on the configured drive and use a different drive. The File History backups will remain on the old drive, and you can access them with File History later if needed.

Advanced settings. You can access other File History settings using the legacy File History control panel by selecting the "See advanced settings" link. You almost certainly won't ever need to do this.

Restore files from a backup. You can use the "Restore files from a current backup" link to browse your File History backups and restore files as needed. This is such an important function that it's covered separately in the next section.

Restore an earlier version of a file

For the most part, File History is a "set it and forget it" feature: It will run automatically in the background, backing up your files as well as each version of those files as they're changed. But you may eventually need to recover an earlier version of a file that is being backed up by File History.

You do so using the File History control panel, which is accessible from File History in Settings: Just select the "Restore files from a current backup" link at the bottom of the Backup Options page.



There is a quicker way. Using Start Search, search for *file history* and select the result "Restore your files with File History."

The File History control panel lets you navigate between the various times at which File History backups were made.



This interface lets you browse through the folders that are backed up by File History, and do so in whatever backups are available. The initial view is the most recent backup, but you can use the navigation buttons at the bottom of the window to "go back in time" and find older backup sets.

Beyond that, navigation works much like it does in File Explorer, and you can even switch the view between Details and Large Icon views.

When you find a file, folder, or set of files and folders you might wish to restore—yes, you can select multiple items at once—you can perform the following actions:

Open or preview an individual file. To open a file in File History, just double-click it normally, as you would in File Explorer. Files that can be opened, or previewed, in File History will directly within the control panel. If File History cannot preview the file, the application associated with that file type will do so instead.

→ ~ ↑ C:\Users\thurr\Documents	✓ C Search Documents	Ą
Thursday, August 1, 2019 3:	7 PM 4 of 4	
	AutoSave 💽 🔚 🗇 👌 🔻 Programming Windows- IBM De Saved 🛛 Paul Thurrott 🏺 🌽 🖻 🗕 🗆 🗡	<
	File Home Insert Design Lavout References Mailings Review View Help & Search 🖻 🛱	
Getting Programmi Program		
started ng ng with Windows Window	$\square \square $	
OneDrive IBM Defe In the B	Paste A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	
2	Clinboard 5 Fort 5 Pararaph 5 Styles 5 Voice	~
	Programming Windows: IBM Defends the Original PC	
	Programming Windows: IBM Defends the Original PC	
	Programming Windows: IBM Defends the Original PC In <u>Programming Windows: Wintel</u> (Premium), I described how IBM decided to enter the personal computing market in 1980 and did so in less than a year by choosing open, inexpensive third-party	
	Programming Windows: IBM Defends the Original PC In <u>Programming Windows: Wintel</u> (Premium), I described how IBM decided to enter the personal computing market in 1980 and did so in less than a year by choosing open, inexpensive third-party hardware and software solutions. Key among the components IBM choose was the Intel 8088, a cost- reduced version of the 16-bit 8066.	
	Programming Windows: IBM Defends the Original PC In <u>Programming Windows: Wintel</u> (Premium), I described how IBM decided to enter the personal computing market in 1980 and did so in less than a year by choosing open, inexpensive third party hardware and software solutions. Key among the components IBM chose was the Intel 8088, a cost- reduced version of the 16-bit 8086. As noted previously, the Intel 8088 and 8086 ran in a single operating mode called real mode and they	
	Programming Windows: IBM Defends the Original PC In <u>Programming Windows: Wintel</u> (Premium), I described how IBM decided to enter the personal computing market in 1980 and did so in less than a year by choosing open, inexpensive third-party hardware and software solutions. Key among the components IBM chose was the IH8 088, a cost- reduced version of the 16-bit 8088. As 8086 ran in a single operating mode called real mode and they utilized a 20-bit segmented memory address space which limited the amount of RAM to 1 MB (1024 KB).	
	Programming Windows: IBM Defends the Original PC In <u>Programming Windows: Wintel</u> (Premium), I described how IBM decided to enter the personal computing market in 1980 and did so in less than a year by choosing open, inexpensive third party hardware and softwares olutions: Key among the components IBM chose was the Intel 8088, a cost- reduced version of the 16-bit 8086. As noted previously, the Intel 8088 and 8086 ran in a single operating mode called real mode and they utilized a 20-bit segmented memory address space which limited the amount of RAM to 1M (1024 KB). That seemed like a lot of memory in 1980/1981—the consumer oriented personal computers of the day burdle in define in the RD ME for amount of RAM to 1M (1024 KB).	
	Programming Windows: IBM Defends the Original PC In <u>Programming Windows: Wintel</u> (Premium), I described how IBM decided to enter the personal computing market in 1980 and did so in less than a year by choosing open, inexpensive third party hardware and software solutions. Key among the components IBM chose was the Intel 8088, a cost- reduced version of the 16-bit 8008. As noted previously, the Intel 8088 and 8086 ran in a single operating mode called real mode and they utilized a 20-bit segmented memory address space which imited the amount of RAM to 1 MB (1024 KB). That seemed like a lot of memory in 1980/1981—the consumer-oriented personal computers of the day typically offered just 4 KB to 64 KB of RAM, for example—and IBM semi-arbitrarily segmented the available address space to accommodate different needs. The first 6004 was available to any software	

Restore. This option will restore the selected file(s) and/or folders to their original location. To do so, select the items you wish to restore and the press the big green "Restore to original location" button in the bottom of the window. You'll be prompted about replacing any existing items if there are newer versions of those items there already.

PDF Getting started	WE WE WE *-q Replace or Skip Files - ×	
with OneDrive	Copying I liem from Documents to Documents The destination already has a file named "Programming Windows- IBM Defends the PC.docx"	
	✓ Replace the file in the destination	
	♥ Skip this file ♥ Compare info for both files	
	📀 More details	



If no items are selected, File History will restore all of the files in the current folder.

Restore To. This option lets you choose a new location to which to restore the selected file. This can be the safest approach when restoring a single file or small set of files, since you can compare the restored version side-by-side with the more recent version. To use it, select the Options menu (the gear) in the top right of the window and then choose "Restore to."

System Recovery

\leftarrow Settings		- 0 ×
යි Home	Recovery	
Find a setting	Reset this PC	Have a question?
Update & Security	Choose an option	Find my BitLocker recovery key Create a recovery drive Get help
${old C}$ Windows Update	Keep my files	
💾 Delivery Optimization	Removes apps and settings, but keeps your personal mes.	Make Windows better
Windows Security	Remove everything Removes all of your personal files, apps, and settings.	Give us reedback
→ Backup		
<i>B</i> Troubleshoot		
윤 Recovery		
 ⊘ Activation 	Cancel	
占 Find my device	Start up from a device or disc (such as a USB drive or DVD), change your PC's firmware settings, change Windows startup settings, or restore	
🖁 For developers	Windows from a system image. This will restart your PC. Restart now	
😸 Windows Insider Program		

Windows offers a variety of modern tools that you can use to fix problems with the operating system or restore your PC to its original, factory-fresh state.

Get to know the system recovery options

Everyone's needs are different. So which backup and recovery tool—or tools—you choose will depend on the situation. You can, of course, mix and match, and use two or more of these tools to ensure that your your PC is always protected.

Here's an overview of the tools, and when you should consider using each.

Reset this PC. This system restore tool lets you wipe out your PC and very quickly return it to its original factory condition, while optionally saving your documents and other data files as well as your installed Microsoft Store apps. (Any installed desktop applications are removed.) Reset this PC can be customized by your PC maker so that it will include their bundled apps and utilities too. And the image it uses to reset Windows is updated to the late OS version each time you install a feature update.





Reset this PC is the core Windows system recovery tool and is valuable in a number of situations. For example, Reset this PC can be used to securely clean the disk during a re-installation of the operating system. That can be very useful if you need to give away or sell the PC to another person.

Refresh Windows. This web-based tool works much like Reset This PC, but it downloads the latest version of Windows 10. Also, because this tool comes directly from Microsoft, it will not include any PC maker-supplied bundled apps or customizations.





We don't cover Refresh Windows in this book because it is not included with Windows. But if you're familiar with how Reset this PC and Windows Setup work, Refresh Windows will be very familiar. Refresh Windows is available from the Microsoft website. **Fresh start**. This streamlined version of Reset this PC retains your documents and other personal files, some settings, and your installed Microsoft Store apps. (As with Reset this PC, you will still need to reinstall any desktop applications you use.)

Fresh start	
This will remove all apps and programs, except those that store apps installed by your manufacturer will also be ke the latest version of Windows. Your personal files and so	at come standard with Windows, Any pt. Your device will also be updated to ome Windows settings will be kept.
This process could take 20 minutes or longer depending	j on your device.
	Next Cancel



Fresh start is like spring cleaning for your PC, and it can be used to clean up a buggy or slowly-performing Windows install with minimal disruption. If this doesn't give you the desired results, you can always turn to Reset this PC next.

Windows Recovery Environment. Windows PCs can boot up in a troubleshooting mode that provides advanced recovery tools to help you fix problems with the PC, access its firmware, change startup settings, and more. It is accessible directly from your PC's hard drive, from your Windows Setup media, or by using a special USB-based recovery drive that you will create.





The Windows Recovery Environment is pretty much for emergencies only. Perhaps your PC isn't booting up properly (or at all), or you can't access the recovery tools that are built-in to Windows itself.

Backup and Restore. This legacy tool provides full system image backup and recovery functionality. It can be used to create a backup of your entire disk, including the installed OS, all applications (both Store apps and desktop applications), and all of your data and settings if you'd like.

Backup and Restore (Windows 7)			-		>
— 🔿 🕤 🕆 🐉 « System ar	nd Security > Backup and Restore (Windows 7)	∨ ט	Search Control	Panel		
Control Panel Home	Back up or restore your files					
Create a system image	Backup					
Create a system repair disc	Windows Backup has not been set up.			₽ <u>S</u> et u	p backup	ć
	Restore					
	Windows could not find a backup for this computer.					
	Select another backup to restore files from					
See also						
Security and Maintenance						
Eile History						



We do not recommend using Backup and Recovery for system backups because this tool has been deprecated by Microsoft and is no longer being updated. It's still included in Windows for those people who did create backups in the past, and you can still use it to recover the PC using one of those backups.



Because of its diminished status, we do not cover Backup and Recovery in this book.

Windows 10 Setup. Microsoft lets you download the latest version of the Windows 10 installation routine, called Windows 10 Setup, using its Media Creation Tool. The resulting install media provides two types of system recovery. You can use this disk to access the Windows Recovery Environment through the Repair your computer link. (Or you can install Windows 10 from scratch, overwriting whatever is on the PC.)





You can learn more about Windows 10 Setup in the chapter Clean Install Windows 10.

You should always keep at least one USB-based Windows 10 install disk at the ready.



Most PC makers also provide their own system recovery tools. We do not cover this software, which is unique to each PC maker, in this book. But we do recommend that you create recovery media using whatever tools your PC maker supplies for all the obvious reasons.

Create a Recovery drive

Before getting started with any of the recovery tools included with Windows, you should create a USB-based *recovery drive* that can be used to boot your PC into a Windows Recovery Environment. This is important because it can be used when Windows isn't booting normally, or at all, you need to troubleshoot the problem.

To create a recovery drive, use Start Search: Type *recovery* and select "Create a recovery drive" from the results pane. The Recovery Drive wizard appears.



In this initial window, you will see an option titled "Back up the system files to to the recovery drive." It's enabled by default, and if you leave it as-is, you'll need a larger recovery drive. But there's a big benefit to doing so: you'll be able to use Reset this PC from the recovery drive in addition to accessing the other Windows Recovery Environment tools.



The minimum size for Recovery drive media without the recovery partition is 256 MB. If you opt to include the recovery partition, you'll need a disk with a capacity of at least 16 GB.

Select the Next button.

In the next phase of the wizard, you will select a USB flash drive and then be warned that the contents of the drive, if any, will be deleted during the creation process. Click Next and the recovery drive is created.

To use the Recovery drive, you will need to interrupt your PC's normal boot procedure and then select the USB-based Recovery drive from a menu. Or, you can configure it to boot from USB-based media before its internal storage. Since this process varies from PC to PC, please consult with your PC's documentation.



Be sure to accurately label your Recovery drive and keep it in a safe place. Indeed, it's not a horrible idea to create a few of them: Better safe than sorry.

Reinstall Windows and start fresh

Confusingly, Windows 10 provides two different full-featured system recovery tools—Reset this PC and Fresh start—that differ from each other only subtly.

These tools, and the subtle differences between them, are described earlier in the chapter. Here, we will examine how Reset this PC and Fresh start work.



Be prepared. These tools are inherently destructive, since they will both wipe out your current Windows installation and reinstall the OS from scratch. As such, you should proceed carefully: Back up any important documents and other personal files, and prepare to reinstall any desktop applications you use (and have, on hand, any required product keys). Note, too, that you should create a recovery drive—described earlier in this chapter—before using any of these tools.

Reinstall Windows quickly with Reset this PC

Reset this PC is a powerful Windows feature that lets you return your PC to the condition it was on the day you first bought it. (Well, for the most part. If you've installed any feature updates since the, the image that Reset this PC uses will have been updated to that Windows version.) And you can optionally do so somewhat non-destructively—where you retain all of your documents and other personal data, as well as your installed Microsoft Store apps—if desired.



Reset this PC can backup and restore Microsoft Store apps only, not legacy desktop applications. So you'll need to reinstall those applications manually if you reset your PC.

Reset this PC offers two modes of operation:

Keep your files. Here, Windows is "refreshed," meaning that the operating system is wiped out and then reinstalled, but your user account and its documents and other data are retained, along with any Microsoft Store apps you may have installed. Desktop applications are deleted and will need to be reinstalled manually.

Remove everything. Here, Windows is "reset": Everything on your PC—your data, settings, applications, whatever—is deleted and Windows is reinstalled, bringing your PC back to the way it was when you first received it. You will need to create an account as if it were the first time you've ever used the PC and then reinstall any apps you wish to use.



There's one other issue to consider here, or any other time you reinstall Windows. Some desktop applications, like Adobe Premiere Elements, use activation schemes to ensure you're not pirating the software. Be sure to **deactivate these applications** *before* **you use Reset this PC**, or you could lose an activation.

What's particularly nice about Reset this PC is how fast it works—usually in under 20 minutes, unless you select to fully clean the PC as well, an option that is only provided by the "Remove files and clean the drive" option.

To find Reset this PC, open Settings and navigate to Update & security > Recovery. Or you can access it via the Windows Recovery Environment that's described in the next section. We'll examine the Settings-based procedure here, but both methods work similarly.

Settings		- 8 ×
ம் Home	Recovery	
Find a setting	Reset this PC	Have a question?
		Find my BitLocker recovery key
Update & Security	to keep your personal files or remove them, and then reinstalls	Create a recovery drive
	Windows.	Get help
C Windows Update	Get started	
📇 Delivery Optimization		Make Windows better



Just to be clear, Reset this PC will delete *everything* on your PC and then reinstall Windows. Yes, there is an option to keep your data, documents, and some apps, but this is still a destructive process. So be sure you've backed up anything important before proceeding.

Select the Get started button under "Reset this PC."

Reset this PC will prompt you to choose between the two operation modes.

Reset this PC	
Choose an option	
Keep my files Removes apps and settings, but keeps your personal files.	
Remove everything Removes all of your personal files, apps, and settings.	
Cancel	



If you upgraded a PC from an older Windows version to Windows 10, you may see a third option, Restore factory settings, which can be used to reset the PC to your previous Windows version. This option is only available temporarily.

If you choose Remove everything here, Reset this PC will prompt you to tell you that it will "just remove your files" by default; it won't perform a more secure deep-cleaning of the drive to ensure that all of your data is overwritten.



This is fine if you're just doing this for yourself and you will continue using this PC yourself. But if you're cleaning the PC so you can sell or give it away, select the "Change settings" link instead. Here, you are given the option to fully clean the drive. Change Data erasure to On if this is what you prefer.

Reset this PC	
Choose settings	
Data erasure	
Remove files and clean the drive. This may take hours, but will make harder to recover files	
On	
<u>Get help</u>	Confirm Cancel



If your PC has more than one physical drive, you will also be asked if you wish to remove files from all of the drives. Be careful here, especially if you are using a secondary drive for data that you don't want erased.

The PC will reboot and perform the refresh or reset procedure.



When this completes, the PC will reboot again and go through a process that is very similar to the end stages of Windows Setup, as described in the *Install Windows 10* chapter.

If you opted to keep your files—to "refresh" the PC—you will eventually be presented with the lock screen, from which you can sign-in normally. When you navigate to the desktop, you will find a web document called Removed Apps that will list the desktop applications you previously had installed on this PC and, when possible, hyperlinks so that you can find them on the web and reinstall them. (Your installed Store apps are available normally.)

If you chose to remove—"reset"—everything, the PC will reboot again and you will step through Windows Setup's Out of Box Experience (OOBE), which is also described in the *Install Windows 10* chapter. During this wizard-like interface, you will personalize the PC with a name and color scheme, choose between express and custom settings, sign in, and then, after the system's bundled apps are installed, you will be presented with your new and hopefully very clean (based on the whims of your PC maker) desktop.



Please refer to the *Install Windows 10* chapter for a rundown of the post-install tasks you should perform at this time.

Clean up Windows with Fresh start

Fresh start is a streamlined version of Reset this PC that only provides that tool's "refresh" functionality. That is, it will reinstall Windows, but retain your user account, its documents and other personal data, some settings, and your installed Microsoft Store apps.

Fresh start is available in the Windows Security app. But you can also find it via a link in the Settings app. To do so, navigate to Settings > Update & security > Recovery and select the link "Learn how to start fresh with a clean installation of Windows." Windows Security will open to its Fresh start page.

System Recovery

Windows Security			~	٥	×
< =	윤 Fresh start Start fresh with a clean and up-to-date installation of Windows.	Have a question?			
命 Home	Start fresh by reinstalling and updating Windows. This will keep your	Get help			
Virus & threat protection	personal files and some Windows settings and remove most of your apps, including Microsoft Office, third-party anti-virus software, and		-		
Account protection	desktop apps that came pre-installed on your device.	Help improve Windows	Security	у	
(ຖາ) Firewall & network protection	Get started	Give us feedback			
App & browser control	Learn more	Change your privacy se	ttings		
묘 Device security		View and change privation for your Windows 10 d	:y settin evice.	ıgs	
Solution Device performance & health		Privacy settings			



You can also launch Windows Security directly, navigate to Device performance and health, and then select the "Additional info" link under Fresh start.

To begin, select the Get started button. A Fresh start notification window appears.



Select the Next button. In the next page of this pop-up window, you'll be told which (desktop) applications will be removed as part of this operation.



After moving past this, you can select the Start button in the pop-up window. Then, your PC will restart, Windows will be reset, and your documents and other personal files, some settings, and your installed Store apps will be restored.





Please refer to the *Install Windows 10* chapter for a rundown of the post-install tasks you should perform when this process completes.

Perform advanced recovery tasks with the Windows Recovery Environment

Windows lets you optionally boot your PC into the Windows Recovery Environment, which contains advanced troubleshooting and recovery tools. This environment can be very useful if something goes wrong with your PC.

Boot into the Windows Recovery Environment

The easiest way to get to Windows Recovery Environment is from within Windows: Navigate to Settings > Update & Security > Recovery and select the Restart now button under Advanced startup.

After the PC reboots, the Choose an option screen appears.



Here, select the Troubleshoot tile to access the available recovery tools.



That method works fine if Windows is working. But if there's something wrong with the PC and it won't boot normally, you can also use a USB-based recovery drive to boot into the Windows Recovery Environment. We describe how to make one earlier in this chapter.

Use the advanced recovery tools

When you boot your PC into the Windows Recovery Environment, you can access Reset this PC or the advanced recovery tools described below.

To access the advanced recovery tools, boot into the Windows Recovery Environment and then navigate to Troubleshoot > Advanced options.





Many of the advanced recovery tools require you to sign-in to an administrator account. So you will need those credentials at the ready.

What you see listed here will vary somewhat based on the capabilities and configuration of your PC. But you should be able to access most of the following tools.

Startup Repair. If your PC is not booting properly, you can use this automated tool to fix the problem. Startup Repair doesn't have any options per se, it just diagnoses the PC, finds and fixes any problems, and then reboots the PC normally.



Uninstall Updates. Here, you can uninstall the latest quality update or feature update if you've run into issues since either was installed. After choosing which type of update to uninstall, the PC will reboot and you'll be prompted to provide the password for an Administrator-class user account.



Startup Settings. As the name suggests, this tool lets you change various startup settings. It's useful when you can't boot into Windows, of course, but also for those times when you can successfully boot into Windows, but the system isn't working correctly. After selecting the Restart button in the initial display, the PC will restart and then a new menu of debugging options will appear. From here, you can choose any of the available options by pressing the corresponding number on your keyboard. Note that you can only choose one option at a time and that the system will immediately reboot when you make your choice.

Startup Settings	
Press a number to choose from the options below:	
1) Enable debugging	
2) Enable boot logging	
3) Enable low-resolution video	
4) Enable Safe Mode	
5) Enable Safe Mode with Networking	
6) Enable Safe Mode with Command Prompt	
7) Disable driver signature enforcement	
8) Disable early launch anti-malware protection	
9) Disable automatic restart after failure	
Press E10 for more online	
Press For for more operation system	
These then to retain to your operating system	



To reverse the effect of the selected change, simply reboot the PC again.

UEFI Firmware Settings. While most PCs provide their own way to boot into their Unified Extensible Firmware Interface (UEFI) firmware—what we used to call the BIOS—you can do so

more easily from this option in the Windows Recovery Environment.

System Restore. Windows includes a legacy recovery tool called System Restore which creates restore points whenever a driver or desktop application is installed so that you can restore the system to the point it was at before that software was installed. If you select this option, you can restore the system to a time before changes were made, and from outside of Windows. This is useful if the previous software change made it impossible to boot properly into Windows.

urrent time zone: GMT-8:0	0	uer (
Date and Time 8/2/2019 5:09:31 PM 8/1/2019 2:03:53 PM	Description ExpressVPN Windows Update	Type Install Windows Update
		Scan for affected programs

Command Prompt. Power users can use the MS-DOS-like command prompt to run advanced command line tools that will be familiar to system administrators, IT pros, and power users.

Administrator Xiwindows/system32/ond.cor-dolpart crossett Kindows [Version 10-0.18362.239]) X819 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved. Vuindows/system32/odlskpart crossett Existence opright (c) Microsoft Corporation. ccospectry. Missive dask Oisk ### Status Size Free Dyn Gpt Oisk ### Status Size Free Dyn Gpt Size Arrow	Administrative Xiwedows (ystem Zioma done - dolpant crosseft Windows (Version 10: 0.18362.239)) X019 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved. Vuindows Lystem Zioma done - dolpant pyright (C) Microsoft Corporation. crosseft Diskart version 10: 0.18362.1 pyright (C) Microsoft Corporation. crosseft Diskart version 10: 0.018362.1 pyright (C) Microsoft Corporation. computer: Minint-EMEdQ03 SKPART> list disk Disk ### Status Size Free Dyn Gpt Oisk 0 Online S0 68 0 B SKPART> SKPART> Version 10: 0.000000000000000000000000000000000		
<pre>idrosoft Windows [Werston 10.0.18802.220] (c) 2019 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved. (c) Windows\system322diskpart version 10.0.18362.1 (c) Wincosoft Corporation.) n compute: Millin +EHB4023) DISKPART> list disk Disk ### Status Size Free Dyn Gpt Disk 0 Online 50 GB 0 B DISKPART></pre>	<pre>itrosoft Windows [Version 10.0.18802.230] (c) 2019 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved. (c) Windows tystem32>diskpart ticrosoft DiskPart Version 10.0.18882.1 copyright (C) Allcrosoft Corporation. no computer: Millimin-Intendeg3 DiskPart) list disk Disk ### Status Size Free Dyn Gpt Disk ### Status Size Free Dyn Gpt Disk ### Status Size Free Dyn Gpt DiskPart> </pre>	Administrator. X:\windows\system32\cmd.exe - diskpart	
:\uindous\system32>diskpart icrosoft DiskPart version 10.0.10362.1 opyright (1) Microsoft Corporation. n computer: MINUT-FURMOQ3 ISKPART> list disk Disk ### StatusSizeFreeDyn_Gpt Disk 0S0_GB0_B ISKPART> ISKPART>	:\uindous\system32>diskpart Lrosoft DiskPart version 10.0.18362.1 popright (C) Ricrosoft Corporation. r computer: Finith:THEMBQD ISKPART> list disk Disk ### Status Size Free Dyn Gpt Disk 0 Online S0 G0 0 0 SSRPART> V	icrosoft Windows [Version 10.0.18362.239] c) 2019 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved.	
tcrosoft DiskPart version 10.0.10362.1 pyprjatr (C) Microsoft Corporation. roguter: MINIT-EMB403 ISKPART> list disk Disk ### Status Size Free Dyn Gpt Disk 0 Online 50 GB 0 B ISKPART>	tcrosoft DiskPart version 10.8.18362.1 pypright (C) Microsoft Corporation. computer: MININFERBAQ3 ISKPART> list disk Disk ### Status Size Free Dyn Gpt Disk 0 Gnline S0 GB 0 B Disk 0 Gnline S0 GB 0 B SKPART>	:\windows\system32>diskpart	
appright () Microsoft Corporation. n computer: MININT-EHBAGG3 Disk ### Status Size Free Dyn Gpt Disk 0 Online S0 GB 0 B ISKPART>	appright () Microsoft Corporation. n computer: MININT-EHB403 Disk ### Status Size Free Dyn Gpt Disk # Online S0-GB 0 B ISKPART>	icrosoft DiskPart version 10.0.18362.1	
ISKPART> Iist disk Disk ### Status Size Free Dyn Gpt Disk 0 Online 50 GB 0 B ISKPART>	ISKPART> Iist disk Disk ### Status Size Free Dyn Gpt Disk 0 Online 50 GB 0 B ISKPART> V	opyright (C) Microsoft Corporation. n computer: MININT-EHB46Q3	
Disk ### Status Size Free Dyn Gpt Disk 0 Online 50 GB 0 B JISKPART>	Disk ### Status Size Free Dyn Gpt Disk 0 Online 50 GB 0 B JISKRART> V	ISKPART> list disk	
DISK 0 ONINE S0 G8 0 8	DISK 0 ONLINE S0 G8 0 8	Disk ### Status Size Free Dyn Gpt	
UISKPART>	viskipaato	Disk 0 Online 50 GB 0 B	
		131794T)>	
	<u> </u>		
	<u></u>		
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

System Image Recovery. This tool lets you recover the PC using a backup that you created using the system image backup capabilities in Windows Backup in a previous version of Windows. We no

longer cover this legacy functionality in this book, however, because it is deprecated and no longer supported by Microsoft.

Go back to the previous version. If you have recently upgraded from an older version of Windows 10 to a newer version by installing a feature update, this option will let you go back to that previous version without losing any data or installed apps.



Your PC is compatible with a wide variety of external hardware devices, including keyboards, mice and touchpads, removable and remote storage, printers, multiple displays, and more. Many of these devices will work with little or no intervention on your part.

Get to know Devices settings

You configure devices in Devices settings. To find this interface, navigate to Settings (WINKEY + I) > Devices.

Devices settings provides several pages for specific types of devices. We will be discussing most of these pages in this chapter.



The Mouse and Touchpad pages will only appear when your PC is connected to that type of hardware. Pen & Windows Ink, curiously, appears regardless of whether your PC supports those capabilities.

Connect a device

When you connect a new hardware device to your PC, Windows will try to install a basic *class driver* so that you can begin using it right away. You will typically see a notification banner alerting you to this change.



Windows will then look to Windows Update for better or updated drivers and other software. So you should consider visiting Windows Update after connecting a new device to see whether updated drivers are available. (As you probably know, Windows Update can be found by navigating to Settings > Update & security > Windows Update.)

Sometimes, you will find a newer or better driver from the device maker's website. This is especially true for video and printer drivers, which are often accompanied by custom software applications that let you take full advantage of the underlying hardware.

Determine what happens when you connect a removable device

When you first connect a *removable device*—like a USB hard drive, memory card, or smartphone you will be presented with an AutoPlay notification asking if you would like to perform a certain action each time that device is connected.



Select this notification to see a menu of available choices, which can include performing various actions plus a final choice, "Take no action."



If you miss the notification or want to change your choice later on, navigate to Settings > Devices > AutoPlay and then select the device type in the list and make a new choice.

← Settings		- C ×
û Home	AutoPlay	
Find a setting $ ho$ Devices	Use AutoPlay for all media and devices On	Related settings Default app settings
Bluetooth & other devices	Choose AutoPlay defaults	Have a question? Get help
B Printers & scanners	Take no action	Mala We down have
() Mouse	Open folder to view files (File Explorer)	Give us feedback
🖬 Touchpad	Ask me every time	
ED Typing	Pixel 3a XL	
🖉 Pen & Windows Ink	Choose a default \checkmark	
AutoPlay AutoPlay		

Pair a Bluetooth device with your PC

You can connect, or *pair*, a Bluetooth device with your PC with the Bluetooth & other devices page in Devices settings. Bluetooth devices are different because they utilize a so-called *personal area network*, or PAN, that pairs two devices to each other, like a Bluetooth-based keyboard, mouse, or other device and your PC.



Your PC must have a Bluetooth radio to connect with Bluetooth peripherals. These are common in portable PCs but less common in desktop PCs.

To add (pair) a new Bluetooth device, press and hold on the Bluetooth pair button on the connecting device. (Check with the manufacturer's documentation if you can't find this.)



If the device supports a Bluetooth feature called Swift Pair, Windows will notify you and offer to connect automatically.



Select Yes and then Connect when prompted.

Otherwise, navigate to Settings > Devices > Bluetooth & other devices on your PC and select "Add Bluetooth or other device." The Add a device window appears.



Select Bluetooth. The window will display a list of available Bluetooth devices.



Select the device you wish to pair. After a short "Connecting" animation, you'll be told that the new device is ready to use.





Some Bluetooth devices may require you to enter a PIN or password to complete the pairing process, but the process is straightforward.

Configure a mouse or touchpad

As you should expect, Windows works seamlessly with mice as well as other pointing devices like touchpads. For the most part, you can simply plug in an external pointing device and it will just work.

You can manage basic mouse and touchpad settings in Devices settings: Each pointing device type gets its own page. But the options you see here will vary from device to device, and according to their capabilities.

Configure a mouse

Mouse settings is particularly basic. Here, you can configure the primary mouse button, how the scroll wheel (when available) works, and a few other features.



You can also select the "Additional mouse options" link to access the legacy Mouse Properties control panel, which does indeed provide additional settings related to button and wheel configuration, the on-screen pointer, and more.

Mouse Properties	×			
Buttons Pointers Pointer Options Wheel Hardware				
Button configuration Switch primary and secondary buttons Select this check box to make the button on the right the one you use for primary functions such as selecting and dragging.				
Double-click speed Double-click the folder to test your setting. If the folder does not open or close, try using a slower setting. Speed: Slow				
ClickLock				
Enables you to highlight or drag without holding down the mouse button. To set, briefly press the mouse button. To release, click the mouse button again.				
OK Cancel Apply				



PC makers sometimes provide custom pointing device configurations too. For example, Lenovo lets you configure the TrackPoint pointing device on its ThinkPad laptops using a unique utility that is linked to from Mouse settings.

ELAN TrackPoint for Thinkpad	-	×
TrackPoint		
on On		
Leave TrackPoint on when a mouse is connected		
Sensitivity		
Middle Button Action		
Scrolling		
Related settings		
Mouse Additional mouse options		

Configure a touchpad

Laptops and other portable PCs usually include a built-in pointing device called a *touchpad*. These devices are configured separately from mice in Touchpad settings (Settings > Devices > Touchpad). And what you see here will vary by device.



The name of this device changed from trackpad to touchpad because modern versions now support multi-touch gestures. So, in addition to moving your finger across its surface to move the on-screen pointer ("track") you can now use gestures ("touch") to perform more sophisticated actions.

At the very least-literally-you will one option, for touchpad sensitivity.

← Settings		- 🖻 ×
品 Home	Touchpad	
Find a setting	Your PC has a precision touchpad.	Touch and go
Devices	Тарѕ	Swipe up with three fingers to display all your open apps, or tap an app once with two fingers to right-click.
Bluetooth & other devices	Use taps to click, right-click, and select. Turn down the sensitivity if they activate while you're typing	Learn other gestures
Printers & scanners	Touchpad sensitivity	Related settings
() Mouse	Medium sensitivity \vee	Additional settings Advanced gesture configuration
Touchpad		

If this is all you see, then your PC maker will provide its own utility for configuring the touchpad. What form this takes will, of course, vary by PC maker. So see whether the "Additional settings" link provides a custom touchpad configuration interface in Mouse Properties. Otherwise, you will need to look through the Start menu's All apps list for a separate utility.

Microsoft has created a new standard for modern touchpads called *precision touchpad*. Used by Microsoft's own Surface devices and by a growing list of PC makers, these touchpads offer many more advanced configuration options, including configuring two-, three-, and four-finger multi-touch gestures.



Configure a keyboard

The Typing page in Devices settings lets you configure keyboards, including the touch keyboard that's available on tablets, 2-in-1s, and other touch-capable PCs.

You will see the Spelling, Typing, Hardware keyboard, and Multilingual sections on all PCs.

← Settings			-	٥	×
企 Home	Typing				
Find a setting	Spelling	Have a question?			
Devices	Autocorrect misspelled words				
Bluetooth & other devices	Highlight misspelled words	Make Windows better Give us feedback			
B Printers & scanners	Un Un				
() Mouse	Typing				
Touchpad	Show text suggestions as I type on the software keyboard On				
E Typing	Add a space after I choose a text suggestion				
∂ Pen & Windows Ink	On Add a period after I double-tap the Spacebar				
(P) AutoPlay	On				
🖞 USB	How AI has helped you				
	Typing insights				
	Hardwara kauhaard				



Touch-capable PCs will also include a Touch keyboard section with options for the on-screen touch keyboard that is included with Windows.



Oddly enough, you can still use the touch keyboard on a PC without a touch screen: To enable this, right-click the taskbar and select "Show touch keyboard button." Doing so does not add the Touch keyboard section to Typing settings, however.

Configure removable storage

Windows works well with removable drives including USB flash drives and hard drives, and memory cards like SD and microSD cards. Removable storage works like any other removable device, and when you connect this type of device to your PC, you will be prompted with an AutoPlay notification as described earlier in this chapter.



Some other devices, like smartphones, can be connected to your PC and accessed as if they are removable storage as well.

As you may know, Windows is configured by default to use special folders in your user account folder—Documents, Music, Pictures and Videos—to store documents and different types of media files, respectively. On most PCs, this system makes sense, and there's no reason to reconfigure anything.

But some PCs have two or more attached storage devices. For example, a gaming PC might have a fast but relatively small SSD drive for the system disk and then a bigger but slower traditional hard drive for storing games. Likewise, modern tablets, Ultrabooks, and other portable PCs often include a microSD card slot or similar so you can augment the on-board storage with a memory card.

In such cases, you can optionally configure Windows to automatically use the memory card or other removable storage device instead of the on-board storage for your documents, music, pictures and videos.

This configuration change is described in the section *Configure where new content is stored* in the *Files and Storage* chapter. But if you navigate to Settings > System > Storage > Change where new content is stored, you can configure where your content is stored.



You can also use OneDrive for your documents and other data files. This, too, is discussed in the *Files and Storage* chapter.

Configure a printer

Windows supports the same traditional printing capabilities that it has for years, and printers works much as they always have. But there is one new wrinkle: Now you can print to PDF files as well as to hardware printers.

Configure printer options

Printers & scanners settings—available by navigating to Settings > Devices > Printers & scanners provides only basic printer controls: You can add new printers here, but there's little in the way of printer configuration.
← Settings		- 🗗 🗙
命 Home	Printers & scanners	
Find a setting	Add printers & scanners	Troubleshoot your printer
Devices	+ Add a printer or scanner	If you can't get your printer to work, trying running the printer troubleshooter. Open troubleshooter settings
Bluetooth & other devices		
B Printers & scanners	Printers & scanners	Related settings
		Print server properties
() Mouse		Run the troubleshooter
Touchpad	HP Officejet Pro X451dw Printer [35A86D]	
	Microsoft Brint to DDE	Have a question?
taal Typing		Download print drivers
🖉 Pen & Windows Ink	Microsoft XPS Document Writer	Scan documents
		Change printer status
(P) AutoPlay	ConeNote	Get help
🖞 USB		
		Make Windows better
	🗾 Let Windows manage my default printer	Give us feedback
	When this is on, Windows will set your default printer to be the one you used most recently at your current location.	

There is one important option: "Let Windows manage my default printer." If you leave this option set to its default setting of On, Windows 10 will always configure the default printer to be the most recently-used printer. If you don't like this behavior, just turn this option off.

You can, of course, configure printer-specific options. To do so, select the printer in the list.

← Settings		- 3 ×
命 Home	Printers & scanners	
Find a setting	Add printers & scanners	Troubleshoot your printer
Devices	Add a printer or scanner	If you can't get your printer to work, trying running the printer troubleshooter.
		Open troubleshooter settings
Bluetooth & other devices		
员 Printers & scanners	Printers & scanners	Related settings
	Fax	Print server properties
() Mouse	÷	Run the troubleshooter
🕀 Touchpad	HP Officejet Pro X451dw Printer [35A86D]	
Typing		Have a question?
typing	Open queue Manage Remove device	Download print drivers
🖉 Pen & Windows Ink	Microsoft Print to PDF	Scan documents
		Change printer status

Then, select Manage. The Manage your device page appears.

← Settings		-	٥
ଇ HP Officejet Pro X451dw Printer [35A86D]			
Manage your device	Have a question? Get help		
Printer status: Idle Open print queue Set as default			
Print a test page			
Run the troubleshooter			
Printer properties			
Printing preferences			
Hardware properties			

Here, you can perform several actions. Key among them are:

Set this as the default printer. If you disabled the option "Let Windows manage my default printer"

and intend to use this printer the most frequently, select the Set as default button.



This button will not appear if the option "Let Windows manage my default printer" is enabled in Printers & scanners settings.

Configure printer settings. To access a printer's various features, select the "Printing preferences" link. A window will open showing configurable options for the printer. This will vary wildly by device, and can be customized by the printer maker.



P

Beyond these options, many printers will ship with their own utilities that let you configure things further. You will typically find this utility in Start. But you may also see an "Open printer app" link when you select the printer in Printers & scanners settings.

Print to a PDF file

In addition to supporting normal hardware printers, Windows also lets you print to a virtual printer called *Microsoft Print to PDF* that creates a PDF file instead of hard copy. This is useful because the PDF document format is a de facto standard and is accepted virtually everywhere.

You can print to PDF from any desktop application or Store app that supports printing. To do so, simply select "Microsoft Print to PDF" from the list of available printers. For example, Microsoft Edge will print the currently displayed page if you type CTRL + P or select Settings and more ("...") > Print. The system Print window appears, letting you select among the available printers, including Microsoft Print to PDF.

Printer	_	
Microsoft Print to PDF V	$\leftarrow 2/3 \rightarrow \square$	
.et the app change my printing preferences On	riday night, Microsoft released Windows 10 Insider Preview built 1894510 First fing teners with a new charbased Cu- tana experience. As expected, Cortana is new delivered via a Store app.	
Drientation	"We are beginning to roll out a new Cortana experience for Windows 10 as a Beta to Windows insiders in the U.S.," Microsoft explains. "This new experience features a brand-new chat-based UI that gives you the ability to type or speak natural language queries."	
Portrait V	The new Cortana experience is accessed via the Cortana taskbar but- ton, just as the classic Cortana interface is today in Windows to ver- sion 50.50 (in case it in a beforeas Mail dispersion to 2011) build.) But the user experience is different. And in addition to sup- porting most of the features that users experience that user day—	
All pages The whole document	such as ling answers, Assistant conversations, opening apps, manag- ing lists, and setting enminders, alarms, and timers—it also provides some new functionality. This includes a new, less intrusive "iteg, Cortana" display, new speech and language models, and support for the 'ight and dark themes' –	
Scale	not what they're called in the OS, but whatever—in Windows 10. Microsoff says that this new experience, which is currently in beta, doesn't include all of the functionality of its predecessor yet, but that it will over time.	
Aargins Normal	Those outside the U.S. are probably andly shaking their books at Microsoft's new earling efforts to marginalize cortina by part mak- ing this functionality available. In their locales. In a sump funders in the U.S. do not have access to the new Cortina a spectrame yet efforts. "Fiends by partners a very earling milling it out". In this margining, the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the sta	
Headers and footers	as at were somehow difficult to just deriver this software to every- one. The good news? Additional markets and languages will become available at a later date? Sounds familiar. In addition to the new Cortana experience, Windows 10 Insider Pre- view build 18954 short provides some improvements to the Windows	

After making any configuration changes, select the Print button. You'll be prompted to specify a file name and save location. From there, you can use the PDF file normally.

Yes, you can set Microsoft Print to PDF as the default printer if you'd like.

Configure a second display

Windows lets you connect a second display—or even multiple displays—and use them together in a variety of ways. We'll focus on two displays here since that's the most common scenario. But the system works similarly with three or more displays as well.

How you connect a second display to your PC will vary from PC to PC. Desktop computers often include a video card that supports two display adapters with a wide degree of possibilities, for example. And many modern PCs now include a USB-C/Thunderbolt 3 or other port for adding a second wired display.



You can also use a technology called Miracast to connect wirelessly to a second display. Miracast is covered later in this chapter.

Use a second display

However you make the connection, when you add a second display, Windows will recognize the new device, trill a notification sound to indicate its success, and will then begin using it.

By default, it does so using what's called *extend mode*, where both displays are independent and present their own desktop, and floating app windows. (The taskbar is shared between both by default, but you can change that as noted later in this chapter.)

Here, you can see the primary display on a PC (on the left) and a second display (on the right). The primary display is Full HD (1920 x 1080) and the second display is 4K/UHD (3840 x 2160).



You don't have to accept the default display configuration that Windows provides. You can view and configure your options in the Display settings interface shown earlier, where a new a Multiple displays section will let you choose between four display options.

Settings	- 0
命 Home	Display
Find a setting	Change the size of text, apps, and other items 150% (Recommended) V
system	Advanced scaling settings
🖵 Display	Display resolution
아》 Sound	1920 × 1080 (Recommended) Display orientation
Notifications & actions	Landscape \lor
	Multiple displays
(¹) Power & sleep	Duplicate these displays
🗁 Battery	Extend these displays
📼 Storage	Show only on 2
B Tablet mode	Connect to a wireless display
曰 Multitasking	Advanced display settings Graphics settings
Projecting to this PC	

But there's an easier way: Just type WINKEY + P to display the Project pane. (This will appear on the primary display in a multi-display setup.)





You can also display the Project pane by opening Action Center and selecting the Project quick action tile.

The following options are available:

PC screen only. Here, the second display is not used and your PC only uses its primary display. (In Display settings, this option is titled "Show only on 1.")

Duplicate. Here in the default configuration, the PC's primary display is duplicated to the second display. Because the two displays will often have different resolutions, Windows will use the lower resolution of the two for both displays. This can result in less than optimal output on one or both displays. (In Display settings, this option is titled "Duplicate these displays.")

Extend. This mode extends the screen across both displays, giving you a bigger desktop area for apps and other windows, and using the native resolution of each display. (In Display settings, this option is titled "Extend these displays.")

Second screen only. In this configuration, only the second display is used and the primary display is disabled. This configuration can be useful for such things as projecting a video from the PC to an HDTV using an HDMI cable. But it can be difficult to use on tablets and 2-in-1 PCs, since you will be touching the disabled screen while watching a second (and external) display. (In Display settings, this option is titled "Show only on 2.")



Some display options—like display scaling, orientation, and brightness—are configured independently for each display. See the section *Change the display scaling* in the *Personalize *chapter for more information.

Configure advanced options for a second display

If you regularly use two (or more) displays at once, there are a number of advanced configuration options you should be aware of that can make this setup more productive. These are available in Taskbar settings, which you can access by navigating to Settings > Personalization > Taskbar. If you scroll down a bit, you will see a Multiple displays section.

← Settings		-	٥
命 Home	Taskbar		
Find a setting	Multiple displays		
Personalization	Show taskbar on all displays On		
Background	Show taskbar buttons on		
Colors Col	All taskbars V		
Lock screen	Combine buttons on other taskbars		
🕼 Themes	Always, hide labels		
A Fonts	People		
昭 Start	Show contacts on the taskbar		
🛱 Taskbar	Choose how many contacts to show		
	3 ~		
	Show My People notifications		
	Off Off		
	Dhu a cound whon a Mu Doonlo notification arrival		



You can also access this Settings page directly by right-clicking an empty area on the taskbar and choosing "Taskbar settings" from the menu that appears.

There are three options here.

Show taskbar on all displays. By default, Windows displays a taskbar on each display. If you change this option to Off, the taskbar will appear only on the primary display.

Show taskbar buttons on. By default, Windows duplicates the layout of the taskbar on each display. But you can change this so that buttons always appear on the primary display's taskbar as well as the taskbar for the display on which their apps are running ("Main taskbar and taskbar where window is open"). Or, you can choose to only display taskbar buttons on the taskbar of the display on which their apps are running ("Taskbar where window is open").

Combine buttons on other taskbars. As with previous Windows versions, you can display taskbar buttons with or without labels. This option lets you configure this choice differently for the primary and secondary displays. (By default, the taskbar on the second display will not display button labels.)

Wirelessly project to a secondary display with Miracast

You don't necessarily need an HDMI, USB-C, or similar cable to use an external display. Using a technology called Miracast, you can instead *wirelessly* project to an HDTV or other display.

Miracast utilizes Wi-Fi technology to establish a peer-to-peer connection between your PC (the Miracast source) and a Miracast-enabled display (the Miracast target).

As such, it has two requirements:

Your PC must include a Miracast-compatible Wi-Fi adapter. That means it supports either Wi-Fi Direct or Intel Wireless Display (WiDi) technology. Most modern Windows devices support one or the other.

Your external display must be Miracast-compatible. This is rare, but you can add Miracast capabilities to an HDTV or other HDMI-capable display by purchasing an inexpensive adapter like the *Microsoft Wireless Display Adapter*.



If you meet the requirements, you can configure your PC to use Miracast by opening Action Center (WINKEY + A) and selecting the Connect quick action tile. When you do, Windows will search for compatible Miracast devices.



Select the wireless display adapter you wish to use—mine is called *Samsung UHD 55* in the shot above—and Windows will load the appropriate drivers, if needed, and then connect wirelessly to the second display using the duplicate projection mode by default, just as with other external display types.

In addition to being wireless, Miracast offers another advantage over other display connection types: It provides a handy overlay toolbar on the primary display so you can manage the connection.



If available, select the gear icon ("Optimize the connection for what you're doing") to customize the display connection according to your needs: Gaming, working (the default), or watching videos.





To hide the toolbar, select the Pin icon. You can always access the toolbar my mousing up to the upper edge of the primary display.

To change the projection mode, open the Project pane (WINKEY + P) normally. Or, open the Connect pane and select "Change projection mode."

Your F	hone		- 🗆 ×	Notifications	
=				Notifications	
	Recent messages	KT Kelly Thurrott		Reddit Trending on r/learnprogramming	
	Last updated on 7/27/2019 at 4:30 PM Refresh			Why and how are spreadsheets useful for a programmer, and sho	blu
	+ New message			I learn to use Excel?	
	262966 7/24/2019			3:21 PM • via Your Phone	
Û	8 Do not share it with anyone.			Messenger	
				Steven Bink	
	Steph Thurrott, Keith 7/23/2019		A States	3:16 PM • via Your Phone	
	Steph Thurrott 7/23/2019				
	Wow. That crazy				
	Paul Thurrott 7/23/2019				
	New voicemail (00:07):		7/00/0040 + 6 04 PM		
			7/20/2019 at 6:24 PM		
	Kelly Thurrott //20/2019 i forgot we even had that haha	i forgot we even had that haha			
	7/16/2010	7/20/2019 at 6:25 PM			
	You have a Credit Monitoring Alert from	7/20/2013 00 0.23 FW		Expand Clear all n	
	Credit Sesame: Closed Account. Click on 1	Send a message			
0	Troubleshoot issues with messages				
			_	lablet mode Network All settings Near	by sharing
	P Type here to search	🗏 🤁 🔚 🟦 숙		^ ≒ (?, ⊄) ³⁻²⁸ P 7/27/20	019

You can link your smartphone to your PC through your Microsoft account and access some of your smartphone's key features directly from Windows. And in doing so, you make both devices better.



Most of these capabilities are available only on Android handsets. If you use an iPhone, you can take advantage of just one cross-device feature, called Continue on PC. Put simply, Android is the better choice if you wish to fully integrate your Windows PC with your phone.

Get to know the Your Phone app

Windows provides a simple app called Your Phone that lets you use your PC to access your phone's most recent photos, send and receive text messages on your PC, and access your handset's notifications, all as if you were doing so directly on your phone.



All of these capabilities require you to be using an Android handset.

Your Phone provides three basic views:

Photos. Here, you can access the 25 most recent photos taken by your phone's camera.



Messages. This view lets you view and respond to text messages on your phone and send new text messages to your contacts.

Your Phone					-	٥	×
=							
	Recent messages		Steph ⁻	Thurrott			
	Last updated on 7/27/2019 at 2:20 PM	Refresh	~				
Pixel 3a XL	+ New message			shopping I guess lol	710710040		
	75973	7/27/2019			7/27/2019 a	t 12:20 P	M
	PC: https://aka.ms/ay?s=10&a=m&i=		Ok we will make ou	ur way towards Mout			
Messages	732873	7/27/2019	7/27/2019 at 12:21 PM				
i inotifications	Use 0935774 as Microsoft account security code					Here	
	Steph Thurrott	7/27/2019			7/27/2019 a	t 12:34 P	٩M
	NK NK	7/07/0010	Be right there				
	Aspirational. ;)	1/21/2019	7/27/2019 at 12:34 PM				
	Stanh Thurratt, John	7/25/2019				Kk	
	Honestly it hasn't been as bad as in pas	t					
	,		Send a message				
102 Cattings							
ar soungs	froubleshoot issues with messages						

Notifications. This view lets you see all of your phone's notifications as they arrive and delete those notifications that you no longer wish to see.





Each of these interfaces are discussed later in this chapter.

There isn't a lot of configuration to be had. You can collapse and expand the navigation pane if you'd like. And in the app's settings, you can individually configure whether this PC is allowed to access your phone's photos, messages, and message notifications.

Link your phone with your PC

Before you can share information between your phone and your PC, you must link them through your Microsoft account. You can do so by navigating to Settings > Phone.

Settings		
命 Home	Your phone	
Find a setting	Text and see recent photos from your phone, right on your PC. Or if	See photos and send texts
	you're on your phone, send webpages straight to your PC.	See recent photos and send text from
Phone	Add your Android phone or iPhone below to get started.	your Android phone. Select Add a phone to set it up.
	Add a phone	
		Have a question?

Now, select the "Add a phone" button. A Microsoft account window appears.



Here, enter your phone number as prompted and then select Send. A text message will be sent to your phone.

This message includes a hyperlink for a Microsoft mobile app that you will install on your phone. But *which* app you are offered varies according to which type of phone you have.

Link your Android handset with your PC

If you use an Android phone, the text message will prompt you to install the Your Phone Companion app. Do so, and then run the app and step through the simple wizard it presents in which you will sign-in to your Microsoft account and make a few configuration changes to your phone.



Once you've correctly configured your phone, you're free to examine the Your Phone app on your Windows PC and see which phone features you can access there.

Link your iPhone with your PC

If you use an iPhone, the text message will prompt you to install the Microsoft Edge mobile web browser. Do so, and then run the app and sign-in to your Microsoft account so that you can enable sync—of favorites, open tabs, form autofill information, passwords, and history—between Microsoft Edge in Windows and on your iPhone.



Doing so will also establish a link between your iPhone and your PC, and let you use a feature called Continue on PC push web pages from Microsoft Edge on your iPhone to your PC.



Other Microsoft apps for iPhone—including Microsoft Word, Excel, PowerPoint, and others—provide simple ways to "pick up where you left off" in documents your were previously editing on Windows as well.

Manage your linked phone

Whichever type of smartphone you use, you will see that your phone has been linked once you return to the Phone page in Settings.

← Settings		- 8 ×
 Mome Find a setting P 	Your phone Text and see recent photos from your phone, right on your PC. Or if you're on your phone, send webpages straight to your PC. Get more apps on your phone to make it work even better with your PC.	See photos and send texts See recent photos and send text from your Android phone. Select Add a phone to set it up.
	Linked phones Pauls iPhone XR OS Add a phone	Have a question? Import photos to my PC Get help
	Manage all devices linked with your Microsoft account Unlink this PC If you unlink this PC_it will no longer be able to receive texts, recent photos: and washanaes from your phone	Make Windows better Give us feedback

Beyond unlinking it from your PC, you can't really configure the phone in any way from this interface. But you can manage a linked phone by selecting the link "Manage all devices linked with your Microsoft account." This will open your browser and navigate to the Devices page of the Microsoft account website.

6 0	Microsoft account Dev $ imes$ + $ imes$				-	٥	\times
$\leftarrow \ \ \rightarrow$	O A https://account.microsoft.com/devices/			□ ☆	\$= L	È	
	Microsoft Account Your info Privacy	Security Rewards Payment & billing ~ Se	rvices & subscriptions Devices Family	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	e 🌓		
	Devices	Fill 13 device(s) Attached Add device >	Surface-Pro-5 No issues found Show details >	Paul's iPhone XR No issues found Show details >			
	Overview Manage device limits Find My Dev	vice					
	_	:= 1.					
	Paul's iPhone XR	Surface-Pro-5	В	ook-2			
	Phone	Surface Pro	Surfa	ace Book 2			
	°x* 🄑	8x* 🌓	م	e 🌗			
	No issues found	No issues found	No	issues found 📮 Fe	edback		

From here, you select the "Show details" link below your phone to display a page with more information and support links for the device. To unlink the phone, select More actions > Unlink this phone.

🖻 🖷 👫 Microsoft account Devices 🚦 Microsoft Cross Device Expr		-	- 6	×
$\leftarrow \rightarrow \heartsuit \textcircled{a} https://account.microsoft.com/devices/device/d$	\$	7∕≡	h	<u>a</u>
Microsoft Account Your info Privacy Security Rewards Payment & billing - Services & subscriptions Devices Family	Q	× (ź
Paul's iPhone XR Phone More actions ~ Unlink this phone b				
Info & support				
Get Microsoft Edge for your phone and browse seamlessly across devices.				
Learn more				
Switch seamlessly between your phone and PC with Microsoft apps				

Access your Android phone's key features from your PC

You can use the Your Phone app to access the most recent photos, text messages, and notifications from your Android handset.

Access the most recent photos on your phone

If you linked an Android handset to your PC, you can use the Your Phone app in Windows to view, share, and copy the most recent 25 photos on your phone from your PC.

To do so, open Your Phone and navigate to Photos.



To view or edit a photo, simply select it: The photo will open in the Photos app.





If you make any changes to the photo via the Edit & Create options, you will be asked to save a copy of the photo to your PC. The changes will be applied only to the copy of the photo, not the original on your phone.

You can also copy a photo to the Clipboard or Share it by right-clicking it and choosing the appropriate option. Or, simply drag a photo from the Your Phone app onto your desktop, an email message in the Mail app, an open Microsoft Office document, or elsewhere in Windows.

Send and receive text messages

If you linked an Android handset to your PC, you can use the Your Phone app in Windows to view, send, and receive text messages on your PC.

To do so, open My Phone and navigate to Messages.

Your Phone				- 0 >
-	Recent messages	Refresh	Steph Thurrott	
Bixel 25 XI	+ New message		shopping I guess lol	
Pixel 54 AL	7673	7070040		7/27/2019 at 12:20 PM
Dependence Photos	Update this app and sign in to link your PC: https://aka.ms/ay?s=10&a=m&i=	1/21/2019	Ok we will make our way towards Mout	
Messages Notifications	732873 Use 0935774 as Microsoft account security code	7/27/2019	7/27/2019 at 12:21 PM	Here
	Steph Thurrott	7/27/2019		7/27/2019 at 12:34 PM
	Richard Campbell Aspirational. ;)	7/27/2019	Be right there 7/27/2019 at 12:34 PM	
	Steph Thurrott, John Honestly it hasn't been as bad as in pas years	7/25/2019 t		Kk
			Send a message	
Settings	Troubleshoot issues with messages			⊳

Here, you can perform the following tasks.

Read a text message. To read a text message—along with the entire conversation you've had with that individual or group—simply select it in the Recent messages pane.



And yes, newly-arriving text messages will trigger a standard Windows notification banner. You can even reply to a text message right in the banner if you catch it quickly enough.

Respond to a text message. To respond to a text message from your PC, select the conversation, and then select the "Send a message" field. Type your reply and hit Enter—or the Send button—to send the message.

Write a new text message. To create a new text message, select the "+ New Message" button at the top of the Recent messages pane. Here, you can add one or more recipients—using contact auto-complete—and the message you wish to send.





Unfortunately, Your Phone does not allow you to add multimedia content—like photos or audio files—to text messages sent from the PC.

View and delete Android notifications

If you linked an Android handset to your PC, you can use the Your Phone app in Windows to view new notifications from your phone and optionally delete them.



After enabling this feature, you will only be able to see new notifications. Previouslydelivered notifications will not appear in Your Phone.

When you receive a phone notification, Your Phone will display a notification banner to alert you.



These banner work like any other notification you see in Windows. If you select it, it will open the relevant app, in this case Your Phone.



And if you miss the notification, you can always view it—and other missed notifications—in Action Center.



As far as managing these notifications goes, there's not much else you can do beside deleting them. To do so, select the Clear ("x") button next to the notification you'd like to delete.



F	

You can also delete all currently displayed Android notifications by selecting the "Clear all" link.



If you clear a notification on your phone, it will be deleted from Your Phone too. The reverse is also true.

As is the case on your phone, you may find that the number of notifications you receive is a bit much. But you can relieve the pressure by customizing how notifications work in Your Phone.

To do so, select the "Customize" link in the Notifications view. The app's Settings interface appears.



Here, you can configure whether to allow Android notifications to appear in Your Phone and whether they should display notification banners. You can also use the list of apps to disable notifications (in Windows via Your Phone) from particular apps.



This list of apps grows as more Android-based apps issue notifications. So you may have to revisit this interface over time.

Use Continue on PC to pick up where you left off

Once you've linked your Android handset or iPhone with your PC, you can perform specific tasks on your phone and then continue working on them on your PC. How you do this will depend on which phone apps you use.



This functionality works the same on both Android and iOS.

Continue on your PC with Microsoft Edge

Those who use Microsoft Edge on both their phone and their PC can use a feature called Continue on PC to begin reading an online article or other web page on their phone and then continue reading

ø ×

it on their PC. This is useful for content that might be more readily enjoyed on a big screen and for content that you might want to read later.



Android users can download Microsoft Edge from the Google Play Store.



Continue on PC is unidirectional. That is, you can send a web page from your phone to your PC, but not from your PC to your phone.

To use this feature, open a web page in Microsoft Edge on your phone. Then, tap the Continue on PC button in the center of the Edge toolbar at the bottom of the screen.



When you do, a window appears displaying a list of your linked PCs.



To display the web page in Microsoft Edge on a linked PC immediately, select the PC from the list. When you do, Microsoft Edge launches on the selected PC, opens a new tab, and loads the same web page.



To be notified about this article so you can read it later, choose Continue later. When you do so, a notification will appear on each of your linked PCs.



This notification will appear in Action Center, too, so you can view it later.

```
8
```

This capability only works with Microsoft Edge in Windows. If you configure Google Chrome or another application as your default web browser on your PC, these sent articles will still open in Edge.

Continue on your PC from Chrome, Safari, and other web browsers

If you use a different web browser on your phone, you can still send web pages from your phone to your PC. It's just not as seamless.

On Android, this capability is provided by the Your Phone Companion app that you probably already installed.

On iPhone and other iOS devices, you will need to install the Continue on PC app from the Apple Apps Store first. Be sure to configure this app as directed so that Continue on PC appears in your phone's Share interface.

To do share a web page from a non-Edge browser on your phone, display it in the web browser you prefer. Then, find the system Share feature. (For example, in Chrome for Android, it's available in the browser's menu, and Safari for iPhone includes a Share button in the toolbar.)

Now, Locate "Your Phone (Continue on PC)" (Android) or "Continue on PC" (in iOS) in the Share interface that appears.

Share appears as a pane that slides up from the bottom of the screen on both platforms.

On Android, it looks like so.



And on iPhone, Share looks like this.



In both cases, you will be presented with a window that works identically, and as described in the previous section: You can send the currently-viewed article to a specific PC immediately, or send a notification so that you can read that article later on any linked PC.



And, yes, this only works with Microsoft Edge on your PC, even if you configured another web browser as the default.

Explore more PC and phone integration features

Beyond the Your Phone Companion, Microsoft Edge, and Continue on PC apps, Microsoft offers numerous other ways in which your PC and phone can be used together. Many of these are tied to specific mobile apps which are available for Android and/or the iPhone.

Key examples are listed here.

Microsoft Launcher (Android only)

Microsoft Launcher replaces your phone's default user interface, including the home screen, with one of Microsoft's design. It is, in effect, the "full meal deal" for those who want a complete Microsoft experience on mobile. And it offers deep integration with Microsoft services and some interesting personalization features.

Those features that enhance the integration of your PC and phone are, perhaps, the most interesting. These include:

Timeline. You can view a list of documents and web pages you've opened on your PCs and then open them using the appropriate mobile app directly on your phone. This view is available from the Microsoft Launcher feed, which you access by swiping to the right from the left-most home screen.



Microsoft To-Do. While you can install the standalone Microsoft To-Do app, you can also access all of your to-do's—sometimes called tasks—via the Tasks view in Microsoft Launcher's Glance feed. These tasks also integrate across Outlook.com, Microsoft Outlook, and other Microsoft products and services.

Sticky Notes. Windows includes a simple Sticky Notes app for creating short notes and lists. And you can access these notes from the Sticky Notes view in the Microsoft Launcher feed. That way you can make a quick shopping list on your PC, perhaps, and then access it out in the world from your phone.



You can also access Sticky Notes from OneNote for Android (or iOS).

Cortana. The Microsoft Launcher lets you access Cortana, the firm's digital personal assistant, by

saying "Hey Cortana" at any time. That way, you can create reminders and ask questions just with your voice.

Microsoft OneDrive

In addition to providing cloud backup for all of the photos you take on your phone, OneDrive for Android and iPhone lets you access all of the files in your cloud storage, and it can do so across both your personal and work accounts. Files opened in OneDrive will open the appropriate app on your phone; for example, Excel spreadsheets will open in the mobile version of Excel.



Microsoft Office apps

Microsoft makes its most important Office apps, including Word, Excel, PowerPoint, OneNote, and others, available on mobile, as well as a growing list of newer, related apps like Microsoft To-Do, Office Lens, and others, that offer some form of cross-device integration through your Microsoft

account. For example, Microsoft Word for Android and iPhone provides a list of recently-edited documents when you open the app so you can easily continue working from your phone.



Cortana

Microsoft's personal digital assistant is available on both Android and iPhone so that you can access your reminders, notes and lists, and more from any of your devices. On Android, you can also configure Cortana as your default assistant, replacing Google Assistant, if you wish.



Swiftkey

Microsoft's Swiftkey keyboard for Android supports Microsoft cloud clipboard service. Which means that you can copy text to the clipboard on your Android handset and then paste it into an application on your Windows PC.





Windows helps you manage the online accounts that you and others use to sign-in to the system, use with its apps, and access online services.

Get to know Accounts settings

Account management is performed in Accounts settings, which is found by navigating to Settings (WINKEY + I) > Accounts.

The following interfaces are available here.

Your info. This page displays basic settings for the currently signed-in user plus the ability to convert the account between a local account and a Microsoft account.

Email & accounts. Here, you can manage the email accounts you use in the Mail, Calendar, and People apps as well as other Microsoft accounts you may wish to use in the other apps that come with Windows.



Sign-in options. This page lets you configure the sign-in options for the current user, which can include simplifying your sign-in with a PIN or fingerprint reader, or by other means.

← Settings		- o ×	
û Home	Sign-in options		
Find a setting	Manage how you sign in to your device Select a sign-in option to add, change, or remove it.	Related settings Lock screen	
RE Your info	Windows Hello Face Sign in with your camera (Recommended)	Have a question?	
🖾 Email & accounts	Windows Hello Fingerprint This option is currently unavailable—click to learn more	Reset local account password Set up Windows Hello Change your Microsoft account password Fix PIN problems	
🗞 Sign-in options 🖒	Windows Hello PIN Sign in with a PIN (Recommended)		
Access work or school	Sign in with a physical security key	Get help	
 Family & other users Sync your settings 	Sign in with your account's password	Make Windows better Give us feedback	
	Picture Password Swipe and tap your favorite photo to unlock your device		
	Require sign-in		
	If you've been away, when should Windows require you to sign in again? When PC wakes up from sleep \vee		

Access work or school. This interface is for those who need to connect to corporate or educational environments with newer Microsoft infrastructures.



Individuals using a personal PC will not need to access this interface.

Family & other users. Here, you can configure parental controls for family members and add signin accounts for other people who might need to use this PC.



Sync your settings. An interface for determining which Windows features will sync with your Microsoft account through OneDrive. This functionality is only available to those who sign-in with a Microsoft account.

← Settings		- 5 ×
命 Home	Sync your settings	
Find a setting	Sync your settings to other devices using thurrott10@outlook.com. How does syncing work? Sync settings	Have a question? Sync Microsoft Edge favorites Fix OneDrive sync problems Get help
Email & accounts	Individual sync settings	Make Windows better Give us feedback
Access work or school Access work or school Family & other users	Cn Passwords On	
C Sync your settings	Language preferences On Ease of Access On Other Windows settings On	

You should sign-in to Windows with a Microsoft account

20 years ago, Windows users would create a *local account* when they first signed-in to a PC. But any configuration changes they subsequently made, or documents and other files they saved to that PC, would be unavailable if they wanted to use another computer.

Today, Windows is more sophisticated. Now, you can sign-in to Windows with your Microsoft account instead. And because so much in Windows relies on you using this type of account, we pretty much only support Microsoft accounts in this book.

Some of the key benefits of using a Microsoft account include:

It provides settings sync. Many of your settings—your desktop theme, web browser settings, saved passwords, and more—are synced from PC to PC, providing a consistent experience.

It's required if you will use Microsoft Edge. If you are going to use Microsoft Edge, the web browser that's included with Windows 10, you will basically need to sign-in to Windows with your Microsoft account. Otherwise, you cannot sync or saving settings, favorites (bookmarks), passwords, and other useful data.

Some experiences require a Microsoft account. Some of the built-in experiences, like OneDrive, require a Microsoft account. If you sign-in to the PC with a Microsoft account, these experiences will work seamlessly. If you don't, you may need to sign-in to them individually.

Some apps require a Microsoft account. Some apps—like OneNote and Movies & TV—require a Microsoft account as well. Yes, you can sign-in to those apps as needed, but you must do so one at a time, manually.

It's more secure. Because you can configure your Microsoft account to require two-step authentication, a Microsoft account is more secure than a local account.

Of course, some apps don't require a Microsoft account at all. For example, while the Mail, Calendar and People apps do require you to connect them with online accounts, you don't have to use a Microsoft account. In fact, you can connect only to a Gmail/Google account if you want.



Local accounts still exist for certain scenarios, but Microsoft now refers to this account type as an "offline" account to differentiate from the cloud-hosted Microsoft account.

Microsoft account security first steps

Before you do anything else, you should make sure that the Microsoft account you are using with Windows is as secure as possible.

Microsoft account security is a big topic, and beyond the scope of this book. But you can and should spend time configuring the security of your account on the Microsoft Account web site.



Recommended actions include:

Create a complex, hard to remember password and then change it regularly. And consider using a password manager like LastPass to create and manage this and other passwords.

Add phone numbers and other secondary forms of security info. You can and should add multiple phone numbers and email addresses to your account so that you can recover it if it is hacked. You can use sign-in preferences to ensure that only accounts and phone numbers you know to be safe can be used for this purpose.

Use two-step authentication to further secure your account. You can use an *authenticator app* on your smartphone to approve sign-in requests, either with a pop-up message, or by getting a code generated by the app. Or, you can simply have Microsoft send you a code by text message. However you do it, two-step authentication will make your Microsoft account more secure, and can help prevent your account from being stolen even if hackers figure out your password.



We recommend the Microsoft Authenticator app, which is available for both Android and iPhone.

Don't be a statistic: The right combination of security methods—using a Microsoft account with twostep authentication enabled, plus a Windows Hello-based authentication method on each PC—will help ensure that your online account, personal information, and private data is always safe.



We discuss Windows Hello later in this chapter.
Manage your sign-in account

When you sign-in to Windows for the first time, you're prompted to use your Microsoft account. Whether you did so or created a local account instead, you can now manage your sign-in account and how it interacts with Windows by using the Your info interface in Windows Settings > Accounts.

Convert your sign-in account

If you did sign-in with a local account, you can convert it later to a Microsoft account. Conversely, you can also convert a Microsoft account-based sign-in account to a local account if you wish.



You must be signed-in to an account to convert it. You cannot convert other accounts that are configured on this PC.

To convert your account, navigate to Settings > Accounts > Your info and select the link "Sign in with a local account instead." A standard Microsoft account sign-in window will appear to help you make the conversion.



If you are already signed-in with a Microsoft account and wish to convert it to a local account—which we do not recommend—this link will read as "Sign in with a local account instead." A more ominous warning appears.



In this case, you will need to supply a user name and password for that account and then sign-out before you can use it. After you do sign-in again, you will need to sign-in to individual apps and services as prompted.

Configure a user picture

By default, your sign-in account will use whatever photo is associated with your Microsoft account as its user picture. If you haven't configured a photo, or would like to change it, you can do so in Settings > Accounts > Your info.

To do so, select "Camera" or "Browse for one" under Create your picture. The former option will let you use your webcam to take a still shot. And the latter lets you browse with File Explorer to find a picture you like.



Sync your settings

For the most part, you will want to sync all of your settings to each PC on which you sign-in with your Microsoft account. However, if you navigate to Settings > Accounts > Sync your settings, you can determine whether a few broad settings are synced to and from this PC.

To disable settings sync entirely, change Sync settings to Off.

Otherwise, you can individually determine whether to sync your theme, passwords, language preferences, ease of access settings, and "other Windows settings," as Microsoft vaguely calls it, on a case-by-case basis.

Manage sign-in account security

In addition to configuring your Microsoft account securely in the cloud, you should likewise configure your sign-in account in Windows to be as secure as possible.

Configure how you sign-in to Windows

To avoid having to type in a complex password each time you sign-in to Windows, Microsoft provides simpler sign-in options that are more secure too. These features are configured in Settings > Accounts > Sign-in options.

Available sign-in options includes:

Windows Hello Face. This modern sign-in technology requires a specially-configured IR camera that is built into your PC. It works in tandem with your account password and a PIN (see below) and can dramatically speed the sign-in process. This is the best of all worlds: Simplicity, ease of use, and great security.



If you do choose to use Windows Hello Face, you will need to configure a PIN as well.

Windows Hello Fingerprint. Windows Hello Fingerprint works with the fingerprint readers builtin to some (mostly portable) PCs. It requires just a press of your thumb or some other finger.



If you do choose to sign-in with Windows Hello Fingerprint, you will need to configure a PIN as well.

Windows Hello PIN. Rather than type your (presumably lengthy and complex) password every time you sign-in, you can configure a 4-digit (or longer) numeric (or, optionally, alphanumeric) PIN instead. The PIN doesn't replace your password but is rather a machine-specific alternative. This is particularly handy on a tablet or other touch-based device, of course, but it will work on any device type, including traditional PCs.

Security Key. Windows supports physical security keys, which usually take the form of a small USB-based dongle. You can use a security key with a key-specific PIN to sign-in to your Microsoft account without having to type a password.

Password. In this configuration, you will type in your Microsoft account (or local account) password to sign-in to the PC. This method is only as secure as your password is complex. But it's tedious to sign-in this way because you must type this complex password each time you access the PC.

Picture Password. While this option is not recommended, it works best on tablets or other touchbased PCs because you must draw a shape on the screen. As with a PIN, a picture password doesn't replace your password but is rather a machine-specific alternative. It works with both Microsoft and local accounts, and two-step authentication is optional on the former. (Frankly, a PIN is even easier to use on a touch-based device.)

Each sign-in option has its own enrollment process. PIN is perhaps the simplest: you just need to provide the same four-digit code twice.

Windows S	Windows Security				
Set up	a PIN				
Create a PIN to use in place of passwords. Having a PIN makes it easier to sign in to your device, apps, and services.					
	New PIN				
	Confirm PIN				
	Include letters and	symbols			
	ОК	Cancel			

The Windows Hello methods each require you to step through an enrollment wizard that varies according to the type of device.

For a fingerprint reader, this means repeatedly scanning your fingerprint until the system has an accurate reading. (And perhaps enrolling multiple fingers.)



With Windows Hello Face, the camera will scan your face, and will tell you if it can't see you correctly. And that's it: the wizard completes very quickly, though you are given the option to "improve recognition" after initial set up. This can be useful for people who sometimes wear glasses or if you just want to be sure that the system is precise.



Lock your PC automatically

Windows includes a feature called Dynamic Lock that will automatically lock your PC when a linked device moves away from it. This proximity lock functionality relies on Bluetooth wireless technology and should work with any Bluetooth-enabled device. But it will most frequently be used with a smartphone or a fitness tracker like a Fitbit, since so many people have one of these devices with them at all times.

Setting up Dynamic Lock is very easy: After enabling the feature in Settings > Accounts > Sign-in options, you simply linked a paired Bluetooth-enabled device. (You can configure such devices in Settings > Devices > Bluetooth & other devices). The linked device will display here.

← Settings		-	٥	×
û Home	Sign-in options			
Find a setting ,P	*A Dynamic lock			
Accounts	Windows can use devices that are paired to your PC to know when you're away and lock your PC when those devices go out of range.			
RE Your info	Allow Windows to automatically lock your device when you're away			
🖾 Email & accounts	Pixel 3a XL			
🔍 Sign-in options	Bluetooth & other devices			
	Learn more			



We recommend that you do not rely on Dynamic Lock. Beyond enabling Dynamic Lock to work with a specific device, this feature cannot be otherwise configured by the user. That means that it could behave unpredictably based on the performance of the Bluetooth connection between your PC and the linked device. Frankly, and will be better served by manually typing WINKEY + L to lock your PC when you wish to step away.

Manage other sign-in accounts

In addition to the currently signed-in account, Windows provides various interfaces for managing other sign-in accounts. Each represents a different user—and their associated Microsoft account—that can sign-in to this PC.

Add another sign-in account

To add a new Microsoft account (or local sign-in account) to the PC, navigating to Settings > Accounts > Family & other people. Then, select the link "Add someone else to this PC." When you do, a Microsoft account window appears.



If you wish to add an existing Microsoft account, you need only that account's email address: Enter it as prompted and then select the Next button to continue.



If you would like to create a new Microsoft account or add a local account to this PC, select the link "I don't have this person's sign-in information" instead.



We strongly recommend *not* creating a new Microsoft account here. Instead, visit the Microsoft account web site using your web browser and properly configure a new account with security controls such as two-step authentication. After that is complete, you can use this interface to add that account to the PC.



Accounts added this way are configured as having Standard user privileges by default. See the section *Configure another sign-in account* to learn how to provide Administrator privileges to an added sign-in account.



Windows also lets you add corporate and educational accounts via the Access work or school link in Settings > Accounts. If you need to do this, your organization will provide instructions.

Configure another sign-in account

The accounts you use to sign-in to Windows will be configured as having one of two basic levels of access privileges: Administrator or Standard User.

A sign-in account with Administrator privileges can make configuration changes that impact any user account on the PC. A user with Standard privileges, meanwhile, can only make changes that impact *that* account. By definition, it is safer to use a Standard User account, but you will sometimes need to authenticate certain actions by providing an Administrator account password if you do so.



When you first set up Windows, you are asked to create a sign-in account, which can be either a Microsoft account or a local account. This first sign-in account always has Administrator privileges. And the PC must always have at least one account with Administrator privileges.

When you add a new sign-in account to the PC, it is configured as a Standard User by default. To change this, select the user you wish to modify in Settings > Accounts > Family & other people. When you do, a selection box appears with Change account type and Remove buttons.

← Settings			-	٥	×
G Home	Family & other users				
Find a setting	Learn more	Make Windows better Give us feedback			
Accounts	Other users				
R≣ Your info	Allow people who are not part of your family to sign in with their own accounts. This won't add them to your family.				
🖾 Email & accounts					
🖏 Sign-in options	+ Add someone else to this PC				
Access work or school	8 paul@thurrott.net				
A, Family & other users	Change account type Remove				
C Sync your settings					

Select the Change account type button. The Change account window appears.



Use the Account type drop-down to change Standard User to Administrator.



You can use this interface to reverse this configuration at anytime as well, of course.

Delete another sign-in account

To delete a sign-in account from the PC, navigate to Settings > Accounts > Family & other people and select the account you wish to remove under "Other people." Then, select the Remove button in the selection box that appears. You will be prompted to ensure you wish to delete this account and all of the user's associated data.



You cannot delete the account you're currently using. To remove that account, you must sign-in with another account first. If your account is configured with Administrator privileges, you must have one other Administrator-type account configured on the PC before you can delete it.



Deleting a Microsoft account only deletes the sign-in account on this PC. It does not delete the Microsoft account from the Internet.

Sign-in as a different user

Windows lets you or another configured user sign in to the PC at any time. You can do this while your current user account is still signed in, or you can optionally sign out first.



Yes, this means that multiple users can be signed in to Windows simultaneously. But only one user account can be used interactively at a time.

To *switch* user accounts—that is, sign in with a different account while leaving the current account signed in as well—open Start and select your user picture or name in the leftmost column.



Then, select the user account you wish to use from the drop-down list. (As in *paul@thurrott.net*, above.) The sign-in screen for that user will then appear, letting you access that user's custom Windows experience.



You could also *lock* the PC (by tying WINKEY + L, or by clicking your user picture or name at the bottom left of Start and choosing Lock). Then, you could sign-in with another account normally, and your original account would remain signed-in too. Lock is a convenient way to prevent others from accessing your data when you're away from the PC.

Of course, you could also sign out from the current user account. Then, you will be confronted with a sign-in screen listing all of the available user accounts on the PC. Just select the user you wish to use at the lower left and then sign-in with that account.



Configure email accounts

Windows lets you configure multiple accounts that will be used by the Mail (email), Calendar, and People (contacts) apps. These accounts include Outlook.com, Exchange/Office 365, Google (Gmail), Yahoo!, (Apple) iCloud, and older, email-only POP and IMAP accounts.

While you can configure these accounts from within any one of those apps, you can also do so in Settings > Accounts > Email & accounts > Accounts used by email, calendar, and contacts.

← Settings		- 0 ×
ش Home	Email & accounts	
Find a setting	Accounts used by email calendar, and contacts	Set up and manage accounts
Accounts	+ Add an account	To change an account name, delete an account, or sync an account with another device, select your account, and then select Manage.
RE Your info	thurrott10@outlook.com	
Email & accounts	- Outdook	Have a question?
4.5"		Country and the state of the



You should add and configure each account you wish to use with Mail, Calendar, and People before using those apps.

)

If you sign-in to Windows with a Microsoft account, that account will already be added here. But you will still likely want to examine how it is configured and make changes as required.

Add a new email account

Mail, Calendar, and People are automatically configured to use the same Microsoft account that you use to sign-in to Windows. But you can add one or more other email accounts at any time later as well.

To add a new email account, select "Add an account. The Add an account window appears.



Each choice will present a slightly different wizard that lets you configure the account. When you complete the wizard, you will see the new account appear in the list under Accounts used by email, calendar, and contacts alongside your Microsoft account.



Each account will also appear in Mail, Calendar, and People as appropriate. (Some email accounts support only email and contacts, for example, and not calendar.



Do not accept the default settings. Instead, you will want to further configure each email account, including the Microsoft account you use to sign-in to Windows. This is described in the next section.

Manage an email account



To configure and other manage email account, select it and then select the Manage button. The Account settings window appears.

Account settings	×
Gmail account settings	
thurrott@gmail.com	
Account name	
Gmail	×
Change mailbox sync settings Options for syncing your content. Delete account Remove this account from your device.	
Save	Cancel

From here, you can make the following changes.

Rename the account. Each account is given a name related to the email address of the account. But if that isn't descriptive enough, you can rename the account in the Account name field.

Change mailbox sync settings. Select this item to display the Sync settings window, by which you can determine how this account syncs email. As important, however, you can determine whether to sync email, calendar, and contacts information from this account (as supported). So you could choose to sync email and contacts, for example, but not calendar.



Delete account. This removes the email account from your PC and from the Mail, Calendar, and People apps. (It does not remove any sign-in accounts.)

Configure app accounts

In addition to the email (and calendar and contacts) accounts discussed above, Windows also lets you configure Microsoft accounts for use in individual applications. That is, you can sign-in to Windows with one Microsoft account (or a local account) but then sign-in to one or more apps using a different Microsoft account.

If you know that you will want to sign-in to one or more apps using a Microsoft account that is different from your sign-in account, you can add it here. Then, you can switch between your accounts in supported apps.

To add an app account, navigate to Settings > Accounts > Email & accounts > Accounts used by other apps. Then, select the link "Add a Microsoft account." You'll be prompted to sign-in to and authenticate your Microsoft account. Then, that account will be listed alongside your sign-in account under Accounts used by other apps.

To determine how an app account works, select it in the list and then select the "All apps can sign

me in" link dropdown. You can optionally change this behavior to "Apps need to ask me to use this account."





The Manage button opens the Microsoft account website.



You can't change how your sign-in account works with apps.

To sign-in to this account in a supported app, open the app—I'll use Movies & TV in this example and select the Account button. (This is in different places in different apps.) You can now choose between your configured app accounts.





Windows provides numerous security features that help protect you, your data, and the PC itself. Much of this simply works behind the scenes, and requires little or no input from you. So this chapter focuses on those features you really need to know about, or can manage or configure in some way.

Get to know the Windows Security app

Because the many security features in Windows are scattered throughout the system, Microsoft has created a nice dashboard-based app called Windows Security that helps you quickly assess whether your PC is protected from threats. The green check marks next to each area in the main page indicate that the system is healthy, secure, and up-to-date.



Available items here include:

Virus & threat protection. This page provides a front-end to Windows Defender, the anti-virus and antimalware solution that is built-in to Windows.

Window	. Security	- 5 ×
← ≡ @	Virus & threat protection Protection for your device against threats.	Windows Community videos Learn more about Virus & threat
0	③ Current threats	protection
୍ୟ ୩୬	No current threats. Last scan: 7/2/2019 12:30 PM (quick scan) O threats found induces 5 seconds Scan lasted 1 minutes 5 seconds 8523 files scanned.	Have a question? Get help
B	Quick scan	Who's protecting me? Manage providers
ф R	Scan options Allowed threats Protection history	Help improve Windows Security Give us feedback
	% Virus & threat protection settings No action needed. Manage settings	Change your privacy settings View and change privacy settings for your Windows 10 device. Privacy settings Privacy dashboard
*	${\mathbb G}$ Virus & threat protection updates	invey success

Account protection. This page provides links to various parts of the Accounts are of the system Settings app related to your user account: Account info, Sign-in options, and Dynamic lock.





All of these features are discussed in the Accounts chapter.

Firewall & network protection. Here, you will see a friendly interface to the firewall that Microsoft provides with Windows. For the most part, you will never need to change any of the settings you see here.





While you will not usually need to access the legacy interface to the firewall, called Windows Defender Firewall with Advanced Security, you can do so by selecting the "Advanced settings" link here.

App & browser control. This page lets you determine how Windows behaves when you download potentially unsafe applications from the web, encounter potentially malicious websites, or use Store apps that work as a front-end for a website or other web-based content. And the exploit protection functionality lets you customize advanced technologies in Windows that are designed to protect the system from being compromised. Typically, you will never need to configure any of these features.

Windows	s Security	- 6
← 	□ App & browser control	
-	App protection and online security.	Windows Community videos
ŵ		Learn more about App & browser
0	Check apps and files	control
ද ශ	Windows Defender SmartScreen helps protect your device by checking for unrecognized apps and files from the web.	Have a question? Get help
	O Block	
_	Wam	Who's protecting me?
4	O off	Manage providers
Ś		
æ	SmartScreen for Microsoft Edge Windows Defender SmartScreen Filter helps protect your device from malicious sites and downloads.	Help improve Windows Security Give us feedback
		Change your privacy settings
	O Block	View and change privacy settings for your Windows 10 device
	Warn	Privacy settings
	O off	Privacy dashboard
£73		Privacy Statement
~	C	

Device security. Here, you can view but not edit the condition of three hardware-based security features—core isolation (for preventing memory-based attacks), security processor (the trusted platform module), and Secure Boot (which prevents offline attacks during reboots)—in your PC.





If you are using Windows in S mode, you will only see the Core isolation option here. You cannot configure Security processor or Secure boot while in S mode.

Device performance & health. This page provides a mini-dashboard related to the health of your PC, plus a front-end to Fresh start, a web-based system restore tool.

Windows Security -					
← 	$\widehat{\otimes}$ Device performance & health				
_	Reports on the health of your device.	Windows Community vi	deos		
ŵ		Learn more about Device & health	perform	nance	
\bigcirc	Health report				
8	Last scan: 7/2/2019 3:06 PM	Have a question?			
(q)	Windows Time service No issues	Get help			
ц д	Storage capacity No issues	Help improve Windows Give us feedback	Securit	Ý	
~~ ~~	Apps and software No issues	Change your privacy set	tings		
~		View and change privac for your Windows 10 de	y settin vice.	gs	
	윤 Fresh start	Privacy settings			
	Start fresh with a clean and up-to-date installation of Windows. This will	Privacy dashboard			
	keep your personal files and some Windows settings, and remove some of your apps.	Privacy statement			
	In some cases, this may improve your device's startup and shutdown				
	experience, memory usage, score apps performance, browsing experience, and battery life.				



We cover Fresh start and the other recovery tools in Windows in the System Recovery chapter.

Family options. This page provides links to Microsoft's parental control functionality on the web.



Use Windows Update to keep Windows 10 up-to-date

Microsoft services Windows with regular software updates via a mechanism called Windows Update that is available via Settings > Update & Security > Windows Update.

← Settings		- 0 ×
命 Home	Windows Update	
Find a setting	You're up to date Last checked: Yesterday, 6:28 PM	See what's new Your device recently got the latest update with new features and important security improvements.
C Windows Update	Additional updates available	Explore new features
Windows Security	Download and install now	Learn more
→ Backup → Troubleshoot → Recovery	Pause updates for 7 days Visit Advanced options to change the pause period Change active hours Currently 500 AM to 500 PM	Related links Check Storage OS build info
 ⊘ Activation ☆ Find my device 	View update history See updates installed on your device Advanced options Additional update controls and settings	Have a question? Get help

Updates are essentially mandatory, meaning that you cannot permanently disable Windows Update's ability to install these updates. That said, you can delay updates using rules that vary somewhat between Windows 10 Home and Pro.



If you would like to know more about Windows Update and how you can configure this functionality, please refer to the chapter Get to Know Windows 10.

Use Windows Defender to protect your PC from threats

Protecting Windows against viruses, malware, and other electronic attacks requires a combination of common sense and using and relying on the system's built-in security tools. Key among the latter is a service called Windows Defender.

Windows Defender provides highly-rated protection from online threats such as viruses, malware, and even ransomware. But the best thing about this service, perhaps, is that it's automatic. It comes with Windows, works in the background, and is always enabled.

While Windows Defender usually does its thing without any intervention, you may occasionally want to perform a manual scan of a file (or a group of files), a folder (or a group of folders) or even the entire PC.

To scan one or more files or folders—a suspicious file, perhaps—navigate to the appropriate destination, select the item(s) in question, right-click, and choose "Scan with Windows Defender" from the context menu that appears.



Windows Security opens to the Virus & threat protection page and runs what's called a custom scan on the selected items.

wind	lows security		- 0 .
\leftarrow		Com ontions	
=		Scan options	
		Run a quick, full, custom, or Windows Defender Offline scan.	Have a question?
ŵ	Home		Get help
0	Virus & threat protection	Custom scan running Estimated time remaining: 00:04:21	
8	Account protection	11545 files scanned	Help improve Windows Security
(q))	Firewall & network protection	Cancel	Give us recublick
	App & browser control	Feel free to keep working while we scan your device.	Change your privacy settings
묘	Device security	Protection history	View and change privacy settings for your Windows 10 device.



If you're only scanning a small number of files or folders, you may not even see the progress bar: It can happy very quickly.

If you navigate directly to Windows Security > Virus & threat protection, you can also run a quick scan of your entire PC using the Quick scan button. Or, select the "Scan options" link to see different types of scans.

Window	vs Security		– o ×
\leftarrow		Scan options	
=		Run a quick, full, custom, or Windows Defender Offline scan.	Have a question?
ώн	lome		Get help
🗘 vi	irus & threat protection	No current threats. Last scan: 7/2/2019 7:17 PM (custom scan) 0 threat found	Hele imperior Mindous Consults
A A	account protection	Scan lasted 1 seconds	Rep improve windows security
(ip) Fi	irewall & network protection	16 files scanned. Allowed threats	Give us leedback
	pp & browser control	Protection history	Change your privacy settings
⊟ D	Device security		View and change privacy settings for your Windows 10 device.
⊗ D	evice performance & health	Quick scan	Privacy settings
als Fi	amily ontions	Checks folders in your system where threats are commonly found.	Privacy dashboard
A. 15	unity options		Privacy Statement
		O Full scan	
		Checks all files and running programs on your hard disk. This scan could take longer than one hour.	
		O Custom scan	
		Choose which files and locations you want to check.	
¢ې se	ettings	O Windows Defender Offline scan	
	-	Some malicious software can be particularly difficult to remove from	

Find your PC if it's lost or stolen

Windows provides a feature called Find My Device that can help you locate your PC if its lost or stolen. This feature is located in Settings > Update & Security > Find my device.

← Settings			-	٥	×
û Home	Find my device				
Find a setting	Track your device if you think you've lost it. Even if you haven't, Find my device periodically tracks your device's locations on a map to help you keep tabs.	Have a question? Get help			
C Windows Update	Find my device: ON Change	Make Windows bette Give us feedback	er		
Delivery Optimization Windows Security	Find my device affects everyone who uses this device, including administrators who can change this setting.				
→ Backup	La Take more action for a lost device on your account page account.microsoft.com/devices				

Find My Device is enabled by default if you sign-in to Windows with a Microsoft account.



If not, you will need to switch to a Microsoft account to use this feature.

You can view the location of this PC and your other devices by selecting the link under "Take more

actions for a lost device on your account page," which opens your web browser and navigates to the Microsoft Accounts web site at account.microsoft.com/devices.

🖅 👫 Microsoft account Dev 🗙 🕂 🗸			- 8
ightarrow $ ightarrow$ https://account.microsoft.com/devices			
Microsoft Account Your info Privacy	Security Rewards Payment & billing ~ Service	tes & subscriptions Devices Family	ې ټ کر
Devices	E 8 device(s) Attached Add device >	Book-2 No issues found Show details >	
Overview Manage device limits Find My De	vice		
Book-2	DESKTOP-7IET421	Latitude	≥-7400
Surface Book 2	Virtual Machine	Latitude 74	00 2-in-1
·g·	·X. 🖶	·X·	-
No issues found	No issues found	No issu	es found 🖂 Feedback

Select "Find My Device." A map view with a list of your PCs appears.

-									
🖻 🖅 Microsoft account D	Dev X + V						-	0	×
\leftarrow \rightarrow \circlearrowright \land \land	https://account.microsoft.com/devices/find	-my-device				□ ☆	\$≏ <i>l</i> ~	Ŀ	
Microsoft	Account Your info Privacy Se	curity Rewards	Payment & billing \sim	Services & subscriptions	Devices Family	Q	ਸ਼ 🌗		/
Devices			6 device(s) Attached Add device >	Book-2 No issues four Show details ;					
Overview Mana	age device limits Find My Device				land	-			1
> newi NUC8 07:29	nuc i78EH PM	Sher	nandoah		B	(.	+) Ə		
> Elitel HP Elite 06:38 f	Book14 teBook x360 1040 G5 PM	Po	ottsville rylkill Haven	a Allentown	Easton	2	Somervill		
> Bool Surfac 04:32	k-2 te Book 2 PM	Lebanon	Readi	ng	611		Feedback		

Now, select the PC you're trying to find in the list. The view expands to display more options.



From here, you can select the Find button to locate that particular PC on the map. Or, select the Lock button to remotely lock the PC, preventing anyone who finds it from accessing your data. This function will also enable location tracking so that you can continue to find it in the event of theft.

Use BitLocker to secure your personal data

Windows supports a disk *encryption* feature called BitLocker that can prevent others from stealing the documents and other data you store on internal (fixed) and removable storage. This way, if someone physically obtains your PC or an encrypted removable disk—honestly or not—they will not be able to access the data it contains.



You can only *encrypt* disks with BitLocker if you're using Windows 10 Pro. However, once a disk is encrypted with BitLocker, you can *use* it with any supported Windows version, including Windows 10 Home.

BitLocker provides what's called *full-disk encryption*. That is, it encrypts an entire storage device—really, a partition—only, and cannot be used to protect an arbitrary selection of folders or files.

Any files that are copied or moved *to* an encrypted disk are encrypted during the copy or move process. Likewise, any files that are copied/moved *from* an encrypted disk are *decrypted* during that process as well. Decrypted files can be read or used by anyone, on any PC.



For the system disk to be encrypted, your PC must have a compatible security chipset called Trusted Platform Module (TPM), version 1.2 or newer.



BitLocker also provides some additional functionality to the system disk—the disk on which Windows is installed—which is encrypted by default. For example, when the PC boots, it will examine the integrity of the system to ensure that nothing suspicious has happened to the PC's firmware or startup files. If an issue is found, you'll be prompted to provide the BitLocker recovery key, which is like a very lengthy password. (This is discussed below.)

Manage BitLocker

BitLocker is managed with the BitLocker Drive Encryption control panel, a legacy system management interface from previous Windows versions.

RitLocker Drive Encryption				- 0	×
$\leftarrow \rightarrow - \uparrow \P > Control$	ol Panel > All Control Panel Items > BitL	ocker Drive Encryption	ٽ ~	Search Control Panel	P
<u>Eile Edit View</u> Jools					
Control Panel Home	BitLocker Drive Encryptic Help protect your files and folder Operating system drive	n from unauthorized access by protecting your drives with BitLocker.			G
	C: BitLocker on	 Suspend protection Back up your recovery key Turn off BitLocker 		$\overline{\bigcirc}$	
	Fixed data drives				
	Removable data drives - Insert a removable USB flash o	BitLocker To Go rive to use BitLocker To Go.			

From here, you can manage any encrypted fixed disks and removable drives or encrypt any nonencrypted fixed disks and removable drives.

You can perform the following actions to a BitLocker-encrypted fixed disk such as your system disk:

Suspend protection. In rare cases—such as when your PC requires a firmware update—you may need to temporarily disable the protection provided by BitLocker's full-disk encryption. This link will allow you to do so.

Back up your recovery key. This link displays the page of the BitLocker Drive Encryption wizard, described in more detail below, that lets you back up your BitLocker recovery key to your Microsoft account, local file, or printout.

	ocker Drive Encryption (C:)
	ow do you want to back up your recovery key?
i	Some settings are managed by your system administrator.
t	recovery key can be used to access your files and folders if you're having problems unlocking your Po 's a good idea to have more than one and keep each in a safe place other than your PC.
	→ Save to your <u>M</u> icrosoft account
	\rightarrow Save to a file
	\rightarrow Print the recovery key
	pw can i find my recovery key later?
	Cape

Turn off BitLocker. If you wish to disable BitLocker entirely, this option will let you do so. Removing encryption can be time-consuming, but you can at least continue using the PC while this process occurs.

Encrypt a fixed hard disk

You can encrypt any fixed (internal) hard disks that are attached to your computer.



You can also encrypt removable disks, like USB memory sticks and hard drives. This is covered in the section *Encrypt removable storage* below.

To encrypt a fixed disk, select the "Turn on BitLocker" link next to the appropriate disk under "Fixed data drives" (or, if it's your system disk, under "Operating system drive"). The BitLocker Drive Encryption wizard starts and progresses through the following steps:

How do you want to back up your recovery key? First, the wizard will prompt you to back up the recovery key for the disk. This key can be used to unlock the drive if you try to access it from another computer, or if you try to reset the PC. Refer to the section *Use the BitLocker recovery key* for information about finding this recovery key later if you need it.



Do not lose this key. The safest place to back it up is to your Microsoft account. Assuming, of course, that you've secured that account as recommended at the beginning of this chapter.

Choose how much of your drive to encrypt. If this is a new disk, the default choice—"Encrypt used disk space only"—is fine, as there won't be any private data hiding in unused portions of the

disk. But if you are encrypting a disk you've been using for a while, the second option—"Encrypt entire drive"—is safer, albeit slower.



You can continue using your PC while BitLocker encrypts the disk, so there's no good reason not to choose the second option with a previously-used disk.

Choose which encryption mode to use. Windows now provides an improved encryption scheme that is incompatible with older versions of Windows, including Windows 7, Windows 8.x, and the initial shipping version of Windows 10 (version 1507, from 2015). But this isn't an issue for fixed disks: So just choose the default "New encryption mode" option.



If you are encrypting removable storage, as described below, the second option, "Compatible mode," may be preferable since that disk can be used with multiple computers, including some that might be running an older Windows version.

Are your ready to encrypt this drive? This is the moment of truth. If you're ready to encrypt the drive, you will need to shut down all of your other applications now, as the PC will need to reboot first.



Be sure to select the "Run BitLocker system check" option before proceeding. Doing so will cause the wizard to ensure that BitLocker can read the recovery and encryption keys properly before encrypting the drive.

Once the PC does reboot, you can sign-in and continue working normally while the disk is encrypted. Note that this process can take quite some time, especially for larger, already-used disks. Windows will not prompt you when this process completes, but if you open the BitLocker Control Panel, you can see where it's at.

BitLocker Drive Encryption			- 0	×
← → ↑ ↑ ↑ Contro	I Panel > All Control Panel Items > BitLocker Unive Encryption	~ 0	Search Control Panel	Q
Control Panel Home	BitLocker Drive Encryption			G
	Help protect your files and folders from unauthorized access by protecting your drives with BitLocker. Operating system drive			
	C: BitLocker Encrypting		\odot	
	Seak up your recovery key Turn off BitLocker			
	Fixed data drives			
	Removable data drives - BitLocker To Go Insert a removable USB flash drive to use BitLocker To Go.			

Encrypt removable storage

You can encrypt a removable storage device—like a USB memory stick or hard drive—using a Windows feature called BitLocker To Go.

To do so, insert the removable storage device into a USB port in your PC and then display the BitLocker Drive Encryption control panel. The device will appear under "Removable data drives - BitLocker To Go."

RitLocker Drive Encryption				- 0	×
← → ∽ ↑ 🔦 > Contr	ol Panel > All Control Panel Items > Bit	Locker Drive Encryption	く じ	Search Control Panel	P
Eile Edit View Jools					
Control Panel Home	BitLocker Drive Encrypti Help protect your files and fold Operating system drive	ON rrs from unauthorized access by protecting your drives with BitLocker.			
	C: BitLocker on				
	Ş	Suspend protection Back up your recovery key Turn off BitLocker			
	Fixed data drives				
	Removable data drives	- BitLocker To Go			
	USB-Data (D:) BitLocke	er off		\odot	
	\$	Turn on BitLocker			

Now, select the "Turn on BitLocker" link next to the appropriate disk under Removable data drives $\hat{a} \in$ "BitLocker To Go. (You may need to click the caret at the right to expand the view first.)

The BitLocker Drive Encryption wizard starts and progresses through the following steps:

Choose how you want to unlock this drive. Here, you must choose a method to unlock the disk. This can be a password—the typical method for most individuals—or a smart card, which is used in corporate environments and controlled by policy. Select "Use a password to unlock the drive" and then supply the same password twice in the provided fields.

How do you want to back up your recovery key? Next, the wizard will prompt you to back up the recovery key for the disk. This key can be used to unlock the drive if you try to access it from another computer, or if you try to reset the PC. Refer to the section *Use the BitLocker recovery key* for information about finding this recovery key later if you need it.



Do not lose this key. The safest place to back it up is to your Microsoft account. Assuming, of course, that you've secured that account as recommended at the beginning of this chapter.

Choose how much of your drive to encrypt. If this is a new disk, the default choice—"Encrypt used disk space only"—is fine, as there won't be any private data hiding in unused portions of the disk. But if you are encrypting a disk you've been using for a while, the second option—"Encrypt entire drive"—is safer, albeit slower.

Choose which encryption mode to use. Windows now provides an improved encryption scheme that is incompatible with older versions of Windows, including Windows 7, Windows 8.x, and the initial shipping version of Windows 10 (version 1507, from 2015). So, you should generally choose "Compatible mode" instead, since the removable disk can be used with multiple computers, including some that might be running an older Windows version.

Are your ready to encrypt this drive? If you're ready to encrypt the drive, select the Start encrypting button. You can continue using your PC while the disk is encrypted.

🗁 🚽 🛧 🕀 Sontr	ol Panel > All Control Panel Items > BitLocke	r Drive Encryption	v ₽	Search Control Panel	,
Control Panel Home	BitLocker Drive Encryption Help protect your files and folders fro	om unauthorized access by protecting your drives with BitLocker.			
	Operating system drive	BitLocker Drive Encryption			
	C: BitLocker on	Encrypting Drive D: 99.2% Completed		\odot	
	Fixed data drives	Pause Pause			
	Removable data drives - Bit	Manage BitLocker			
	USB-Data (D:) BitLocker En	crypting		\odot	
	~	Back up your recovery key Change password Remove password Add smart card Turn on auto-unitock Turn of Bittocker			

Use a BitLocker-protected removable disk

You can use a BitLocker-protected removable disk with any supported Windows version, including Windows 7, 8.x, and 10.

When you insert a BitLocker-protected removable disk or use a BitLocker-protected fixed disk for the first time in a computing session, Windows will display a notification in the bottom-right of the screen reminding you that this disk is encrypted.



Select this prompt to enter the BitLocker password and access the disk normally.

BitLocker (D:)
Enter password to unlock this drive.
☐ ↑
More options
Unlock

If you expand the "More options" link in this password entry prompt, you will see an option to automatically unlock the disk when it's used on this PC. As long as you're signing in with a Microsoft account or using a complex password with a local account, this option is safe to enable and can make dealing with BitLocker To Go a lot more seamless.



If you don't respond to the notification quickly enough, you will need to unlock it with File Explorer: just open the drive as you would normally and the password prompt will appear.

One you enter the password, the removable disk will behave normally and you can use it just like any other disk.

Manage an encrypted removable disk

Once you have inserted an encrypted removable disk in your PC, you can perform various tasks related to that encryption.



BitLocker To Go disk management requires Windows 10 Pro or better.

You do so with the BitLocker Driver Encryption control panel, where you will now see new options next to your encrypted removable disk.



Available options include:

Back up your recovery key. This link displays the page of the BitLocker Drive Encryption wizard that lets you back up your BitLocker recovery key to your Microsoft account, local file, or printout.

Change password. This option lets you change the password used to enable access to the encrypted removable disk.

Remove password. If you have enabled smart card-based authentication for this removable drive, you can optionally remove the password, which is redundant and potentially less secure.

Add smart card. Corporate environments often provide smart cards to their employees as a more secure way to access resources like encrypted disks. This type of thing is very uncommon with individuals, however, and can be ignored.

Turn on auto-unlock. If you would prefer not to enter a password every time you insert this removable disk on this PC, you can disable that requirement using this option.

Turn off BitLocker. If you wish to disable BitLocker entirely, this option will let you do so. Removing encryption can be time-consuming, but you can continue using the PC while this process occurs.

Use the BitLocker recovery key

You must create a BitLocker recovery key for each disk you encrypt. As noted earlier, we strongly recommend that you save your BitLocker recovery keys to OneDrive, where they can be accessed from any PC for which you have secure access.

To access your recovery keys in OneDrive, open a web browser and navigate to *onedrive.com/recoverykey* with any web browser. After signing in, you'll be presented with the list of keys that are associated with your Microsoft account.



(The recovery keys are each 40 digits long. This image was edited to remove characters from each key.)

You can now use the appropriate recovery key to access an encrypted disk for which you've forgotten the password. You can also use this key if you created a recovery key for the system disk and the PC won't boot because BitLocker discovered a potential issue.

Networking



Windows supports both wired and wireless networking, including cellular mobile data connections provided by wireless carriers. It also lets you share your Internet connection with other PCs and devices.

Get to know Windows networking

Most of your interaction with network connections will occur through the Network icon in the system notification area of the taskbar and the flyout that appears when you select it.





The appearance of this icon will vary according to the type of network connection(s) you have. The icon shown above is for a Wi-Fi wireless network.

When you select the Network icon, the Network access pane appears. This pane provides a single front-end to your connected and available networks plus related features like Airplane mode.



You can also select the "Network & Internet settings" link to open the Settings app to that view.

Settings		– @ ×
企 Home	Status	
Find a setting	Network status	Have a question?
Network & Internet	□— @.—⊕	Diagnose network connection issues Update network adapter or driver Find your IP address
	thurrott-emmaus Private network	Get help
<i>ſi</i> ∕ ₩i-Fi	You're connected to the Internet	
🔛 Ethernet	If you have a limited data plan, you can make this network a metered connection or change other properties.	Give us feedback
🕾 Dial-up	Change connection properties	
% VPN	Show available networks	
r∰> Airplane mode	Change your network settings	
(y) Mobile hotspot	Change adapter options View network adapters and change connection settings.	
🕒 Data usage	A Sharing options	
Proxy	For the networks you connect to, decide what you want to share.	
	Network troubleshooter Diagnose and fix network problems.	

This interface provides access to most commonly-needed networking configuration possibilities. These include:

Status. The default page in Network & Internet settings graphically displays how you're connected to the Internet and provides quick links to commonly-needed networking options.

Wi-Fi. Here, you can view and configure each available wireless network and managed related options, including support for HotSpot 2.0 networks, which are free wireless networks in public places that Windows can attempt to connect to automatically.

Cellular. If your PC or device can connect to cellular data via an activated SIM (subscriber identity module) card or eSIM (electronic SIM), you can use this interface to manage how Windows behaves

Networking

when using a so-called metered connection.



PCs with cellular connections are sometimes referred to as Always-Connected PCs.

Ethernet. Here, you can view and configure your wired network and managed related options.

Dial-up. Yep, it's 1998 again. If you must use a dial-up networking connection for some reason, this is the place you can configure that.



We do not cover dial-up networking in this book.

VPN. Windows includes integrated support for VPNs (virtual private networks), which may let you forego having to install a third-party VPN client. You should check with your workplace to determine the best VPN configuration, however: This isn't really an end-user feature.

Airplane mode. You can use Airplane Mode to toggle all wireless radios off at once, which can save battery life when you are flying or otherwise disconnected. You can also toggle Airplane Mode and then re-enable individual wireless radios (Wi-Fi, for example, or Bluetooth) individually if needed.



You can most easily toggle Airplane mode on and off via its quick action tile in the Action Center.

Collapse				
ح	凸	*	×	
Tablet mode	Location	Connected (2)	Night light	
(y)		Ľ	ŝ	
Mobile hotspot	Airplane mode	Nearby sharing	All settings	
<i>(</i> ¹	Fe	Ð	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	
Network	Connect	Project	VPN	
ک	ф			
Focus assist	Screen snip			
	^	信 (1)) 📰 🦷	3:14 PM	

Mobile hotspot. Windows lets you share your Internet connection with others via Wi-Fi. You can use this interface to enable and configure that Wi-Fi connection.

Networking



We cover the mobile hotspot functionality in Windows later in this chapter.

Data usage. Here, you can see how much data you've used on each of your network connections, investigate which apps are using the most data, and, if you have a cellular connection, configure Windows to understand your monthly data allotment and billing cycle.

← Settings			_	0	×
命 Home	Data usage				
Find a setting	Have Dverview Get	ve a question? t help			
Network & Internet	Wi-Fi (thurrott-emmaus) 26.83 GB From the last 30 days				
Status	Ma Figure Ethernet 0 MB Giv From the last 30 days	ke Windows better re us feedback			
<i>ſ</i> ∕⁄ _ℓ Wi-Fi	View usage per app				
🔛 Ethernet	Show settings for				
n Dial-up	🥢 Wi-Fi (thurrott-emmaus)				
% VPN	Data limit				
t [®] ∠> Airplane mode	Windows can help you stay under your data limit. This won't change your data plan.				
^(ပု) Mobile hotspot	set innit				
🕒 Data usage	Background data				
Provy	Restrict background data to help reduce data usage on Wi-Fi (thurrott- emmaus).				
	Limit what Store apps and Windows features can do in the background O Always				

Proxy. This interface lets you set up your network's *proxy*, which is typically only configured manually by businesses. That is, for the most part, you can ignore this interface.

If you're an expert who is familiar with configuring networking features using the tools from previous Windows versions, you can also access those legacy networking interfaces. To do so, navigate to Settings > Network & Internet > Status and select "Network and Sharing Center."





Like other legacy control panels, Network and Sharing Center is deprecated and may be removed from a future Windows version.

Understand network profiles

Windows supports both private and public network *profiles* with both Wi-Fi (wireless) and Eternet (wired) connection types.

Private and public networks both support Internet connectivity. But there are, of course, important differences between the two profile types.

A *private* network is one that you explicitly trust, such as you home or work network. When you're connected to a private network, your PC is discoverable, meaning that it can be found by other PCs and devices on the network.

A *public* network, like that found in a coffee shop, airport, or other public space, is explicitly not trusted.

Use a Wi-Fi network

When you first connect to a Wi-Fi network, Windows will prompt you to determine whether your PC should be discoverable.



If you're connecting to your home or work network, you should select "Yes" when prompted like this.



Always select "No" to this prompt when you are connecting to a public network.

If you do select "Yes," the network will be configured as a private network, which you can verify by examining the network status in Settings > Network & Internet > Status. However, if you select "No," the network will be configured as a public network.
← Settings		- 6 >
G Home	Status	
Find a setting	Network status	Have a question?
		Diagnose network connection issues
Network & Internet	$\Box \in \mathbf{A}$	Update network adapter or driver
		Find your IP address
🖨 Status	thurrott-emmaus Private network	Get help
<i>₫</i> , Wi-Fi	You're connected to the Internet	

To change the network profile for a connection, select the link "Change connection properties" under the appropriate network connection on the Status page. The connection properties page will display.

← Settings		-	٥	×
டை thurrott-emmaus				
Connect automatically when in range	Have a question? Get help			
Network profile				
O Public Your PC is hidden from other devices on the network and can't be used for printer and file sharing.				
Private For a network you trust, such as at home or work. Your PC is discoverable and can be used for printer and file sharing if you set it up.				

To change the network profile from public to private, select "Private" under Network profile. (Or, for the reverse, select "Public.")



Again, *do not* configure a public network as a private network, as hackers could discover your PC and potentially access the information it contains.

Use an Ethernet network

When you first connect to a Wi-Fi network, Windows will automatically configure the connection as public, providing you with Internet connectivity but no discoverability on the network. The network "connectoid" will indicate that you're connected via Ethernet.



If this is a public network, that's what you want.

Otherwise, you can configure the network as private, and make it discoverable by other PCs and devices on the network.

To do so, navigate to Settings > Network & Internet > Status and select the link "Change connection properties" under the appropriate network connection on the Status page. Then, on the connection properties page that appears, select "Private" under Network profile.



Again, *do not* configure a public network as a private network, as hackers could discover your PC and potentially access the information it contains.

Use a cellular data network

If your PC supports cellular data services provided by a wireless carrier, you can use this connection to access the Internet, just as you do with your smartphone.



Many Windows PCs and devices do not provide this capability today, but that doesn't mean you can't take advantage of a cellular data plan you're already paying for. Most modern smartphones can share their data connection, and those connections will appear as normal Wi-Fi connections to which you can connect with a Windows PC.

While cellular networks are more broadly available than Wi-Fi, they can also be expensive: Most people with cellular data plans pay for a particular amount of data each month, and they are charged extra if that amount is exceeded. For this reason, Windows treats cellular data networks differently from Wi-Fi or Ethernet networks. Most notably, it will not sync with OneDrive or download Windows Updates over such a network. Even critical security updates are deferred for as long as possible.

Windows also helps you keep track of your data usage on this type of network—which it calls a *metered network*—so it can proactively warn you if you're in danger of exceeding your monthly allotment.

Enable and disable a cellular connection

If you do have a cellular data connection, Windows will connect to it automatically, if possible. It will do this in addition to connecting to a known Wi-Fi network as well.

If you are only connected to a cellular data account, the network "connectoid" in the system notification area will resemble the triangular "five bars" cellular connection icon you see on your smartphone.





You will also see that connection at the top of the Internet access pane.

When you select this connection, it expands to display an additional additional option, "Let Windows keep me connected," which is enabled by default. In this configuration, Windows will use Wi-Fi when possible, but will switch to cellular only when needed so that you can stay online.



If you deselect "Let Windows keep me connected," a Connect button will appear so that you can manually connect to the cellular data connection.

Configure a cellular connection

Because cellular data connections are metered and can be expensive, we *strongly* recommend examining how yours is configured before you do anything else.

To do so, enable your cellular connection and navigate to Settings > Network & Internet > Cellular.



Here, you can configure whether to let Windows manage this connection, which we recommend, plus the following other options:

Data roaming options. This determines whether the PC can use *roaming* (out of network) data. Because roaming data can be much more expensive than in-coverage data, you'll want to check with your carrier to see whether you should change this option from its "Don't roam" default.

Advanced options. This link opens a new page displaying advanced options for the cellular data connection, including whether Windows should treat it as a metered connection (which it does, by default), and various APN (Access Point Name) settings, which may need to be configured manually. (Check with your carrier).

← Settings		-	٥	×	
Cellular connection profile T-Mobile USA (MVNO)	Have a question? Get help				
Metered connection If you have a limited data plan and want more control over data usage, make this connection a metered network. Some apps might work differently to reduce data usage when you're connected to this network.					
Set as a metered connection On					
If you set a data limit, Windows will set the metered connection setting for you to help you stay under your limit.					
Set a data limit to help control data usage on this network					
APN settings					

Choose apps that can use your cellular data. By default, most of your installed apps (save OneDrive) work normally when you're using your cellular data connection. But you can use the Cellular Data page that appears when you select this link to prevent individual apps from using the connection, which could save money.

← Settings		- a ×
命 Cellular data		
Cellular data Let apps use my cellular data On		Know your privacy options Learn how this setting impacts your privacy. Learn more Privacy dashboard Privacy dashboard
Choose apps that can use your cellular dat Turning off cellular data usage for a specific app can h your data usage. When turned off, the app can't use ce send and receive data, but can use other network com	ata elp reduce Ilular to rections.	Have a question? Get help
3D Viewer 3D Viewer Image: Second	on on	Make Windows better Give us feedback
Calculator Camera Camera	on On	
Desktop App Web Viewer	On On	

Use cellular data instead of Wi-Fi. By default, Windows will switch to cellular data if the current Wi-Fi connection is weak. But you can choose to always (or never) use cellular data if you'd prefer.

Set a data limit to help you track your data usage. This link opens the Data usage page, which is described below.

Configure data usage

If you navigate to Settings > Network & Internet > Cellular > "Set a data limit to help you track your data usage," you can use the Data usage page to configure how Windows handles data usage on a connection-by-connection basis.

← Settings			-	٥	×
ŵ Home	Data usage	Have a question?			
Find a setting	Overview	Get help			
Network & Internet	Cellular (T-Mobile) 62 MB From the last 30 days	Make Mindows bet			
🗇 Status	Wi-Fi (all networks) 26.11 GB From the last 30 days	Give us feedback	er		
<i>ſi</i> , ₩i-Fi	View usage per app				
all Cellular	Show settings for				
🗇 Dial-up	مطا Cellular (T-Mobile)				
% VPN	Data limit Windows can help you stay under your data limit. This won't charges wurd not a clam.				
ng> Airplane mode	change your data plan.				
(y) Mobile hotspot	Setmint				
🕑 Data usage	Background data Restrict background data to help reduce data usage on Cellular (T- Mobile).				
⊕ Proxy	Limit what Store apps and Windows features can do in the background O Alwavs				

This is particularly useful for a cellular data connection because it allows you to configure a data usage limit and whether Store apps and Windows background data usage should be limited during this usage.

To configure a data usage limit, make sure your celluular data connection is selected in "Show settings for." Then, select the Set limit button. A Set data limit window appears.

Set data limit	
Limit type Monthly One time Unlimited	
Monthly reset dat	e
Data limit	Unit
0	
Save	Cancel

Here, you can configure the limit type—monthly, one time, or unlimited—a limit reset time frame (which varies by limit type), and then the actual data limit in GB or MB. Select Save when you're done configuring the data usage limit.



Windows will display notifications warning you when you are close to exceeding your data usage limit so you can respond accordingly and, hopefully, avoid unnecessary extra fees.

Under Background data, you can also configure whether Store apps and Windows can use cellular data in the background, and whether to do so while roaming.

Share your Internet connection

A Windows feature called *mobile hotspot* lets you share your Internet connection with up to 8 other PCs and devices. The shared network is a standard Wi-Fi network, and thus can be used by any device that has a Wi-Fi connection, including your smartphone, a tablet, other PCs, and more.



You need Wi-Fi capabilities to share your connection, but the connection you're sharing can be an Ethernet (wired), Wi-Fi, or cellular connection.



You may see an option to share your Internet connection over Bluetooth as well. Since this connection is not as fast and requires connected PCs and devices to be physically very close to your PC, you can safely ignore this option.

To share your Internet connection, navigate to Settings > Networking & Internet > Mobile hotspot.

← Settings		- 0
命 Home	Mobile hotspot	
Find a setting \wp	Share my Internet connection with other devices Off	Related settings Change adapter options
Network & Internet		Network and Sharing Center
	Share my Internet connection from	Windows Firewall
<i>ſi</i> k Wi-Fi	Share my Internet connection over	Have a question?
空 Ethernet	• Wi-Fi	Set up mobile hotspot
ි Dial-up	O Bluetooth	Get help
% VPN	Network name: NEWNUC 8084 Network password: 18*60/99	Make Windows better Give us feedback
r∯⊃ Airplane mode	Network band: Any available	
(φ) Mobile hotspot	Edit	
🕒 Data usage	Turn on remotely	
Proxy	Allow another device to turn on mobile hotspot. Both devices must have Bluetooth turned on and be paired. On	

Now, enable the "Share my Internet connection with other devices" option.

By default, Windows provides pretty terrible network name and password options. To edit these, select the Edit button and type in better, more easily remembered options. Depending on your Wi-Fi adapter, you may also be given the choice to choose a network band. "All available," the default, is generally the best choice from a compatibility perspective.

< Settings		- 0 ×
	Mobile hotspot	
	Share my Internet connection with other devices	Related settings
	Edit network info	
	Change the network name and password that other people use for your shared connection.	
	Network name	
	NEWNUC 8084 ×	
	Network password (at least 8 characters)	
	18*6q0P9	
	Network band	
	Any available 🗸	
	Save Cancel	
Proxy		
	Power saving	

Your shared network will now appear alongside other nearby Wi-Fi networks when you check for a connection on your other devices. You can disable this feature when you're done sharing. But it will also turn off automatically if no other PCs or devices are using it.



You can toggle your shared Internet connection quickly and easily with the Mobile hotspot tile in Action Center. To do so, launch Action Center (WINKEY + A) and locate the Mobile hotspot tile. (If it's not visible, select the small "Expand" link above the group of tiles at the bottom of the pane.) Just select this tile to enable and, in turn, disable the hotspot.



Connect to known-safe public wireless connections automatically

Windows includes support for Hotspot 2.0 networks which can make Wi_Fi easier to use when you're out in the world.

Hotspot 2.0 is a standard for Wi-Fi roaming, and it is designed to help you authenticate with one private Wi-Fi network and then seamlessly move, or roam, to another private Wi-Fi network without having to reauthenticate. For individuals, this typically means Wi-Fi networks that are provided by your wireless carrier, and authenticated via your SIM card, though there are more complex business-related uses for this technology as well. These will utilize enterprise-class security products like smart cards, and will be managed by your workplace.

To configure this feature, open Settings and navigate to Wi-Fi and locate the Hotspot 2.0 networks heading.

6	∉ Wi-Fi	Hotspot 2.0 networks	Get help
ę	🖵 Ethernet	Hotspot 2.0 networks make it more secure to connect to public Wi-Fi hotspots. They might be available in public places like airports, hotels,	Make Windows bett
9	ි Dial-up	and cafes.	Give us feedback
¢.	8° VPN	Let me use Online Sign-Up to get connected On	
q	\mathcal{U}^{n} Airplane mode	When you turn this on and choose a Hotspot 2.0 network, we'll show a list of providers to choose from so you can get online.	

When enabled, Windows will save your credentials when you sign-up for or first connect to supported networks and will then automatically connect you in the future.



```
Today's deals Show all
```

Get to know the Microsoft Store

The Microsoft Store helps you can find, download, and buy apps, games, movies, TV shows, Microsoft Edge extensions, and even PCs and other hardware.



Throughout this book, we use *app* or *Store app* to describe any app or game you acquire from the Microsoft Store. These can include new universal apps that were designed for the Windows 10 apps platform, Windows 8 apps, Xbox Live games, legacy desktop applications that were packaged for inclusion in the Store, and more. For the most part, you don't need to worry about the differences between these apps and the desktop applications that you may be used to downloading for Windows from the web. That said, we will sometimes differentiate between apps and games when the differences are important.

Microsoft Store—which is often simply referred to as Store or the Store app—provides access to a lot of different types of content. As such, it's a busy and dense app, with links to each of the major content areas at the top.



As you navigate into each of those content areas, you'll see that they each visually resemble the Home view, with promoted content, editorial picks and so on. Navigation is straightforward, and the built-in search functionality lets you search across each of these content areas from a single place, and with various filtering capabilities.

Microsoft Store						- 0	×
- Home Apps G	iames Devices Mov	vies & TV Edge Extensions				प्ल Cart 🍈 业6	
Results for: xbo	х						
Departments Games	~ C A	ategory Il categories	~ ESRB		Product type All product type	es	~
More filters Reset filt	ers						
Sea of theves	Sea of theires	2	CILLER HERE	R4BLDX	HALO5	HAL?	
Sea of Thieves ★★★★★ 1K 모드	Sea of Thieves: Anniversary Edition ***** 88 모=	Master Brick Breaker XBox ★★★★★ 6 및 ==	Minecraft for Windows 10 ***** 2K 모	ROBLOX ***** 1K 모	Halo 5: Forge Bundle ***** 348 모	Halo: Spartan Assault Lite ***** 872 모	
	Included ⁺ with GAMERASS	Free*	Free trial*	Free*	Free	Free	

In this chapter, we focus only on apps and games. The purchasing of movies and TV shows is discussed in the Movies & TV Shows chapter. And Edge extensions are discussed in the Microsoft Edge chapter. We don't really cover the Devices section per se, as it is just a front-end to the Devices section of the Microsoft Store on the web.

Before you start

Before you download any apps or games, there are a few things you should configure.

Sign-in with your Microsoft account

You must sign-in with your Microsoft account to purchase any paid content—apps, games, or videos—from the Store. If you use your Microsoft account to sign-in to Windows, you're all set: You are automatically signed in to the Store app as well. But if you're using a local user account, you will need to sign-in to the Store with a Microsoft account before you can proceed.



If you intend to keep using a local account to sign-in to Windows, you will need to be *very* careful when you sign-in to Store with your Microsoft account. Be sure to follow the steps below precisely.

To do so, launch Store, select the little account picture to the left of the search box, and then choose Sign in from the drop-down menu that appears. A window called Add your account to Microsoft Store appears.



After signing in to your Microsoft account—a process that will include entering your account name and password, and, possibly, completing a two-step verification prompt—you will be prompted to use this account everywhere.



If you select the Next button here, Windows will switch your local user account to a Microsoft account. So do not select Next if you wish to continue using your local user account.

If this isn't what you want, you can select the "Microsoft apps only" link. Then, in the future, when you use other Store apps that let you sign-in to your Microsoft account, you can optionally choose to do so using the account you just configured.



Contrary to the name of that link, choosing "Microsoft apps only" does *not* mean that Windows will automatically sign you in to that Microsoft account when you use other Store apps.

Manage your account and payment options

You should also spend a few moments to ensure that Store is set up correctly for your account and whatever payment method(s) you prefer to use for paid apps and other content. That way, you won't need to hunt around for credit card or other payment information the next time you want to buy something.

You configure this information from Microsoft account web site at account.microsoft.com. Once signed in, navigate to Payments & billing > Payment options.



You can also find a link to this part of the site from within Store: Select the See more ("...") menu next to your account picture and then choose Payment options from the drop-down menu that appears.

From that web page, you can create, delete, and manage payment options tied to your Microsoft account. These include credit and debit cards, a Microsoft gift card account balance, and PayPal.





If you do get a Microsoft gift card, you can redeem the code it contains on the web at account.microsoft.com/billing/redeem. This is also linked to from the Store app: See more ("...") > Redeem a code.

Manage your connected PCs and devices

Microsoft lets you download Store apps and games to 10 Windows PCs. And you can manage the list of those devices from the Microsoft Account web site as well.

You do so from the Microsoft account website by navigating to Devices > Manage device limits, or by navigating directly to the Manage your download devices page.



If you see any out-of-date PCs or devices in this list, you can remove them by selecting the appropriate "Remove" link.

Find and install apps and games

The Microsoft Store offers a variety of ways to find and then install apps and games. This process will be obvious to anyone who has used a mobile app store in the past decade. That said, there are a few unique items of interest related to acquiring apps and games from the Microsoft Store.

Choose an install location

If your PC has multiple disk drives and you attempt to download and install a large app or game, Store will prompt you to choose an install location. This lets you select, on an app-by-app basis, which drive is used.





Windows lets you change the default location for app and game installs as well. This option is described later in this chapter.

Find an app or game after you've downloaded it

Windows goes out of its way to make sure you can find apps you've just installed.

First, a pop-up notification banner will appear in the lower-right corner of the screen. If you respond to this notification quickly enough—it disappears after a few seconds—you can select it to launch the newly-installed app.



If you miss that notification, no worries: It is still available from the Action Center (which is described in a bit more detail later in this chapter). You can open Action Center by selecting its icon in the lower-right of the screen (to the right of the clock), or by typing WINKEY + A. You'll see the notification in the list, and if you select it here, the newly-installed app will launch.



You can also access recently-installed apps from the Recently added list in Start: Just select Start, and you'll see the new app at the top of the list.



Finally, newly-installed apps are also called out in Start's All apps list. If you scroll down this list and find an app you have installed but not yet run, you will see a "New" tag next to its name in the list.



Find apps and games you've already purchased or downloaded

The Store app helps you find the apps, games, and other content you've already purchased and downloaded across all of your PCs. This makes it relatively easy to find them and download and

install them again. This can be useful if you've received a new PC or have uninstalled an app and now wish to get it back.

To see this list, open the See more menu in Store and choose My Library. Here, you can see your most recent apps and games.

Micr	osoft Store				-	٥	×
\leftarrow	Home Apps Games Devices	Movies & TV Edge Extensions		몇 Cart	۹	46	
Му	ibrary	All types V Sort by most rec	cent ~				
	All owned			Show	hidden	produc	cts
8	Installed	Candy Crush Saga	Modified minutes ago		Play		
⊕	Ready to install Downloads	Twitter	Purchased moments ago		Install		
		ROBLOX	Modified minutes ago		Play		
		Microsoft Mahjong	Purchased 6/24/2019		Install		
		ت Xbox Accessories	Purchased 6/24/2019		Install		
		Asphalt Street Storm Racing	Purchased 6/24/2019		Install		
		Bang & Olufsen Audio Control Panel	Purchased 2/7/2019		Install		
		Diagnostic Data Viewer	Purchased 12/23/2018		Install		

You can perform a number of useful actions here:

Download and install an app. To download and install a previous purchase or download, select the Download button next to that item.

Hide an app. Embarrassed by a poor app or game choice? Just select the More Actions ("...") button next to that item in the list and then choose Hide. Hiding an app doesn't remove it from your account, of course, and you can always access it from the web (at account.microsoft.com/billing/orders) or from your other PCs.

Filter and sort the list. By default, the My Library view displays all of your content. But you can filter the list only to show apps, games, or video content. You can likewise sort the list by most recent (the default) or by name.

View other lists of your content. The options on the left—All owned, Installed, Ready to install, and Downloads—let you view certain parts of your library more easily.

Purchase an app or game

As you might imagine, purchasing a paid app or game requires a few more steps than downloading a free (or previously purchased) item. You will be prompted to sign-in—using your password or a Windows Hello-based authentication action—and then asked to confirm which payment method you prefer to use.



From there, the download process proceeds normally.



If you'd like to streamline the app purchase process by removing the password requirement, you can do so in Store settings. We do not recommend making this change: It's always a good idea to carefully consider any purchase, and this authentication prompt will provide the necessary pause.

Make an in-app purchase

Some free apps—especially games—offer in-app purchases, which is one way for developers to monetize their work without requiring an upfront, one-time payment. (Another approach is to provide in-app advertising.) The types of in-app purchases you'll see will vary from app to app, but the purchase process is the same. Like any Store purchase, you will need to sign-in and choose a payment method.



Update apps

By default, the Microsoft Store will automatically keep every Store app on your PC up to date, downloading and installing updates in the background as they appear. We think this behavior is desirable and beneficial for most users. And we don't recommend changing it.

However, some may wish to monitor app updates and manually install these updates when they become available. To do so, open Store settings (See more > Settings). At the top of this display you will see an option, "Update apps automatically." If you wish to disable automatic app updates for some reason, change this to Off.



If you make this change, Store will now alert you to new app updates via a number on the Store live tile and a small textual notification in the upper right corner of the Store app.

You can also manually check for app updates: Open the Downloads and updates view (See more > Downloads and updates) and then select the Check for updates button.

Manage app notifications

Like mobile apps on Android and iOS, Store apps don't need to be running to keep you up-to-date: They can display pop-up notification banners to alert you when something happens.

For example, the Mail app can notify you when new email messages arrive. And the News app can be configured to display notifications when important news breaks. But these banners aren't the only place you can see app notifications: They will also display in Action Center, on your lock screen, and/or via the app's live tile in Start.

Configure how app notifications work

That's a lot of notifications, so you may wish to spend some time configuring how notifications work. You do so by navigating to Settings > System > Notifications & actions.



There are a lot of options here. Most are obvious enough—you can globally enable or disable popup notification banners and whether those banners appear over the lock screen, for example—but the list of applications at the bottom is of particular interest. From here, you can configure how individual apps handle notifications.

← Settings	
命 Home	Notifications & actions
Find a setting	Get notifications from these senders
System	Select a sender to see more settings. Some senders might also have their own notification settings. If so, open the sender to change them.
🖵 Display	Feedback Hub On
4ŵ Sound	Oit, barnets, sounds
Notifications & actions	Greenshot Off Off
D Focus assist	
() Power & sleep	On: Banners, Sounds
Battery	Lenovo Vantage On
📼 Storage	Cn: Banners, Sounds
Tablet mode	Microsoft Store On On: Banners, Sounds
⊟† Multitasking	
Projecting to this PC	Security and Maintenance On On: Banners, Sounds

To disable all notifications for an individual app, just select the appropriate On/Off slider. Or, you can configure notifications in a more detailed way: When you select an app, you will see a list of notification options just for that app.

- ø ×

÷	Settings		-	٥	×
ŵ	Mail				
Notin	fications On	Have a question? Get help			
	Show notification banners Keep notifications private on the lock screen Show notifications in action center Play a sound when a notification arrives				
Num 3	ber of notifications visible in action center				
0	sy or non-rational and concerner Top Show at the top of action center				
0	High Show above normal priority notifications in action center				
۲	Normal Show below high priority notifications in action center				

This page gives you much more control over app notifications: You can determine how and where they appear, whether a sound plays during a notification, and even an app's priority level in Action Center.



You might proactively scan the list of apps that can display notifications and configure them in one go. But it's more likely that you will handle this the way most do with their phones: You will determine that some app notifications are unnecessary when they start interrupting you, and then disable those notifications at that time.

Handle an app notification as it appears

Notification banners appear as little windows in the lower-right corner of the screen. They will appear regardless of what you're doing in Windows—they appear over the desktop, over apps, and over the lock screen by default—though they will be disabled during full-screen games.



Notification banners vary by app. Some are interactive and provide options right on the window for dealing with the notification. In the image above, for example, you can see that Mail app notifications

let you flag, archive, or delete a new email message right from the banner, without any need to launch the app.

As noted, if you select a notification banner before it disappears—they only stay visible for a few seconds—the underlying app that triggered that notification will open. But if you ignore or miss a notification banner, you can later view it and other notifications in the Action Center, as described below.

Handle previous app notifications

Action Center is the Windows interface for managing unseen notifications. This interface also lets you quickly access other system functions like network settings, Airplane mode, and the like.

Action Center is hidden by default, but you can display it by selecting the Action Center button in the far right of system tray.





On a touch-based system, you can open Action Center by swiping in from the right edge of the screen. And fans of keyboard shortcuts can type WINKEY + A.

You don't need to actively check Action Center for new notifications. It will subtly alert you when there are missed notifications via a number in a bubble overlay on top of the Action Center button. This number indicates how many new notifications await.



Action Center appears as a pane on the right side of the screen. It provides access to notifications, segregated by app, as well as an expandable group of quick action tiles.

To access an app that triggered a notification, select the notification in the Action Center list. For example, if you select a newly-installed app as seen above, that app will launch.



When you access a notification this way, it is cleared from Action Center.

You can interact with many notifications directly from Action Center, just as you can with notification banners.



You can also remove individual notifications—or an entire app's worth of notifications—by selecting the appropriate Clear ("x") button in the list, as seen above. (These buttons are hidden normally, but appear as you mouse over them.)

See what's new from the lock screen

Apps can optionally provide notifications over the lock screen so you can see what's new when the PC is locked. But there are multiple places to look at if you wish to configure how notifications work on the lock screen.

Enable or disable lock screen notifications globally

In the section *Manage app notifications*, above, we described how you can manage how each Store app on your PC handles notifications. Among those options is one related to the lock screen. To see this, navigate to Settings > System > Notifications & actions. There, you will see an option titled Show notifications on the lock screen.

When enabled—as it is the default—notification banners will obviously appear over the lock screen. So if you're not interested in lock screen notifications, this is where you turn that off.

Determine whether individual app notifications appear over the lock screen

You can also determine whether apps can display notification banners over the lock screen on an app-by-app basis. That is, you might leave lock screen notifications enabled globally, but disable those notifications for some individual apps.

To do so, navigate to Settings > System > Notifications & actions. Then, select an app from the list under Get notifications from these senders. On the page that appears, you can enable or disable the option "Keep notifications private on the lock screen." (To disable lock screen notifications for this app, enable this option.)

Personalize how notifications work on the lock screen

As discussed in the Personalize chapter, the lock screen also provides another form of notifications, called *status updates*. These are configured in Settings > Personalization > Lock screen. If you scroll down a bit, you'll see a section called Choose which apps show quick status on the lock screen. Here, you can configure app icons for detailed status and quick status updates.



Windows lets you to have just a single app configured to display a detailed status, which isn't really all that detailed; it's usually just a short line of text. But lock screen status updates are pretty limited, too. You can configure up to seven apps that can display quick status notifications, and these are even less useful, and generally just provide an app icon with a number indicating how many notifications you've missed.



You can also choose an app that can show alarms on the lock screen

Worse, none of these lock screen notifications are actionable. That is, you cannot tap one, sign-in and go right to that app. Instead, you will need to manually find and launch any app that provided a notification.

See notifications in Start

Windows provides some number of live tiles on your PC's Start menu, and you can add and remove tiles, and further customize their behavior as you see fit. By design, these tiles are more dynamic than the icons of the past, and many are configured to display live, at-a-glance information.

Live tiles help apps communicate what's going on without forcing you to manually open each of them in turn. For example, the Weather app's tile will display the forecast on its Start tile. And the News app will display recent headlines.

 Fri
 Sat
 Sun

 ☆
 75°
 ☆
 71°
 ☆
 72°
 58°

 Hilversum



Be sure to check out the Personalize chapter to learn about the various ways in which you can customize each tile.

In addition to this behavior, some apps let you pin secondary tiles to Start as well. You do this from within the app, and how you do so varies from app to app.

The Mail app, for example, lets you pin individual email folders to Start. And Weather, shown here, lets you pin a favorite location to Start. In this way, you can see multiple forecasts at the same time.



Uninstall an app

Windows lets you uninstall apps—and desktop applications—in a variety of ways. But the easiest way is to start the process from Start.

To do so, just find the app you wish to remove anywhere in Start—the All Apps list, the tiles area, whatever—right-click (or, with touch, tap and hold) and choose Uninstall (or More > Uninstall) from the pop-up menu that appears.



If you are uninstalling a Store app, you'll be asked to confirm this decision.



Store apps are self-contained and don't require special files to be installed in different locations all over your PC's file system like some legacy desktop applications. As such, they are very easy to uninstall. And doing so doesn't leave an unsightly (technical) mess behind, as can be the case with many legacy desktop applications.



Don't see an "Uninstall" option in the pop-up menu? Some of the Store apps that come bundled with Windows cannot be uninstalled normally. But there are some workarounds to this issue, including using a third-party application. One such solution is a free utility called CCleaner Free. Just navigate to Tools and then select the app(s) you wish to remove from the list. Then, click Uninstall.

If you are uninstalling a desktop application, the process is slightly different. The Programs and Features control panel will appear so you can then uninstall the application from there.

Programs and Features			- 🗆 ×
$\leftarrow \rightarrow$ \sim \uparrow $\overline{\mathfrak{A}}$ > Contro	Panel > Programs > Programs and Features	✓ U Search Pro	grams and Features $~~ {m ho}$
Control Panel Home View installed updates	Uninstall or change a program To uninstall a program, select it from the list and then clic	k Uninstall, Change, or Repair.	
off	Organize - Uninstall		l≣ • 🔞
	Name	Publisher	Installed On
	🛶 Awesomium SDK	Khrona LLC	7/16/2019
	Greenshot 1.2.10.6	Greenshot	7/13/2019
	Intel® Graphics Driver	Intel Corporation	7/14/2019
	Intel® PROSet/Wireless Software	Intel Corporation	7/14/2019
	Microsoft .NET Core SDK 2.1.701 (x64)	Microsoft Corporation	7/18/2019
	Microsoft OneDrive	Microsoft Corporation	7/14/2019
	Microsoft System CLR Types for SQL Server 2019 CTP2.2	Microsoft Corporation	7/18/2019
	Microsoft System CLR Types for SQL Server 2019 CTP2.2	Microsoft Corporation	7/18/2019
	Microsoft Visual C++ 2010 x86 Redistributable - 10.0.4021	19 Microsoft Corporation	7/15/2019

What you see next will vary somewhat according to the application, and some desktop applications also provide other options, such as the ability to add or remove features or fix a problem. Some will also require you to reboot the PC to complete the uninstall process.



You can also uninstall an app from Settings. Navigate to Settings > Apps> Apps and features. Then, select the app you wish to uninstall from the list. As you do, it will expand to reveal Move and Uninstall buttons. Select Uninstall. If you choose to uninstall a desktop application from Settings, its uninstaller will run directly without any need to invoke Programs and Features.

Configure default apps

Windows provides a Default apps interface in Settings so that you can determine which apps respond to specific actions, such as opening common file types. To see this, navigate to Settings > Apps > Default apps.



To change the default app for a particular action—Email, Maps, Music player, and so on—simply select the app that is currently configured. A pop-up will appear, providing you with a list of the available options.

← Settings		-
û Home	Default apps	
Find a setting	Choose default apps	Choose your default apps
Apps	Email	Select which apps to use to listen to music, look at pictures, check mail, watch videos, and more.
IΞ Apps & features	Mail	Use Reset when you want to go back to the default apps that Microsoft
🚍 Default apps	Maps Choose an app	recommends.
때 Offline maps	Mail Recommended for Windows 10	Have a question?
Apps for websites		
Video playback	Music Outlook	Make Windows better
T Startup	Cox for an app in the Microsoft Store	Give us feedback
	Photo	
	Photos	
	Video player	
	Movies & TV	



In previous Windows versions, Microsoft offered a Set Default Programs control panel that offered a more complete way to change default apps. Today, this interface has been replaced by "Set defaults by app," which is available via a link on this Settings page.

You will also be given the option to choose a default app the first time you open certain file types for the first time. You can use the pop-up that appears to choose an app for just this one time. Or you can also select the "Always use this app" link to make it permanent.

How	do you want to open this file?
Кеер	using this app
	Photos Photos are easily enhanced, organized for you, and ready to edit and share.
Othe	r options
Ì	Paint
P	Paint 3D
$\overline{\mathbf{A}}$	Snip & Sketch
	Look for an app in the Microsoft Store
A	lways use this app to open .png files
	ОК

Configure where apps are located

By default, apps are installed on your C: drive. But if your PC has multiple drives or partitions, you can change the default location and, in many cases, move Store apps to a new location.

Determine where new app installs are located

To determine where apps are installed by default, navigate to Settings > System > Storage. Then, select the link "Change where new content is saved" under More storage settings.

\leftarrow	Settings		-	٥	×
俞	Change where new content is saved				
Cha are	nge where your apps, documents, music, pictures, videos and maps saved by default.	Have a question? Get help			
	New apps will save to: Windows (C:) V				
G	New documents will save to: Windows (C:) V				
1	New music will save to:				
~	New photos and videos will save to: Windows (C) \vee				
	New movies and TV shows will save to: Windows (C:)				
<u>m</u>	Change where you store your offline maps Windows (C) $\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \$				

To change new app installs to another drive, select the drop-down under "New apps will save to:" and change the location.



Move an app to a new location

You can move most Store apps to a different drive. This is helpful if you are running out of space on a drive, or have installed a new drive for this purpose.

To do so, navigate to Settings > Apps > Apps & features. Then, select the app you wish to move. When you do, it expands to reveal Move and Uninstall buttons. Select Move and then, when prompted, the drive to which you'd like to move the app.

← Settings		- 0 ×
 Generating	Apps & features Search, sort, and filter by drive. If you would like to uninstall or move an app, select it from the list.	Change startup apps Get apps Troubleshoot Store apps Uninstall apps
IE Apps & features I⊐ Default apps	Sort by: Name V Filter by: All drives V 3D Builde This app is currently installed on: This PC (C:) Microsoft	Update apps Get help
때 Offline maps	Adobe PF Adobe Sy Advancec Move	Make Windows better Give us feedback
□ Video playback	Move Uninstall	



You can change the list of apps displayed here so that it sorts by size. To do so, select the "Sort by" item at the top of the list.



Some Store apps, including many that come with Windows, cannot be moved. In that case, the Move button will be grayed out.

Mail



Get to know the Mail app

The Mail app can connect to multiple online accounts and help you manage both your work and personal email.

Mail provides a straightforward user experience that resembles Microsoft's web-based email solutions like Outlook.com. And like those offerings, it provides three columns, or panes—Navigation, Messages, and Reading—which are arranged from left to right.



As with many of the other apps that are included with Windows, Mail's Navigation pane is collapsible. Just select the Collapse control, sometimes called the "hamburger," in the top left. When you do, the pane shrinks and displays only icons. But you can continue to access the current account's folders using the All folders icon (which resembles a folder).



Regardless of whether it is collapsed or expanded, the Navigation pane provides a New mail button (+), your configured email accounts and the folders they contain, links to the related apps—Calendar, People, and To-Do—and app settings.



Microsoft To-Do is not included with Windows, so the first time you select the Switch to To-Do item in the Mail app's Navigation pane, the Microsoft Store app will open so you can install it.

The Messages pane provides a search box and displays the contents of the currently selected folder, typically the Inbox folder, for the selected account.

Mail

Search	Q	$\zeta \mathcal{I}$	%≣
Inbox			ali 🗸
Friday, April 26, 2019			
Microsoft Rewards Paul, open quick: We Join Microsoft Rewa	e're treat rds toda	ing y F y. Eai	ri 4/26
Saturday, April 20, 2019			
Microsoft Store Our Spring Sale end Save on games, Surf	s soon face, PCs,	4/20 a	0/2019

The Reading pane will display the currently selected message. But if no message is selected, it will display the app's background image instead.



When you create a new email message, the New Message view appears, replacing the Reading pane.

Format	Insert	Draw	Options	🛍 Discard 🛛 Þ Send
B I	<u>U</u>	<u>A</u>	· I 🗄 🗄 🗮 ∨ I Heading 1	VIndo 🖓 Redo
rom: thurr	ott10@outloc	ok.com		Ē
o:				久 Cc & Bcc
ubject				

Manage your accounts

Mail lets you use multiple emails accounts all from a single place. Before using this app, you should add and configure each account you wish to use.

Add and configure an account

If you sign-in to Windows with your Microsoft account—which we recommend—Mail will have already configured that account to work with the app. But it will also prompt you to add an account when the app is first launched.

You can do so now, or at any time later. But we recommend adding and configuring additional accounts via the system Settings app instead: As it turns out, the Mail, Calendar, and People apps that come with Windows are all configured to use the same online accounts, which Microsoft calls *email accounts*. And these are most easily created and managed in Settings. To do so, navigate to Settings (WINKEY + I) > Accounts > Email & accounts.

We describe email account creation and management further in the *Configure email accounts* section of the Accounts chapter.

Manage how accounts and folders work in Mail

If you're using Mail with just a single account, things are simple: Mail will act as the front-end for that one account, letting you access your inbox and other email folders, much as you'd expect.

But things get more interesting when you use Mail to manage two or more accounts. In this case, each account is accessed separately in the Navigation pane by default. But you can optionally use a single *linked inbox* view that consolidates two or more accounts into a single view. So you have a choice to make.

Manage multiple accounts separately

By default, Mail presents multiple accounts separately in the Navigation pane. To switch between them, simply select the account name under Accounts (or, with the Navigation pane collapsed,

choose All account and then the account). As you do, the favorite folders list—under Folders will change to match the actual folders found in the selected account. (With the Navigation pane collapsed, you will see the full folders list.)



Favorite folders are described below.



Manage multiple accounts together using linked inboxes

Mail offers a linked inbox feature for those who prefer to manage two or more accounts using a single view. When you link inboxes this way, your email isn't really "mixed" together up in the cloud. You just view your email with a single inbox view in the Mail app. This can be more convenient than switching between accounts in the Navigation pane.



You can arbitrarily link inboxes from any email accounts. For example, if you have three accounts configured in Mail, you might link all three, or you might link two and leave one separate. It's your choice.

Mail

To link inboxes, navigate to Mail settings > Manage accounts and then select *Link inboxes*. The Link inboxes window appears, letting you choose which inboxes to link and, optionally, choose a name for the linked inbox.

When you link inboxes messages from those a	from your different a accounts in one inbox	ccounts, you'll be able to see all the
Linked inbox name		
Linked inbox		
Choose inboxes to link Choose inboxes to link Coutlook - thurrott Coutlook - thurrott	:: :10@outlook.com rrott.com	
Choose inboxes to link Choose inboxes to link Coutlook - thurrott Coutlook - thurrott Coutlook - thurrott	:: 10@outlook.com rrott.com	



If you're using a Mail feature called Focused inbox, you may see a warning that linked inbox is not compatible with that feature.

When you make your selections, the linked inbox will replace whichever accounts you selected in the Navigation pane, and the Folders list will present a consolidated view of the contained account folders.



You can see all of the folders by selecting More (under Folders). Or, if the Navigation pane is collapsed, you can select All folders.

Mail is smart enough to associate the messages with the right accounts. So if you delete or move an email message, the changes occur in the correct place.

Mail



If you wish to later remove accounts from a linked inbox, navigate to Mail settings > Manage accounts and then select the linked inbox. In the window that appears, you can uncheck the accounts to remove. Or, select *Unlink inboxes* to manage each account separately.

Determine which folders appear under an account

Mail displays frequently-used folders called *favorite folders* for each configured account in the Navigation pane. You will typically see folders such as Inbox, Archive, Drafts, and Sent (or similar) by default. But if you organize email in a unique way with your own custom folder structure, you can configure your own favorite folders. You can also remove favorite folders you don't use very often.

To do so, select the account or linked inbox you wish to modify in the Navigation pane and then select the *More* link. (If the Navigation pane is collapsed, select the All Folders icon instead).



Favorite folders are denoted in the All folders view with a star icon next their names.

To add a favorite folder, right-click it in the All folders view and choose "Add to Favorites" from the context menu that appears.

To remove a favorite folder, select "Remove from Favorites" instead.



You can also pin individual email folders to Start (but not to the taskbar). That way, you can navigate to exactly where you want to go directly from Start. To do so, right-click an email folder in All folders and choose "Pin to Start."

Read and send email messages

As with other email solutions, you will send most of your time in Mail reading, replying to, and sending new email messages.
Read and manage an email message

To read an email message, simply select it in the Messages pane. The contents of the message will appear in the Reading pane.





You can configure whether displaying a message this way will mark it as read in the cloud. Please refer to the *Customize Mail* section for details about this behavior.

From here, you can perform a number of additional tasks. These include:

Quickly archive, delete, or flag the message. Mail supports *Quick Actions*, which can be accessed via mouse—by mousing over the message header in the Messages pane, as seen below—or by touch, using a set of configurable swipe actions that are described in *Customize Mail* at the end of the chapter.



Reply or forward the message. Using the Reply, Reply all, or Forward toolbar buttons, you can respond to or forward the currently-viewed message.

Archive the message. To save the message in the cloud but remove it from your inbox, select the Archive toolbar button.

Delete the message. Select the Delete button to delete the currently-viewed email message.

Perform other actions. Be sure to check out the Actions toolbar button ("...") to find more actions to perform on messages, including setting a flag (a feature of Microsoft email services), marking the message as read/unread, moving the message to a new folder, navigating to the previous or next message, printing the message, and more.

							-	٥
	← Reply	≪ Reply all	ightarrow Forward	🖻 Archive	🛍 Delete	Ρυ	Set flag	
Paul, open qu	ick: We're treating	you to Mici	rosoft Rewar	ds points		\square	Mark as u	nread
Microso	ft Rewards <microsoft< th=""><th>trewards@e.m</th><th>icrosoft.com></th><th></th><th></th><th>Ľ</th><th>Move</th><th></th></microsoft<>	trewards@e.m	icrosoft.com>			Ľ	Move	
4/26/2019	9 9:33 AM					13	Mark as Junk	
o: thurrott 10@outi	look.com					<	Previous	
						>	Next	
	Microsoft					Q	Find	
	IVIICTOSOI	ι	Earn Tre	e rewards t	rom Micro	Ø	Save as	
						þ	Print	
						Q	Zoom	

Open the message in a new window. The *Open message in a new window* button—found in the top right of the Reading pane, below the toolbar buttons—does exactly what it says it does. This is described in the section *Open an email message in a new window*, below.

Manage multiple messages

In addition to viewing and managing a single email message as above, Mail lets you select multiple messages at the same time and perform some actions on them.

To do so with a keyboard and mouse, hold down the CTRL key and select two or more messages in the Messages pane using the mouse. The available actions you can employ—Archive, Delete, Move, and so on—will appear as toolbar icons at the top of the Messages pane and in a drop-down Actions ("...") menu.



You can also right-click on the selected messages to access the same actions in a context menu.



Mail also supports a special selection mode that lets you perform actions on multiple messages using touch. (You can also use this method with keyboard and a mouse, or with a pen, too.) To use this method, select the Selection mode icon at the top right of the Messages pane. When you do, a selection box appear to the left of each message, and you can tap within each box to select the messages you wish to manage.



Create and send a new email message

To create a new email message, select the New mail ("+") link in the upper-left corner of the app window. When you do so, the Reading pane is replaced by a New Message view.

Format	Insert	Draw	Options		🛍 Discard 🛛 Þ Send
B <i>I</i>	<u>U</u>	<u>A</u> ~		🗏 🖂 🛛 Heading 1	VIndo 🤆 Redo
rom: thurr	ott10@outloc	ok.com			E
To:					<u>А</u> Сс & Всс
Subject					

Most of this is quite straightforward. However, here are a few less obvious tidbits.

You can choose which account to use. How you do so depends on whether you're using linked inboxes. If you are, you will be prompted to choose the account when you select "New mail." Otherwise, you must select the sending account in the Navigation pane before selecting "New mail."

Outlook.com users can choose an alias. If you're using an Outlook.com (or Outlook.com Premium) account, you can choose which alias to use for the new message. See the section *Send an email message using an Outlook.com alias* below for more information.

Mail uses Microsoft Word for its editor. Mail uses the same powerful text editor that's found in Word Mobile for Windows 10. It even includes a tabbed ribbon interface, and built-in spell checking,

and lets you paste complex documents from Microsoft Word into Mail. As you can see, there are many options in the message toolbar related to text formatting. (To access these options, select the body of the email message.)



You can add attachments and embed content directly in the email message. You can attach one or more files to a message, as you do with other email clients. But you can also embed pictures, tables, and hyperlinks directly in a message too. Check out the Insert tab for the available options. Or, simply drag a file onto the Mail window to attach it that way.

You can configure the default font for new email messages. Navigate to Mail settings > Default font to customize the font used for new email messages (and do so on an account-by-account basis if desired).



Oddly, there's no way to configure Mail to send plain text messages.

Contacts will auto-complete as you type. When you select the To: (or CC: or BCC:) field and start typing the name of the intended recipient, Mail will provide an auto-complete drop-down of the contacts who match what you're typing.

From: thurrott10@outlook.com	
To: steph	<u>А</u> Сс & Всс
Subj ST Steph Thurrott	
SM Stephanie Madrid	
Sent from Mail for Windows 10	

Remember, you can open the message in a new window. See the section *Open an email message in a new window*, below, for more information about this useful feature.

Send an email message using an Outlook.com alias

The Mail app supports Outlook.com *aliases*, so you can send email from any alias that is associated with your account.

What's an alias, you ask? In short, it's just another email address you can us with your Outlook.com account. Which is also your Microsoft account.

That is, the email address that you first used to create your Microsoft account—usually at Outlook.com these days—is considered your *primary alias*. It's what you use to sign-in to your Microsoft account and access the services that are associated with that account. But you can also configure other aliases for your Microsoft account. These aliases are alternate ways with which you can sign-in to you Microsoft account. And they can be used to send and receive email, too. To send an email from an Outlook.com alias, create a new email message as described above, selecting your Outlook.com account if you have multiple email accounts configured in the app. Then, select your email address in the To: field. A pop-up menu will appear, listing your primary Outlook.com email address and any aliases you have configured.

	Inbox - Thurrott		- 0 ×
≡	Search 🔎 📿 🎾	Format Insert Draw Options	🛍 Discard 🏼 🏱 Send
+	Inbox All ~	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	り Undo
R	Thursday, April 25, 2019	From: paul@thurrott.net ~	
	Microsoft Office 365 Office Extra: Your subscription ke Thu 4/25	To: paul@thurrott.net	A Cc & Bcc
	See how to use Office 365 apps	Subje thurrott@hotmail.com	
		pthurrott@outlook.com	
		Sent fr thurrott-books@outlook.com	
RR			
ø			
@			
	$\mathcal P$ Type here to search	o 🗄 🤮 🥅 🏦 😒 🛷	^ 🦟 ଏ <mark>ଛ</mark> ^{5:17 PM} 🖵

Now, just select the alias you wish to use from the list.



You cannot create or manage your Outlook.com aliases in the Mail app. Instead, you will need to visit the Microsoft account website to do so.

Use Mail more efficiently

The Windows 10 Mail app looks and works like many other email solutions, so you should be able to get up and running very quickly. But if you master some of Mail's unique but less obvious features, you can be more efficient when you use the app.

Open an email message in a new window

When you are reading or composing an email message, you will see an "Open message in a new window" button below the toolbar.



2 C Untitled - Message - Mai Search IÎÎ Discard ≥ Send Draw Format Insert Options Inbox B I U ∠ A ∨ 🗄 🗄 ≡ ∨ Heading 1 Friday, April 26, 2019 From: thurrott10@outlook.com Microsoft Rewards Paul, open quick: We're treating y Join Microsoft Rewards today. Eau Q Cc & Bcc To: Subject Saturday, April 20, 2019 Microsoft Store Our Spring Sale ends soon Sent from Mail for Windows 10 Tuesday, April 16, 2019 Microsoft Store Attention: Spring into limited-t 4/1 What's hiding behind the flicke Ē Saturday, April 13, 2019 Microsoft Store Our Spring Sale starts now ve on games, Surface, PCs, a Wednesday, March 27, 2019

To open the current message in a new window, select this button.

Once you open a message in a new window, you can arrange it on-screen as you would any app window. So you could snap it side-by-side with the main Mail app window or even another email message window.

←	Inbox - Outlook	- 🗆 X	Untitled - Message - Mail	- 🗆 X
≡	\bigcirc Reply \bigcirc Reply all \rightarrow Forward \Box	Archive •••	Format Insert Draw Options	🛍 Discard >> Send
+	What do you want to do th	is weekend?	B I <u>U</u> ∨ ≡ Heading 1	▼ り Undo ∨
8	Spring cleaning	37%	From: thurrott10@outlook.com	
D	VOTE >		To: 	<u>А</u> Сс & Всс
	Plant something green	28%	Sent from <u>Mail</u> for Windows 10	
	Go for a hike	20%		
Ē		2070		
RR	VOTE >			
ø				
@	Have a picnic	15%		
-	P Type here to search O 目	😑 🚍 🏦		^ // d 5:19 PM □



You can open any number of messages in new windows as you desire.

Focus on what's important with Focused Inbox

Like other Microsoft email solutions, Mail includes a feature called *Focused Inbox* that can help you focus on your most important emails and ignore newsletters and other machine-generated email

messages. Once enabled, Focused Inbox will split the Messages pane into two tabs, called Focused and Other.



Focused Inbox only works with Microsoft email services like Outlook.com and Office 365 at this time. And even then, it doesn't work with all accounts.

The Focused tab includes those emails that Mail believes are important. Meanwhile, the Other tab lists all of your other emails.



Focused Inbox is sometimes enabled automatically when you add a compatible account to Mail. If not, you can enable it manually by navigating to Mail settings > Focused inbox. Then, enable this feature for the account(s) that support it.

Focused Inbox may not work very well at first. But you can train it to understand what's important to you by moving messages to the appropriate tab. To do so, right-click the email message in the Messages view and choose "Move to Focused" or "Move to Other" in the pop-up menu that appears.





To train Focused Inbox to *always* move messages from that sender to the right tab, choose "Always move to Focused" or "Always move to Other" instead, as shown above.

Get someone's attention with @mentions

Taking a cue from social networking services like Facebook and Twitter, Mail supports a feature called @mentions ("at mentions") that lets you easily find people in your contacts list and call them out in email messages. It's a neat new way to get someone's attention.

From: paul@thurrott.net v	
To: Mark Thurrott; Stephanie Thurrott;	<u>А</u> Сс & Всс
This summer	
Hi guys,	
Before we go to Amsterdam this summer, we have a few things to do.	
@Mark Thurrott, please be sure to get your car serviced before the trip.	
@Stephanie Thurrott, let's figure out which card gets us Global Entry for free.	
Thanksl	
Paul	

To add an @mention to an email message, simply type the @ character inside the message followed by a letter. When you do, a drop-down menu appears, listing the contacts that match what you've typed. Keep typing to further filter the list and find the right contact.



Once you select a person from the list, that contact will automatically be added to the To: field.



@mentions are also actionable hyperlinks within an email message: You can click one to send a new email message to that contact.

Customize Mail

You can customize the behavior of Mail using its settings interface, which is accessible via the Settings (gear) icon in the lower left of the app window. You should examine all of the available options here at least once.



When you select this item, the Settings pane appears.



While many of the options available here are obvious or covered elsewhere in the chapter—we discuss adding and configuring accounts earlier, for example—some merit further discussion.

Personalize the look of the Mail app

In Settings > Personalization, you can configure various features that can alter the look and feel of the Mail app.

Mail's color scheme consists of two parts, an accent color and an app mode, the latter of which can be Light, Dark, or whatever the Windows app mode is set to. Each can be configured to your liking, assuming you don't mind choosing from just a handful of custom colors for the accent color.





The system-wide Windows app mode is configured in Windows 10 Settings > Personalization > Colors > "Choose your default app mode."

Somewhat unique among the apps that come with Windows, Mail is also configured with a background picture by default. While that is unusual, you can at least change the picture in the Background section of Settings > Personalization.



Configure how messages are read in Mail

You can determine how email messages are arranged and managed in Mail. To do so, navigate to Settings > Reading pane.

There are numerous options to consider here. Some of the key options include:

Whether to automatically open the next message when you close the current message. If you are reading an email message and close it in some way—perhaps by archiving, deleting, or moving it to a new folder—Mail will clear the Reading pane and display the background picture. Optionally, however, you can enable the option "Auto-open next item" and Mail will instead display the next email message.

Whether to automatically mark email message as read and, if so, when. Using the options under "Mark item as read," you can configure how each email message is marked as having been read: When the selection changes (the default), never ("Don't automatically mark item as read"), or when viewed in the reading pane for some number of seconds.

Whether to automatically display external content. Many HTML-based emails will try to display images, and style formats that need to be downloaded from a web server. By default, Mail will not download this content. But using the options under "External content," you can decide whether to do so on an account-by-account basis. If you do decide to not download external content by default, you can do so on the fly when you are viewing a message.

Whether to use Focused Inbox. Mail, like other Microsoft email apps, supports a unique feature called Featured Inbox, though it is disabled by default. This feature is described earlier in the chapter.

Configure other Mail options

Settings in Mail provides a number of other useful options, many of which can be configured on a per-account basis if desired.

Key options include:

Conversation View. By default, Mail displays messages using something Microsoft calls Conversation View, where email messages in the Messages pane are grouped by conversation instead of in strict chronological order. If you don't like this arrangement, you can disable Conversation View by navigating to Mail settings > Message list > Organization. Change this to "Individual messages."

Swipe actions. If you're using Mail on a touch-first device like a tablet, you can configure two Quick Actions as swipes—where you swipe left or right on an email message in the messages pane—for quickly triaging email messages. Available choices for each action include Set/Clear Flag, Mark as Read/Unread, Archive, Delete, Move, and Move to Junk. You do so in Mail settings > Message list > Swipe actions.

Signature. By default, Mail is configured to add a lame signature ("Sent from Mail for Windows 10") to the end of every email message you send. You can edit this text or, better yet, just disable it in Mail settings > Signature.

Notifications. You can configure whether Mail notifications appear in Action Center, as they do by default, and whether to display a notification banner, play a sound when new email arrives, and/or show notifications for email folders you've pinned to Start. You do so in Mail settings > Notifications.



Get to know the People app

The People app can connect to multiple online accounts and help you manage both your work and personal contacts.



People works *only* with online accounts. You cannot use this app to create contacts that are local to your PC only. If you do not sign-in to Windows with a Microsoft account, as we recommend, you will need to add at least one online account to People when you first launch the app.

The People app provides a simple multi-pane interface, with an alphabetical list of the contacts in all of your connected accounts on the left and details about the currently-selected contact on the right.





If you can resize the window to make it wider, you will see Email and Phone columns appear with each contact on the left as well. Likewise, it's possible to shrink the window such that only a single pane is available.

The contacts list column has three buttons at the top: New contact, Filter contacts, and Settings.

People					
Search	Q		+	\mathbb{Y}	ŝ
Name		Email			



If the window is sized smaller, on or more of these buttons will disappear and be hidden inside a See more ("...") menu.



You can optionally filter the display to show only the contacts from certain accounts, as described later in the chapter. Or you can also use the Search box to find exactly the person you're looking for.



People displays the interactions you've had with each contact. This can include events, (email) conversations, and more. These items are interactive. If you select an event, for example, it will open in the Calendar app. Likewise, Mail will open if you select an email conversation.

People	- 🗆 X	
steph	+ <i>e</i> - 1	
Name		
P	Richard Campbell	
Peter Bright		
PF Peter Fisher	Events	
R	Upcoming events with this contact will show up here.	
Rafael Rivera	Conversations	
RB Rebecca Braeu	Podcaster Dinner	
Richard Campbell	Hey folks – looking forward to 5/7/2019 6:44 PM → Forward □ Archive □ Delete	
RL Ryan Lowdermilk	RE: This weekend This sounds taxing. We accept. :) + Podcaster Dinner S//2/019 109 PM	
S	Richard Campbell	E7
	5/7/2019 6:44 PM	
		\sim
	Hey folks – looking forward to seeing you all at dinner.	

If you would like to view two or more contacts side-by-side in their own windows, right-click a contact in the contacts list and choose "Open in new window" from the context menu that appears. You can perform this action multiple times, if you'd like. Or use the system Snap feature to display two contacts side-by-side in a full screen display.

Paul Thurrott - People	- 🗆 X	Rafael Rivera - People	- 🗆 ×
Paul Thurrott News Director	や ら 前	Rafael Rivera	-¤ ≌ €
Contact	🖉 Edit	Contact	🖉 Edit
Mobile phone	🗞 Call with Skype	Other email rafael@withinwindows.com	🖾 Email
Other phone	& Call with Skype		See more >
Work email paul@thurrott.net	🖾 Email		
Other email thurrott10@outlook.com	🖾 Email	Upcoming events with this contact will show up here.	
Personal email paul@thurrott.com	🖾 Email	Conversations	
Home address	<u> </u> Map	Recent conversations with this contact will show up here.	
	See more >	Combined contacts	
E \mathcal{P} Type here to search	o 🖽 🤤 蒚 💼		へ 🧖 🖓 3:39 PM ~ 🧖 🖓 5/13/2019 🛛

The People app isn't particularly interesting in its own right. You will likely use this app only occasionally for contacts management: To consolidate duplicate contacts, change a contact's phone number, or perform other housekeeping duties. It's not an app most people will use every day, like Mail or a web browser.



Windows also includes a special desktop feature called My People that was designed to help you interact more naturally with your favorite contacts right from the taskbar. But because this feature wasn't popular with users, it's been deprecated in the most recent Windows version and is not enabled by default. For this reason, we no longer cover My People in this book.

Manage accounts

People lets you manage one or more online accounts all from a single place.

Add and configure an account

If you sign-in to Windows with your Microsoft account—which we recommend—People will have already configured that account to work with the app. But it will also prompt you to add an account when the app is first launched.

You can do so now, or at any time later. But we recommend adding and configuring additional accounts via the system Settings app instead: As it turns out, the Mail, Calendar, and People apps that come with Windows are all configured to use the same online accounts, which Microsoft calls *email accounts*. And these are most easily created and managed in Settings. To do so, navigate to Settings (WINKEY + I) > Accounts > Email & accounts.

We describe email account creation and management further in the *Configure email accounts* section of the Accounts chapter.

Filter the contacts list

By default, the contacts list will display all of your contacts, for all of your configured accounts, commingled together. However, you can optionally configure People to only display contacts from certain accounts. That way, you can still access them from other apps, like Mail. But they won't clutter up the contacts list in People.

To filter the contacts list, select the Filter contacts button at the top of the list. The Filter contacts window appears.

Filter contacts	
Hide contacts without phone number Off Shows only the contacts you can cal searching.	rs l or text. You can still find the rest by
Show contacts from Outlook (Mail and Calendar) 	
Thurrott (Mail and Calendar)	
Recent contacts (Microsoft Pe	eople)
Gmail	
Done	Cancel

Here, you can uncheck those accounts for which you do not wish to see contacts. You can also choose to hide those contacts that do not have associated phone numbers.

Manage contacts with the People app

People is a simple app, but it provides everything you need to manage the contacts in your online accounts.

Create a new contact

To create a new contact, select the New contact button, which resembles a "+" sign and can be found at the top of the contacts list.



The New contact display provides a wealth of fields for you fill out as needed, and is fairly obvious in use. As you should expect, this information is stored in the cloud one of the accounts you've configured; you can choose which account to use with the Save to field.

Find a contact

While you can of course scroll through the contacts list to find an individual contact, there are also some more sophisticated ways to do so. This is especially useful for those with multiple accounts and many contacts.

First, you should know about a hidden navigation feature: If you select a letter header (like "A") in the contacts list, you will be presented with a semantic zoom user interface that lets you quickly navigate to contacts that start with another letter.



You can also search your contacts using the handy Search box at the top of the contacts list. This works as you'd expect: As you type, the list will filter to show you the names of contacts that match what you've typed.





A "Search Directory" link will appear if you have configured an Office 365 business account. This link lets you extend your search to your workplace's corporate directory, or address book.

Interact with a contact

Each contact can have a lot of associated information—their name, the account(s) with which they are associated, various phone numbers, and more, plus a list of your recent interactions—and when you display an individual contact, you can interact with that information in useful ways.

For example, phone numbers can be called with Skype, email addresses can be accessed with Mail, and physical addresses can be found using the Maps app.





Here's a fun, non-obvious feature: You can quickly copy any contact item—phone number, email address, whatever—to the clipboard for use elsewhere. To do so, just right-click it and choose Copy from the pop-up menu that appears.

Other email	
thurrott10@outlook.	🗠 Email
🔎 🖻 Сору	
Personal email	
paul@thurrott.com	🗠 Email

Edit a contact

At some point, you may wish to modify an existing contact to correct or add new information. To do so, select the contact in the contacts list and then select the Edit link.



You can also right-click the contact in the contacts list and choose Edit from context menu that appears.

If the contact is associated with only a single account, this process is straight forward, and you can now edit or add information to any of the data fields associated with that contact.

People			-	-	×
Search	Q		Edit Gmail Contact		
Name					
Р			0		
PM Paul			9		
Paul Thurrott					
🐠 Peg			Name		
Peg			Rafael Rivera		0
Peter Bright			+ Phone		
PF Peter		1	Other email 🗸		
R		1	rafael@withinwindows.com		
Rafael Rivera			Save Cancel		

Some contacts, however, are *combined*, meaning that they contain information pulled from two or more accounts. That is, you might have a Bob Smith in your Outlook.com account, a Bob Smith in your Office 365 account, and a Bob Smith in your Google account. If those contacts appear to represent the same people, the People app will combine them so that you can view the information from each account in a single contact. This is useful and desirable. But it also makes editing the contact a bit more difficult, because you will need to choose the account to edit as well before you can proceed.

People		-	
Search , O	Edit combined contact		
P			
PM Paul	No.		
Paul Thurrott			
Peg	Name		
Peg Peg	Paul Ihurrott		
Peter Bright	Edit Thurrott Paul Thurrott		
PF Peter	Edit Gmail Paul Thurrott		
R			
Rafael Rivera	Save	Cancel	



You can also initiate the edit process by right-clicking the contact in the contacts list and choosing "Edit" from the pop-up menu that appears.

Combine and separate contacts

Sometimes, the People app doesn't correctly combine contacts, either because of small discrepancies in how certain information appears in each account or for other reasons. In such cases, you can combine those contacts that should be combined. And you can likewise separate contacts that should not be combined.

To combine two or more contacts, display one of the contacts that isn't combined correctly. Then, select the Combine button that is found below the Conversations area in the contact card.



To separate a combined contact, open the contact, scroll down to the bottom of the contact card, and select "See more." Then, select the Separate button.

Delete a contact

To delete a contact, display that contact in People and then select the Delete button in the top-right of the app window.

You will be prompted before the contact is deleted. And if the contact is combined (that, it appears in multiple accounts), you will be asked to choose an account first. So you will need to repeat these steps for each account.



You can also initiate the delete process by right-clicking the contact in the contacts list and choosing "Delete" from the pop-up menu that appears.

Share a contact

You can share a contact's information with others using the system-wide Share functionality that is built into Windows. To do so, display the contact and then select the Share button in the top right of the app window.



People will then display the information it will share; this varies based on how much information you have for the contact. Select the Share contact button to launch the Share window.

Share Contact information for Paul Thurrott											
	ОТ	MR	0								
Paul Thurrott	Outlook Team	Microsoft Rewards	Outlook								
g ^R Find more people											
	Ľ	3									
Se Share to a n	lect to turn o earby device	n nearby shar using Bluetoo	ing th and Wi-Fi.								
J		8									
OneNote	Mail	Skype	OneDrive								

What you see here will vary according to which people and apps you interact with regularly. But you should at least see the following choices:

Recent contacts. The Share window displays your four most recently-accessed contacts at the top. Select one to share the contact's details with that person via email. (If the receiving contact has multiple email accounts, you will be asked to choose one. Likewise, if you have multiple email accounts configured for yourself in Windows, you will be asked to choose which account to use.)

Find more people. Select the "Find more people" link to select any contact that's configured in the People app. The contact information will be shared via email, as above.

Nearby sharing. A Windows feature called Nearby sharing lets you send contacts—as well as files, links, photos, and other content—to nearby PCs using Bluetooth. Nearby sharing needs to be enabled

before you can use it,a and it only works if the other PC is using Windows 10 version 1803 or newer.

Apps. You will have at least a few apps on your PC that can receive a shared contact, including Mail, OneNote, and Skype (each of which is included with Windows). So you can select one of these apps, or any other listed app to share the contact's details that way.

Get apps in Store. The "Get apps in Store" link at the bottom of the Share window will open the Store app and display a list of apps that are compatible with contact sharing. This way, you can find other relevant apps that may be of interest.

Access your contacts from outside the People app

While you can use the People app to add or modify contacts in your online accounts, you will more typically interact with those people from outside of this app. For example, you can interact with your contacts from apps like Mail and Calendar, both of which are included with Windows.

But Windows also lets you pin your favorite and most-frequently-accessed contacts to Start.



Windows lets you pin a contact to the taskbar, too. But doing so will enable a deprecated Windows feature called My People which we no longer cover in this book.

To pin a contact to Start, open People and find a favorite contact in the contacts list. Then, rightclick on their name in the Contacts pane, and then choose "Pin to Start" from the context menu that appears.

After a confirmation, the contact is pinned to Start as a Medium-sized tile. But pinned contacts can be moved around Start, grouped, and resized just like any other tiles.



When you select a contact in Start, that person's contact card displays in its own window. From here, you can call them, email them, see and interact with previous conversations, and more, as you can in the full People app.

Rafael Rivera - People		-		×
Rafael Rivera	4	Ċ		١
Contact			6	⁹ Edit
Other email rafael@withinwindows.com				Email
		9	See m	ore >
Events				
Upcoming events with this contact will show up here.				
Conversations				



This contact card is the same view you get when you open a contact in a new window from the People app.

Configure People

The People app doesn't have a lot by way of configuration, but if you visit Settings in the app, you will find a few configurable options.



These include:

Manage accounts. As noted earlier in the chapter, People provides an interface for adding and managing your online accounts.

Contact list display. Here, you can change how the contacts list appears, using sorting, display, and filtering choices. By default, People sorts and displays contacts by first name; if this isn't what you want, you can change it here.

Calendar						- D	×
	Search	$\leftarrow \rightarrow$	May 2019	🔁 Today	🗂 Day 🛛 🗮 Wee	ek 🗰 Month 🔸	••
+ New event	Sunday Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	Saturday	Sun
May 2019 ↑ ↓ Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 28 29 30 1 2 3 4	12 13 Cancel Washington Mother's Day Package from Ar	14 e from Ar Dackage from A	15 vr	16 Steph and Kelly in D	17 Dedham	18 🔆	19
5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 <mark>1</mark> 8	Deep work	k Deep work	Deep work	Deep work	Deep work	Deep work	Dee
19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 1	10a			Read			
345_6_/_8 ^ Gmail	11a First Ring	Daily; S First Ring Daily; S	First Ring Daily; S	First Ri book d			
paul@thurrott.com	12p						
Holidays in United States	1p	What the Tech			First Ring Daily (L		
☐ Add calendars	2p		Windows Weekly	Weekly Thurrott Team Huddle Skype			
	Зр						

Get to know the Calendar app

The Calendar app can connect to multiple online accounts so you can manage your work and personal schedules from a single place. It can also connect to publicly-available, cloud-based calendars for holidays, sports, and television.



Calendar works *only* with online accounts and calendars. You cannot use this app to create calendars and events that are local to your PC only. If you do not sign-in to Windows with a Microsoft account, as we recommend, you will need to add at least one online account to Calendar when you first launch the app.

Calendar offers all of the usual date-based views found in other calendaring solutions and works largely as you'd expect.

Calendar						– ø ×
	Search	$ ho \qquad \uparrow \qquad \downarrow$	May 2019	🔁 Today 🗔	Day 🗮 Week	📰 Month 🛛 🚥
+ New event	Sunday Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	Saturday
^ May 2019 ↑ ↓	5/12 13	14 from Ama 📼 Package from Ama	15 7:30a Walk /evercise	16 Steph and Kelly in Ded	17 ham	18 🔆 74°/58°
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa	Mother's Day		1.500 Walky Exciteise			7:30a Walk/exercise
28 29 30 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11	19 ≱ 80° / 69° 20 ¥	82°/55° 21 🎽 67°/50°	22 🖄 70°/55°	23	24	25
12 13 14 15 16 17 18	Steph and Kelly in Ded Miami trip 7:30a Walk/exercise VeeamOn		••••••	Yann Tiersen		7:30a Walk/exercise
19 20 21 22 23 24 25	9a Deep work					9a Deep work
26 27 28 29 30 31 1	26 27 Miami trip Memorial I	28 Day 7:30a Walk/exercise	29 7:30a Walk/exercise	30 7:30a Walk/exercise	31 7:30a Walk/exercise	6/1 Games with Gold pos
	Memorial I Memorial	Day Bay				
■ paul@thurrott.com	2 3 7/200 Wolk (oversize 7/200 Wolk	4 (eversion Keto anniversary - Fr	5 9a Brad Vacation	б	7	8
Holidays in United States	1.504 Walk/exercise 1.504 Walk	· ····	Netherlands trip	Experts Live - Near Aı	9:15a Flight home fro	·
	9 10 9a Brad Vacation	11	12 Washington DC - Shift	13 Hannens - Avenoint ever	14 7-30a Walk/evercise	15 7:30a Walk /evercise

Like many of the other apps that are included with Windows, Calendar's Navigation pane is collapsible. Just select the menu control, sometimes called the "hamburger," in the top left. When you do, the pane shrinks and displays only icons.

E Search P ↑ ↓ May 2019 E Today Day E Wee	ek 📰 Month 📰 Year 🚥
+ Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday	Saturday
5/12 13 14 15 16 17	18 🔆 74°∕58°
Cancel Washington Post su 💼 Package from Amazon 💼 Package from Amazon 7:30a Walk/exercise Steph and Kelly in Dedham	
Momer's Day Dackage from Amazon ··· ··· ··· ··· ··· ··· ···	9a Deep work
19 🖄 80°/69° 20 🌞 82°/55° 21 🎽 67°/50° 22 🖄 70°/55° 23 24	25
Steph and Kelly in Dedham Miami trip	
7:30a Walk/exercise VeeamOn Yann Tiersen	7:30a Walk/exercise
sa Jeep work	9a Deep work
26 27 28 29 30 31	6/1
Miami trip Memorial Day 7:30a Walk/exercise 7:30a Walk/exercise 7:30a Walk/exercise 7:30a Walk/exercise	ercise Games with Gold post
Memorial Day Memorial Day	
2 3 4 5 6 7	8
7:30a Walk/exercise 7:30a Walk/exercise Keto anniversary - From D 9a Brad Vacation	
Netherlands trip	
R Experts Live-+Near Amster 9:15a Flight hon	me from Al ····
9 10 11 12 13 14	15
9a Brad Vacation / 7:30a Walk/exer	ercise 7:30a Walk/exercise
le	

And yes, you can select this control again to expand the Navigation pane. You will need this pane open to access the Month control, and to determine which of the calendars—from your connected accounts and from the cloud—can be accessed from within the app and in other places in Windows.

Work with Calendar views

Calendar provides several views from which to choose. You select the view using the toolbar in the upper right of the app window.

둔 Today Day Ö Week መ Month ···

The following views are available.

Day. This view displays the events that are occurring today.

Multi-day. It's a bit hidden, but Calendar also lets you pick from several multi-day choices—2, 3, 4, 5, and 6-day views—by selecting a little drop-down control next to Day in the toolbar. and then choosing accordingly.



Week. This view displays an entire week of 7 days, from Sunday through Saturday by default. You can configure the first day of the week in Calendar settings as described in the section *Customize Calendar*.

Work week. As with the multi-day views, this choice is hidden in a drop-down menu, in this case next to the Week toolbar button. This view displays only the work week, which is Monday through Friday by default. You can change the days that constitute a work week in Calendar settings, as described in the section *Customize Calendar*.

Month. In this default Calendar view, you see the familiar grid-based month view of your schedule.

Year. Here, you will see the entire year in a single view, organized by month. Note that there are no events displayed in this view. If you select a month, Calendar will display that month in Month view.

Return to the current day

When you launch Calendar, it will display the current date in whichever view you've configured. But as you navigate around your schedule, you will often find yourself viewing other days.

To return to the current day in whatever view is currently configured, select the Today button in the toolbar.

Navigate backwards and forwards in time

Calendar supplies Go back and Go forward buttons in the upper left of the window so that you can navigate backwards and forwards in time, respectively. The amount of time they move is based on the view. For example, in Week view, these buttons will navigate by one week, whereas in Month view, they navigate from month to month.



Find a specific event or meeting

The search box in the upper left of the Calendar window is used to find a specific event or meeting. Search results are shown in a pane that appears under the search box.

	Calendar									- 6	9)	<
≡	memorial day $ ho imes$	\leftarrow	\rightarrow May 2	2019		🔁 Today	🗖 Day	i v	/eek 🖩 Mont	h 🔳 Year		
+			Sunday	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thurse	day	Friday	Saturday	5	jur
	May 18, 2019 No events today		12 Cancel Washing Mother's Day	13 Package from	14 Package from	15	16 Steph	and Kelly ir	17 Dedham	18 💥	4 1	9
	May 27, 2019		Package from Mother's Day									
	All day Memorial Day United States; Paul Thurrott	9a	Deep work				work			Deep work	1)ee
	May 25, 2020	10:13a									-	
	Mamorial Day							Read				
	All day Memorial Day United States; Paul Thurrott			First Ring Dail	First Ring Dail	First Ring Dail	First I	book				

Manage accounts and calendars

Calendar lets you use multiple online accounts, each with one or more calendars, all from a single place. You can also add cloud-based calendars to the Calendar app.

Add and configure an account

If you sign-in to Windows with your Microsoft account—which we recommend—Calendar will have already configured that account to work with the app. But it will also prompt you to add an account when the app is first launched.

You can do so now, or at any time later. But we recommend adding and configuring additional accounts via the system Settings app instead: As it turns out, the Mail, Calendar, and People apps that come with Windows are all configured to use the same online accounts, which Microsoft calls *email accounts*. And these are most easily created and managed in Settings. To do so, navigate to Settings (WINKEY + I) > Accounts > Email & accounts.

We describe email account creation and management further in the *Configure email accounts* section of the Accounts chapter.

Show, hide and configure calendars for an account

Calendar lets you configure which calendars it displays from each of your connected accounts. You do so from the Navigation pane.



If the Navigation pane is collapsed, you will need to select the Menu button to expand it before you can see or configure these calendars.

Below the Month widget in this pane, you will see a list of your connected accounts. Each displays one or more associated calendars, each of which is assigned its own unique color. (You can expand and collapse each account, too. When you collapse an account, its calendars list is hidden.)



To hide an individual calendar, simply uncheck it here.

To change the color used to display a calendar, right-click the calendar and the select the color you prefer from the pop-up that appears. The More Colors link provides many more options.



Add calendars from the cloud

You can add public, cloud-based calendars—for such things as sports and TV show schedules—to Calendar. You do so using the "Add calendars" link the Navigation pane.

When you select this link, the Add calendars window appears, providing you with a menu of choices. To find a calendar, simply navigate through the available options.

Calendar					- 0 ×
	Search	$ ho \leftrightarrow ho$	May 2019 ₽ Today ⊡Day		📰 Month 🛛 🚥
+ New event	Add calendars	TV > Eastern Standard Time		×	aturday Sur 8 🔆 19
✓ May 2019	Holiday calendars	A&F Network (Fast)		>	
	Popular			, i	
🗹 Holidays in Uni	Sports	AMC (East)	> Animal Planet (East)	>	
🗾 paul@thurrott.c	∎ TV D₂				
	NBA	Black Entertainment Television (East)	> Bravo (East)	>	
🗹 Calendar	NFL	Cable News Network	Cartoon Network (East)	>	
🗹 US Holidays	MLS				
🔽 Family calendar		CBS	> Comedy Central (East)	>	
	Powered by 🍃 Bing	Consumer News & Business Channel	> Disney XD (East)	>	
🛱 Add calendars	. • 5				
مع 🖬 🖂	≪ @ 4p				

Cloud-based calendars are added to your Microsoft account and will sync with that account. This lets you manage these calendars easily: You can assign a custom color to each, hide them, or remove them here in the Calendar app like you do with other calendars.



These calendars will also trigger notifications like other calendars. (Notifications are discussed later in the chapter.)

Manage events and meetings

Calendar lets you manage *events*, including *meetings*, which are a special kind of event in which there are other participants. Each event is associated with a one calendar in an online account. These events can be quite detailed and can include lots of associated information.

Understand how events are displayed in Calendar

Events appear as color rectangles in Calendar regardless of the view you've selected. The color of each corresponds to the color of the calendar in which they are located. For example, the events you can see below are all colored teal green, so all of them are in the same calendar.



Multi-day events, all-day events, and events that were created on the web can be colored a bit differently. For example, a multi-day event uses a colored dash on those days instead of a solid rectangle.

20	ŏ	81° / 54°	21	ਠ	67° / 51°	22	ਠ	69° / 57°	23	24	25	26
Miami t	rip -											
Veeam	Dn -											

View and edit an event

Calendar provides different ways to view an event:

Mouse-over the event. If you mouse-over an event in Calendar, you will see a pop-up next to the event that displays a bit more information. A View event button will appear on individual events, but if the event is a recurring event, you will see Edit series and Edit occurrence buttons, as shown here, instead.

Walk/exercise		Walk/exercise 5/19/2019, 7:30a - 8:30a	
-	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	Edit series Edit event	

Open the event. To open an event, simply select it in any Calendar view. If the event is a recurring event, you are only viewing the event you selected. To open or edit the entire series, click the hard-to-see "Edit series" link found after the End date and time and above the Event description field.

~	Calendar	- 8
	Home	E
	🔚 Save 🗎 Delete Show as: Busy Reminder: None 🖓 Edit serie	15
	Details	People
	⊕ - Walk/exercise	Invite someone A
		Sort by Original order 🗸 🗸
	Location	Me
	Start: May 19, 2019 7:30 AM All day	
	End: May 19, 2019	
	 Every day, effective 9/17/2018 from 7:30 AM to 8:30 AM Edit series 	
齳	Event description	
RR		
ø		
@		

Open the event in a new window. To open an event in a new window, select the "Open event in a new window" button, in the upper right of the event.

	Cale	endar										- 0	\times
		Search	Q	$\leftarrow \rightarrow$	May 2019	9		🕂 Today	🗖 Day	🔛 Week	📰 Month	📰 Year	
		Sunday	Monday	Tuesd	Nalk/exercise - Event	- Calendar				-	o x		Sund
		19 😤 83° / 66° Steph and Kelly in Dedhan	20 😤 81° / 54° Miami trip	21	Home								26
			VeeamOn		Save	Delete	Busy	N	one	V			
	4a				Details						People		
	5a				(i), ,	Walk/ov	varcisa				Invite some		
	6a				O.	Walk/E/	kercisej					-	
					Location						Sort by Ori	ç	
	7a										M Me		
		Walk/exercise		Walk/e	Start: M	ay 19, 2019		7:30 AM	Y All c	lay		cise	
					End: Ma	v 19. 2019	Ħ	8:30 AM	~				
	8:55a			Deep work									Flight
R	9a	Deep work								191-1000		(
	10a				Interview	Inte	erview:						-
					Interview:								
	11a		Flight to Miami	First Ring	J Daily; Skype	First Ring Daily;	Skype F	irst Ring Daily; Skyp	e				

In addition to all the normal things you might do with a floating window, this capability also lets you use the Snap feature in Windows to position this new window side-by-side with another window (including the main calendar window) in a full screen display.



Yes, you can open multiple events, each in their own window, as well.

The information you see in each case will obviously vary from event to event and according to how much information was provided when the event was first created. Once you've opened an event, you can of course edit it as needed. Just select the Save button when you're done editing.

Create a new event

To create a new event, first navigate so that you can see the day (and, in many views, the start time) of the event you wish to create. Then, select that area in the calendar. When you do so, a pop-up appears so you can enter the name, time frame, and location of the event, select a reminder time, and choose the calendar with which to associate the event.

	paul@thurro	×		
₿	••	All day		
	L 5:00	PM	✓ to 5:30 PM	~
		tion		
	Д Rem	ind me: 15 mir		
			More details	Save

P

Calendar doesn't let you to select a specific day/time and then drag with the mouse to select multiple days or a specific time period. Instead, you can make an event a multi-day event later as you edit it.

From here, just enter the information you wish and then select the Save button. Or, if you want to add more information, select "More details." The new event now displays in the full app window and provides more fields for customizing the event.

←	Calendar	- 0
	Home	62
	🔛 Save 🛍 Delete Show as: Busy Reminder: 15 minutes 🕂 🔂 Repeat	
	Details People	
	Image: Second	R
	Sort by Original order	~
	Cocasion Me	
	Start: May 22, 2019	
	End: May 22, 2019	
	Event description	6
節		
×.		
×		
(2)		

This is mostly straightforward. But there are a few things you can do to events that may not be immediately obvious. These include:

Open the new event in its own window to view it side-by-side with other information in the Calendar app or elsewhere. As described previously, you can open the event in its own window so you can view it side-by-side with the main Calendar app window, or with other apps and windows.

Change it to a recurring event. You can change an event into a recurring event by selecting the Repeat button in the toolbar and then configuring the start date, frequency, and end date.

Change it to a multi-day event. If this event is a multi-day event, select "All day" and then change the Start and End dates accordingly.

Make it private. If you're using a shared calendar at work, you can mark an event as private so that your coworkers will see that you're busy at the time of an event, but won't see any of the details of that event. To do so, click the Private button—it looks like a lock—in the toolbar.

Invite other people. If you invite one or more other people to an event using the People picker on the right, it becomes a meeting. We look at meetings later in this chapter.

Add more information about the event. At the bottom of this window, you will find large Event description text box into which you can paste or write a description or any other information you'd like.



You can also create a new event from the Windows desktop. This is described in the section *Create a new event from the desktop* later in this chapter.

Delete an event

To delete an event, open it from any Calendar view and then select the Delete toolbar button. When you do, a pop-down menu appears. What you see here will vary, depending on whether the event is a standalone event or a recurring event:

Standalone event. Here, you will see two items, Delete and Delete event, but only the latter is a selectable option. Why the redundant and non-selectable "Delete" text in that menu? Your guess is as good as ours.

Recurring event. Here, you can choose between deleting just this one instance ("Delete one") or deleting all instances of the event ("Delete all"). As with a standalone event, there is a non-selectable "Delete" option as well.



You can also delete an event by right-clicking it from any calendar view and choosing Delete (or, Delete > Delete Appointment) from the context menu that appears.

Create and manage meetings

When you invite one or more other people to an event, it becomes a *meeting*. This change isn't just semantics: Meetings provide a few additional features when compared to normal events.

Invite others to a meeting

To invite others to a meeting, open or create an event and then select *Invite someone* under People. Then, begin typing the name of a person you'd like to attend. As you type, names from your contacts list that match what you're typing will appear in a drop-down list.

~	Calendar	- 0	\times
	Home	2	
	🔄 Save 🛍 Delete Show as: Busy Reminder: 1 hour 🗘 Repeat		
	Details People		
	. ● ✓ Meeting with Paul ● ✓	R	
	S Paul Thurrott		
	Fontainebleau Miami Beach		
	Start: May 25, 2019		
	End: May 25, 2019 Toto PM V Paul McKiernan		
	Event description Q Paul Thurrott		
-			

Select the correct entry to add them to the list, and repeat as necessary to add other attendees.

Respond to a meeting invitation

Meeting invitations are sent via email using the underlying account that is associated with the calendar you're using. So, for example, if you send a meeting invitation from a Google account, the respondent(s) will receive a Google Calendar invitation.

How these invitations are presented in email will vary somewhat from service to service. But you should see Accept, Tentative, and Decline responses—as Outlook.com defines them—or the equivalent. (Gmail, for example, uses Yes, Maybe, and No instead.)

Here is a meeting invite as displayed in the Windows Mail app.



If you accept the invitation, the meeting will be added to your own calendar. And if you open the meeting, you'll see that it's read-only—you can't change any of the information about the meeting— and that the person who sent the email is listed as the organizer, while you are one of the attendees.
←	Calendar	- 0
	Home	E
	🖫 Save 🛍 Delete 🗸 Accept ? Tentative 🗙 Decline 🔶 Respond Show as: Busy Reminder: 1 hour 🛆	
	Details People Attachments	
	Invitation: Meeting with	
	Paul @ Sat May 25, 2019 Sort by Original order	
	12:00 - 13:00 (EDT)	2
	Saturday, May 25, 2019, 12:00 PM to 1:00 PM Fontainebleau Miami Beach	



There are also some new items in the toolbar: Accept, Tentative, Decline, and Respond buttons that help you alert the organizer to your status if something changes.

Cancel a meeting

To cancel a meeting you created, right-click it in the calendar and select "Cancel" from the context menu that appears. (Or, open the meeting and then select Cancel in the toolbar.) Calendar will prompt you to optionally provide an explanation to invitees about the cancellation.

Access events from outside the Calendar app

While you can use the Calendar app to add and manage events in your online calendars, you will often interact with those events from outside the app. That's because you can access Calendar-based events from from throughout Windows.

The best part? The Calendar app does not have to be running for any of this to work.

See what's happening next from the lock screen

The Windows lock screen displays the time, date and a set of notifications, the latter of which includes a string of quick status notifications plus a single detailed status notification that appears at the bottom. By default, Calendar is configured to provide the detailed status notification, which will display your next event in the lower left of the lock screen.





If Calendar is not configured this way, navigate to Windows Settings (WINKEY + I) > Personalization > Lock screen and select Calendar under "Choose one app to how detailed status on the lock screen."

See what's happening next from Start

If you have pinned the Calendar tile to Start—it's pinned by default—you can view your next event(s) at a glance simply by opening Start.



Remember that you can resize this tile to a larger size to view more events.



See what's happening next from the desktop

To view a detailed agenda, select the Date/time display in the taskbar's Notification area. A fly-out panel will appear, displaying the current month and a scrollable list of your next several Calendar events.

Racycle Bio						1 (Satu):1 Irday, Sep	8:0 tember	7 a 7, 2019	M		
						Sep	tember 2	019				
						1						7
						8						
						15						
						22		24				28
						29	30					
						6						
						Тос	lay					
						Ac	d an eve	nt or ren	ninder			
						7:30 AM Walk/exercise 8:30 AM						
						9:00 11:0	AM D	eep wo	rk			
Figure 1 Type here to search	o 🖽	е 🗖	î (<					· 🛥 🥼	1 (1) 9	0:18 AM	-

Select any event in the list to view it in the Calendar app.



If you don't see a list of events, select the "Show agenda" link.

Create a new event from the desktop

You can create a new event from the desktop, too: Select the Date/time display in the Notification area of the taskbar, as noted above. Then, select the "Add an event or reminder" field and begin typing a name for the event. When you do, several new fields appear.



These include:

Calendar. Select this dropdown to choose the calendar that will be associated with the event.

Start time. Here, you can enter a start time for the event.

End time. Here, you can enter an end time for the event.

Location. Select the "Add a location" field if you wish to associate a location with the event.

The assumption here is that the event you're creating is for today. If you need for this event to happen in the future, or if there are other changes you need to make, select the More details button launch the Calendar app. Otherwise, select Save.

Handle Calendar notifications

Using the schedule established by the Reminder field in each of the events you've created, Calendar will display a pop-up notification banner in the lower right corner of the screen to remind you before an event starts.



This type of notification is interactive, and you can take a surprisingly long list of actions on the event it references. Available choices include:

View the event. It's not particularly obvious, but you can also tap or click on a blank part of the notification to display the event in the Calendar app.

Snooze. You can "snooze" the event reminder and display it again in 5 minutes, 15 minutes, 1 hour, 4 hours, or 1 day.

Dismiss. Select this button to dismiss the notification and disable future reminders for this event.

Move the notification to Action Center. If you mouse over the notification, that arrow in the top right will appear; select it to move the notification to Action Center. This isn't the same as dismissing it, as you can at any later time open Action Center and take action on the notification.

Alert the other meeting attendees you'll be late. If the reminder is for a meeting, an "I'll be late" button lets you alert other attendees that you're running late.

Customize Calendar

You can customize the behavior of Calendar using the app's settings interface. Some other Calendar options can also be found in the Windows Settings app as well.

Personalize the look of the Calendar app

In Calendar app settings > Personalization, you can configure three options that can together dramatically alter the look and feel of the Calendar app: The accent color, app mode, and app background.



Calendar's accent color option determines whether the app uses the system-wide accent color or a custom, app-specific color of your choice.



You configure the system-wide accent color by navigating to Settings (WINKEY + I) > Personalization > Colors > Choose your accent color.

The app mode is what most people think of as a *theme* and it can be set to Light or Dark, or to use the system-wide app mode.



You configure the system-wide app mode by navigating to Settings (WINKEY + I) > Personalization > Colors > Choose your color.

Somewhat unique among the apps that come with Windows, Calendar can also be configured to use a background picture, though you can't typically see much of it. To configure this option, visit the Background section of Personalization, enable "Fill entire window," and then select the image of your choice.

Calendar			- 0 >
	Search	$ ho ~ \leftarrow ightarrow$ May 2019	🔁 Today < Personalization
+ New event	Sunday Monday	Tuesday Wednesday	Thursday
^ May 2019 ↑ ↓	19 20 5 Steph and Kelly in De Miami trip	21 😤 22 😤	
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 19 20 21 22 23 24 25	VeeamOn	Deep Deep work work	Yann Tiersen Deep work Use my Windows accent color
26 27 28 29 30 31 1 9:42 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	2a		Light mode
9 10 11 12 13 14 15		Intervic Intervic	Dark mode
111a 19 20 21 22 11a 23 24 25 26 27 28 29	Flight to Miami	First Ring Daily; S First Ring Daily; S Interview: NewCl	First Ring Daily; S Background
∽ Gmail	2		Fill entire window
✓ Thurrott 1p	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	What Intervie Interview: Veeam	
✓ Outlook ^{2p}	• • • •	Interview: StarWi Windov Weekly	HP Weekly Spectre Thurro'
🛱 Add calendars	2		x360 15 Team H
⊠ k ^e ♦ @		Interview: Wasab	Browse

Customize the work day, work week, and week

Calendar lets you determine which day is the first day of the week, which days are included in a work week (which impacts the corresponding calendar view), and which hours of the day are considered part of the work day. These and other related options are configured by navigating to Calendar app settings > Calendar Settings.

Configure pop-up notification banners

Like other Windows apps, Calendar uses pop-up notification banners to display reminders, in this case about upcoming events. This is enabled automatically. But if you wish to change this behavior, you can do so using the Windows Settings app: Navigate to Settings > System > Notifications & actions and scroll down to the section "Get notifications from these senders."

To disable Calendar notifications entirely, change Calendar to Off in this list.

← Settings		_	٥	×
命 Home	Notifications & actions			
Find a setting	Get notifications from these senders			
System	Select a sender to see more settings. Some senders might also have their own notification settings. If so, open the sender to change them.			
🖵 Display	Calendar On			
ሳ») Sound	On: Banners, Sounds			
Notifications & actions	Mail On: Banners, Sounds On			

To control how Calendar notifications display, select Calendar in the list. A more complete list of Calendar notification options appears. Here, you can determine how Calendar notifies you—with pop-up notification banners, in Action Center, and with or without a corresponding notification sound—and more.

\leftarrow	Settings		-	٥	×
ŵ	Calendar				
Not	tifications Ha On Get	ive a question? t help			
	Show notification banners Keep notifications private on the lock screen Show notifications in action center Play a sound when a notification arrives				
Nui 3	mber of notifications visible in action center				



You can also configure how long notification banners appear. This, confusingly, is found elsewhere: Navigate to Settings > Ease of Access > Display. The default setting for "Show notifications for" is 5 seconds, but you can configure them to display for up to 5 minutes.



The Skype app lets you exchange text messages, audio calls and video calls with your friends, family, and other acquaintances. You can also share photos and other files, express yourself with emojis, animated GIFs, stickers, and other embellishments, and, for a small fee, call land lines and smartphones too.



Skype is also available on smartphones, tablets, and Macs.

Get to know Skype

Skype is a simple-looking app, but it's bursting with functionality. The app is divided into two main areas, a navigation pane on the left and a chat pane on the right.

The navigation pane provides four views:

Chats. Here, you will a list of your recent chats by default, organized chronologically with the most recent chat at the top. You can change the sorting by selecting RECENT CHATS and choosing "Sort by Unread" if you'd like.



Calls. This view displays a list of all of the audio calls, video calls, and land line/smartphone calls you've made. You can filter the view by selecting ALL and choosing "Skype" to display only audio and video calls or "Phone" to display only calls to land lines and smartphones.



Contacts. This view displays all of your Skype contacts and, if enabled, all of the contacts associated with your Microsoft account as well.





Skype allows you to mark individual contacts as favorites so that they will appear in a preferential spot at the top of this and other lists in the app.

Notifications. Like other Windows apps, Skype supports system notifications, but Skype provides many more notification types than most apps. If you miss any notifications—a missed call, perhaps, or a message—they will be listed here, and the Notifications header will display red circle overlay.



The chat pane on the right will change to display your conversation history as you select chats or contacts. This pane is used to send and receive messages, share files, and more.



Configure Skype for the first time

The first time you run Skype on any computer, it will step through a wizard in which you will configure how the app interacts with your contacts, your Skype profile, your microphone, and your webcam.

As noted below, all of these options can be configured or changed later if needed.

Find contacts easily. In the first step, you are asked to let Skype "periodically sync and store your contacts." If you do not allow this, Skype will only be able to access contacts you've connected with in Skype; the contacts in your Microsoft account's address book will be unavailable. If you do enable this feature (by choosing "Continue," you will see your (Microsoft account) contacts in Skype, and you will see your Skype contacts in other Windows apps, like Mail, Calendar, and People.





If you skip contact sync and then later wish to configure this feature, you can do so in the Skype app. Just navigate to More ("...") > Settings > Contacts. You'll see a "Sync your contacts" option right at the top.

Choose your profile picture. In the next step, you are asked to change your profile picture, which is auto-populated if you previously set one up via your Microsoft account.



If you wish to change this picture later, you can do so in the Skype app. Just navigate to More ("...") > Settings > Account & Profile > Profile picture > Add photo.

Test your audio. Here, you are asked to test the microphone and your speakers you will use with Skype. Each is initially configured to use the system default.



If you wish to change to a different microphone or speaker later, or configure Skype to use a different audio device, you can do so. Just navigate to More ("...") > Settings > Audio & Video.

Test your video. In this final step, you are asked to test that your webcam is working properly with Skype.



If you wish to change to a different webcam later, you can do so. Just navigate to More ("…") > Settings > Audio & Video.

Skype has many other features you can configure via its Settings interface. We discuss these as needed throughout the chapter.

Manage your Skype profile

You can manage various aspects of your Skype profile, including information about you that your contacts will see when they access your account through the Skype app on Windows, Mac, mobile, or web.

You can change your availability quickly by selecting your profile picture in the top left corner of the Skype app. The resulting pop-up also provides a way for you to share what you're currently doing. This status information appears under your name when your contacts view your profile.





To change your availability even more quickly, select the little green availability overlay in the lower right of your profile picture and then choose accordingly from the pop-up menu that appears.



You can also access and edit some account and profile information in the app's Settings interface.

Skype			- 0	×
PT Paul Thurrott				
Q. People, groups & messages	×	YOUR SKYPE PROFILE		
e & e (Settings	Profile picture Add photo		
RECENT CHATS V + C	Account & Profile	Skype Name live:thurrott10		
Brad Sams	နိုင္ငံ} General	Email thurrott10@outlook.com		
Paul Thurrott	Appearance	Birthday Add birthday		
E contact card	0 Audio & Video			
	🗞 Calling	Skype to Phone		
	트 Messaging	Call phones at affordable rates		
	D Notifications	Get a second number Get		
	L Contacts	Vour profile Manage how you are seen on Skype		
	i) Help & Feedback	Your account Manage your payments & subscriptions		
		Send and request money		
		Not you? Check account		

But the most complete Skype profile interface is available on the Skype website. The easiest way to get to the correct page is to open Skype (app) Settings and navigate to Account & Profile > Your profile.

🕒 🖅 🔕 Profile Skyp	e My Acco × + ∨								-	٥	\times
\leftarrow \rightarrow \circlearrowright \textcircled{a}	A https://secure.skype.com/pd	ortal/profile?intsrc=cl	lientwindows	-8.46.0.60	userInfo.profile	e&tcg=0d8abc1f-19	eb-4b10-aff3-79419ed43b87 🛄 🛱	煙	h	Ŀ	
Microsof	ft Skype Downloads	Skype to Phone	Skype Number	Features	Products \sim	Get help $ \sim $	All Microsoft $ \lor $ Paul T	hurrott 🗸	РТ		Í
	Profile										ł
	Personal information This is what others will see	on your Skype pr	ofile.			Chang	e password Edit profile				
	Profile picture	2									
	Skype Name	live:thurrott10									
	Name	Paul Thurrott									
	City	Add city									

You can also access other features related to your Skype account—including adding credit so that you can call land lines and mobile phones from Skype—by navigating to Skype (app) Settings > Account & Profile > Your account.

Manage your contacts

Skype maintains a list of people with whom you can converse. This list is called My Contacts and it includes Skype contacts, a Skype bot called "Echo/Sound Test Service" (for testing audio quality during calls), and, if you enabled it, any contacts you have associated with your Microsoft account.

You can view My Contacts by selecting the Contacts icon in the app's left pane.



Each contact is denoted by a small circular green, yellow, or red overlay that indicates that contact's availability. A green overlay means that the contact is active (online and available). Yellow means they are away. And red means "do not disturb" (they are busy).

Add a contact

To add a new contact to Skype, navigate to Contacts and select the Add Contact ("+ Contact") button. The Add a new contact window that appears lets you enter a specific Skype username, if you know that, invite someone to Skype using their email address, or add a contact using their phone number.



In each case, the person you are trying to reach needs to accept the invitation before they are added to your Skype contact list.

Manage contact information

If you right-click on a contact, you will see the following three options:

Add to favorites. Like Microsoft Edge, Skype allows you to configure favorites, in this case, favorite contacts. When you mark a contact as a favorite, that person will appear before the alphabetical list of your other contacts in both the Chats and Contacts views. That can be handy if you have a lot of contacts but only interact with a few of them regularly.

View profile. This option displays a window that is brimming with functionality. You can interact with the contact in various ways—by sending a message, starting a call, and more—and view information in their profile—like their mobile phone number, location, and birthday—that they've made available to their Skype contacts.

Edit contact. Here, you can edit information about that contact as it appears in your Skype only. (That is, you cannot edit another contact's profile image for them or everyone else with which they converse.) For example, you could rename the contact "Paul Thurrott" to just "Paul" or whatever other name you prefer.

Delete or block a contact

If you no longer wish to interact with a contact via Skype, you can delete the contact at any time. To do so, right-click the contact in Contacts, select "Edit contact," and then select "Remove from contact list."

If you are harassed by someone on Skype and wish to prevent them from even viewing your public Skype profile, you can follow the same steps and choose "Block contact" instead.

Send and receive Skype messages

Skype is all about communicating with your friends, family, coworkers, and other acquaintances. The most common Skype activities are straightforward and will be familiar to most users. These include:

Send a message. A typewritten *message*, similar to the text messaging you use on your smartphone, is the most basic form of communication you can engage in with Skype. To send a message, simply select the contact with which you'd like to converse in the Chats view and then start typing in the message box on the right.

Skype			- 0	\times
PT Paul Thurrott		Paul Thurrott * Active nov G Galley Q. Find	D & 2	24 1
Chats Calls Contacts	Q. Notifications			
RECENT CHATS \backsim	+ Chat			
🚱 🍯	Thu			
Paul Thurrott	Thu			
Stephanie Thurrott	Thu		I	
		Hey there. What's going on?	⊳ H	+

Respond to a message. When you receive a chat, that conversation will move to the top of the Chats view and Skype will provide you with some automatically-generated answers (including some

hopefully appropriate emoticons), above the message box. You can select one of those or just keeping writing.



Use emoticons, GIFs, stickers, mojis. If you want to get creative, you can select the Happy Face icon to the left of the message box to open the Expression picker. This interface lets you choose from a wide range of emoticons, animated GIFs, stickers, mojis (which are essentially animated emojis) to add to your conversation.

Stephanie Thurrott	Thu	Emoticons	GIFs	Stickers	Mojis	Q	Search	
		Smile						
		3	0 🕹 📾 🖗	6001	9			
		✓ Type a mess	age here				# ¢ ¢	+



Use the Expression picker's search box to find the perfect emoticon, GIF, sticker, or moji for your mood.

React to a message. Skype also lets you send an inline *reaction* to a message. To do so, select the little Happy Face icon next to any chat bubble in the message view. Then, select the reaction you wish to send.



Engage in a group chat While many of your Skype conversations will be with a single contact, you can add up to 300 contacts to a *group* so you can engage in *group chats*. To create a group, select the Chat ("+ Chat") button at the top of the Chats view, select "New Group Chat" from the pop-up menu that appears, name the group, and then select the contacts you want to appear in the group. Groups appear alongside individual contacts in the Chats view and otherwise work like normal chats.

Projek groups & messages Projek gro	Skype			- 1	5 ×
RECENT CHATS Paul Thurrotts Paul Thurrotts Paul Thurrotts Paul Thurrotts Paul Thurrotts Paul Thurrotts State Paul Thurrotts	PT Paul Thurrott		Thurrotts 3 participants Da Gallery Q. Find	□4 &	°4
RECEIPTION H Chail In Thurrotts 331 PM Auil Thurrott added Paul Th 318 PM Auil Thurrott 318 PM Auil Thurrott 318 PM Auil Thurrott 318 PM Bed Sams Thur Bed Sams Thur Sephanic Thurrott Thur Beach Sams Thur Autort Paul Thurrott has made the data History visible to everyone Autort Market Paul Thurrott has made the data History visible to everyone	Chats Calls Contact	ts Notifications			
Thurrotts Paul Thurrott added Paul Th 3:31 PM Paul Thurrott added Paul Th Image: Paul Thurrott added Paul Th 3:82 PM Paul Thurrott has made the data history visible to everyone Image: Paul Thurrott as made the data history visible to everyone Today Image: Paul Thurrott as made the data history visible to everyone Thur Paul Thurrott has made the data history visible to everyone Image: Paul Thurott as made the data history visible to everyone Thur thur thur thur thur thur thur thur t	RECENT CHATS \sim	+ Chat			
Paul Thurrott 318 PM Not much. What's up for the Today Paul Thurrott has made the chat history visible to everyone Paul Thurrott has made the chat history visible to everyone Paul Thurrott has made the chat history visible to everyone Paul Thurrott has made the chat history visible to everyone Paul Thurrott has made the chat history visible to everyone Paul Thurrott has made the chat history visible to everyone Paul Thurrott has made the chat history visible to everyone Paul Thurrott has made the chat history visible to everyone Paul Thurrott has made the chat history visible to everyone Paul Thurrott has made the chat history visible to everyone Paul Thurott has made the chat history visible to everyone Paul Thurott has made the chat history visible to everyone Paul Thurott has made the chat history visible to everyone Paul Thurott has made the chat history visible to everyone	Thurrotts Paul Thurrott added Paul	3:31 PM I Th			
Brad Sams Thu Paul Thurnet i joined this conversation Image: Sepanie Thurnott Thu Paul Thurnet has reasoned the conversation to "Thurnets" Image: Sepanie Thurnott Thu Data Thurnet haded faul Thurnet to failer conversation	Paul Thurrott Not much. What's up for	3:18 PM	Today Paul Thurrott has made the chat history visible to everyone		
Stephanie Thurrott Thu Paul Thurrott has renamed the conversation to "Thurrotts" Bud Thurrott velded Bud Thurrott velded Bud Thurrott to this conversation	🚱 👍	Thu	Paul Thurrott joined this conversation		
radi munori acuedi vaci munori, stephanie munori	Stephanie Thurrott	Thu	Paul Thurrott has renamed the conversation to "Thurrotts" Paul Thurrott added Paul Thurrott, Stephanie Thurrott to this conversation		
Invite More People			Invite More People		
			○ ▲ ● :		
😳 Type a message here			Image: Type a message here Image: Type a message here	k e C	+



To get someone's attention in a group chat, you can use an @mention (read as "at mention"). For example, to direct a comment at someone named Paul, just type *@paul*. Skype will autocomplete contact names as you type.



Share content and do more with your contacts. Skype lets you share files with your contacts—and perform other tasks, like send money, send a contact card, schedule a call, or create a poll—using the icons in the right of the message box. For example, to share a photo, select the Add files icon, use the File Open dialog that appears to find and select one or more files, and then add them right to the chat.

0	Paul Thurrott	3:37 PM	E.	Paul, 3:18 PM Not much. What's up for the weekend?	9
Th	Thurrotts Paul Thurrott added Paul Th	3:31 PM			B 337 PM
	Brad Sams	Thu			and the second s
	Stephanie Thurrott	Thu			
			0	🤞 🕘 :	
				Type a message here	Add files

Send and receive audio and video calls

In addition to text messages, you can also engage in chat and video calls with one to 25 of your contacts.

To initiate an audio call, select the contact or group with which you'd like to talk and then select the Audio Call button in the upper right of the app. Skype switches to its audio call interface and Skype will play a ringing tone similar to that of a phone ringing.



On the recipient's PC, a Skype call notification will appear, allowing them to accept or decline the call. This notification will appear regardless of whether the recipient is using Skype or some other app or Windows experience at the time the call occurs.



Once the contact—or, in a group audio call, any one contact—answers the call, the audio call starts and the participants can talk to each other as they would via phones.



During an audio call, you can perform numerous other actions:

Mute your microphone. If you would like to mute your microphone temporarily, simply select the Mute button. This acts like a toggle, so you can select it later to unmute your microphone as well.

Hang up. The red End Call button can be used to exit the audio call.

Switch to a video call. You can convert an audio call to a video call at any time by selecting the Turn video on button.



See below for information specific to video calls.

Send messages and other items. Select the Open Conversation button to open a normal Skype chat pane so that you can continue sending messages, sharing files, and so on while talking. This button also works like a toggle, so you can select it again to close the chat window.



Share your screen. To share an application or your entire screen with the other call participant, select the Share screen button. This button also works like a toggle so you can disable screen sharing.



Take a snapshot. The Take snapshot button in the lower left of the audio call experience takes a screenshot of the Skype window and shares it with the other person or people on the call.

Send a reaction. As with Skype chats, the audio call experience lets you send a visual reaction—basically an emoticon—by selecting the Show reactions button and then choosing the reaction you want. The reaction briefly animates in the middle of the Skype app window.



Record the call. The "Start recording" option in the audio call experience's More menu lets you record the Skype call. While recording, a recording toolbar appears at the top of each participant's Skype app window. And the person who recorded the call can end it at any time by selecting "Stop recording" in that toolbar or in the More menu.





The call recording is added to the chat and retained by Skype for 30 days. Any participant can download the recording.

Enable subtitles. Skype provides a fairly amazing live subtitling feature that translates each caller's speech into text that appears in the middle of the app. To enable this feature, select More ("...") and then "Turn subtitles on." This feature also works like a toggle, so perform the same basic steps to disable subtitles too.



Place the call on hold. To place a call on hold—in effect, muting all participants, select More and then "Hold call." This, too, works like a toggle.

Display your chats. Select the "Open recent chats" icon in the top left of the window to display the Chats view and access other chats and other Skype features while in a call.



Do other things. The Skype call will continue if you minimize the Skype app or start using another application or window. While you do, a small Skype call window will appear over your other apps so you can mute your microphone, enable or disable video, hang up, or switch back the full Skype app at any time.



Video calls work similarly to audio calls and virtually every audio call feature mentioned above also works with video calls.

Of course, video calls are started a bit differently than audio calls: You select Skype's Video Call icon instead of the Audio Call button. And when a participant answers a video call, they can choose to use audio only (via the Audio button in the notification) or to use video (via the Video button).

Once a video call connects, the person you're conversing with will appear in most of the Skype window, while your video will appear in a small (and resizable) picture-in-picture window in the upper right. Here, I'm making a video call with myself for demonstration purposes.



There are only a few additional actions of note when making a video call. They are: **Turn video off**. You can disable your video at any time by selecting the Turn video off button. **Blur the background**. You can blur your background if it will be distracting to the other participants.



Call land lines and smartphones

In addition to using Skype to call other Skype users on PCs, Macs, mobile, and web, you can also use it call land lines and smartphones. This feature is called Skype to Phone.

This capability isn't free, so you will need to buy Skype credit in \$5 increments (in the United States) or, if you'll be using this feature a lot, pay for a monthly subscription. You can do so via the Skype website or from the Skype app: Open Settings and navigate to Account & Profile > Skype to Phone > Add funds.



The cost of calling land lines and smartphones varies by destination but is usually very reasonable. A U.S.-based Skype user will pay 2.3 cents per minute when calling others in the U.S. International calls vary wildly based on location and the type of phone you're calling. You can learn more at the Skype website.

Once that's done, you will also want to configure other Skype to Phone features. To do so, select the Use dial pad button—it looks like a phone dial pad—to display Skype's dial pad.



Then, select the Settings gear icon in the upper right to display Calling Settings. Here, you can configure the following:

Caller ID. By default, Skype does not provide Caller ID information to the people you call, so it's likely that many will simply ignore your calls and assume them to be spam. To avoid this, add a valid phone number to the Caller ID option. This can be your own land line or mobile phone number. Or, you can buy a local phone number from Skype that will be linked to your Skype account.

Call forwarding and voicemail. By default, Skype is not configured to support call forwarding or voicemail, both of which will direct missed calls to you accordingly. But you should configure this feature to direct missed calls to voicemail, another Skype account, or to a mobile or land line number.

Show call window when Skype is in the background. As with audio and video calls, Skype will display a small call window when you're using other apps. This is enabled by default and is the desired behavior.

Only allow Skype calls from contacts to ring on this device. Disabled by default, this feature should be changed to Enabled so that you don't receive spam calls to your Skype number.

Call subtitles. As with audio and video calls, Skype can be configured to display automaticallygenerated subtitles during phone calls. And you can further configure it to only display subtitles for other participants in the call (and not for you).

Advanced. When you select the Advanced item, you can configure some very useful options related to answering incoming calls automatically (generally a bad idea), emergency calls, and more.

After all that one-time configuration, actually using Skype to Phone is straightforward: Simply display the Skype dial pad whenever you wish to make a phone call, dial the number, and then use Skype normally.

Configure Skype

Skype provides a surprisingly-rich collection of options which you can configure. Most of these options are available in Skype Settings, and it's worth running through this interface at least once to consider each option. Here, we'll focus on a few that we feel are particularly important.

Use Skype in Split View

By default, Skype provides a single window experience that is typical for Microsoft Store apps. But you can optionally enable a multi-window experience in which a main Skype window—with the Chats, Calls, Contacts, and Notifications views—and each chat are displayed separately, in their own windows.



This feature is not enabled in Skype Settings. Instead, navigate to More ("...") and select "Enable split view mode."

Configure the theme

Skype supports the Windows and app mode—or "theme"—color functionality in Windows, meaning that it can display in a Light or Dark mode, but you may wish to change its behavior. To do so, open Skype Settings and navigate to Appearance.

Skype			
	·· Doul Thursott		
	× Settings		
	Account & Profile		
	දිාි General	Light	
	* Appearance	😔 Dark	
Paul Thurrott	0 Audio & Video	Use system setting	
	Calling	ACCESSIBLE MODES	
😤 Brad Sams T	트 Messaging	High contrast light	
Stephanie Thurrott T	Ĵ. Notifications	High contrast dark	
	Contacts		
	i Help & Feedback	Enable compact list mode	
			1 • • • • • +

Here, you can change the app's accent color and mode—again, "theme"—to be Light, Dark, or automatically configured to match the system-configure app mode. There are also some accessibility options here and a "compact list mode" you can enable that displays more content in the Chats, Calls, Contacts, and Notifications views.

Change the text size

In Skype Settings > Messaging, there is an option called Text size which relates to the text in chats and can be configured to Smaller, Small, Normal, Large, or Larger.

Configure Skype notifications

Like many Windows apps, Skype supports system notifications that can alert you when something happens, even if you're not using the app. But this functionality is particularly important for communications apps like Skype. And a bit complex, since Skype supports roughly a dozen different kinds of notifications. Which you can see by navigating to Skype Settings > Notifications.

Skype			- 8 ×
PT Paul Thurrott	Daul Thurrott		
Q. People, groups & messages	× Settings	NOTIFICATIONS Chat notifications Receive push notifications for new messages	ings are available for 30 days
RECENT CHATS ~ + Ch	Account & Profile	Contact comes online notification	
	{်္ပဲ General	Reactions	
Paul Thurrott	* Appearance	neceive push notifications when someone reacts to your message.	
Thurrotts	0 Audio & Video	Play sounds for new messages	
The Paul Thurrott added Paul Thurrot	🗞 Calling	Show in app notifications from Skype about features. Critical system notifications will still be shown even if toggled off.	
Brad Sams	트 Messaging	In-app sounds Play sounds for in-app banner notifications	
Stephanie Thurrott	D. Notifications	Scheduled call notifications Receive push notifications for scheduled calls	
	L Contacts	Poll notifications Receive push notifications for polls	
	(j) Help & Feedback	DO NOT DISTURB	
		Show chat notifications	

As you use Skype, you'll get a feel for which types of notifications are useful and which are just annoying. But some of these notification types are truly superfluous, and you should consider disabling at least a few of these. And perhaps disabling notification sounds if you're sensitive to noisy interruptions.



Microsoft Edge is the successor to Internet Explorer and the web browser that Microsoft now includes with Windows. As good, Edge is available on Android devices, iPhones, iPads, and Macs, too, so you can use it on all of your devices.

Here, of course, we focus on using Edge with Windows.

Get to know Microsoft Edge

For the most part, Microsoft Edge looks and works much like other modern web browsers. It offers a streamlined user experience with tabbed browsing, an address bar with integrated search, and mostly-obvious access to common browser functions.



But some Edge functionality is less obvious. For example, many additional commands are available via the Settings and more ("...") button to the far right of the toolbar. When you select this button, a menu appears.

D	aboutblank		× +					-	٥	×
\leftarrow	\rightarrow O	ធ	℅ Search or enter web address			v≜	Ē	~		
					New tab			Ctrl+T		2
					New window			Ctrl+N		
				Rew InPrivate window Ctrl+Shift+N						
					Zoom	-	100%	+	2	
				5Å≣	Favorites				>	
				3	History				>	
				$\underline{\downarrow}$	Downloads			Ctrl+J		
				₽	Apps				>	
				\$	Extensions					
				¢	Collections					
				凸	Print			Ctrl+P		
				R	Share					
				Þ	Find on page			Ctrl+F		
				A»	Read aloud		Ctrl+	Shift+U		
					More tools				>	
				0	Settings					
				?	Help and feed	ack			>	
5	MicrosoftEdgeSet Open file	nbexe			Close Microsof	t Edge				×

P

You can also type ALT + F to open the Settings and more menu. That may seem non-obvious at first, but it's the same keyboard shortcut that's used to open the File menu in many traditional Windows applications.

And it pays to right-click: Doing so with various onscreen elements—Microsoft Edge's tabs, and various items like text, graphics, and hyperlinks in web pages—will often display additional options.



As with other browsers, Microsoft Edge provides access to your saved bookmarks—which Microsoft calls *favorites* for some reason—in a menu via a Favorites button on the toolbar.



You can customize the Edge toolbar to toggle the display of built-in buttons like Home, Favorites, and Collections to your needs. Likewise, most extensions you install will add a toolbar button too, and those can be hidden in the Settings and more menu. In most cases, just right-click the button you don't want.

Microsoft Edge also supports a full-screen mode like other web browsers so that you can use every pixel on your PC's display. The easiest way to toggle this full-screen display mode is to type *F11*. But you can also use the Full screen button in the Settings and more menu; it resembles a double-tipped arrow and can be found to the right of the zoom options.

Microsoft Edge also provides a configurable reading view called *Immersive reader* that removes advertisements and other distractions so that you can more easily read articles and other online content. When Immersive reader is available, an icon that resembles a book will appear in the right of the Microsoft Edge address bar.





You can learn more about Immersive reader in the section *Read articles on the web without distractions* later in this chapter.

Finally, Microsoft Edge includes unique features that you won't find in other web browsers, like *Collections*, which helps you collect information you find online while doing research. This can be used for school or work projects, trip research, shopping comparisons, and more, and it is described in greater detail later in this chapter.



Make sure you're using the new Microsoft Edge

As of this writing, Windows 10 still ships with the original version of Microsoft Edge, which Microsoft now refers to as legacy Edge. That older browser is being replaced with a new version that is based on the Chromium open source project.



Yes, *that* Chromium open source project. Microsoft Edge now uses the same underpinnings as Google Chrome, the world's most popular web browser. That means it offers the same compatibility and performance as Chrome, but because Microsoft removes all of Google's sneaky tracking functionality, the new Edge is more secure and private. It's a win-win.

But this temporary condition means that you need to download and install the new Microsoft Edge, even if you've just upgraded to the latest Windows 10 version. Doing so replaces legacy Edge, but if you were using legacy Edge previously—which is unlikely—all of your favorites (bookmarks), passwords, and some settings will carry over to the new version.



At some point, doing this manually will no longer be required and you will automatically received the new Edge from Windows Update.

To upgrade to the new Edge, open legacy Edge and navigate to microsoft.com/edge. Then, simply download and install the new Edge as prompted. If you sign-in to Windows 10 with your Microsoft account as we recommend, you will be signed-in to Edge as well, and can use your Microsoft account to sync favorites (bookmarks), passwords, saved form information, and some settings between your PCs and, if you use Microsoft Edge on mobile, with your smartphone as well.



The new Microsoft Edge will soon support syncing your browser history, open tabs, extensions, and a feature called Collections as well.

Configure Microsoft Edge

If you plan to use Microsoft Edge at all—and we highly recommend doing so—you should spend the time to really examine its many options and configure it to work the way you prefer. The first time you run Edge, you're provided with a few basic configuration options related to the new tab page layout. But there is so much more to configure.

As you might expect, most of these options are found in the app's settings interface. To find this, select the Settings and more ("...") button in the upper right of the browser and then choosing Settings. Or, navigate to edge://settings

Edge settings opens in its own tab and provides multiple views, arranged in logical categories, that are accessed via the list on the left. You can also search for specific options if you can't find what you're looking for.



In the next few sections, we'll examine some of the key options you should consider configuring, here in Edge settings and elsewhere.

Sign-in with your Microsoft account and sync settings

If you sign-in to Windows with your Microsoft account as we recommend, you will automatically be signed-in to Edge as well, and you will be prompted to enable sync the first time you use the browser. However, you can configure these features at any time in Edge settings > Profiles (edge://settings/profiles).

From this interface, you can determine which Edge features sync between PCs (and, when available, on smartphones and other mobile devices); manage your saved passwords, payment information, addresses and phone information, and more.

Import data from another browser

If you're interested in switching to Microsoft Edge from another web browser—or perhaps you just wish to access your other web browser's bookmarks (favorites) and possibly other data, such as browsing history, cookies, saved passwords, form data, and settings in Edge—you can do so from Edge settings > Profiles > Import browser data.
🕲 Settings 🗙 +					-	٥	×
\leftarrow \rightarrow \circlearrowright $\widehat{\mathbf{O}}$ $\widehat{\mathbf{O}}$ Edge edge://	settings/importData	岸	造	面	R	۹	
Settings	Your profile			+ A	dd prof	île	
Profiles Privacy and services	Import browser data Import from Microsoft Internet Explorer		[Sigr	n out		
 → poperance On sartup On sartup New tab page Site permissions ± Downloads tanguages Printers System System 	Choose what to import C Favorites or bookmarks Saved passwords Saved passwords B Saved passwords Home page B Saved passwords Home page C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C						
Phone and other devices About Microsoft Edge	Import Cancel						



To import data from another browser, that browser must also be installed on the same PC. And the import capabilities you see will vary from browser to browser, an

To import browser data, select the browser to import from, optionally choose which data to import, and then select the Import button.



Microsoft Edge doesn't provide an export feature for all browser data. But you can export your favorites from the Favorites interface (edge://favorites/)

Configure tracking protection

Microsoft heavily promotes the privacy features in its Edge web browser to contrast it with Google Chrome, which is designed to let advertisers track its users as the browse the web. So it is perhaps not surprising that the Edge tracking protection controls are the first thing you see in Edge settings > Privacy (edge://settings/privacy).



As you can see, Microsoft Edge provides three levels of tracking protection:

Basic. In this least restrictive protection level, only known malicious trackers are blocked. This offers the highest level of functionality, but does nothing to prevent advertisers from tracking you across the web. In other words, this modes works much like Google Chrome.

Balanced. This default protection level blocks malicious trackers and trackers from sites you have not visited. This level offers a high level of functionality, but it won't stop websites you have visited from tracking you.

Strict. At this protection level, Edge blocks almost all trackers. The problem is that doing so can break some website functionality. For example, you may find that you need to sign-in to websites repeatedly.



Our recommendation? Basic is too basic and strict is too strict, so we use the Balanced protection level. But we augment it with a browser extension called Privacy Badger that improves on Balanced without breaking the web like Strict. Among other things, this extension blocks trackers that are used for advertising instead of functionality.

Change the search engine

Microsoft Edge is configured to use Microsoft's Bing search engine by default. It's really well hidden, but you can configure Edge to use the search engine you prefer instead.

To do so, navigate to Edge settings > Privacy > Address bar (under "Services"). (Or, just navigate to edge://settings/search.) Here, you can select Google or whatever search engine you like.

⊗ Settings × +				-	٥	×
\leftarrow \rightarrow \circlearrowright \textcircled{a} \textcircled{e} Edge	edge://settings/search	ధ	企 団	ጽ	۹	
Settings	 Privacy and services / Address bar 					
	Show me search and site suggestions using my typed characters					
R Profiles	If you turn this off, you'll only see suggestions damy my spect characters address bar.	ers won't be sent to the search	engine used in	the		
Privacy and services	Search angine used in the address har	Ring (Por	ommondod .	dofault)	~	
Appearance	Search engine used in the address bar	bing (kec	ommended, o	ueraunt)		
() On startup	Manage search engines	Bing (Re	commended,	default)		
New tab page		Yahoo!				
Site permissions		Google	lhn			
↓ Downloads		DuckDuc	ckGo			
		Ecosia				
A≠ Languages		Faceboo	k			
toj Printers		thurrott	com			
□ System					-	
O Reset settings						

Choose a theme

Like Windows and the modern apps with which it comes, Microsoft Edge supports an *app mode*, which can be Light or Dark. However, Microsoft Edge inconsistently refers to this app mode differently than do Windows and other apps: It uses the term *theme* instead.

To configure this feature, navigate to Edge settings > Appearance (edge://settings/appearance). Default theme is the first option here, and you can choose between Light, Dark, and System default (which will configure the theme to match the default app mode in Windows).



The system-wide app mode is configured by opening the Settings app and navigating to Personalization > Colors > "Choose your color."

Customize the Microsoft Edge toolbar

Microsoft Edge displays navigational buttons like Back, Forward, and Home to the left of the address bar and other buttons, like Favorites, Collections, Send feedback, and Profiles, plus any buttons related to extensions, to the right of the address bar. However, many of these buttons can be hidden if you don't need them.



Back, Forward, and Profiles cannot be hidden.

In most cases, you can hide a button by right-clicking it and choosing "Hide from toolbar." (Or, if it's an extension button, by choosing "Move to the menu," which will hide it in the Settings and more menu.)

D	aboutbla	nk			< +				-	٥	×
\leftarrow		Ö	ŵ	2	Search or enter web address	1/4	r∕≡	10	R	۹	
								Hi	de from	toolbar	

But you can also configure the display of all of the built-in toolbar buttons that can be hidden by navigate to Edge settings > Appearance (edge://settings/appearance) and looking under Customize toolbar.

Configure what happens when Edge launches

By default, Microsoft Edge displays its new tab page when it is first launched. But this can be changed to display a specific page or set of pages, or, even more ideally to display whatever set of tabs you had open the last time you used the browser.

To configure this behavior, navigate to Edge settings > On startup (edge://settings/onStartup).

🛞 Setting	s × +			-	۵	×
$\leftarrow \rightarrow$	🖒 🏠 🙋 Edge edge://	settings/onStartup	<u>√</u> = ₹	1 R	۹	
Set	ttings	On startup				
Q	Search settings	Open a new tab				
A	Profiles	O Continue where you left off				
۵	Privacy and services	Open a specific page or pages				
9	Appearance	D				
0	On startup	Pages	Ad	a new j	age	
	New tab page	Microsoft News				
60	Site permissions	nups//www.inicrosolutews.com/				
$\overline{\uparrow}$	Downloads	Set to all currently open tabs	Use	all open	tabs	
27	Languages	The cours your content as or pages and repaides them with all your currently open cage tabs				



We discuss the new tab experience later in the chapter.

Disable automatic media playback in websites

Less scrupulous websites will begin automatically playing a video or other media whenever an article or other web page fully loads. This behavior is annoying even when it happens with the volume muted. But Microsoft Edge can help you prevent it from happening ... with a few limits.

To configure this, navigate to Edge settings > Site permissions > Media autoplay (edge://settings/content/mediaAutop Here, you will find a single option, Control if audio and video play automatically on sites.

By default, it is set to Allow. But if you change it to Limit, Microsoft Edge will start blocking media playback "based on what you've blocked in the past." That is, you have to train it. You can't just literally block all autoplay media, as you could in legacy Edge.



What's our advice? For now, change this to Limit. We're investigating whether there is a browser extension that fixes this problem universally.

Manage multiple profiles in Edge

Microsoft Edge supports multiple *user profiles* that let you browse the web under different personas, each with its own browsing history, favorites, passwords, and other data. So in addition to the profile that is associated with your Microsoft account, you can add others. These can include profiles related to other Microsoft accounts or work or school accounts.

To add another profile, select the Profiles button in the Edge toolbar—it will display your Microsoft account profile picture if you've signed-in—and then Add a profile and Add. A new Microsoft Edge window will appear, prompting you to sign-in.

New tab X +				-	٥	×
\leftarrow \rightarrow O \sim Search or enter web address	公	r∕≡	匝	ନ୍ଦି 🕻	9	••
For quick access, place your favorites here on the favorites bar. Manage favorites now						
See your favorites, passwords and more on any device					×	Â
Sign in to sync data You can customize your sync settings once you sign in						
				Confirm		
				10:30.4	M	
🔲 🔎 Type here to search 🛛 🔍 🗒 🔂 💭	^ •		6. 0	5/4/20	20	2

From here, you can choose another Microsoft account or a work or school account.

The latter account type works much like a Microsoft account but is centrally-managed by your employer or school and uses Microsoft's Azure Active Directory (AAD) on the backend. When you sign-in to this type of account, you'll be asked to allow your organization to manage this device. We recommend choosing "This app only" so that your organization can only control Microsoft Edge and not your entire PC.

After you sign-in to your account, you are prompted to sync browser data like favorites, passwords, Collections, addresses, and more. And then you can commence with browsing in the new Edge window.

There are a few big changes when you configure two or more profiles in Edge. First, each profile uses its own window (or windows, if you choose to open more), and that window will be displayed separately on the Windows taskbar. Too, each profile will display your profile picture as an overlay on the Edge icons on the taskbar so that you can visually identify them more easily.



To switch to another profile, select the Profiles button and then the profile you wish to use.

To edit the name of a profile or remove it from your PC, open that profile, select the Profiles button, and then select "Manage profile settings." Or, just navigate to Settings > Profiles (edge://settings/profiles). Then, select the More actions ("...") button.

Settings × +					-	٥	×
\leftarrow \rightarrow \circlearrowright \textcircled{O} Edge edge://settings/	'profiles	☆	7Å≡	Ē	R		
Settings	Your profile			+ A	dd prot	file	Â
Search settings Profiles Privacy and services	Live.com thurott@live.com • Sync is on			Sigi Edit	n out		
③ Appearance④ On startup New tab page	 Manage account Sync 		١	Remove		2	

Manage your favorite web pages

Microsoft Edge works much like other web browsers when it comes to saving and managing your favorite web pages. So this process should be familiar to most.

Save and manage favorites

Like other web browsers, Microsoft Edge lets you save links to your favorite web pages so that you can access them more easily in the future. Unlike other web browsers, Microsoft Edge calls these links *favorites*, and not bookmarks.

As noted previously, you can view your favorites by selecting the Favorites button in the Edge toolbar to display the Favorites menu.



If the Favorites button is not visible in the Edge toolbar, open the Settings and more menu and choose Favorites there instead. In this case, Favorites will appear as a sub-menu off of the Settings and more menu.

To manage your Favorites, open the Manage Favorites interface, which is available as a link at the top of the Favorites menu or by navigating to edge://favorites.

st≣ Favorites x +			-	٥	×
\leftrightarrow \rightarrow \circlearrowright \textcircled{a} \textcircled{e} Edge	edge://favorites	☆ 烽 🖻	Ŕ	۹	
Favorites	Favorites bar				
✓ Search favorites	Thurrott.com	https://www.thurrott.com/		×	
🛧 Favorites bar	A Leanpub	https://leanpub.com/		×	
Other favorites	# Microsoft	https://www.microsoft.com/en-us/		×	
	G Google	https://www.google.com/?gws_rd=ssl		×	
	di Apple	https://www.apple.com/		×	
	Facebook	https://www.facebook.com/		×	
Add favorite					
Add folder					
Import favorites					
Export favorites					
Remove duplicate favorites					



You can also open this view by typing CTRL + SHIFT + O.

Here, you can add new folders, arrange individual favorites or folders by dragging and dropping, and perform other related actions.



To edit a favorite, right-click it and choose "Edit."

To save a favorite, navigate to a web page you like and select to the (star-shaped) Add this page to favorites button that's on the right side of the address bar. A new pane opens so you can save the favorite.

T Personal Technology News, Rev. X +				- 0	×
\leftarrow \rightarrow O \textcircled{a} $\textcircled{https://www.thurrott.com}$		S G 🔨	☆ @	ନ୍ଦ 🌘	
🚯 🗥 My Sites 🚳 Thurrott.com 🖌 Customize 📀 24 👎 20 🕂 New 🕅 🚯 💵 Insights	Favorite added	×	Howdy, Paul T	'hurrott 🏢	۹,
≡ Our Other Sites	Name nal Technology News, Revie	ews + Analysis	About Thurrott.r	com paul-th	urrott
Thurrott	Folder Favorites bar	~			
The Home for Tech Enthusiasts: News, Reviews & Analysis	More Done	Remove			
Home Windows 10 Mobile Cloud Office Home + Media Xbox + Games Podcasts Paul Premium Cont		search unis sid	e		Q

Here, you can take the following following actions:

Rename the favorite. Microsoft Edge will automatically use the title of the web page as the name of the favorite. But you can edit this selection to something shorter or more obvious as needed.

Folder. By default, Microsoft Edge will save each favorite in the root of the Favorites folder. To change the location—perhaps to the Favorites Bar or some other folder—select the Folder drop-down list and navigate through the folder tree under Save in until you find the folder you want. A "Choose another folder" link will provide access to the full list of choices and, if needed, let you create a new folder.

Save the favorite. Select the Done button to save the favorite.

Call a mulligan. Select the Remove button to cancel the save.

Pin an often-used web page to a tab

Microsoft Edge lets you pin favorite web pages to the web browser as special mini-tabs that appear every time you open the first application window. These pinned mini-tabs appear at the top left of Edge, and to the left of the first normal tab.

•	*	T Perso	onal Technology News, Rev 🗙 +					-	σ	×
\leftarrow	Ö	ធ	A https://outlook.live.com/mail/0/inbox	\oplus	×4	Σγ≡	Ē	R	۹	

To pin a page to a mini-tab in Microsoft Edge, open it in the browser, right-click the page's tab at the top, and then choose "Pin tab" from the pop-up menu that appears. You can in turn unpin a pinned tab in the same manner; just choose "Unpin tab" from the pop-up menu that appears.



To be clear, pinned tabs only appear in the first Edge window you open.



Pinned tabs reappear each time you use Edge. But if you have multiple Edge windows open and close the window with the pinned tabs *before* closing other windows, you'll lose the pinned tabs. To get them back the next time you run Edge, navigate to Settings and more ("...") > History and select the most recent item in the Recently closed list.



We examine other features related to tabs in the section Manage tabs, later in the chapter.

Pin a favorite web app or web page to the taskbar

Microsoft Edge also lets you pin favorite web pages to the taskbar. This is useful for web apps like Outlook.com, Twitter, or whatever that you may wish to access alongside the other application shortcuts you've pinned to the taskbar.

The interface you see will differ depending on whether the site you're visiting has been designed as a Progressive Web Application (PWA) or not. But you can pin any web page to the taskbar.

If you do navigate to a PWA, an Install button ("+") will appear in the rightmost part of the address bar. Select this button to install the PWA and and pin it to your taskbar.

	Mail - Paul Thurrott - Outlook	× Calendar - Paul Thurr	ott - Outlo : 🗙 🛛 👽 Tasks - 1	io Do 🛛 🗙	Person	al Technology News, Rev 🗙	+			-	٥	×
\leftarrow	→ ℃ ⋒ E	https://outlook.live.com	n/mail/0/inbox				⊕ ☆	r∕≡	Ē	R	۹	
	Outlook	₽ Search			Install ap	p	¹⁰ ×	₽			ç.)	۲
=	New message 🛛 Mar	rk all as read 😕 Undo				outlook.live.com						C
	ා 🖂 Focused 🖻	국 Other Filter ~		· +1		Install	Cancel			INTRODU AT8		V

Then, right-click its taskbar button and choose "Pin to taskbar."

To pin any web page to the taskbar, open it in Microsoft Edge, then open Settings and more ("...") and choose More tools and then "Pin to taskbar." You will be prompted to edit the name.

0	Mail - Paul Thurrott - Outlook 🛛 🗙 📔 G	alendar - Paul Thurrott - O	utlo: 🗙 💉 Tasks - To Do	× 👎 Per	sonal Technology News,	$Rev \times +$				-	٥	×
	ightarrow $ ightarrow$ $ ightarrow$ $ ightarrow$ https://te	o-do.live.com/tasks/	?fromOwa=true				☆	∱≡	函	R	۹	
	Outlook		Pin to taskbar		_						. 9	۲
=		Tasks …	Microsoft To Do					†↓ Sort		D TH	ne new 1	asks
*	My Day	+ Add a tasl		Pin	Cancel							
☆	Important				_							

Here, the three rightmost shortcut buttons on the taskbar—for Outlook.com, Microsoft To-Do, and Thurrott.com—were pinned from Microsoft Edge.

🖷 🔎 Type here to search 🛛 🔿 🛱 🙋 👼 🟦 🚖 🥶 🤡 🔮 🚏 💦 🔺 🛎 🤹 🕸	10:51 AM 5/4/2020	2
---	----------------------	---

Pinned web apps and web pages can be managed in the Edge Apps settings interface (edge://apps/).

₽ Apps × +			-	٥	×
\leftarrow \rightarrow \circlearrowright \textcircled{O} \textcircled{O} Edge edge://ap	ps	☆ 烽 健	1 R	۹	
Apps	Installed apps				
∠ ¢ \$earch Apps	0 Office		>	×	
🕒 Installed apps	Outlook		>	×	
	✓ Microsoft To Do		>	×	
	Thurrott.com		>	×	

There is one important setting here: Each app and page can appear as a tab inside the main Edge application window or as its own standalone app (or app-like window). To configure this for an individual app or web page, right-click it in the Installed Apps list and toggle the "Open in full browser" choice. When enabled, it will open in a tab, not a window.

$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c } & \blacksquare & $	//apps		☆ ∲ @	- (R (× t
Apps	Installed apps				
✓ Search Apps	1 Office			×	
Installed apps	G Outlook	Open in full browser		×	
	 Microsoft To Do 	Pin to		×	
	Thurrott.com	D Uninstall		×	



Pinned web pages are managed like any other taskbar shortcut. To remove one, right-click it and choose "Unpin from taskbar." You can also remove pinned apps and pages from the Edge Apps settings interface (edge://apps/): Just select the Uninstall button ("x") next to the app/page you wish to remove.

Read on the web

At a high level, Microsoft Edge works much like other browsers when it comes to its basic reading capabilities. You can change the zoom level on the fly using keyboard shortcuts (CTRL + Plus, CTRL + Minus) or with the Zoom toggle in Edge's Settings and more menu. You can use the Find on page (CTRL + F) feature to find specific words or phrases in any web page. And Microsoft Edge supports a privacy feature, called *InPrivate*, that can keep what you read on the web private to you, and away from your stored (and synced) web browsing history.

In addition to that common functionality, Microsoft Edge also offers a number of unique reading features. We'll discuss those features related to reading on the web here, and then additional features related to PDF files, another common document type on the web, later in the chapter.

Read articles on the web without distractions

Microsoft Edge offers a nice Immersive reader experience that displays web articles without any of the surrounding advertisements and other distractions.

You must enable Immersive reader manually on a page-by-page basis. To do so, navigate to a web article you wish to read. Then, select the Immersive reader icon in the address bar.





The Immersive reader icon only appears when Edge is displaying a web article.



You can also press F9 to enable Immersive reader.

When you do, the article reloads in a themed Immersive reader view.



Immersive reader provides several useful options via a toolbar that auto-hides by default after a brief appearance. To display this toolbar later, click (or tap) anywhere in browser window, or move the mouse cursor towards the top of the view.

Al Read aloud 🗛 Text preferences 🗮 Reading preferences 👼 Grammar tools | 🖙

From left to right, the available options include:

Read aloud. This feature will read the web article aloud to you. It is described in more detail in the section *Read a web article aloud*.

Text preferences. This item opens a pane that lets you customize the Immersive reader's text size, text spacing, and theme so that it looks exactly the way you like.



Reading preferences. Here, you can enable and configure a line focus feature that will highlight one, three, or fives lines of text (your choice) as you read.



Grammar tools. This feature can help you learn to read better by providing a set of tools right in the article you are currently reading. You can learn more in the section *Improve your reading skills*.

Pin/Unpin toolbar. To keep this toolbar visible all the time, select the Pin toolbar button.

Some browser features, like printing and displaying the browser in full-screen mode, also work well with Immersive reader. If you print an article while in this view, for example, it will print it in the style used by Immersive reader.

Read a web article aloud

Microsoft Edge provides a unique feature called *read aloud* that will, as its name suggests, read a web article aloud to you over the PC's default playback device (typically its speakers). It's like listening to an audiobook, and though it is a little robotic, some of the voices Microsoft provides are quite good.

To utilize this feature, display the Immersive reader toolbar and select the Read aloud button. When you do so, the Read aloud controls will appear in the toolbar and Microsoft Edge will begin reading the article aloud to you. As it does, it highlights the current word in yellow.



The Read aloud toolbar has buttons for Play/Pause and for jumping to the previous or next paragraph. The Voice options button can be used to configure the speed of playback and to choose a different voice.

Improve your reading skills

The Grammar tools button in the Microsoft Edge Immersive reader toolbar provides access to tools that may help you learn how to read better. This functionality can be useful for anyone who has

dyslexia, trouble with word decoding, or any other kind of reading disorder. It can also be useful for people learning another language.

The Grammar tools drop-down provides two tools:

Syllables. When you toggle this option on, web articles in reading mode will split apart words into their constituent syllables so that you can sound them out more easily as you read.

Parts of speech. This set of options lets you toggle the highlighting of particular parts of speech—for nouns, verbs, and/or adjectives—so that you can better understand which is which. Each is coded with its own configurable color, so it's not confusing if two or more are enabled at the same time.

Manage website notifications

As web technologies advance, websites are starting to adopt capabilities that were previously only available to native applications. Among these features is the ability to send you notifications when something happens. For example, a web-based email service can send a notification when a new message arrives. Or a news site can send you a notification when there is breaking news.

What makes these website notifications particularly compelling in Windows is that they can integrate with Action Center alongside system and app notifications.

When you do visit a website that can deliver notifications, you will be prompted at the top of the Microsoft Edge window.



If you select Allow, that website will now display notifications that look and work just like any other notifications in Windows. A pop-up notification banner will appear in the lower right of your display.



If you select this notification in time, Microsoft Edge will appear with the proper tab selected so you can respond to whatever triggered the notification.



The notification will also display in the Action Center (WINKEY + A) so you can deal with it anytime in the future.

Microsoft Edge maintains a list of the websites for which you have accepted notifications. If you don't find this behavior useful, you can disable notifications on a site-by-side basis. To do so, open Microsoft Edge and select Settings and more ("...") and navigate to Site permissions > Notifications (edge://settings/content/notifications).

Settings × +	-	o ×
\leftarrow \rightarrow \circlearrowright \triangle C Edge edge://settings/content/notifications \Rightarrow \Rightarrow \blacklozenge	ନ୍ 🌗	
Settings < Site permissions / Notifications		
Search settings Ask before sending (recommended)		
A Profiles Will block if turned off		
A Privacy and services Block	Add	
Appearance https://www.pcworld.com:443		
() On startup		
E New tab page	Add	
G Site permissions O https://play.google.com:443		

Here, you can configure notifications on a site-by-site basis. If you now wish to disable notifications from a particular site, select the More actions ("...") button next to that site and choose "Block" (or "Remove").

Read and manage PDF files

Microsoft Edge isn't just a web browser: It can also be used to read and annotate PDF (portable document format) files. While it's not as full-featured as some PDF readers, it should meet most people's needs.

Read a PDF file

To read a PDF file, simply open one anywhere in your file system or on the web.



Microsoft Edge doesn't offer a Reading view for PDFs as it does for web articles as these documents are purposefully structured so that they always appear as the author intended But it does offer several reading options via a toolbar that is enabled and pinned on by default.



You can toggle the display this toolbar at any time. To hide it, select the Unpin toolbar button at the far right of the toolbar. When you do so, it auto-hides, much like the Immersive reader toolbar.

From left to right, the available commands are:

Page number. Select here to enter a new page number and jump directly to that point in the document.

Zoom out and Zoom in. The handy minus and plus buttons can be used to zoom out and into the document, respectively. (You can also use the keyboard shortcuts CTRL + $\hat{a} \in$ [minus] and CTRL + (plus], respectively.)

Rotate. If you select this button, the document will rotate 45 degrees to the right. This is useful for viewing scanned documents that are not oriented correctly.

Fit to width/Fit to page. Use this button, or the keyboard shortcut CTRL + SHIFT + A, to toggle the display of the document between full width and full page views.



Draw. You can draw on a PDF using a digital pen, your finger, or your mouse, depending on the capabilities supported by your PC.

Print. Use this button to print the PDF, obviously.

Save. Especially handy when viewing a web-based document, the Save button lets you save the PDF to your PC, or save an existing document with in a new location and/or with a new name.



As with Immersive reader, common browser functions like Full screen (F11) and Find on page (CTRL + F) all work normally while viewing a PDF too.



Some common PDF features, like the ability to display its table of contents, alas, are missing in action in the new Edge. But so are some unique features from legacy Edge, like Read aloud.

Fill in a PDF form

Many PDF files are forms which you must fill out. You can do so with Microsoft Edge and then save the file with the data you entered. From there, you can print it out, email it back to the sender, or otherwise share the edited file with others.

Filling out a form in a PDF file is straightforward: Simply select each field, in turn, and type. You can press TAB to jump to the next field.

D PDF Form Example x +		-	٥	×
$\leftarrow \ \ \rightarrow \ \ \textcircled{O} \ \ \texttt{Not secure} \ \ \ \ \texttt{foersom.com/net/HowTo/data/OoPdfFormExample.pdf} \qquad \qquad$	r≜ @	à R	۹	
1 of 1 - + 𝔅 ↔ \∀ Draw	& Erase	8		* ^
Please fill out the following fields. Important fields are marked yellow.				
Given Name: Paul				
Family Name: Thurrott				
Address 1: House nr:				
Address 2: Postcode: City:				h

Do more with a PDF file

Microsoft Edge is only a basic PDF reader, but it does offer a few other useful but non-obvious PDF features. These include:

Highlight the selected text. Select some text and then right-click and choose "Highlight" and then your choice of four colors.



Copy the selected text to the Clipboard. Select the Copy button to copy the selected text (and/or images) to the system clipboard so that it can be pasted elsewhere.

And, yeah, that's about it. Since legacy Edge supported so many more PDF features, it's possible that the new Edge will be improved over time to add some back.

Manage tabs

Like other web browsers, Microsoft Edge provides full support for tabs, which let you work with multiple websites in a single window. For the most part, tabs work as you'd expect, and you can easily find tab-related options by right-clicking the current tab.

Rew tab					-	٥	×
$\leftarrow \rightarrow \circ$		New tab	Ctrl+T	☆ た 団	R	۹	
👕 Thurrott.com	O	Refresh	Ctrl+R	Facebook			
		Duplicate tab					
		Move tab to new window				ö	- 1
	Д	Pin tab				H.	- 1
	٩×	Mute tab	Ctrl+M				- 1
		Close tab	Ctrl+W				- 1
		Close other tabs		Microsoft			- 1
		Close tabs to the right					- 1
		Reopen closed tab	Ctrl+Shift+T				- 1
		Add all tabs to favorites	Ctrl+Shift+D				- 1
	_		Ocaroni	ne web			

Configure the new tab experience

The new tab experience is what you see by default when you launch the browser or open a new tab. But they don't have to be the same thing: You could configure Edge to display a different page or to pick up where you left off when it launches, for example, and separately configure the new tab page, which will now only appear when you literally open a new tab.

The new tab experience is configured by navigating to Edge settings > New tab page (edge://settings/newTabPage) and clicking Customize. When you do this, the new tab page appears with an open Page Settings pop-up that lets you configure the page layout and language to your liking.



There are four layout options—Focused, Inspirational, Informational, and Custom—but all of them provide a Bing search box and Microsoft News-based feed with news items, weather, and lots of advertising.



If this isn't ideal, you can replace the Edge new tab experience with something less terrible by using an extension.



We recommend and use Momentum.



Mute a tab

Some websites will play audio—usually as part of an associated video—when a page fully loads. To help minimize this annoyance, Microsoft Edge visually identifies which tab or tabs are playing media. And it lets you arbitrarily mute any tab, which can be faster than trying to find the video player inside of the tab.

When you display a web page that is playing media of any kind, a volume icon will appear in its tab.

🖸 🕸 (V) 'Goonies' cast. Steven Spieli 🗙 + 👘 🖉 🕹

To mute this tab, right-click it and select "Mute tab" from the context menu that appears.



When you do so, any sounds coming from that tab are muted and the icon in the tab changes to a muted speaker.

You can unmute the tab using the same steps.



Muting a tab doesn't actually stop any media from playing, and it can only be done to one tab at a time. Fortunately, Microsoft Edge offers a way to prevent *any* web page from automatically playing audio or video. This option is described in the section *Disable automatic media playback in websites* earlier in the chapter.

Manage downloads

Like other web browsers, Microsoft Edge lets you download files from the web in a fairly straightforward way. When you trigger a download, an inline donwload notification appears at the bottom of the Edge window.

Frefox Installer.exe ... Show all X

Available choices can include:

Open file. Once the file is fully downloaded, you can open it (if it is a document or other data file) or execute it (if it's an executable file). The original downloaded file will remain in your Downloads folder (or whichever folder you downloaded it to.)

Options. While the file is downloading, you can select the Options ("...") button to make other choices, including Pause, Show in folder, Cancel, and more. Most of these options are available after the file is downloaded as well.

Show all. Select the Show all button to open the Downloads folder.

Close. Select the Close ("x") button to close the downloads toolbar at the bottom of the Edge application window.

While you can always open Downloads in File Explorer, Microsoft Edge also keeps track of all of your downloaded files. This is handy because some of those downloads may be located in different locations.

To view your downloads in Microsoft Edge, navigate to Settings and more > Downloads (or edge://downloads)



From here, you can select a download to open that file or remove individual downloads from the list. Note that doing so does not delete the download.



To delete your downloads, open File Explorer and navigate to your Downloads folder.

Collect and organize web research

We all do it. Whether for reasons personal, educational, or work-related, we spend hours—or even days—scouring the web for information about a certain topic, opening more and more tabs as go. But managing that many tabs is cumbersome, and the favorites (bookmarks) functionality provided by web browsers is inadequate for collecting them into a single, manageable place for later viewing.

What we really need is to easily store and organize information from a variety of sources in a way that is easy to access later and share with others. Something that is separate from the browser's tabs and favorites management features.

Microsoft's solution to this problem is a unique Edge feature called Collections.

Collections appears as a collapsible pane in Microsoft Edge in which you can create and edit collections, add web pages and discrete bits of information to collections, and share and otherwise manage collections. You can display this pane by selecting the Collections button in the Edge toolbar, if present, or by navigating to Settings and more ("...") > Collections.



How you use Collections is up to you, of course. But this feature is particularly good at researching for trips, shopping, school papers, work projects, and the like.

Create a new collection

To create a new collection, open Collections and select "Start new collection." When you do, a new collection appears in the Collections pane with its name highlighted so you can edit it.



If you're viewing a page you want to add to this new collection, you can use the "Add current page" link or the Add current page button to do so now.



You can also create a new collection by right-clicking the currently-viewed web page, an image, or some selected text and choosing "Add page to Collections" (or "Add to Collections") and then "Start new collection."

Add a web page to a collection

Many people will want to add a page to a collection. Doing so is similar to saving a favorite (bookmark), though the Collections presentation is nicer.

To add the currently-viewed page to a collection, right-click an empty area of the page and choose "Add page to Collections" and then the name of the collection.

HP EliteBook x360 1040 G5 Review	,							
by PAUL THURROTT	< → O	Back Forward Refresh	Alt+Left arrow Alt+Right arrow Ctrl+R	are	¥ Tweet	in	Share	10
	P	Save as	Ctrl+S					
	₽	Print	Ctrl+P					
	Ľ,	Cast media to device						
	A۱)	Read aloud	Ctrl+Shift+U					
	кр дж	Translate to English						
	Ē	Add page to Collections	>		OnePlus 8 Pro			
		View page source	Ctrl+U		Buy a new PC	6		
	[Þ]	Inspect	Ctrl+Shift+I	+	Start new collecti	on		
			13 -	-		à		

Or, if the Collections pane is already open, you can select the "Add current page" link in the Collections pane instead.

When you do so, the page is added at the bottom of the items in the selected collection.

Add specific text to a collection

Sometimes you don't want to collect an entire web page and would instead like to collect just some specific text on a page. To do so, select the text you'd like to add, right-click it, and choose "Add page to Collections" and then the name of the collection.

But there's an easier way, too: You can select the text you'd like to add and then drag it right into the Collections pane.



Add an image to a collection

Collecting an image works similarly: You can right-click an image you'd like to collect, then choose "Add page to Collections" and then the name of the collection. Or, simply drag and drop it into the Collections pane.

Edit a collection

You can perform a variety of collection management actions when viewing a collection, including:

Edit the name. To edit the name of the current collection, simply select it and start typing.

Rearrange the collected items. To change the position of a collected item, just drag it to the position you prefer and drop it there.

Delete one or more collected items. To delete a collected item, right-click and choose "Delete." To do so with more than one item, use the selection box in the upper-right corner of each item to select the items you wish to delete and then select the Delete selection icon that appears.

Open all of the collection items. To open all of the items in the current collection, select Sharing and more ("...") and then Open all. A new Edge window will open and display each item in its own tab.

Add a note to a collection

In addition to collecting items from the web, you can add your own notes to a collection too.

To add a note, open a collection and select the Add note button. In the note panel that appears, type your note, which can include formatted text.





You can add multiple notes to any collection and arrange them as desired in the list.

Share a collection or items in a collection

Collections can be shared in a variety of ways, as can one or more collected items. Supported sharing methods include sending a collection to Microsoft Excel or Word, copying a collection to the clipboard so you can paste its collected article names and URLs, and notes, in any application, and copying between collections.

To share a collection, open it and then select Sharing and more ("...") and then the method you'd like to use.



To share one or more items within a collection, open it and then use the selection box in the upperright corner of each item to select the items you wish to share. Then, select select Sharing and more ("...") and the method you'd like to use.

Delete one or more collections

To delete a collection, open the Collections pane, right-click the collection, and choose "Delete collection."

To delete two or more collections, open the Collections pane, use the selection box in the upper-right corner of each collection to select the collections you wish to delete. Then, select the Delete selection icon.

Do more with Microsoft Edge extensions

Microsoft Edge supports *extensions* that can be used to add functionality to the web browser beyond that provided by Microsoft. Extensions are available for download from the Microsoft Store and, optionally, from the Chrome Web Store. Either way, they are managed directly in Microsoft Edge.

Some popular extensions we can recommend include:

AdBlock. This highly recommended extension blocks all annoying ads, malware, and tracking mechanisms from appearing while you're browsing the web.

Dark Reader. Like many Windows apps, Microsoft Edge supports the dark app mode (or "theme," as many think of it), but not in the websites you visit. Dark Reader solves that problem.

Grammarly. This indispensable tool corrects spelling and grammar mistakes that you make in email, forms, and anywhere else on the web.

Momentum. Tired of the fake news and advertising on Microsoft Edge's new tab page? Momentum provides a gorgeous new tab experience with a new photo every day, and several useful and configurable features.

Privacy Badger. This extension takes Edge's privacy protections to the next level by automatically blocking trackers that exist solely to promote advertising. It also removes outgoing link click tracking on Facebook, Google and Twitter.

Save to Pocket. The new Microsoft Edge lacks legacy Edge's Reading list feature, but Pocket is even better. This extension lets you save articles to read them later on the device of your choice, using the Pocket mobile app or website.

You can view and manage Edge extensions using the Extensions settings interface via Settings and more ("...") > Extensions (or by navigating to edge://extensions).

✿ Extensions × +					-	٥	×
\leftarrow \rightarrow \circlearrowright \textcircled{a} \textcircled{edge} edge://e	xtensions	体	∱≡	凾	ጽ	۹	
C Image: Constraint of the second s	Installed extensions Want to enhance your browser experience? Try adding extensions from the Microsoft Store.	Ŕ	<u>}</u>	۲	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	٠	
stores, <u>Learn more</u>							

Find an extension

To find an extension, open the Extensions page in Edge and select the "Get extensions from the Microsoft Store" link. Or, just navigate directly to the Edge Add-ons website at microsoft-edge.microsoft.com/addons.



Extensions work just like apps and games in the Microsoft Store. Each extension gets its own page, complete with a description, screenshots, ratings and reviews, and other information.

🔇 Extensions x 📲 AdBlock best ad blocker - Mic x +					٥	×
$\leftarrow \ \ \rightarrow \ \ \textcircled{O} \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \$	攱	☆	¢	R	۹	
Microsoft Edge Add-ons	All Micro	soft ~	Sign i	. 8)	ĺ
Home / Productivity / AdBlock — best ad blocker AdBlock — best ad blocker BetaFish Productivity * * * * * (81)		Set Ju				
Description AdBlock — best ad blocker Block annoying ads and pop-ups on YouTube, Facebook, Twitch, and all your favorite websites. AdBlock is the best ad blocker with over 60 million users and one of the most popular ad blocking extensions with over 350 million downloads! Read more	Repor Versic 4.11.0 Updat April 1 Terms	t abuse n ed 5, 2020				
User reviews Sort by Most recent \checkmark Add a review	Privac	y policy				

To install the extension, click the Get button.

After the download and install is complete, a new button representing the extension will appear in the Edge toolbar. And many extensions will display a web page where you can sign-in to its service, if necessary, or learn more about the extension.





If you don't want an extension button to be in the toolbar, you can hide it. This is explained in the next section.

Manage extensions

To manage your installed extensions, open the Extensions page. Any extensions you've installed will now be listed here.



From this interface, you can toggle any extension off (or back on). Or, select the "Details" link under an extension to display information and options specific to that extension.



Select the "Remove" link under an extension to permanently delete that extension.

In addition, you can configure whether each extension you install displays a toolbar button. Some of these buttons, like those Ad Block and Dark Reader, may provide useful information, or need to be interacted with. But others, like that for Momentum, do not.

To hide an extension toolbar button, right-click it and choose "Move to the menu."

Get extensions from the Chrome Web Store

The Microsoft Store has the most popular extensions you may need, but it doesn't offer the wider selection that's provided by the Chrome Web Store. If you know of an extension that's not available in the Microsoft Store, you can configure Edge to also support the Chrome Web Store and other third-party extension stores.

To do so, open the Extensions page. Then, toggle the option "Allow extensions from other stores" to On.



You can mix and match extensions from multiple stores.

Now, navigate to the Chrome Web Store, which will note that it is compatible with Microsoft Edge.



Like the Microsoft Store, the Chrome Web Store provides a page for each extension that includes a description, screenshots, ratings and reviews, and other information. To install an extension, click the Add to Chrome button.

Simplify Gmail - Chrome Web St. x +					-	٥	×
← → Ů ⋒ https://chrome.google.com/webstore/detail/simplify-gmail/pbmlfaiicoikhdbjagjbglnbfcbcojpj	六	0	γ≜	函	ନ	۹	
😥 You can now add extensions from the Chrome Web Store to Microsoft Edge - Click on 'Add to Chrome'.							×
knome web store			\$ •	aul@th	urrott.c	om 🗸	
Home > Extensions > Simplify Gmail							
S. Simplify Gmail							

Extensions you download from other sources are still managed inside of Edge. As you can see here, they are visually separated from extensions you obtained from Microsoft.



Maps



The Maps app helps you find places that interest you, and it provides personalized recommendations and step-by-step directions for getting there by car, public transportation, or walking. These places can be nearby your current location, or you can use Maps to virtually explore another place before you visit.

Get to know the Maps apps

Most of the surface area of this app is taken up by the map view, and it will automatically find your location if possible and navigate there when the app starts. But if you look closely, you'll see some controls, including Search and Directions choices in the top left and other buttons—Map views, Saved places, Windows Ink toolbar, Account, and See more—in the top right. Addition Maps features, like Traffic and 3D Cities, are available via the See more menu.



Maps also uses a floating toolbar for navigating in and controlling the map view.



Like a web browser, Maps also supports multiple tabs, each of which provides its own map view. You can't create tabs manually, but each time you search for a location, a new tab is created. You can see these tabs in the upper part of the Maps window to the right of the Search and Directions buttons.



Tabs work as you'd expect. You can close a tab at any time by selecting its Close ("X") button or by typing CTRL + W. You can switch between tabs by selecting one with your mouse or by typing CTRL + TAB (or CTRL + SHIFT + TAB). And you can close all tabs by right-clicking in the tabs area and selecting "Close all tabs" from the pop-up menu that appears.



If you sign-in to Windows with a Microsoft account, Maps will automatically sync your saved places and search history to all of your devices, which is quite useful. Otherwise, click the Account bubble at the top right of the app window to sign-in to your Microsoft account.

Maps

Navigate and change the view

To navigate around the map view, press the arrow keys on your keyboard to move up, down, left, and right, respectively. Or, grab an area of the map with your mouse and drag in the direction you prefer.



Those with a touch-based PC can also navigate around the map view by panning, pinching and stretching with their fingers. This works similarly to using a maps app on a modern smartphone.

Use the navigation toolbar

You can also access the navigation and view controls found in the vertical toolbar on the far right of the app.

The following controls are available.

Rotate North to top. Select this button to reorient the map so that north is up.



Rotate counterclockwise or clockwise. If you mouse-over the Rotate North to top toolbar button, two additional buttons, for Rotate counterclockwise and Rotate clockwise, will appear to that button's left and right, respectively.





You can also type CTRL + RIGHT ARROW or CTRL + LEFT ARROW to rotate the display. Those with a touch display can drag the Rotate North to top button left or right to rotate the display.

Tilt. Select this button to toggle the tilt of the display between the default flat view and a 3D tilted view.



Tilt down and Tilt up. You can also use the Tilt control to tilt the map in differing amounts. When you mouse over it, two additional buttons will appear to indicate that you can tilt up and tilt down.





You can also type CTRL + UP ARROW for tilt up, and CTRL + DOWN ARROW for tilt down. With a touch display, you can also drag the Tilt button left or right to tilt the display.

Show my location. Sometimes when you pan around a map too much, you can lose track of your current location. To display your location in the center of the map again, select this button.





You can also type CTRL + HOME to navigate to your current location.

Zoom in and Zoom out. The bottom two buttons in the Maps toolbar let you zoom in and out on the map display.





You can also type CTRL + + (that is, CTRL and the "plus" key on your keyboard) to zoom in, and CTRL + - (that is, CTRL and the "minus" key on your keyboard) to zoom out. If your mouse has a scroll wheel, it can also be used to zoom in and out of the map view.

Change the map view

By default, Maps uses a road view display. But you can switch this to an aerial view and optionally display other information on the map, including current traffic conditions, places where Maps has photographic street-side views, and any Windows Ink annotations you may have added to the map.

To choose between these options, select the Map views control.



Available options include:

Aerial/Road view. Maps supports two main views, Road view, which is the default, and Aerial view, which resembles the view a satellite would see from space.



Traffic. Maps lets you toggle traffic conditions, including optional incident (accidents, construction and the like) and speed camera locations. Traffic is denoted in green, yellow and red colors, where green is free-flowing traffic and red is extremely slow or stopped.





You can also type CTRL + T to toggle traffic view.

Streetside. When you toggle this options, Maps will denote streets for which it has photographic street-side imagery—similar to the Google Maps Street View feature—in a light blue color. When you enable this mode and select a place that is marked in this light blue color, the view will zoom in and provide a "you are there" photographic view. You can navigate around from here and virtually visit the place.



Windows Ink. Maps lets you overlay Windows Ink on the map view, providing a fun way for those with smartpen-compatible PCs to annotate the map so they can remember and find places later.




We discuss Windows Ink and Maps later in the chapter.

Find and explore places

Maps helps you find places that are nearby your current location, or anywhere in the world. It also helps you find out more about these places and explore the world.

Find a place

To find places near your current location, select the Show my location button in the Maps toolbar and then begin zooming in. As you do, the level of detail increases, as does the density of stores, restaurants, and other locations of interest.



To find places at another location, select the Search box search for a location. For example, if type *Paris* you will receive a number of items, including Paris, France. Just select the item in the results list you want.

Learn more about a place

If you select a place on the map or an item in a search results list, you'll see new display with a special information pane that includes options for discovering more about that location.



There's a lot going on here. In addition to providing information about the location, this view also provides a set of What's Nearby buttons that can change the view to provide more information about restaurants, attractions, shopping ("malls"), hotels, banks, hospitals, and parking in that location.

For example, when you select the Restaurants button, you will see a list of restaurants near the selected location.

Maps



And, yes, if you select an item from the list, you can find out more about that place as well.

From these views, you can perform a variety of actions, including getting directions, saving the place, sharing the place, and so on. There are links to the place's phone number and web site, when available, reviews, and more. You can also find more nearby places of interest and continue your navigation through an area. It's like having a virtual tour guide, leading you from one place to the next.

Save and manage places

Maps lets you save places, including your home, workplace, and car, so that you can easily navigate to them when needed. It also lets you save places as *favorites*, similar to how Favorites works in Microsoft Edge (or what other web browsers call bookmarks). And it lets you create *collections* of places, which can be handy when you're planning a trip and want to only view those places you wish to visit at that time.



These saved places sync between your PCs if you sign-in with your Microsoft account.

Configure your home, work, and car

Maps lets you configure your home, workplace and car(s) so that you can easily navigate to them as needed.

To do so, select the Saved places toolbar button, which resembles a star and is identical to the icon that Microsoft Edge uses for website favorites. The Saved places window appears.



As you can see, there are Home, Work, and Car icons at the top of this window. If one of these locations is already configured, you will see a "Directions" link under it so that you can navigate to that location. Otherwise, you will see an "Add" link.

To add a workplace or car location, select the appropriate "Add" link. For Work, you are presented with a search box so that you can find your workplace and configure it in Maps.

Each of these locations also lets you add optional notes and a photo. This can be handy with Car, in particular: If the car is currently in an unfamiliar parking lot or other location and you might need some additional help finding it later.



In each case, you can also select the location—Home, Work, or Car, and then change its location, add or edit notes, and find things nearby.

Save and manage your favorite places

Like a web browser, Maps lets you save a place as a favorite. And it maintains a list of these favorite places so that you can more easily find them in the future.

To save a favorite place, first locate it with Maps. Then, select the Save button and then Favorites.



When you do, the place is added to your Favorites list in Maps, and it will be denoted in the map view with an orange star.

To see your favorites, select the Saved places toolbar button. The Save places window appears, displaying the Favorites view.



From here, you can select the favorite to learn more. Or you can select the "Directions" link to navigate to that place.

You can also edit a favorite. To do so, right-click the place and then select "Edit." In the window that appears, you can add a nickname for the place and some notes if you'd like.

Ν	laps										-	٥	×
	ρ.	Saved places	×						📄 Road 🗸	5=	h	8	
1	Saved place:	1	-	1 1	Crackersport	T	Courts		O The Hamilton Kitchen & Bar				
VD.	Favorites	Collections						O Youell's Ovster House					
	Home	Work	Car	an	Park	Way Manor		n hi Bar					
-	Add	Add			Edit notes Nickname (optional)			Cueen City					į.
	1	Bamboo Asian Cuisine	& Sushi Bar	1				ark Airpon	Sur	nmit Lawn		inne III	
	$\overrightarrow{\mathbf{x}}$	345 S Cedar Crest Blvd, Aller Directions	ntown, PA, 18103	-	Notes (optional)			Alton Park	filbur				1
		Don Juan Mex Grill			Save		Cancel				Lanark	<+	6
	${\leftrightarrow}$	1905 Brookside Rd, Macung Directions		ncient								26	K

Create and manage collections of places

In addition to letting you save your home, work, and car locations and a list of favorite places, Maps also provides a handy collections feature that lets you collect places together. This can be handy if you're planning a trip, among other things: You can create a collection for the trip and then save locations you'd like to visit in that collection.

Let's say you're planning to visit Paris, France. To create a collection for this trip, select the Saved places toolbar button to display the Save places window. Then, navigate to the Collections tab.



Select "New Collection."



In this window, supply a name for the collection (like "Paris trip") and, optionally, a description and whether this collection should be private (and not something you'll share with others). Then, select the Save button. The new collection appears in the Collections view.



Now, navigate in Maps and find a location that you would like to add to the new collection. For example, the Eiffel Tower. To add this location to the collection, select Save and then the name of the collection ("Paris trip"). It will be denoted on the map with a blue star.



Then, repeat as necessary, adding more places as you research the area.

To view your collection, navigate to Saved places, Collections > [Collection name] ("Paris trip"). The places you've collected will be clearly marked on the map.

Get directions

To get driving, transit, or walking directions, select the Directions button in the top left of the app window. When you do, the Directions user interface appears.



You can also type CTRL + D to display Directions.





By default, this view includes an drop-down list of previously-viewed and configured locations as a convenience. But if the place you wish to navigate from is not in the list, you can search for the correct location.

Next, select the Destination box and find the place to which you'd like to go.

If you're familiar with web- or phone-based maps apps, you understand the basics: You can add destinations for a multi-stage journey, choose between driving, public transportation, and walking directions, configure departure time options, and more.



But Maps provides a few unique niceties as well. You may recall that when you save a favorite place, you can give it a nickname, and you can use that nickname in Directions to quickly find such places.

Maps will also provide multiple route choices in many instances, giving you the chance to choose the one that works best for you.



You can also select the Route options (gear) icon to select from a list of things you may wish to avoid, including toll roads, unpaved roads, and more. (Avoiding traffic is assumed.)

Navigate to a destination

When you're ready to go, you can use Maps to navigate to the destination you chose in Directions. Just select the Go button in the Directions pane.



This works as expected, and is similar to other navigation solutions you might use with your phone. But this functionality obviously doesn't make much sense on a PC. Fortunately, you can also send the directions to your phone, as described in the next section.

Send directions to your phone

As a PC-based solutions, Maps is great for doing research about restaurants, attractions, and other places of interest. But at some point, you will actually leave your PC behind at your home or the

Maps

hotel and venture out into the real world. And when you do, you will most likely rely on your smartphone to find the places you previously researched with Maps.

Microsoft doesn't provide a version of its Maps app on Android or iPhone. But the Maps app does provides a few different ways to send places and directions to these phones.

To send a place to your phone, find that place with Maps. Then, select More ("..."), in the top right of the app window) and then Share. When you do, the Share pane appears, providing a list of ways in which you can share this information.



Select Your Phone. This works with Your Phone app that's included with Windows and described in the Phone chapter. Basically, you'll receive a notification on your phone that, when selected, will display that location in Bing. Now, you can tap the "Directions" button to navigate to that location using the default maps app on your phone (typically Google Maps or Apple Maps).



Print maps and directions

Maps lets you go back in time and print paper-based maps and directions if desired. To do so, display a place or directions in the app and then choose More ("...") and then Print. Maps



Explore 3D city views

Maps offers a unique 3D Cities view that lets you virtually explore many popular destination cities in three dimensions. To start exploring, select More ("...") > 3D Cities button in the upper right of the app window. When you do, a 3D Cities pane appears on the left.



Then, select a city from the thumbnail list on the left. After a gratuitous animation, you can virtually fly around the selected city and check it out ... from the air!



Write on your maps with Ink

A Windows feature called Windows Ink allows those with a compatible PC to write directly on the PC's screen with a smartpen and interact with the system using what is, for many, a very familiar and comfortable interface. The Maps app is among those apps that ship with Windows that provides unique Ink-based functionality.



We cover Windows Ink more extensively in the Windows Ink chapter, of course.

As noted previously, you can simply draw Ink pictures or annotations right on the map surface. To do so, simply draw right on the display.

This can be fun, but there are more useful features available from the Windows Ink toolbar, which you access by selecting the Windows Ink button in the top right of the app window.

Maps				-	٥	×
Q		📴 Road 🗸	¢≞	R	8	
Search	م	<u>▼</u> &	• 📀	ø	Ð	B

Here's what's available.

Ballpoint pen. The first tool, called Ballpoint pen, lets you configure the color and size of the virtual pen tip that will be used when you draw or write on the screen. When this is selected, any Ink you apply to the screen is considered a drawing.



Measure distance. The second tool helps lets you measure the distance along a path that you draw on the map. As with Ballpoint pen, you can configure the color and size of the pen used to draw this path. But the real magic here, of course, is the distance calculation: Just draw the path and Maps will tell you the (approximate) distance.



Directions. The Directions tool works as expected: With this tool selected, draw a line from a

Maps

starting location on the map to an ending location. (You can even plot multiple destinations if you'd like.) Then, Maps will plot the best path, and tell you how far you'll be traveling.





What's amazing about the Directions tool is that you can draw a straight line between locations and then Maps will plot it correctly using the most efficient streets.

Eraser. The Eraser is for those with pens that don't have built-in hardware erasers. When enabled, your pen tip will act as an eraser instead of a pen, and it will erase any of your previous Ink strokes when you tap them.

Ruler. This tool will correct a chicken-scratched line between two points into a perfectly-straight line by providing an on-screen ruler.



Maps

Touch writing. This tool lets you switch from pen mode to touch mode: In this mode, you can use your finger (on a touch display) or your mouse to access the other Windows Ink features in Maps.



Though they're just much harder to use with touch or the mouse, most of these tools are available on PCs without smartpen support. Touch writing requires a touch screen.

Configure Maps

Maps offers a variety of configurable options that you can configure.

To access Maps settings, open Maps and select More ("...") and then Settings.

← Марз	-	×
Settings		
Offline maps		
Download maps so you can search for places and directions without connecting to the Internet.		
Choose maps		
Units		
Show distance in		
US (feet, miles) \checkmark		
Directions		
Preferred directions		
Driving		
Default location		
Windows, apps, and services can use this when we can't detect a more exact location on this device.		
Change default location		
Permissions		

Most of this should be straightforward. But it's worth a quick pass through the various options to make sure that Maps is configured as you prefer. For example, you may wish to not save searches, or change your location privacy. And the Map theme option—unrelated to and separate from the app mode, or "theme"—lets you switch between a light and dark map.



OneNote is a digital notebook app and free, cross-platform service. It provides great organizational and collaboration capabilities, and lets you mix and match content types such as text, audio notes, videos, files, and even Windows Ink-based digital handwriting.

And because your OneNote content is stored in the cloud, your notes are available available from anywhere: You can access your notes from your PC, your smartphone, or the web.



OneNote *requires* a Microsoft account. If you sign-in to Windows with a local or domain account, you will need to configure the app for your Microsoft account before you can use it.

Get to know OneNote

OneNote is a relatively simple-looking app, but provides every note-taking feature you'll ever need and uses a logical organizational structure.

Understand how OneNote works

OneNote provides a digital representation of a physical, paper-based notebook. As such, the app is structured with a notebook-like hierarchical organizational structure.

The *notebook* sits at the top of this organizational structure. OneNote creates a starter notebook for you, which is named after your Microsoft account name, so mine is called *Paul's Notebook*. But you can create any number of notebooks in OneNote and organize them as you will.



If you're familiar with Excel, it's fair to say that OneNote's *notebooks* are similar to Excel workbooks in that each one is a container, similar to a file, for content that can be further organized.

Each notebook is divided into *sections*. These can be organized to your liking as well. For example, I have a OneNote notebook called *Meeting notes*, and I use sections for each year (2019, 2018, and so) to keep things organized.

Inside of each section, you will create *pages*, which represents the individual pages in a paper notebook. In that Meeting notes notebook I mentioned above, each meeting for which I take notes has its own page.

Here, you can see OneNote in its most basic form: A single notebook called *Paul's Notebook*, with a single section called *Quick Notes*, which contains a single untitled page.



OneNote is similar in many ways to traditional Microsoft Office applications like Excel, PowerPoint, and Word. But there is one major difference: While there are technically files in the cloud that represent your notebooks, OneNote is not file- and document-based. So, there are "Save" or "Save As" commands to worry about. Instead, OneNote automatically saves your notes to the cloud as you go.

Navigate around the OneNote app

OneNote is simple enough once you understand its organizational structure and auto-save functionality. The app features a simplified ribbon interface—basically, a tabbed toolbar—that provides quick access to frequently-used functionality. The four primary tabs are:

Home. Here, you will find formatting commands for your text-based notes.



Insert. This tab lets you insert the many objects—tables, files, printouts, pictures, and more—that OneNote notes can contain.



Draw. This tab is mostly useful to those who wish to use a smartpen to create handwritten notes and drawings using Windows Ink. It provides pen commands, pen tips, and other smartpen-based capabilities. (Many of which also work, if less efficiently, with touch.)

\leftarrow \rightarrow OneNote	Paul Thurrott	1	-	٥	×
Home Inset Draw View	୍ ତ୍	Û	ල් Share	2	

View. As its name suggests, the View tab provides note reading features like OneNote's Immersive Reader, translation capabilities, and more.



Customize the display

By default, OneNote uses a multi-pane interface that makes it easy to move between notebooks and the sections and pages that each contains. But you can change this display to access certain OneNote features or to give more on-screen real estate to the page you're currently using.

The thin, left-most pane, called the navigation pane, you can access two OneNote features, Search and Show Recent Notes, in addition to the normal navigation view in which you can see a notebook and its sections and pages.



Each of these features works as you'd expect: Search can find text—and even text within pictures—across all of your notebooks or within a specific notebook, section, or page.

000	Search
Q	All Notebooks
Ŀ	Pages Tags

And Show Recent Notes provides a handy display of the pages you've most recently accessed in chronological order.

The navigation pane also works like a toggle, so that you can select it to display only the currentlyselected page, and then select it again to also display the navigation pane, and the notebook, Search, or Show Recent pane.



OneNote also supports a full-screen mode, which is accessed by the Full Screen Mode button in the upper right of the application window. In this mode, OneNote occupies the entire screen and displays only the current page and the Draw tab, making it a useful choice for smartpen-based note-takers.

Paul's Notebook » Quick Notes	DAI (G₊	Ţ	7	Ţ	Ţ	۷	Ţ	Ţ	+ 🖏 Shapes	🚰 Ink to Shape	$\mathcal{G}_{\mathrm{C}}^{\mathrm{A}}$ Ink to Text $\left \begin{array}{c} \mathrm{Q} \end{array} \right $	9	C1	
Sunday, June 30, 2019 10:43 AM															

Finally, OneNote supports the Windows 10 Dark mode for apps. If you have configured Windows 10 to use Dark mode for apps, OneNote will use Dark mode as well. (You can also configure OneNote to use Dark or Light mode explicitly and regardless of the OS setting in OneNote Settings > Options.



Right-click is your friend

Throughout OneNote, you can right-click—or, with touch, tap and hold—on items to display a context menu with additional choices. For example, when you right-click a section tab, you are presented with options for deleting or renaming the section, applying a new color, and more.



Related to that, if you're familiar with how the pasting of content works in traditional Microsoft Office applications like Excel, PowerPoint, and Word, you need to be aware of a critical difference in the way that OneNote works.

Traditional Office applications provide a Paste Options pop-up when you past content in from elsewhere. This pop-up lets you choose *how* an object is pasted—for text, you can choose between keeping the source formatting, merging the formatting, and plain text—and configure how paste works by default.



What's interesting about the pop-up is that it lets you change how something is pasted *after* you paste it. Those Office applications will apply the default paste behavior but then let you make a change after the paste.

OneNote works differently and is, frankly, less sophisticated.

With OneNote, you can configure the default paste option in Settings > Options, but there's no Paste Options pop-up to modify a paste after the fact. So, if you need to change how text or some other item is pasted into a OneNote-based page, you must right-click and choose Paste and then how you would like the item to be pasted.



But you must do this *before* you paste the item, as OneNote doesn't let you make any changes afterward.

Create and manage notebooks and sections

To restate the earlier description of the hierarchical nature of Microsoft's note-taking solution, OneNote contains notebooks, each of which contains sections, each of which contains pages. Notebooks are cloud-based files associated with your Microsoft account, and you can create and use as many as you'd like.



And, no, you cannot use OneNote to create or manage notebook files that are local to your PC or another device. OneNote only works with cloud-based notebooks that can be accessed from any device, and not just from a single PC or device.

How you organize the information you store in OneNote is up to you. But here's what you need to know to create new notebooks and sections in whatever organizational scheme you prefer.

To create a new notebook, select the current notebook at the top of the notebook pane. The pane changes to reveal the other notebooks, if any, that are associated with your Microsoft account.



Then, select "Add notebook" at the bottom of that pane. The Create a notebook window appears.

Create a no	tebook			
Select a notebook	type			
=	٤	8 88	€≣	
Blank	Work	Learning	Home	Event Planning
Notebook name*	k			
Add sections in yo	ur notebook			
			Create	e notebook Cancel

Choose "Blank" or one of the themed notebook types, give the notebook a name, and optionally prepopulate one or more sections. Then, select Create notebook. The new notebook is now displayed in the notebook pane.



To create a new section inside of a notebook, select "Add section" at the bottom of the notebook pane. A new section appears under the current notebook and its default name, *New Section 1*, is highlighted so that you can name it.



Name the section and type ENTER.

There are a few more things you can do with notebooks and sections:

Rename it. The name you give to a notebook is final, but you can provide a new nickname for it at any time, effectively renaming it within OneNote. Sections can be renamed at any time. In either case, right-click to find the appropriate option.

Assign a new color. Notebooks and sections are both given a unique color at creation time, but you change this color at any time. To do so, right-click the item and choose "Notebook Color" (or, as appropriate, "Section Color") and then select a color from the color grid that appears.



Change its display order. Using drag and drop, you can change the position of any notebook in your list of notebooks. Likewise, you can change the position of any section within a notebook.

Create and manage pages

Most of your time in OneNote will be spent creating and managing pages, or what many will likely just think of as *notes*. These pages can consist of plain and formatted text with various emphasis and markup additions, to-do lists, tables, pictures, audio recordings, handwritten notes and drawings, and much more.

Create a new page

To create a new page, open the correct notebook and navigate to the section in which the new page will appear. Then, select "Add age" at the bottom of the Pages list. A new page, called Untitled page, appears.



From here, you can access a long list of options, all of which can be found by right-clicking the page. Some key options include:

Rename the page. As with a section, you can rename a page at any time.

Move/copy the page. Using the Cut, Copy, and Paste commands—or the simpler Move/Copy command—you can copy or move any page to any other section, even one that is in another notebook. You can also use drag and drop to change the position of a page within the same section.

Edit a page

OneNote offers all of the word processing-like editing features you expect, but with a few twists. The strangest, perhaps, is that each page doesn't behave like a single document. Instead, you can arbitrarily select any area inside the page. When you do, the insertion cursor appears at that location.



If you start typing, OneNote will create a block that will contain the text and other items that you add.

To-	dos			
Sunda	y, June 30, 2019	10:43 AM		
	The quick brov	n fox jumps over the lazy dog.	1	

A page can contain multiple blocks, and you can grab them and move them around if you'd like. You can also resize them and Cut/Copy and Paste them.





If you find this notion of blocks to be confusing and unnecessary, just select the page's name field at the top. Then, type TAB. The insertion cursor will be placed in the upper left of the page and you can just start typing normally.



The nice thing about blocks is that they let you quickly and easily delete a entire block of text and other items: Just select the block and type DELETE.

OneNote lets you change fonts, use familiar text formatting like bold, italic, and underlining, highlight and color text, and more. There are also bulleted and numbered lists, text styles and more. This all works similarly to the same features in Microsoft Word and other word processors.

Do more with a page

Beyond basic text-based note-taking, OneNote provides an amazing array of functionality that you should find useful. Some key features include:

To-do lists. OneNote supports to-do list creation and complete via the To-Do command in the Home tab. This way, you can make a to-do list, say for groceries or similar, and then mark the items done as you go using OneNote on your phone.



**Mark an item ** You can mark lines or blocks of text—or a to-do item as being important or a question. This places a little star or question mark next to the item, respectively, visually highlighting it. You can also mark at item as being something you want to remember later; this highlights the item in yellow to call it out.

Insert a table. The Table command on the Insert tab helps you visually insert a table into your notes by supplying a grid of cells that represents the table you'll be inserting. Just highlight the number of rows and columns you want.



Insert a file. Using the File command on the Insert tab, you can insert any file into your notes, either as an attachment—in which case the original will need to be available—or as a OneDrive upload with a link.

Insert a picture. OneNote Mobile lets you add a picture from your PC, your PC's camera, or from an online source, the latter of which presents a Bing search pane so that you can find what you need.

←	\rightarrow			c	DneNote			Paul Thurrott	1	-	٥	×
Home	Insert Draw View							60	Ļ	🖻 Share	2	
5	C ² ☐ Table	Printout	Pictures [🔂 O	nline Video 🛛 🕤 Link	🕼 Audio	Meeting Details	Ω Symbol					
IIV.	📄 Paul's Notebook 🗡		From File	To-dos								
Q	Quick Notes	To-dos	From Camera	Sunday, June 30, 2019	10:43 AM							
Ŀ		Untitled pag	From Online									



You can also simply drag and drop a picture file from your PC directly into a OneNote page.

Insert an online video. If you find a video online at YouTube or any similar service, you can embed that video in a page and play it back at any time, as long as the PC is online. All you need is the video's URL.



Record audio. OneNote's ability to record a meeting while you are taking notes is one of its best features. The app provides a nice Recording tab and ribbon while recording the audio, and also when you later play it back.



Attach notes to a meeting in Calendar. This is another great feature for those who use OneNote to take notes in meetings: You can link notes to a meeting in your Outlook.com or Office 365 calendar.



Use Windows Ink to take handwritten notes or draw. Those with a smartpen and compatible PC can use that pen to draw or take notes directly on any OneNote page. This is an interesting choice for those who prefer to takes notes this way or or like to sketch.



Change the look of a page. In the View tab, you can access three commands—Page Color and Rule Lines—that can dramatically change the look of any page.

\leftarrow	\rightarrow								OneNote							Paul Thurn	ott	I.	-	٥	×
Home	e Insert	Draw	View	Rec	ording											୍ତ	8	Ω	🖻 Share	2	
t	New Window	🕼 Imm	ersive Re	ader	୍ କ୍	130		Page Color	Rule Lines	<u>i</u>	Deleted Notes	a a	Translate	3	Check Ac	cessibility	R	Hide /	Authors		
IIV	😼 Meeting	ıs ~						Surface r	Rule Lines		_										
Q	2019			Micro	soft meeting	,		Monday, July 1, 2		ļ											
6				HP m	eeting				Grid Lines	-	_							\odot			
0				Surfac	e meeting			Meeting Date: Location:		Ш	H										
								Outlook Item	None												
							Ŧ	Participants (1)													
								10	Always Cre	eate Pac	es with Rule Lin	nes			1						
								Hay	CINI	1V	CC	_	VCI	1	T						
								1001		0	1	1									
								/	na	\checkmark	<7 '										
									78												
								Notes:	-												
								0													
							Surface														
	+ Add see	tion		+ Ad	d page			meeting													

Read with Immersive Reader. OneNote supports Microsoft's Immersive Reader technologies, which presents an immersive reading experience, as advertised, that helps you understand any text by reading it aloud and highlighting the read words as it goes. This is particularly useful in education, or in circumstances were unfamiliar or even foreign languages are used.

\leftarrow	Surface meeting		Ą	
	Meeting Date:	7/1/2019 11:30 AM		
	Location:			
	Outlook Item			
	Invitation Mess	age:	2	
	Participants (1	Adjust voice settings here. Select the play button to begin listening. •••• Next tip 1 g 1 0	tes)	

Share a page

OneNote Mobile lets you share a page with others so that they can read your notes or collaborate with you.

To share a page, navigate to that page and then select the Share button in the upper right of the app window. The Share pane appears.

÷	\rightarrow		OneNote		Paul Thurrott — 🖞	i ×
Home	Insert Draw View	Recording			ං ඉ ූ 🖻 Share	2 …
t= 1	New Window 🛛 🖓 Immersive Ro	eader 🔍 🕀 🔝	🔲 🖉 Page Color 🗮 Rule Lines 🛍 Deleted Notes 🙀 Translate	🕃 Cheo	ck Accessibility 🙀 Hide Authors	
IIV	📄 Meetings 🗠		Microsoft meeting		Share	
ρ	2019	Microsoft meeting	Sunday, June 30, 2019 3:55 PM		E This patabaok: Montings	
0		HP meeting			 This notebook, weetings 	
0		Surface meeting			Send an email invitation	
					Type email addresses	
					Can edit V Shar	2
					This notebook is shared with	
					R Paul Thurrott	>wner
	+ Add section	+ Add page			Send a copy	

Here, you can invite others to access the page via email. You have two choices: "Can edit," meaning that the invitee can edit the notes in addition to reading them, and "Can view," so that the invitee can only read them. In either case, the invitee will need to use OneNote on Windows, the Mac, the web, or mobile to read and/or edit the page.

You can also simply send a copy of the notes to someone via any compatible Windows app, including Mail and Skype. This copy is not connected in any way to your original notes.

Pin a notebook, section, or page to Start

OneNote allows you to pin any notebook, section, or page to Start so that you can access what you want more quickly. To do so, right-click on the item and then choose Pin to Start from the pop-up that appears. After confirming that you wish to do so, you will find your pinned items on Start.





Unfortunately, you can't pin a notebook, section, or page to the taskbar.



The Photos app lets you view, edit, and manage photos on your PC and in OneDrive, and create and share fun videos based on your photos and personal videos.

Get to know the Photos app

Photos presents a simple user interface with five primary views: Collection, Albums, People, Video projects, and Folders. There is also an Import capability so you can import photos from elsewhere into your collection.

The Collection view

The default view, Collection, is a consolidated view of your photo collection. This can include content from your local PC, other PCs, and OneDrive.



At the top of the Collection view is a row of tiles created by the Photos app and representing such things as "On this day" retrospectives, weekend recaps, automatically created albums, and more. You can hide this row if you don't find it useful or interesting.





If you mouse-over a tile that was made for you by the Photos app, you'll be presented with View and Keep options. Use the latter if you would like to save this tile as an album, which will then be accessible from the Albums view.

Below that is your collection, sorted by date, with the newest photos at the top and displayed in thumbnails. You can choose between large, medium (the default), and small photo thumbnails, and scroll down the timeline on the right to "go back in time" through your collection.



The Albums view

The Albums view contains albums, which are selections of related photos and home movies. Some were created for you automatically by OneDrive, but you can also create your own.

otos						-	٥	×
	Search people, places, or things	Q		🕒 New album	5≣ Select	🖆 Import	$c_{\rm c}$	
	Collection <u>Albums</u> Video proj	iects People Folders		Sort	t by: Modif	fied \vee		
	Albums (0)							
	New album							
	Gather related photos and videos							
	🗟 Created for you (9)					Show all		
		CHICES		1	-	1000		
	17 MAR		a a monoral and	Anthe set		THE REF.		
	Saturday, July 12, 1986	Thursday, October 2, 1986	Thursday, November 27, 1986	Saturday October	10 1987	et		
	17 items	40 items	 11 items 	10 items	10, 1907			



If you mouse-over an album that was made for you by the Photos app, you'll be presented with View and Keep options. Use the latter if you would like to save it permanently.

To view an album, simply select it in the Albums view. The album will take over the full app display with a preview slideshow of the photos it contains animating at the top. From here, you can scroll down to view all the photos as thumbnails, select the Watch icon to view the album as a full screen slideshow, or select the Edit icon to use the photos in this album as the basis for a video project.



You can also add photos to the album, share it, remove it, or view it on the web from this view.

The Video projects view

The Video projects view contains any video projects you've created with the Photos app and provides a way to create new video projects, which can be customized with a theme, background music and other audio, filters, and text, motion effects, and more.



Photos can also make automatic videos for you that you can later edit as desired.



The Photos app's video creation functionality is surprisingly full-featured and is covered later in this chapter.

The People view

The People view lets you view photos of family members, friends, and other individuals who frequently appear in your photos. You will need to identify, or *tag*, the people that Photos finds so that they will be arranged automatically.



When you select a person in this view, an album-like view appears, displaying all of the photos in your collection that have been identified as being that person.



The Folders view

The Folders view lets you examine your photos the old-fashioned way, by navigating through the folders—including cloud-based OneDrive locations—in which your photos are stored.
pple, places, or things P The select $timport$ in the select $timport$ Albums Video projects People Folders	Search people, places, or things , Jection Albums Video projects People Folders	earch people, places, or things P Extra term for the projects People Folders				-
Albums Video projects People Folders	Allection Albums Video projects People <u>Folders</u>	ection Albums Video projects People Folders	Search people, places, or things	Q	Rev Select	🖆 Impor
			Collection Albums Video projects People	Folders		



You can also view your photo-containing folders using File Explorer, of course. But this consolidated view in the Photos app is handy because you can see them all in one place, where the individual folders might be located in different places in File Explorer.

Import photos

Photos lets you import photos from your smartphone, camera, or other devices.

Select the items you want	to import
1784 of 1784 items selected	Unselect all
May 2019	
Import settings Change destination folder or choose to de	lete imported items from device.
Import selected	Cancel



This functionality is explored in more detail later in the chapter.

View a photo

In any view, you display a photo by selecting it. When you do, the photo takes up most of the app window area.



From here, you can to the following:

• Add the photo to a creation. Right-click the photo and choose Add to creation from the context menu to add this photo to a new album, a new video project, or an existing creation.



• Zoom in for a closer view. Double-click (or -tap) the photo itself to zoom-in (or, if zoomed already, zoom-out) the view. Or, use the Zoom toolbar button, which resembles a magnifying glass, to access a slider for granular control of the zoom between "best fit" and "Maximum zoom."



• Delete the photo. Select the Delete toolbar button, which resembles a trashcan, to delete the photo from your collection. (And, if on your PC, to delete it permanently from your hard drive.)



You can also type DEL to delete the current photo.

- Add the photo to your favorites. Like Microsoft Edge and other web browsers, Photos maintains a list of your favorites, which in this case is a list of your favorite photos. Select the Add to favorites toolbar button (a heart) to add the current photo to your favorites, which is viewable as an album in the Photos app's Albums view.
- Rotate the photo to the right. Many of the photos you import from a smartphone or digital camera will be incorrectly rotated and will thus appear sideways or upside down in the Photos app. To correct this, select the Rotate toolbar button. This will rotate the photo by 90 degrees to the right, so you may need to select it multiple times to get it right.



You can also type CTRL + R to rotate the current photo 90 degrees to the right.

• Edit the photo or start a creation. The Edit & Create toolbar button displays a pop-up menu with a wealth of creative options. From here, you can edit the photo, draw on the photo, add 3D effects or animated text to the photo, create a video project using the photo, or edit the photo in the Photo 3D app.





Photo editing and video projects are described later in the chapter.

• Share the photo. Select Share to access a Share sheet by which you can share the current photo with another person via email, with nearby sharing, or with an app. You can also copy the current photo to the clipboard from this interface.



It's easier to just type CTRL + C while viewing the photo if you wish to copy it to the clipboard.

• **Print the photo**. Select the Print toolbar button to print the current photo.



You can also type CTRL + P to print the current photo.

• Do more with the photo. The See more ("...") provides access to a long list of other photo options, including the ability to set the photo as the desktop, lock screen, or app tile background, among other things.



• Navigate to the previous or next photo. It's not immediately obvious, but if you mouse over the photo, you will see Previous ("<") and Next (">") buttons appear on the left and right side of the current photo. To display the previous or next photo in the current view, select the appropriate button.





You can also type LEFT-ARROW to navigate to the previous photo or RIGHT-ARROW to navigate to the next photo.



Don't see the Previous and Next buttons? Make sure the photo isn't zoomed: Set it to "Best fit" with the Zoom control first.

View a photo from outside the Photos app

By default, when you open a photo or other image file from the desktop, in File Explorer, or elsewhere in Windows, it opens in a simplified version of the Photos app that basically displays only the photo viewing experience.



This view provides all of the capabilities described above. But you can also select the See all photos tile in the upper left of the window to open the full Photos app.



If Photos is not configured as your default photo and image viewer, you can change this in the Settings app. Navigate to Settings (WINKEY + I) > Apps > Default apps and then select the entry under Photo viewer. In the Choose an app window that appears, select Photos.

Configure Photos

Before you get started using Photos, you should make sure the app is configured correctly for your needs. Most important, you should configure the app to display the photos you wish to see.

By default, the Photos app will display photos from two locations: The Pictures folder for your user account (C:Users*user-accountPictures, by default) and in your OneDrive (C:Users*user-accountOneDrivePictures, by default). But you can configure Photos to use other locations as well. (And if you don't want it to access one of those default locations, you can remove one or both as well.)



If you do not sign-in to Windows using your Microsoft account, only the photos in your Pictures folder will be displayed in Photos by default.

To configure which locations the Photos app uses, open the app and navigate to See more ("...") > Settings. The Settings page appears.



The configured locations appear under the top Sources section. To add a location, select "Add a folder." To remove a location, select the Remove source folder button ("X") next to that location.

The "Show my cloud-only content from OneDrive" option can also be toggled according to your needs. Likewise, you can configure Photos to display cloud-only OneDrive photos from your Pictures folder or from anywhere in OneDrive.

Edit a photo

The Photos app provides extension photo-editing capabilities. To access them, display the photo you'd like to edit and then select Edit & Create > Edit. When you do, the Edit experience appears.



It's faster to just type CTRL + E.



The Photos app's Edit experience provides three different views. They are:

- **Crop & rotate**. In this default view, you can straighten the photo using a slider, rotate the photo to the right in 90 degree increments, flip the photo horizontally, or crop the photo using a select of preset aspect ratios (like 16:9, 4:3, and so on).
- Filters. Here, you can use the Enhance your photo tile to apply an automatic filter to the current photo or select from a collection of Instagram-like filters to create a custom look. A Filter intensity slider lets you determine the severity of the filter.



• Adjustments. This view offers several useful adjustments, including light adjustments (contrast, exposure, highlights, and shadows), color (tint and warmth), clarity, vignette (which reduces the brightness at the edges of the photo to better focus on the center), red eye correction, and spot fix (which can be used to blemishes and other mistakes in the photo).



Each of these views also provides Undo all and Redo all buttons so you can correct mistakes, a Cancel button for exiting the Edit experience without saving, and a Save a copy button if you want save your edits as a new photo and retain the original.

View, create, and edit video projects

The Photos app provides powerful and fun video creation and editing functionality with which you can turn your photos into fun movies with themes, background music and other audio, filters,

text, motion effects, 3D effects, and more. This may sound daunting, but the Photos app makes it relatively straightforward. And the quality of the results will surprise you in a positive way.

Start or edit a video project

You can start a new video project a few different ways. But the most obvious to navigate to Video projects and select the New video project tile.





You can also let Photos make an automatic video for you, complete with music, which you can then edit to your liking. Here, again, there are a few different ways to get started, but the most obvious is to multi-select photos in the Collection view and then select Add to... and then New video with music.

First, you're asked to name the video project.

\leftarrow	Photos						- 0	×
	New video							
	Project library	Your project library is empt Add photos and video clips to get start	y ted.	Image: Second system Image: Second system Name your video Spring into spring	×	~		
				ОК	Skip		- 0:00 2	
	Storyboard							

Then, the video editor experience appears.



There are three main areas to this interface:

- **Project library**. This area contains the photos and video clips you will use to build your video project.
- Video preview. You will want to preview the video project, or a specific part of it, as you build it. You do so using the Video preview area, which can be expanded to be full screen.
- **Storyboard**. In this area, you arrange the photos and video clips that make up your video project in the order in which they will appear in the resulting video. Additionally, you use the storyboard, to add filter, text, motion, 3D effects, and other edits to these items.

In addition to these main areas, the video editor also offers other tools for adding background music and custom audio, changing the aspect ratio of the resulting video, saving the project to OneDrive, exporting and sharing the resulting video, and more. Most of this functionality is described in more detail below.

Import content into a video project

Photos and video clips are the center of any video project. You will typically add this content to the project library by selecting the Add ("+") button in the Project library area. As prompted, you can add content from your PC and from your entire photo collection.



Your photo collection can include files that are stored in OneDrive. If you select files from OneDrive, they will be downloaded to your PC so you can use them in your video project.



You can also drag and drop compatible files from the desktop or File Explorer into the Project library area.



Content in the project library can now be used in your video project. But it needs to be added to the storyboard first. From there, it can be arranged and edited as needed.

Add content to the storyboard

To add an item in the project library to the storyboard, select it and then select "Place in storyboard." Alternatively, you can simply drag and drop an item from the project library into the storyboard.



Adding multiple items to the storyboard works similarly: Just select all the content you want to add first.

However you do it, each photo and video clip will have its own location in the storyboard.



Arrange content in the storyboard

Once you have placed content in the storyboard, you can perform a wide range of actions on that content. The most basic, perhaps, is to arrange each photo and video clip in the order you wish them to appear in the resulting video you will create. You do so by grabbing an item you wish to move and the dragging and dropping it to a new location in the storyboard.



Then, repeat as necessary until each item is in the location you prefer.

Make adjustments to an item in the storyboard

In addition to arranging items in the storyboard, you can apply numerous adjustments to individual items. To see all of the available adjustments, right-click an item. Two of the key items—Duration and Resize—are also available from the toolbar in the Storyboard area.



As its name suggestions, Duration lets you configure how long the item will appear in your resulting video. And Resize lets you remove the black bars that may appear around the item by zooming in as necessary.

Apply a theme

Once you have at least one item in the storyboard, you can apply a *theme* to the entire project. A theme includes preset filters, music, and text styles, and can simply the video creation process by doing a lot of work for you.

To apply a theme, select the Themes toolbar button. Then, in the Set a theme window that appears, select a theme from the list. Each time you do, a video preview will play, giving you an idea of what the theme looks and sounds like.



When you find a theme you like, select Done.



If you do use a theme, you can later change any of the stylistic changes it made as you continue editing the video project.

Add background music to the project

The Photos app provides a nice collection of moody musical choices that can be used to enhance the video you're creating. This functionality is smart, too: The background music will automatically adjust to the length of your video project and will fade in and out as necessary. And when you add music, you can chose to sync the video to the beat of that music, so that transitions between photos (and/or video clips) will feel more natural.

To add background music to your video project, select the Background music button in the Photo app's toolbar. The Background music window appears.



Here, you can preview and then select the background music. Optionally, you can choose your own music and choose to sync your video to the beat of the music you select. You can also adjust the relative volume of the music. When you're done, select Done.

Add custom audio to a storyboard item

In addition to background music, the Photos app lets you separately add one or more custom audio files to a video project. These custom audio files are different from background music in two keys ways. First, they are not applied to the entire video, but can instead be added as needed at specific points in the video. And second, they don't have to be music: You might also use narration or sound effects as well.

To add custom audio to a video project, first select the storyboard item where you would like to add the audio. Then, select the Custom audio toolbar button. The Custom audio pane appears.



Select the Add audio file button to locate and add one or more audio files that you wish to use in the project. The audio file(s) will then appear in the Custom audio pane.





If you want to add narration to your video, you must first record it. Windows includes a Voice Recorder app for this purpose.

Now, select the audio file you wish to use. In the preview pane on the left, you can see how the file works within your entire video project. You can also use the handles on the audio clip in the scrubber bar below the preview to place or trim the clip.



When you're satisfied, select the Done button. If you are adding multiple audio files, repeat this process, starting with selecting the right storyboard item for the next clip.

Add a filter to a storyboard item

Like Instagram and other popular photo-sharing services, the Photos app lets you add *filters* to the photos and video clips you add to a video project. These filters change the appearance of the content by altering the colors, the contrast, or other aspects of the content.

To add a filter to a photo or video clip, select the item in the storyboard and then select the Filters button in the Storyboard toolbar. (Alternatively, you can right-click the photo storyboard item and choose Edit > Filters). When you do, the Filters experience appears.



Now, select a filter in the Filters area and see how it changes the content. (If you're applying the filter to a video clip, you can preview the effect for the entire video on the left.) You can keep selecting

different filters until you find one you like. When you do, select Done to add it to the photo or video clip.



You can only apply one filter per storyboard item.

To remove a filter, select the item in the storyboard, select the Filters toolbar button, and then select Original from the Filters list in the Filters experience.

Add text to a storyboard item

You can add animated and styled text to any storyboard item, including a photo, a video clip, and a title card. To do so, select a storyboard item and then select the Text toolbar button. The Text experience appears.





Title cards are described below.

Here, you can create the text, choose the font with which it will display, and then choose its layout, which basically indicates where on screen the text will appear and how it will animate.

Be sure to use the preview display on the left to make sure it's exactly what you want before continuing. You can also use the text duration handles on the scrubber below the preview window to determine how long the text appears on the item.



Add motion to a storyboard item

You can add a subtle motion to any storyboard item, but it's especially effective with photos because they are non-animated.

To do so, select the storyboard item to which you wish to add motion and then select the Motion toolbar button. The Motion experience appears.



As you can see, this looks—and works—much like adding text or a filter. Simply select a motion, preview it on the left, and then keep testing until you find the motion you like. Then, select the Done button.

Add a 3D effect to a storyboard item

The ability to add 3D effects with accompanying audio to your photos and video clips is truly unique to the Photos app.

With photos, this capability works a lot like adding filters, text, or motion. First, select a storyboard item and choose the 3D effects toolbar button in the Storyboard area. The 3D effects experience appears.



Just select a 3D effect and a volume level, place and size it on the photo, and select the start and end time for the 3D effect under the preview window.





Additionally, you can rotate the effect in space—it is a 3D effect, after all, by using the rotation handles on the sides of the selected effect.

Preview as necessary and select Done when you're finished.

With videos, 3D effects get even more interesting because they can optionally be attached to a point in a video clip and then instructed to move around as the video clip advances.

You add a 3D effect to a video in the same way you do with a photo. But now you will see a new Attach to a point option in the selected effect in the Edit pane on the right.



When you enable this option, a small anchor icon appears in the center of the effect in the preview pane. To animate the effect through the video, select the anchor and move it to the desired destination location.



Either way, click Done when the effect is working as you prefer.

Add and edit a title card

The Photos app lets you add title cards to your video projects. One can be used, as the name suggests, as a literal title card that introduces your video. But you can add any number of title cards to a project and use them as transitions or, at the end of a video, as end credits.

To add a title card, select a storyboard item before which the title card will appear. Then, select the

Add title card button in the Storyboard toolbar. A blank title card will appear before the previously-selected card.





If you don't place the title card correctly, no worries: You move title cards with drag and drop, just as you do with any other Storyboard items.

Now, you can edit the text and/or the background color, plus the duration for which the title card will display, by accessing the relevant Storyboard toolbar button while the title card is selected.



You can also access these options by right-clicking the title card.

The duration can be virtually any length, but the Photos app provides presets for 1, 2, 3, 5, and 7 seconds. Text is added and edit just as it is for any storyboard item (as described earlier). And the background can only be a solid color.

Change the aspect ratio of the video project

The Change aspect ratio button in the Photo app's toolbar displays the aspect ratio of the current video project (like "16:9 Landscape"). But it can also be used to change the aspect ratio, say to 4:3 or a portrait orientation. This can be useful if too many of the photos in the project display with black cropping bars.

You can also change how an individual photo displays. To do so, right-click the photo in the storyboard and choose Resize > Remove black bars, if that's the problem you're trying to solve. Or, choose Resize > Shrink to fit.



Export or share a video project

Once you're done creating a video project, you can export it to a video file that can be shared with others. You can also optionally share the video directly from the Photos app.

To do so, select the Export or share toolbar button. The Export or share window that appears first asks you whether you prefer a small (S), medium (M), or large (L) file size.



These choices are a bit simplistic and don't provide any hint about the resulting quality of the video you will make. Unless the cost of bandwidth is an issue, we recommend choosing the (L) large file size. Or at least experimenting with each so you can determine which size works best for you.

Once you select the file size, Photos will export your video to a file that it will place in an Exported Videos folder in your Pictures folder.



From here, you can view the video, view the video file in File Explorer, or share the video directly from the Photos app. If you choose the Share option, a Windows Share sheet will appear so that you can share the video with a particular contact using the Mail app, using local sharing (with another Windows PC), or via any compatible app installed on your PC.

Import photos from a phone, camera or other device

To import photos from another device—like a smartphone, camera, or USB hard drive—connect the device to your PC and then select Import > From a USB device in the Photos app. Once Photos has found some photos in the connected device, you can select the items you wish to import.



As important, you can configure *how* to import them: If you select the "Import settings" link in this window, you can choose where the imported files will be located—C:Users*user-name*Pictures by default—and how the imported files will be grouped (in folders).





What you *can't* do is determine how the imported files will be named: They will retain their original file names as they are imported.

Select the Import selected button when you're ready to copy the photos to your PC and to your collection. You can view the imported files in the Pictures folder (by default) using File Explorer or in the Latest import view in Folders in the Photos app.

Access premium Photos features with an Office 365 account

If you have an Office 365 Home or Personal subscription tied to the Microsoft account you're using with the Photos app, you will get additional functionality in the app. These capabilities are all enabled by default, but can be disabled individually in Photos settings if you like.

Key among these capabilities are premium video effects. In addition to the normal collection of effects that Photos provides in its video project editor, those with an Office 365 subscription have access to additional premium text styles and 3D effects as well. Premium effects are denoted with a diamond overlay.

Groove Music



The Groove Music app lets you access your personal music collection. This can include any combination of songs you've purchased online or ripped from CD and then downloaded or stored on your PC, or on other PCs or media shares on your home network.

Get to know the Groove Music app

Groove Music is a straightforward and simple—some might say limited—app.



In previous Windows 10 versions, Groove Music was a more full-featured app that supported streaming music from OneDrive, an online music store, and a music subscription service called Groove Music Pass. Now, however, Microsoft is recommending that users who need more than local music file playback turn to Spotify instead.



As with other similar built-in Windows apps, the Groove Music navigation pane can be collapsed (minimized) and expanded (maximized) as needed by selecting the "hamburger" button (the three horizontal lines) in the top left of the app.



Likewise, like many other built-in Windows apps, Groove lets you choose between a dark mode and a light mode (the default). You can also choose to use the system setting, which is configured in Settings > Personalization > Colors under "Choose your default app mode."

Here is a quick rundown of the major experiences in Groove, all of which are accessed from the collapsible navigation pane on the left.

The My music view provides you with three tabs—Songs, Artists, and Albums (the default)—by which you can view your music collection.

÷	Groove Music						- 0	×
=			My music					
Si	earch	2	Songs Artists	Albums				
13	My music		≫ Shuffle all (9) Sort by	r: Date added Genre: All ge	nres			
٩	Recent plays		Tak	SHIHAD THE GENERAL ELECTRIC	PITTECONNY and Asso	Michael	BOSTOR	
alti	Now playing		• 🔰 🍫	a min			Corporate america	
Ì	Playlists	+	ala		18	Contra la	Com.	
			Talk (Collector's Edition) ^{Yes}	The General Electric Shihad	Images of Heaven (EP) Peter Godwin	The Ultimate Collection Michael McDonald	Corporate America Boston	
			ADDERSON BROFORD	- ALCONT	an.			
•	Paul Thurrott	۲		- AAA				
6	Stream millions of songs free		QUARTET					
				× 14 (D)	DI O		۵» — O- 🗉	

Though each tab view looks a bit different—Songs is presented in a list view, Artists uses round bubbles, and Albums are displayed with square album art—each works similarly. You can view any item by selecting it, and if you hover over an item in any of these views, Play all and Add to overlays appear on that item.



You can also multi-select items in each view: Right-click (or, with touch, long-press) the first item and choose "Select" from the pop-up menu that appears. Then, a selection box will appear in the other items so you can select them too.

Groove Music



Once you have selected one or more items, you can perform actions like Play, Add to, Delete, and so on. These options appear in a toolbar at the bottom right of the app.



Each of these tabs also provides a Shuffle all button, plus ways to sort (by date added, alphabetically, and more) or group by genre (for songs and albums only). Between these options, you should have no trouble seeing only the music you wish to see.



The Recent plays view provides access to your recently-played music, which can be handy if you want to listen to something you recently enjoyed again.



The Now Playing link provides access to a set of views that you can use to enjoy and manage the music that is currently playing.

To see this, start playing some music. When you do, the toolbar on the bottom of the app provides basic playback controls.



Then, select Now Playing in the navigation bar to display the Now Playing view.

٥



This view provides a playback experience with animated artist photography that you can leave running while enjoying the music.



You can also use the "Show now playing list" carat at the middle bottom of the screen to manage what's called the Now Playing playlist. This lets you remove or rearrange songs, access playback controls, and perform other related actions.



You can access this view throughout the app by selecting the album art in the playback controls toolbar too.

Groove Music also supports a mini view so that you can use to see what's playing while you work on other things on your PC. To access this mode, select the Play in mini view button in either Now Playing view, or in the playback controls toolbar. This resizable window provides Play/Pause, Previous, and Next buttons, plus a Leave mini view button.





If you enjoy the artist imagery provided by Groove Music, be sure to check out two options in settings: Set Now Playing artist art as my lock screen and Set Now Playing artist art as my [desktop] wallpaper. They work exactly as you'd expect. Finally, Groove Music also lets you make and manage your own playlists via the Playlists area at the bottom of the navigation bar. Playlists are lists of songs that can be played together as a group, like the modern version of a mix tape. That is, they're a way for you to organize songs you like, or that go together well.





Unlike more sophisticated music apps, Groove Music only supports basic playlists, and not smart playlists that can auto-populate based on certain rules (highly-rated songs by a certain set of artists, perhaps). And playlist support in Groove Music is further hampered by the app's lack of a music subscription service, which would give you access to tens of millions of songs in the cloud.

Tweak music playback with the equalizer

Groove Music includes a software-based *equalizer* that helps you customize—or *sculpt*—the how music playback sounds. This is ideal for audiophiles or anyone else who wishes to have fine-grained control over audio output. But it can also be used to help overcome deficiencies in your PC's speakers and sound system.



If you're not familiar with using an equalizer, you might consider this tool a superset of the more common Bass and Treble controls that are found in most sound systems. An equalizer is similar, but it lets you customize a wide range of sound frequencies instead of just two general tones.

The equalizer is only available in Groove Music settings. So open Groove Music settings and select the link "Equalizer" under the Playback section.



From here, you select a preset from the drop-down menu in the top left of the equalizer window. These are typically designed to address particular playback issues ("Treble boost" and "Bass boost," for example) or for particular types of devices ("Headphones," "Laptop," and the like). Then, you can adjust particular frequencies—Low, Mid low, Mid, Mid High, and High—to fully customize the sound to your liking.



Find music on your PC or home network

On your PC, Groove Music looks in your Music folder for music.

Quick access Name # Title Contributing artists Album Desktop © 01 - Don't Stop The Sa 1 Don't Stop The Sandman Rock Sugar Reimaginat Downloads © 01 - PhotOgraph (Live) 1 PhotOgraph (Live) Def Leppard with TayL Corstroads Douments © 01 - Roll You In The Hur 1 Roll You In The Hurricane Rock Sugar Reimaginat Picturents © 06 - Shook Me Like A.P 6 Shook Me Like A.Prayer Rock Sugar Reimaginat Documents © 06 - Shook Me Like A.P 6 Shook Me Like A.Prayer Rock Sugar Reimaginat Music © Boston - I Had a Good 1 Uaatet 'I'n Alive Anderson Bruford W Quartet ('In Music © Michael McDonald - Sw 6 Sweet Freedom (Single) Michael McDonald The Uttimat Music © Michael McDonald - Sw 6 Sweet Freedom (Single) Michael McDonald The Uttimat Music © Shihad - The Metal Song 1 The Metal Song Shihad The Genty	Puick access Name # Title Contributing artists Album Desktop Ø 01 - Don't Stop The Sa 1 Don't Stop The Sandman Rock Sugar Reimagina Downloads Ø 01 - Photograph (Live) 1 Photograph (Live) Def Leppard with TayL Crossroad Downloads Ø 01 - Roll You In The Hur 1 Roll You In The Hurrirane Rock Sugar Reimagina Pictures Ø 06 - Shook Me Like A P 6 Shook Me Like A Prayer Rock Sugar Roll You In The Hurrirane Nusic Ø Anderson Bruford Wak 1 Quartet (I'n Alive Anderson Bruford W Quartet (I'n Alive Inages of Heaven (12-inch E Peter Godwin Images of Music Ø Meter Godwin - Images 2 Images of Heaven (12-inch E Peter Godwin Images of OneDrive Ø Shihad - The Metal Song 11 The Calling Yes <th>← → • ↑ 🌢</th> <th>> Thi</th> <th>s PC ≯ Music</th> <th></th> <th>v €</th> <th>Search Music</th> <th>م</th>	← → • ↑ 🌢	> Thi	s PC ≯ Music		v €	Search Music	م
			* * * *	Name © 01 - Don't Stop The Sa © 01 - Photograph (Live) © 01 - Roll You In The Hur © 06 - Shook Me Like A P.u © Anderson Bruford Wak © Boston - I Had a Good © Michael McDonald - Sw © Peter Godwin - Images © Shihad - The Metal Song © Yes - I Am Waiting © Yes - The Calling © Yes - Walls	# 1 1 6 1 1 6 2 11 2 1 5	Title Don't Stop The Sandman Photograph (Live) Roll You In The Hurricane Shook Me Like A Prayer Quartet: I'm Alive I Had a Good Time Sweet Freedom (Single) Images of Heaven (12-inch Ex The Metal Song I Am Waiting The Calling Walls	Contributing artists Rock Sugar Def Leppard with Tayl Rock Sugar Rock Sugar Anderson Bruford W Boston Michael McDonald Peter Godwin Shihad Yes Yes Yes	Album Reimaginatu Crossroads Roll You In 1 Reimaginatu Quartet (I'm Corporate A The Ultimat Images of F The General Talk (Collect Talk (Collect

Groove Music



Any music that Groove Music finds on your PC will be displayed in the My Music views in the app. To view *only* the music on your PC, change the filter option to "Only on this device."

You don't have to (just) use the Music folder, however. You can also configure Groove Music to look for music in one or more other locations. These locations can include other folders—perhaps on other drives—on your PC and network folder shares too.

To add a new folder to Groove Music, open the app settings via the Settings button (gear) in the navigation pane and select the link "Choose where we look for music."

Pin your favorite music to Start

Groove Music lets you pin the music that you listen to most often to the Start menu. So instead of just launching the app and finding the content you want, you can link to the content you want directly from the Start menu.

This works with any album, artist, song, or playlist, and can include content that is on your PC or your local network.

Pinning music works exactly as you'd expect: Simply right-click (or tap and hold on) the item in Groove and choose "Pin to Start" from the pop-up menu that appears. You'll be prompted to make sure you really wish to pin that item to Start.



If you right-click an item that is already pinned, you will seen an Unpin item in the pop-up menu instead.

Like any pinned tiles in Start, these music tiles can be arranged and grouped as needed, and you can of course name any groups as you would normally.



Movies & TV



Get to know the Movies & TV app

The Movies & TV app helps you manage and play videos on your PC and other PCs and devices on your home network, plus any video content you have purchased or rented from the Microsoft Store. It's also compatible with a service called Movies Anywhere, which allows you to access some content that you've purchased from competing video services, including those from Apple, Google, and others.



In some markets, Movies & Video is called Film & TV.

Movies & TV is a simple app and is readily understood. It provides the following major views.

Explore. This view showcases movie trailers, free 360° videos that can you can watch on your PC or, with a Windows Mixed Reality headset, in virtual reality (VR), plus movie and TV content you might wish to purchase (or, in the case of movies, rent) from Microsoft.



Purchased. Here, you will find the movies and TV shows you have purchased (or rented) from Microsoft. This content is tied to your Microsoft account, so you will need to sign-in to that account to access your purchases.



-

If you connect your Microsoft account to the Movies Anywhere service, you will also see movies you've purchased from Amazon Prime Video, Apple iTunes, Google Play Movies & TV, and other compatible services here. This is described later in the chapter.

Personal. This view displays any personal videos you have on your PC, removable storage, or the network-attached media servers in your home. These are non-protected videos that you did not acquire from the Microsoft Store.
Movies & TV						-	٥	
Explore Purchase	ed Personal				Q	۲	Ô	
	Video folders	Removable storage	₽	Media servers				
Sort by: Date added All folders	+ Add folders							
All videos								
			ini Manage taan					

Configure Movies & TV

Before getting started with Movies & TV, you should consider configuring a few options. Much of this configuration occurs in the app's settings interface, which is accessible via More options ("...") > Settings.

If you have not signed in with a Microsoft account, you will only see a handful of options, but all of them are important.

They are:

Choose where we look for videos. By default, Movies & TV will display any non-protected videos it finds in your Videos folder. But you can select this option to configure other folders you may use for videos as well.

Playback. By default, Movies & TV will play videos in a normal app window, and you can switch to a full screen display manually. But if you would prefer for this full screen display to be automatic, you can change this option to On.

Mode. Like many built-in Windows 10 apps, Movies & TV can be configure to use a Light or Dark app mode—what most people would call a *theme*—or it can use the system app mode automatically. Even if you prefer the Light app mode, you may wish to configure Movies & TV to utilize a dark app mode instead.

If you do sign-in with your Microsoft account, several more options appear in settings.



Key among them are:

Download quality. Movies & TV lets you purchase or rent content from the Microsoft Store in SD (standard definition), HD or UHD (4K) formats. Here, you can choose to pick the download format at purchase time (the default) or select from the available format choices.

Download location. By default, purchased content is downloaded to your Videos folder. You can't choose a different folder, per se, but you can choose to download purchased content to a different drive, if one is available. This configuration occurs in Settings > System > Storage > "Change where new content is saved." Select the option "New movies and TV shows will save to:" to choose a new drive.

Account. You can access your Microsoft account, payment options, and order history on the web via a set of links under Account.



There's also a link for connecting your Microsoft account to the Movies Anywhere service. This functionality is described later in the chapter.

In addition to the settings available in the app, you may wish to configure how subtitles look and work in Movies & TV. You do so in the Windows Settings app.

To see your options, navigate to Settings > Ease of Access > Closed captions.

← Settings		- 5 ×
命 Home	Closed captions	
Find a setting	Make your device easier to use without sound by displaying audio as text.	Related settings Video playback settings
Ease of Access	Preview	
Hearing	Use the dropdown menus to change how closed captions appear in Windows	Have a question? Get help
4ŵ Audio		Make Windows better
Closed captions	Captons look like this	Give us feedback
Interaction	Change caption font	
Q Speech	Caption color Default	
Keyboard	Caption transparency	
() Mouse	Default	
ନ୍ତେ Eye control	Caption style Default V	



As you might imagine, the changes you make here can have a profound effect on the text you see on-screen. But if you go too far, you can always select the "Restore to defaults" button at the bottom.

Play and control a video

To play a video, select it from any view in the Movies & TV app. Or, you can do so by opening the video file from the desktop or File Explorer.



Movies & TV is configured as the default video playback app by Microsoft, but it's possible that you or your PC maker has configured a different app as the default. If so, you can always use File Explorer's "Open with" function to use Movies & TV instead. Or, just change the default in Settings > Apps > Default apps.



Movies & TV supports non-protected videos in all popular video formats. So it's unlikely that you will actually need a third-party video player, as was the case with previous Windows versions.



The video playback experience provides a set of controls that disappear after a few seconds of inactivity. To display them again, move your mouse, press a key, or tap or press on the screen (if you have a touch- or pen-enabled display).

The following controls are available:

Previous video and Next video. When you are playing a personal video, you will see arrow-like Previous video and Next video buttons on the left middle and right middle sides of the screen, respectively, so that you can navigate to another video in the same folder.



These controls do not appear when viewing purchased or rented videos.

Video scrubber. This progress bar-like control lets you move directly to any point in the video. Or you can "scrub" through the video by dragging the large circular position marker with your mouse or finger (on a touch-capable display).

Volume. Here, you can set the video playback volume separately from the system volume.

Subtitles and audio. This control lets you enable any subtitles (or closed captions) and audio tracks that may be available in a video, or load an external subtitle file.



We discuss how to load an external subtitle file later in the chapter.)

Playback controls. Here you can access buttons to Play/Pause, Skip back (10 seconds), or Skip forward (30 seconds).

Edit in Photos. Available only with non-protected personal videos, this command opens a menu with options to view the video in the Photos app, edit the video with the Photos app, and access specific Photos app video features like Trim, Draw, Create slow motion video, and Save photo from video.

Play in mini view. This control places video playback in a miniature, Picture-in-Picture (PIP) type window that you can size and position on screen as desired. While in this mode, Movies & TV will visibly remain on top of other on-screen windows, so you can enjoy video content while doing other things.



Full Screen. This control lets you toggle video playback between normal and full screen modes. In full screen mode, the Windows desktop, including the taskbar, disappears and video playback literally occupies the entire screen.



You can also configure Movies & TV to always play video in full screen mode, as described earlier.

Cast to device. This option, available in the Show more options menu ("..."), lets you wirelessly "cast" the playing video to a Miracast-compatible screen. This capability is described in more detail later in the chapter.

Zoom to fill. This option, available in the Show more options menu ("..."), toggles the display of the playing video between its native aspect ratio (16:9 or 4:3, perhaps) and the aspect ratio of the app window (or, if the video is playing full-screen, the aspect ratio of the screen on which it is playing).

Repeat. This option, available in the Show more options ("...") menu, toggles video playback from its default—play once—to repeat, where the video will looped endlessly until manually stopped.

Autoplay. This option, available in the Show more options menu ("..."), is aimed at those bingeable TV shows that are so popular these days: If selected, it will automatically play the next video—or, in the case of TV, the next episode—so you can keep watching automatically.

Play as 360° video. This curious option plays a normal (2D) video as if it were a 360° video, so that

you can pan around the video in any direction using your mouse or, on a multitouch display, your finger. This makes more sense for those viewing videos with a Windows Mixed Reality headset.





You can also change the view of a 360° video with the directional controls in the upper right.



Videos that are natively recorded as 360° video look nicer than normal videos that are stretched like this, of course.

Rent a movie from Microsoft

Windows offers movies for rent via the Microsoft Store. You can do so by launching the Store app directly, or by selecting the "Get movies and TV in Store" button in the upper right of the Movies & TV app window.

Rentals come with rules. Once you pay for a rental, you only have two weeks (14 days) to begin watching it. And once you begin watching a rental, you have 24 hours to finish watching it.

To rent a movie, open the Store app and navigate to Movies & TV.



The Store navigation experience is straightforward, and browsing for a movie to rent works much like other Store content, as described in the *Microsoft Store and Apps* chapter.



New movies are available for purchase but not rent for a short time period when they are first released.

When you find a movie to rent, select between the SD, HD, and UHD options. Then, select the "Rent" button.



HD is typically a bit more expensive, but this format provides better picture quality than SD. UHD is even more expensive, but offers a higher quality 4K resolution.



Assuming you've already configured one or more payment methods with your Microsoft account, you are then prompted to stream the movie online or download the movie to your PC so you can play it back later, even if the PC is offline.





These choices are even more nuanced than is perhaps obvious. If you choose the stream option, you can watch the rental on any Windows 10 PC or Xbox One, and can switch back and forth between them if you like during the rental period. But if you choose to download the video, it is "locked" to that one PC, meaning that you will only be able to watch it on the PC you're currently using. So choose carefully.

After making your choice, you will be prompted to authenticate against your Microsoft account using Windows Hello or some other method. And then you can finish the transaction using your default payment method or by choosing from the other payment methods—credit cards, a PayPal account, a Microsoft account balance, and so on—that you have configured for your account.

HD	olus applicable taxes		
HD By selecting Rent, you agree to the Store Terms of Sale. You'll have 14 Days to start watching the movie and 2 Days to finish it. You'll be charged immediately. No refunds.			
VISA	PAUL B THURROTT	Change >	

Once this multi-step process is complete, the movie will download to your PC, if you chose that option. Or you can simply begin streaming it immediately.



Rented movies appear in the Purchased view in Movies & TV alongside your purchased videos. They disappear automatically after the rental period ends, or after you've watched them and the viewing period ends.

Purchase a movie or TV show from Microsoft

Microsoft provides movies, movie bundles, TV show episodes, and TV show seasons for purchase from its online store. Purchased content can be played from any compatible device, including Windows 10 PCs and Xbox One video consoles.



This content *cannot* be played back on a mobile device like a smarphone or an iPad, nor can it be played back on a TV-based video streaming set-top box like an Amazon Fire TV, Apple TV, or Roku. If you intend to watch purchased movies on any of these devices, Movies & TV is not a great option. See the next section for a partial workaround to this issue.

Purchases work much like rentals. And as with rentals, they occur in the Store app and not in Movies & TV.

To purchase a movie or movie bundle, navigate to the content you want, choose a format—HD, SD, or, in some cases, UHD (4K)—and then select the "Buy" button.

If you are purchasing TV content, you will see options to purchase individual episodes and, when available, select from previous TV show seasons.



Watch movies you've purchased from other services

One of the issues with purchasing content from online video services like Microsoft Movies & TV is that it's not compatible with other services and applications. Likewise, Microsoft doesn't offer a mobile version of the Movies & TV app, so you can't watch purchased content on your smartphone or iPad.

Fortunately, a service called Movies Anywhere solves this problem, at least partially. Movies Anywhere lets you sync the content from the accounts you use on various video services—including Amazon Prime Video, Apple iTunes, Fandango, Google Play Movies & TV, and Vudu, in addition to Microsoft's—and then access any eligible digital movies you've purchased from any of them using any compatible app. And since six of the biggest movies studios—Disney, Sony, Twentieth Century Fox Film Corp., Universal, and Warner Bros.—are all participating, a good portion of the movies you've purchased across various services should become available everywhere, including in Movies & TV in Windows.

There are, of course, some important caveats to know about.

- Three of the biggest movies studios—Lionsgate, MGM, and Paramount—do *not* cooperate with Movies Anywhere. So digital purchases of movies made by those studios will not be included, and will not appear in Movies & TV (and in other Movies Anywhere-compatible apps).
- Even the studios that are participating with Movies Anywhere do not allow all digital movie purchases to be used with the service. So you may find that some movies you've purchased elsewhere that were made by a participating studio do not show up in Movies & TV.
- Movies Anywhere only works with digital movie purchases. It is not compatible with movies purchases in physical formats like Blu-Ray or DVD. It is not compatible with movie rentals. And it is not compatible with TV shows.

Despite these limitations, we feel that Movies Anywhere is an excellent solution and that anyone hoping to use Movies & TV in Windows should link their Microsoft account to the service so that they can access the movie purchases they've made elsewhere. In our experience, between one-half and three-quarters of our digital movies purchases are available through the service.

Connect Movies & TV with Movies Anywhere

Before you can connect Movies & TV with Movies Anywhere, you will need to create an account with Movies Anywhere. To do so, open Movies & TV and navigate to More options ("…") > Settings. Then, select the "Connect to Movies Anywhere" link under Account.



This option will not appear unless you have signed in with your Microsoft account.

A web browser window will open and navigate to the Movies Anywhere website. There, you can create a new account or sign-in to an existing one. Then, from the site's Manage Retailers page, you can link your the Microsoft account used by Movies & TV to Movies Anywhere.



While you're there, you should also link the other online accounts you've used to purchase digital movies—Amazon, Apple, and so—to Movies Anywhere.

Access (some of) your movies purchases on mobile

Microsoft doesn't make a mobile app version of Movies & TV for Android devices, iPhones, or iPads. But thanks to Movies Anywhere, you can still access some portion of your digital movie collection.

To do so, simply use a compatible mobile movies app, including Apple TV (iOS), Amazon Prime Video (Android, iOS), Google Play Movies & TV (Android, iOS), and so on. These apps all include offline support, too, so you can download compatible movies to your device and watch them offline. Or, you can simply stream movies over your Internet connection.



You can likewise access some of your digital movie purchases in your living room using a Movies Anywhere-compatible app on your Amazon Fire TV, Apple TV, Android TV, Chromecast, Roku, smart television, or similar.

Use subtitles

Movies & TV can display *subtitles*—usually a transcript of the dialog and other audio—on-screen during video playback. This is true of both purchased content and personal videos.



The terms *subtitles* and *closed captioning* are often used interchangeably. Technically, these capabilities are slightly different. But they both perform the same basic function.

Use subtitles with rented or purchased content

Most of the video content that you purchase or rent from the Microsoft Store includes subtitles. To see which options are available for a rented or purchased video, select the "Show menu for subtitles and audio" button during playback. A pop-up menu will appear.

Subtitles		
1. English-CC		
Audio		
1. Primary - AAC - 2 channel		
✓ 2. Primary - Dolby Audio - 6 chann		
3. Primary - AAC - 1 channel		1:4
4» 📮	10 II 30 [°]	

What you see here will vary by movie. For example, some videos offer multiple captioning tracks, sometimes in different languages.

Use subtitles with personal videos

If you own personal videos with integrated subtitles—which is unlikely, though some DVD ripping solutions offer this capability—then Movies & TV will work much as it does with rented or purchased videos. But Movies & TV also lets you add external subtitle files to videos you acquire outside of the Microsoft Store.

For example, videos from services like Vimeo often include SRT (Subrip subtitle format) subtitle files for download separately from the videos. These files let you add and then view subtitles with compatible players.

To do so, open a video for which you have a separate subtitle file and then press Pause. Then, select the "Show menu for subtitles and audio" button and select "Choose subtitle file" from the pop-up menu that appears. In the Open dialog that appears next, select the subtitle file and then choose Open.



Now, subtitles will be enabled and that file will be an option in the Closed captioning menu.





You can configure the appearance and behavior of subtitles in the Settings app as described earlier in the chapter.

Wirelessly cast a video to an HDTV or other display

Movies & TV integrates with a Windows feature called Project which lets you wirelessly stream or "cast" content to a bigger display using a technology called Miracast.

For this to work, your PC must include a Miracast-compatible Wi-Fi adapter (most do). Also, your television or other display must be natively Miracast-compatible or connected to a Miracast-compatible device like Microsoft's Wireless Display Adapter. (Which is much more unusual.) And both devices must be connected to the same Wi-Fi network.

Here's the Microsoft Wireless Display Adapter.



To cast a video to an external, Miracast-capable display, begin playback with the Movies & TV app. Then, select "Cast to device" from the Show more options menu ("…"). A Connect pop-up will appear.



Select the device you wish to cast to—in this case, Thurrott-Miracast, which is a Microsoft Wireless Display Adapter connected to a 4K/UHD television—and your entire Windows desktop—including video playback in Movies & TV—will switch to the external display.

When you're ready to stop casting, open the Show more options menu ("…") and then select Cast to Device > Disconnect.



This is less common, but you can also cast your PC's display to another PC's display, assuming that the second PC is running Windows 10, has a Miracast-compatible Wi-Fi adapter and is connected to the same Wi-Fi network. To do so, configure the second PC to act as a display by navigating to Settings (WINKEY + I) > System > Projecting to this PC. Then, configure three options to your liking and connect to this second PC as if it were a wireless display.

← Settings		- Ø ×
û Home	Projecting to this PC	
Find a setting	Project your Windows phone or PC to this screen, and use its keyboard, mouse, and other devices, too.	Have a question? Get help
System	Some Windows and Android devices can project to this PC when you say it's OK	Make Windows better
📼 Storage	Always Off V	Give us feedback
- Tablet mode	Ask to project to this PC	
🛱 Multitasking	Every time a connection is requested $\qquad \lor$	
Projecting to this PC	Require PIN for pairing	
ℜ Shared experiences	Never ~	
🛅 Clipboard	This PC can be discovered for projection only when it's plugged into a power source	
∽ Remote Desktop	On Dr.	
③ About	Rename your PC	

Xbox and Games



Get to know Windows gaming

Windows is a great environment for playing video games. And that's true whether you're a hardcore gamer, a virtual reality (VR) enthusiast, or just someone who occasionally engages in more casual gaming pursuits.



Windows 10 supports games that were designed for previous Windows versions as well as newer Microsoft Store games that only work with Windows 10. (Or, in some cases, work with both Windows 10 on PCs and with the Xbox One video game consoles.)

Windows lets you play games with an Xbox Wireless Controller in addition to keyboard and mouse.



Windows includes a feature called Xbox Game Bar that lets you take in-game screenshots, record game clips, broadcast live game footage via Microsoft's Mixer service, and more.



And Windows includes an Xbox Console Companion app that lets you interact with your friends and games across Xbox Live, receive notifications, and more.



Configure your PC to play games

Before you get started with gaming in Windows 10, there are a few configuration changes you should consider making.



This is especially true if you plan to play any non-casual games and wish to optimize your PC for these experiences.

Configure Gaming settings

First, you should review and, if necessary, configure the Gaming settings in the Settings app. To do so, open the Settings app (WINKEY + I) and navigate to Gaming.

← Settings		- @ ×
命 Home	Game bar	
Find a setting	Control how Game bar opens and recognizes your game	Related settings
Gaming	Record game clips, screenshots, and broadcast using Game bar	Graphics seconds
🛱 Game bar		Have a question?
Captures	Open Game bar using this button on a controller:	Game bar keyboard shortcuts Troubleshoot Game bar
& Broadcasting	Keyboard shortcuts	Get help
Ø Game Mode	Open Game bar Windows shortcut Win+G	Make Windows better
🗴 Xbox Networking	Your shortcut	Give us reedback
	Take screenshot Windows shortcut Win+Alt+PtScm Your shortcut	
	Record that Windows shortcut Win+Alt+G Your shortcut	
	Start/stop recording Windows shortcut Win+Alt+R	

There are several pages in this interface, each tied to a specific Windows gaming feature. These are:

Game bar. You can enable a special overlay called the Xbox Game Bar while in a game to capture screenshots and video clips, control video broadcasting via Microsoft's Mixer service, and more. In Game bar settings, shown above, you can determine whether the Xbox Game Bar is available and, if desired, change its default keyboard shortcuts.

Captures. This interface is used to configure your PC's ability to capture screenshots and video clips while playing games. You can configure such options as the location for saved screenshots and clips, whether Windows should automatically record all game play sessions in the background, and the like.

Xbox and Games





If you intend to record any game clips—video recordings of your game play—you should spend time examining the related options here.

Broadcasting. Microsoft provides a free service called Mixer that lets you live broadcast your video game sessions, as they happen, via the Internet. This interface helps you configure various settings related to this capability, such as the the audio quality, the sound mix, and whether to use your webcam so you can be in the recording too.

← Settings			-	٥	×
ப் Home	Broadcasting				
Find a setting	Control how your game appears when you broadcast.	Have a question? Get help			
Gaming					
Թ Game bar	Broadcast audio Change how your game and microphone are broadcasted.	Make Windows bette Give us feedback	er		
🖾 Captures	Record audio when I broadcast				
& Broadcasting	On Audio quality				
Ø Game Mode	128kbps (Recommended)				
🔕 Xbox Networking	Turn mic on when I broadcast				
	Use auto echo cancellation				
	Microphone volume				
	System volume				
	Broadcast game audio only				



If you intend to live broadcast your game play, be sure to spend some time examining these options. Key among them is "Turn mic on when I broadcast," which, when enables, lets you narrate the game play as you go. You can also enable your webcam here so that you appear on-screen during your live broadcasts.

Game Mode. Windows supports a special Game Mode that improves performance and minimize

distractions outside the game. There's little in the way of configuration here. If your PC supports this feature, you can simply toggle Game Mode on or off. (It's on by default.)

Xbox Networking. Xbox Live-capable games are played on the Internet like other games, but Microsoft also uses a networking technology called Teredo for security reasons. This interface displays some details about your network connection and provides a Fix it button that can help automatically fix any configuration issues.

← Settings			-	٥	\times
企 Home	Xbox Networking				
Find a setting	Connection status Internet connection Connected Xbox Live services Up and running	Have a question? Get help			
බේ Game bar	Performance Latency 89 ms				
🗔 Captures	Packet loss 0%				
S [™] Broadcasting	Xbox Live multiplayer NAT Type Moderate Server connectivity Connected				
Game Mode	Check again				
🐼 Xbox Networking	Fix it				

Connect and configure an Xbox Wireless Controller

You can use Microsoft's excellent Xbox Wireless Controller to play games on your Windows PC.

Somewhat confusingly, there are two different generations of Xbox One controllers. The original versions require a USB-based dongle called the Microsoft Xbox Wireless Adapter for Windows if you wish to use the controller wirelessly, while the newer versions also utilize Bluetooth wireless technology.





Both controller types can also be used in wired form with a micro USB cable. Using a cable will provide better performance as well.



If you're not sure which version of the controller you have, there's an easy way to check: the newer generation Xbox Wireless Controller has a stereo headset jack to the left of the expansion port on the bottom of the controller. The original generation controller, called the Xbox One Wireless Controller, does not have a headset jack.

Connecting these controllers to your PC wirelessly varies a bit between the two generations.

If you have an original generation controller, plug in the USB dongle and Windows will automatically configure it. Then, you just need to *pair* your controller with the dongle as described in the peripheral's documentation.

The newer generation controllers are paired with your PC—assuming it has a Bluetooth chip, of course—just like any other Bluetooth device.

Windows will automatically configure the controller as needed no matter how you connect it. But you can further customize how the controller works—and download and install firmware updates for the controller—by using the the Xbox Accessories app, which is available for free from the Microsoft Store.

The app will inform you if your controller needs a firmware update. Otherwise, you can use the buttons under the controller image to access additional functionality.



Configure. Select this button to access the controller configuration page, where you can map buttons, swap the thumb sticks, and perform other customizations.



Those with the expensive Xbox Elite Wireless Controller will see more even configuration options here.

More options (...). The display that appears when you select this button helps you find firmware updates and buzz your controller using its built-in vibration capabilities so you can find it when lost.

Test Mode.** Here, you can test each of the buttons your controller to make sure it's working properly.

Find and buy games

If you already own PC games from whatever source—disc-based games purchased at retail, digital games purchased from Steam, Epic Games, and other services, or whatever—you can of course install and play them normally, as you could with previous Windows versions.

But the Microsoft Store also lets you find and purchase games right in Windows. This is described in the Microsoft Store and Apps chapter. But there are a few further nuances related specifically to Microsoft Store games that you should be aware of. So we discuss those here.

Buy an Xbox Live game for Windows 10

Xbox Live games for Windows 10—games that integrate with Microsoft's online community and provide unique features such as achievements, game parties, and so on—are only available via the Microsoft Store.



Xbox Live games for Windows 10 are sometimes referred to, more simply, as Windows 10 games. But this term is ambiguous and incorrect, as there are Windows 10 games available in the Microsoft Store that do not offer Xbox Live functionality.

To find Xbox Live games for Windows 10, open the Store app and navigate to Games. Then, locate the Xbox Live games tile, which is prominently displayed near the top of this area of the store.



Once you select this tile, you will be shown a complete list of the Xbox Live compatible games in the Store. This list includes many blockbuster games, as well as more modest titles made by smaller game studios. And it provides filters to help you fine-tune the grid of displayed games.



From here, the download and purchase processes work as they do with other Store apps and games. Please refer to the Microsoft Store and Apps chapter for more information.

Buy a game that works on both Xbox One and Windows 10

In addition to Xbox Live games, the Microsoft Store also provides a growing list of *Xbox Play Anywhere* games. These games are also Xbox Live games, but when you purchase one, you get additional cross-platform benefits. For example, you can install these games on your Windows 10 PCs *and* your Xbox One console, and play them on both platforms. Furthermore, the games are interchangeable: Your progress is saved between the platforms, and your game saves, add-ons, and achievements apply to both.

Unfortunately, the Microsoft Store does not yet provide a special area for Xbox Play Anywhere games. But when you are viewing such a game in the Store, the description will note whether it is Xbox Play Anywhere compatible.





As a workaround, you can also just visit the Xbox Play Anywhere website with your web browser and view a complete list of these games. You can even buy Windows, Xbox One, and Xbox Play Anywhere games directly from this website.



Play a game

Games work as you would expect. So rather than focus on the basics, this section will instead highlight those things that are unique to games played in Windows, in particular those games you acquire from the Microsoft Store.

Configure and control a game

When you launch a game, it will sometimes run in a windowed display mode, much like a normal app.



This is acceptable for some casual games like *Microsoft Solitaire Collection* or *Candy Crush Soda*. But you may prefer to run games full-screen instead. If a game doesn't automatically switch to the full-screen display mode, type ALT + ENTER. You can do so at any time to toggle a game between windowed and full-screen display modes.



You can also control the display mode on the fly from within a game. To do so, move the mouse cursor to the top edge of the screen—or, on a touch-screen, tap the top edge of the screen—to reveal a title bar with Minimize, Restore, and Close command buttons on the far right.

Microsoft Mahjong	
Puzzle	Challenges

You can use the Restore button to toggle between full-screen and windowed display modes.



Most Store games also provide a display mode option in the in-game settings. The name and location of this option will vary from game-to-game, of course. But most games acquired from the Store will offer a way to enable full-screen mode at all times.

Store games all support keyboard and mouse usage, of course, but many—including all Xbox Live games—also let you use an Xbox Wireless Controller. If your controller is connected when you start the game, it will work immediately and automatically. But each game will provide custom controller configurations as well. Again, you can find these settings from within each game.

Move between platforms with an Xbox Play Anywhere game

As noted earlier in the chapter, Windows supports cross-platform play features courtesy of an Xbox platform feature called Xbox Play Anywhere. When you buy this type of game, you can install it on both your Xbox One and Windows 10 PC. And then you can switch between the two devices; your in-game progress, in-game purchases, achievements, and more moves with you automatically. All you will see is a Syncing data window when you first run these games.



Capture and broadcast your game play content with the Xbox Game Bar

Windows provides a handy feature called the Xbox Game Bar that lets you record and then share your game play experiences—including screenshots, video clips, and even live game broadcasts— with others in unique ways.

You will see a pop-up tip Xbox Game Bar tip whenever Windows has detected that you have launched a game.



And as that tip notes, you can summon the Xbox Game Bar at any time by typing WINKEY + G.



If you are using an Xbox Wireless Controller to play games, you can also display the Xbox Game Bar by pressing its Xbox button (which is white when lit up and located in the center of the controller).

When you do, the Xbox Game Bar and some sub-windows, each with specific functionality, appear as overlays over the game.



The following Xbox Game Bar overlays are available:

Audio. This overlay lets you configure the audio device that will be used for game audio, which can be handy if you wish to use something other than the default audio device in Windows. It also lets you set the volume level for that device globally and individually configure the audio output level for each application and game using the device.

ゆ Audio	$ \scriptstyle <\!$
Speakers (Realtek(R) Audio)	\sim
₫ ₩)	
System sounds বগ্য	
Microsoft People දා))	
System sounds	



Yes, you can access most of this functionality from the Volume icon in the taskbar's notification area. But that icon will be hidden if you're playing a game full-screen, as is often the case.

Broadcast & capture. This handy overlay is the front-end for all of your screenshot, video recording, and broadcasting endeavors. We cover each of these features later in the chapter.



Captures. This overlay displays all of the screenshots and video clips you've captured on this PC so that you can view, copy, or share them with others.



Looking for Group. Looking for Group (LFG) is like Craigslist but for Xbox games, a social destination on Xbox Live that helps you find players you donâ \in^{TM} t already know to play the games you like the most. The overlay lets you scan through a list of available games, read posts from others looking to form a group, and create your own posts. In each case, you can specify options like chat preferences, times, languages, and more.



Performance. This overly provides a peek at your PC's CPU, GPU (graphics), and RAM utilization over time. Those who like to tinker with specific in-game settings can use this overlay as a dashboard that displays the real-world impact of those changes and then configure accordingly.



Spotify. Those who would like to provide their own soundtrack while playing games can do so via the Spotify music subscription service. This neat little widget provides a front-end to your Spotify music collection—including the service's hand-picked video game playlists—and you can optionally redirect the Spotify-based music to any Spotify-compatible speakers, separate from the in-game audio.



Xbox Social. This overlay lets you see which of your friends are online, start and continue chats with them, and search for players and add them to a party.



Each of these overlays is described further as needed below, but each also shares a few identical features. Each overlay can be moved or closed, and most can be resized as well. And most of the overlays can also be pinned so that they always appear while you're playing the game.

Take a screenshot of a game

You can take in-game screenshots two different ways: Using the Xbox Game Bar or using a keyboard shortcut.

If you are playing a game with an Xbox Wireless Controller and a keyboard is not available, the Xbox Game Bar might be your best option: Press the Xbox button on the controller to display the Xbox Game Bar and its overlays and then use the d-pad on the controller to navigate over to the Take screenshot button on the Broadcast & capture overlay. Then, press the (A) button to capture the shot.



If you intend to capture screenshots ths way, you should ensure that the Broadcast & capture overlay is always visible when the Xbox Game Bar is displayed.

Capturing a screenshot with your keyboard is much faster: Just type WINKEY + ALT + PRTSCN.

Either way, a "Screenshot saved" banner will appear to let you know that the capture was successful. And either way, the screenshot is saved to the Captures folder in your Videos folder. (And not to the Screenshots folder in your Pictures folder, as is the case with non-game screenshots.)



You can also view, copy, and share your screenshots by displaying the Xbox Game Bar's Captures overly.

Record a game clip

The Xbox Game Bar lets you capture game clips, which are videos of your in-game play. You can do so continuously in the background as you play, manually start and stop video recording while playing, or record just the previous 30 seconds if something notable just happened in a game and you wish to preserve the memory.

Before capturing a game clip, navigate to Xbox Game Bar settings > Capturing and review the available options. Here, you can determine whether Xbox Game Bar should continuously record all of your game play—this is wisely disabled by default—and which audio, if any, is recorded along with your game play. You can include the in-game audio, of course, but also a microphone and, if you wish, all other audio from apps and the system.





Be sure to correctly configure the Xbox Game Bar's broadcasting options in Windows Settings as well by navigating to Settings > Gaming > Broadcasting.

To record a clip of something that just happened, display the Xbox Game Bar, navigate to the Broadcast & capture overlay and select the "Record last 30 sec" button. That can be tedious, of course, so you can also type WINKEY + ALT + G to initiate this recording immediately.

To arbitrarily start recording in-game video, display the Xbox Game Bar, navigate to the Broadcast & capture overlay and select the "Start recording" button (or, type WINKEY + ALT + R) and optionally toggle your microphone audio on by selecting the "Turn mic on while recording" button (or, by typing WINKEY + ALT + M).

When you're done recording, just select the Stop recording button in the Broadcast & capture overlay. (Or, type WINKEY + ALT + R). When you do, a "Game clip recorded" banner will appear to let you know that the capture was successful. As with in-game screenshots, recorded game clips can be found in the Captures folder in your Videos folder.

Share a game screenshot or clip

Because screenshots and game clips are saved as standard media files to your PC's hard drive, you can easily share them using whatever tools and services you typically use. But the Xbox Game Bar also lets you save screenshots and game clips directly to Twitter without having to exit the game or navigate around your file system.

To do so, display the Xbox Game Bar and enable the Captures overlay. (You can do so via the Home button on the Xbox Game Bar or by using the "Show all captures" link in the Broadcast & capture overlay.)

Xbox and Games



Select the Share to Twitter button. The Share experience appears.



Here, you can add some text to accompany your screenshot or game clip.



Microsoft adds a #PCGaming hash tag to the text and some games, like the one shown here, add their own hashtag as well. You can remove both before sharing.



Your game screenshots and clips are also saved to your Xbox account, so you can access and share them from the Xbox Console Companion app, described later, and from your profile page on Xbox.com on the web.

Broadcast your live game play to others online with Mixer

Microsoft owns a video game live streaming service called Mixer that lets you broadcast your ingame play online at any time for free. If you have an Xbox Live account, you have a Mixer account, and getting started is easy once you've configured that account on Mixer.com.

To live broadcast a game session, display the Xbox Game Bar, navigate to the Broadcast & capture overlay and select the "Start broadcasting" button. Too much work? You can also type WINKEY + ALT + B.

The Configure Broadcast window appears.



Be sure to scroll down, as there are a number of options you can configure here if you'd like. These include:

Stream window. Typically, you will want this set to "Game," the default choice. But you can also choose "Desktop."

Webcam. Here, you determine where your webcam image—in a picture-in-picture (PiP) window—will appear. The default is "Bottom right."

Stream title. This is typically set to *your-Mixer-username*'s Channel, but you can customize how it will appear on Mixer if you'd like.

Microphone on for broadcast. Toggle this on if you would like to broadcast your voice over the default microphone.

Camera on for broadcast. Toggle this on if you would like to broadcast your webcam video along with your game play.

Select the Start broadcast button when you're ready.

While you play, your game play is being broadcast, live, on Mixer.com. My live game play, for example, can be seen at mixer.com/thurrott.



As you can see, a second Broadcast & capture overlay appears while you are broadcasting so that you can interact with any fans watching you and see a preview of what the broadcast looks like on the web.

To stop the live broadcast, display the Xbox Game Bar, navigate to the Broadcast & capture overlay and select the "Stop broadcasting" button. Yes, you can also type WINKEY + ALT + B.

Use the Xbox Console Companion app to interact with the Xbox Live community

While most of this chapter focuses on activities related to playing games on your PC, Windows also includes an Xbox Console Companion app that is worth examining. Yes, as its name suggests, much of this app's functionality will be of particular interest to those who own an Xbox One video game console. But the app also lets you interact with your Xbox Live account, and your Xbox friends, groups, clubs, parties, and more.



There's a lot of functionality in the app, but here are some key activities:

View and edit your Xbox Live profile. Select your user name in the top left corner of the app to display your Xbox Live profile. Here, you can see and edit information about your account, view your personal activity feed, view your achievements, view your friends and others you're following (including games), and access your captures (which are screenshots and game clips).



View your activity feed. In the Home view, you'll find an Activity feed, similar to that on social media services like Facebook and Twitter, that helps you keep up to date with what your friends are playing and doing on Xbox Live. Your own activities will be posted here, too, and you can "like" and comments on posts.


Interact with games you've played. The My games view lists of all of the Xbox games you've installed on your PC. And the Recently played area in the Home view will show you the games you've played most recently across PC, console, and mobile.



Interact with friends and clubs. In the Friends & clubs area of the Home view, you can see your friends and interact with your friends, with those who are currently online listed at the top along with a description of the game or other activity in which they are engaged. You can select a friend to view their profile, invite them to play a game, send a message, and more.



Interact with parties. Xbox Live supports two ways for playing games with others online. You can create a party and then invite others you know to join the party. Or you can use the Looking for Group (LFG) feature to try and hook up with people you don't know who wish to play the same game as you. You access both of these methods for team play via the Parties area of the Home view.



See your achievements. If you browse to the Achievements view, you can see the achievements you've earned in each Xbox Live game you've played (across PC, console, and mobile) and see how your friends are faring in their own in-game pursuits of achievements. Better still, when you drill down into a particular game, you can also see your progress towards achievements you've yet to earn.



View and share your screenshots and game clips. The Captures view lets you view the screenshots and game clips you've saved on the current PC and on other devices (PC, console, and mobile). When viewing a capture from another device, you can download it to your current PC. And all captures can be shared to your activity feed, a club, via an Xbox message, or on Twitter.



Browse the Microsoft Store for games to buy. While you're generally better off browsing the Microsoft Store via the dedicated Store app in Windows, the version embedded in the Xbox Console Companion app does have one advantage: You can use it to purchase a game for your Xbox One and then have that game remotely installed on the console.

Snip & Sketch	- • ×	WINDOWS INK WO	RKSPACE
	₽ & ∅ 4	Sticky Notes	- X
	Call the Sentist	Sketchpad	
	tomorrow	Snip & Sketchall And Tomov	the tist pow
		Recently used	2 🛋 🗉 💡
		Suggested Bamboo Paper Wacom Europe G	Get more pen apps imbH
Type here to search	O Ħ 🔁 📜	🖻 🐼 🗾 🗠 🖻	 (作。 印)) (引) (1) (1)<

Windows 10 provides deeply integrated Windows Ink capabilities. And while Windows Ink is broadly supported by Store apps, the star of the show is the Windows Ink Workspace, which works as a mini Start menu, of sorts, for your pen computing experiences.



Windows Ink is designed specifically for PCs with digital pens, like the electromagnetic smartpens that Microsoft provides for its Surface PCs. For this reason, we cover Windows Ink and the Windows Ink Workspace from the perspective of a smartpen user. But you will discover that many of these features also work with multi-touch (on compatible PCs) or even with a keyboard and mouse too.

Get to know Windows Ink Workspace

To display the Windows Ink Workspace, select the Windows Ink Workspace taskbar button, which you'll find in the system tray area to the right in the taskbar.





If you do not see this button, right-click the taskbar and select "Show Windows Ink Workspace button" from the pop-up menu that appears.

Windows Ink Workspace appears as a pop-up panel on the right side of the screen. It provides a frontend to key Ink-enabled apps that Microsoft includes with Windows, recently-used Ink-enabled apps, a suggested Ink-enabled app, and a link to Pen & Windows Ink settings.





There's no keyboard shortcut for Windows Ink Workspace. But if you have a compatible active pen for your PC, you can also launch Windows Ink Workspace by double-clicking the pen's top (eraser) button, if there is one. You can configure how your pen works in Settings > Devices > Pen & Windows Ink.

The three primary apps offered by Windows Ink Workspace are:

Sticky Notes. This playful note-taking and reminder solution is modeled on paper-based sticky notes.



Sketchpad. The Sketchpad tool lets you sketch and draw on a digital canvas and create sketches and doodles of your own using tools like pens, brushes, and even an on-screen ruler.



Snip & Sketch. This unique tool lets you take a screenshot and then draw doodles, notes, and more on top of it.



Each of these apps is described in more detail below.



Windows Ink Workspace is not available in Start. But you can launch Ink-enabled apps as you do any other apps, via Start—including Start search and the All Apps list—or from the taskbar, if you pin them there first.

Configure Windows Ink and your pen

Since Windows Ink is such an unfamiliar topic for most Windows users, you should spend some time examining the available options for both this feature and the pen you will use with your PC.

You can find these options by accessing the Pen & Ink Settings link in Windows Ink Workspace. Or, simply navigate to Settings > Devices > Pen & Windows Ink.



Some key options to consider include:

Choose which hand you write with. It's configured to right-handed use by default, so lefties will want to make sure to configure this for left-handed use.

Size of font when writing directly into text field. Most Microsoft Store apps are natively compatible with Windows Ink and will work normally if you select a text field in such an app. This option lets you determine the size of the font, with Small, Medium (default), and Large sizes.

Font used when handwriting. Likewise, you can determine which font is used when you select a text field in a compatible Microsoft Store app.

Pen shortcuts. By default, the Screen Snipping tool appears when you single-click its eraser (shortcut) button. You can change this to behavior and configure what happens when you double-click or (if supported) press and hold this button too.

o ×

☆ Home	Pen & Windows Ink
Find a setting	Pen shortcuts
Devices	If your pen has a shortcut button, choose what to do when you press it. You might need to pair your pen via Bluetooth first.
Bluetooth & other devices	\rightarrow
🛱 Printers & scanners	Click once
() Mouse	Screen Snipping
Touchpad	Double-click Windows lak Workspace
I Typing	Snip & Sketch ~
🖉 Pen & Windows Ink	
🕞 AutoPlay	Windows Ink Workspace
Ü USB	Sticky Notes
	Allow apps to override the shortcut button behavior



There is also an option under Pen shortcuts that you can enable to open Windows Ink Workspace notes with your active pen's eraser button even when the PC is locked. This is disabled by default for privacy reasons.

Use Sticky Notes to take notes and set reminders

Sticky Notes works much like it did in previous versions of Windows. But it now sports additional capabilities, including the ability to sync your notes with Sticky Notes on other PCs, with Outlook, and elsewhere.



You'll be prompted to enable this sync capability the first time you use Sticky Notes. But you can configure it at any time via the Settings cog in the main Sticky Notes window.

- o ×



By default, Sticky Notes displays two floating windows: The Notes list window and a single blank sticky note. You can close the Notes list window if you find it distracting. And, as noted below, you can create more Sticky Notes any time you wish.

Take a note

Note-taking works as expected: Using your keyboard or smartpen, you can simply write on the note normally.



You can also use the supplied formatting tools to use bold, italicized, underlined, or struck-through text, create a bullet list (for a to-do list or similar), or insert a picture.



To change the color of the sticky note, display the Notes list (if you previously closed it), or delete the it, select the Menu ("…") button.



To create a new sticky note, select the New note ("+") button in any Sticky Notes window.



You can also resize a sticky note as you do with other windows, by grabbing a note edge or corner and dragging.

Manage your notes

You manage your notes with the Notes list window. Here, you will see a thumbnail representing each note you've taken.

0 Sticky Notes writ Search... 1:45 PM 1 CON Wrin

As you create more sticky notes, this window will collect each in turn so that you can access them later.



To close or delete a sticky note from here, select the Menu ("...") button in any note thumbnail and then select "Close note" or "Delete note" as required.

Understand and enable Cortana Insights

Thanks to a Sticky Notes feature called *Cortana Insights*, you can also set reminders, call written phone numbers with Skype, send an email to a written email address, and view a written web address (URL) using your default web browser, all from within a sticky note.

You will need to enable this functionality first, however. To do so, open the Notes list window and select the Settings (gear) icon. Then, change the option Enable insights to "On."

Set a reminder

If you've enabled Cortana Insights as noted above, you can create Cortana reminders using Sticky Notes, assuming this feature is available in your locale.

To do so, write text on a sticky note that includes a time or date. As you write, you will see that the time or date is highlighted in blue. In Sticky Notes, blue text is actionable using Cortana Insights, and in this case, you will be able to create a reminder.

For example, text with the word "tomorrow" can be converted into a Cortana reminder.



When you select the blue text, an "Add Reminder" button appears.

+				\times
Call the dentist tomorrow				
	tomorrow			
	Add Reminder			

Select that button to launch Cortana and then edit (if necessary) and complete the reminder.





Cortana requires access to your Microsoft account for this feature to work. So you must sign-in to Windows with your Microsoft account or enable this access when prompted.

As you might imagine, various date-related words will trigger Cortana Insights and let you create reminders. You can also use terms like "Tuesday," "at 10 am," and so on.

Do more with Cortana Insights

If you've enabled Cortana Insights as noted above, you can also perform certain actions when you write a phone number, address, or web address, and more in a sticky note. As with a reminder, that text will likewise by highlighted in blue, indicating that it is actionable.

A few examples:

Phone number. When you write a string of numbers that is identifiable as a phone number, Sticky Notes will let you select that string of numbers and call it using Skype. (Note that you must have Skype credit associated with your Skype account to use this functionality.)



Address. If you add an address to a sticky note, you can select that address and Sticky Notes will display insights about the location, if available, and let you save it or get directions with the Maps app, or copy the address as text.

+ >	A Buckeye Rd
Trapp Door 4226 Chestnut Street Emmaus. PA 18049	the set
4226 Chestnut Street Emmaus, PA 18049 View Address	Ford Dr Mill Rd Mill Rd © 2019 Microsoft Corporation, © 2019 HERE
	4226 Chestnut Street, Emmaus, PA 18049
	Powered by Windows Maps 🖬
	🙀 Save in Maps 🚸 Directions 🗈 Copy

Web address. Web addresses (text that ends in .com or similar) will be highlighted in blue. You can select this text to view the web address (URL) in your default web browser.



Access your sticky notes on the web or mobile

Microsoft doesn't make a Sticky Notes app available on other platforms like the Mac, Android, or the iPhone, but you can still access, edit, and manage your sticky notes on the go thanks to integration with OneNote.

To access your sticky notes on the web—say, from a Mac—open a web browser and navigate to www.onenote.com/stickynotes



To access your sticky notes from your smartphone, install the OneNote app, sign-in with your Microsoft account, and then select the Sticky Notes tab at the bottom of the app.



Use Sketchpad to create a digital sketch

Sketchpad can be used to create a digital sketch, so you can demonstrate something or solve a problem visually. So it's part artistic tool and part productivity solution.



Sketchpad includes various tools, including pens, pencils, highlighters, an eraser, and a ruler. And it works nicely with both pen and multi-touch simultaneously. For example, you can draw with your pen while you manipulate the on-screen ruler with your other hand.

Create a digital sketch

Sketchpad provides a single blank canvas, meaning you can only work with a single sketch at a time. If there is an existing sketch in the app already, you can use the Clear all tool, which can be found in the Sketchpad toolbar and resembles a trashcan.





You can, of course, use the Save as icon in the toolbar to save a copy of your sketch in the popular PNG graphics format. It works more like an Export function than a real Save, as the PNG file "flattens" the sketch, meaning you can no longer access individual strokes as you can while the sketch is still in the app.

The other tools work as expected. The Pen, Pencil, and Highlighter tools all support multiple color and stroke size choices, for example.



Use the ruler to draw a straight line

While Sketchpad's Pen, Pencil, Highlighter, and Eraser tools provide no surprises, this app also include a unique Ruler stencil that helps you draw perfectly straight lines.

To do so, select Ruler from the toolbar, position the on-screen stencil with one or both hands then draw a line (using the Pen, Pencil or Highlighter tools) against one of its edges using your pen.



Take note of the compass indicator on the ruler: It displays the angle of the ruler so you can be as accurate as needed.

Use Snip & Sketch to draw on the screen

Snip & Sketch is a unique, pen-enabled way to take a screenshot: After you capture a screenshot, it lets you use the same tools found in Sketchpad, described above, to annotate the image with text, doodles, or straight lines.



There are a few unique features to consider here.

New Snip. You can trigger a new screenshot, which Snip & Sketch calls a "snip," at any time by selecting the New Snip toolbar button (or by typing CTRL + N). The snipping bar appears, letting you choose between four different screenshot types: A rectangular area, a freeform snip, a window snip, or a fullscreen snip.





You can click the eraser (shortcut) button on your smartpen or type WINKEY + SHIFT + S at any time while using Windows to invoke the Snip & Sketch snipping bar.

Time-delayed snip. If you select the carat next to New Snip, you can perform a time-delayed screenshot instead.



Open File. You can doodle or draw on any screenshot you've already taken—or on any image, really; Snip & Sketch supports a surprisingly wide range of image types—by using the Open File toolbar button (or by typing CTRL + O).

Save. Save (CTRL + S) works much like the similar function in Sketchpad except that it also supports saving to JPEG and GIF formats in addition to PNG.

Revision History

The *Windows 10 Field Guide* has been continually updated since the initial release in November 2015. Here is a detailed list of every major content change. The latest updates are at the top.

May 2020

• The Microsoft Edge chapter has been completely rewritten for the new, Chromium-based version of Microsoft Edge. Because this is essentially a new chapter, it may require further additions in the future.

April 2020

- The Install Windows 10 chapter has been extensively updated for Windows 10 versions 2004/20H1. We removed the content about upgrading an existing PC from Windows 7/8.x and restructured the rest of the content to focus on setting up a new PC first, followed by power user topics like creating Setup media and clean installing Windows 10.
- I heard you missed us, we're back! While we have made small changes here and there since September, we are now updating this book for Windows 10 versions 2004 and 20H1! We will start with high-value targets like the Microsoft Edge chapter, which will exclusively cover the Chromium-based version of Edge, and the Install Windows 10 chapter.

September 2019

• The Calendar chapter has been updated to address improvements to new event creation from the desktop that were added in Windows 10 version 1909.

August 2019

- The Microsoft Edge chapter has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903. This update also marks an important milestone: Every chapter in the *Windows 10 Field Guide* has been updated for the latest version of Windows 10. Aside from a few small changes, it is likewise fully up-to-date for the *next* version of Windows 10, called Windows 10 version 1909.
- The Devices chapter has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903.
- I removed all references to Microsoft's ebook store and functionality from the Microsoft Edge chapter ahead of its update for Windows 10 version 1903.
- The System Recovery chapter has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903.
- The Movies & TV chapter has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903.

- The Groove Music chapter has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903.
- The Files and Storage chapter has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903.

July 2019

- The Phone chapter has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903 and now covers Android notification sync in the Your Phone app.
- The Install Windows 10 chapter has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903.
- The Personalize chapter has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903.
- The Microsoft Store and Apps chapter has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903.
- The Windows Ink chapter has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903.
- Thanks to reader feedback, the Get to Know Windows 10 chapter was updated to fix an error regarding Windows 10 Home's ability to pause updates.
- The Networking chapter has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903.
- The Security chapter has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903.
- The User Accounts chapter has been renamed to Accounts and fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903. More dramatically, this chapter is now the central location in the book for the so-called email accounts that are used with Mail, Calendar, and People. So those chapters have likewise been updated to remove the duplicate content and point to the Accounts chapter instead.
- The OneNote chapter has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903.

June 2019

- The Maps chapter has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903.
- The Skype chapter has been completely rewritten for Windows 10 version 1903 and now covers the Skype for Windows 10 app.
- The Xbox and Games chapter has been completely rewritten for Windows 10 version 1903 and now covers the new version of the Xbox Game Bar.

May 2019.

- The Photos chapter has been completely rewritten for Windows 10 version 1903 and now covers the app's new editing and video creation capabilities.
- The Basic Navigation and Usage chapter was renamed to Get to Know Windows 10. It has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903.
- The Calendar chapter has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903.
- The People chapter has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903. Information about My People has been removed because Microsoft is deprecating this feature.

April 2019.

• The Mail chapter has been fully updated for Windows 10 version 1903.

January 2019.

- We moved the publication history for *Windows 10 Field Guide* to a new section called Revision History, which is now available at the end of the book. It was getting too long to leave it at the front.
- The Phone chapter was fully updated for Windows 10 version 1809, including information about the Your Phone app.
- The Devices chapter was fully updated for Windows 10 version 1809.
- The System Recovery chapter was fully updated for Windows 10 version 1809.

December 2018.

- The Files and Storage chapter was fully updated for Windows 10 version 1809.
- The Personalize chapter was fully updated for Windows 10 version 1809. This includes both new content additions and the removal of some personalization features that should now be obvious to most Windows 10 users.
- The Basic Navigation and Usage chapter was fully updated for Windows 10 version 1809.

November 2018

• The Install Windows 10 chapter was updated for Windows 10 version 1809.

September 2018

• The Microsoft Edge chapter was updated for Windows 10 version 1809.

August 2018

- The Groove Music chapter was updated for Windows 10 version 1809.
- The Microsoft Store and Apps chapter was updated for Windows 10 version 1809.
- The Movies & TV chapter was updated for Windows 10 version 1809 and now includes content about Movies Anywhere integration.

July 2018

• The Windows Ink chapter was updated to cover new features in Windows 10 version 1803 and to ensure that all of the shots featured Ink-based handwriting where applicable.

June 2018

• The Microsoft Edge chapter received a minor content update regarding "Ask Cortana" and web-based pictures.

May 2018

• The Microsoft Edge chapter was significantly updated to cover new features in Windows 10 version 1803.

April 2018

- The Camera and MSN Money, News, Sports, and Weather chapters were removed from the book since these apps are not central to the Windows 10 experience.
- The Security chapter was updated for Windows 10 version 1803.
- The User Accounts chapter was updated for Windows 10 version 1803.
- The Networking chapter was updated for Windows 10 version 1803.
- We fixed a number of typos throughout the book, thanks to reader feedback.

March 2018

- We have decided to update the book to support changes in Windows 10 version 1803, Windows 10 on ARM, and S mode. As with previous updates to the book, these will be provided for free to *Windows 10 Field Guide* readers. Thanks to everyone for their support.
- The Groove Music chapter was completely updated to ensure it is accurate for the Windows 10 Fall Creators Update and Windows 10 S. This included a few additions, but also the removal of content related to the discontinued Groove Music Pass.
- Corrected some screenshot mistakes in the Install Windows 10 chapter.
- The Basic Navigation and Usage chapter was completely updated to ensure it is accurate for the Windows 10 Fall Creators Update and Windows 10 S. In addition, the Windows Update section was expanded.
- The previously separate Clean Install Windows 10 and Upgrade to Windows 10 chapters were consolidated into a single new chapter called Install Windows 10. The chapter has been completely updated to ensure it is accurate for the Windows 10 Fall Creators Update and Windows 10 S.

February 2018

- The Clean Install Windows 10 chapter was completely updated to ensure it is accurate for the Windows 10 Fall Creators Update and Windows 10 S.
- The File History content was moved from the Backup and Recovery chapter to the Files and Storage chapter.

Revision History

• The Backup and Recovery chapter was renamed to System Recovery and completely updated with a new structure and to accommodate fundamental changes to these tools in the Fall Creators Update. This chapter was reviewed to ensure it is accurate for Windows 10 S as well.

December 2017

• Phone is a new chapter that covers Windows 10's smartphone integration functionality.

November 2017

- The Devices chapter was completely updated to ensure it is accurate for the Windows 10 Fall Creators Update and Windows 10 S. A section about smartphones was removed because it is being made into a new chapter.
- The Files and Storage chapter was completely updated to ensure it is accurate for the Windows 10 Fall Creators Update and Windows 10 S.
- The book's cover has been updated for Windows 10 S and the Fall Creators Update.

October 2017

- The Movies & TV chapter was completely updated to ensure it is accurate for the Windows 10 Fall Creators Update and Windows 10 S.
- The Personalize chapter was completely updated to ensure it is accurate for the Windows 10 Fall Creators Update and Windows 10 S.
- The Apps and Store chapter was renamed to Store and Apps and was completely updated to ensure it is accurate for the Windows 10 Fall Creators Update and Windows 10 S.

September 2017

- The Microsoft Edge chapter was completely updated to ensure it is accurate for the Windows 10 Fall Creators Update and Windows 10 S.
- The People chapter was completely updated to ensure it is accurate for the Windows 10 Fall Creators Update and Windows 10 S.
- The Mail and Calendar chapters were both updated for our new sidebar styles. Now, "Note," "Tip," and "Warning" sidebars will be called out in a more obvious and visually-appealing way. Subsequent chapter updates will incorporate this new style as well.
- The Calendar chapter was completely updated to ensure it is accurate for the Windows 10 Fall Creators Update and Windows 10 S.
- The Mail chapter was completely updated to ensure it is accurate for the Windows 10 Fall Creators Update and Windows 10 S.

June to August 2017

Sorry for the lack of updates: As you may have heard, Paul suddenly and unexpectedly moved to Pennsylvania and this created a months-long interruption. But things are settled now, so we're actively working to update the book again. The good news? We're moving forward to the Windows 10 Fall Creators Update (version 1709) so all future updates will address that version of Windows 10, as well as Windows 10 S. As a thank you for your support and patience, all of the Fall Creators Update content we add will be free for everyone who has purchased *Windows 10 Field Guide*. We hope to update the book quickly going forward.

May 2017

- The Mail chapter was completely updated to cover new features in the Creators Update.
- The Clean Install Windows 10 chapter was completely updated to cover new features in the Creators Update.

April 2017

- The Movies & TV chapter was completely updated to cover new features in the Creators Update.
- The Microsoft Edge chapter was completely updated to cover new features in the Creators Update.

March 2017

We're moving forward to the Windows 10 Creators Update (version 1703) so all future updates will address that version of Windows 10. Creators Update content is free for everyone who has purchased *Windows 10 Field Guide*. Thank you for your support.

- Please enjoy Martin's beautiful new book cover, which was completely redesigned for the Creators Update.
- The Personalize chapter was completely updated for the Creators Update and a new section called "Eliminate the biggest annoyances in Windows 10" has been added.
- The Xbox chapter was extensively updated for the Creators Update with a new section structure and lots of new content covering new features like Xbox Play Anywhere, Game Mode, Beam broadcasting, and more, and improvements to existing features like Game bar and the Xbox app. (This chapter will receive further updates as well.)

January 2017

• User Accounts chapter is updated for the Anniversary Update. The section "Use Microsoft Family to protect a child account" has been temporarily removed so that it can be significantly updated (and potentially moved).

November 2016

• Security chapter is completely updated for the Anniversary Update.

October 2016

- Personalize chapter is completely updated for the Anniversary Update.
- A new Windows Ink chapter has been added. This chapter covers the Windows Ink Workspace, Sticky Notes, Sketchpad, and Screen Sketch.

September 2016

- Upgrade to Windows 10 chapter is updated for changes in the Anniversary update. Some of those changes involved the removal of content related to the now-expired free Windows 10 upgrade offer.
- Clean Install Windows 10 chapter is updated for changes in the Anniversary update. Some of those changes involved the removal of content related to the now-expired free Windows 10 upgrade offer.
- Removed the Windows 10 At A Glance chapter because it seems superfluous.
- Maps chapter is updated for new Anniversary Update functionality. There is new information throughout the chapter, and many sections have been reorganized.

August 2016

- Cortana and Search chapter is renamed to Cortana since it only covers that functionality. This chapter has also been updated with new content and a small reorganization.
- Basic Navigation and Usage chapter is updated to address changes in the Anniversary Update.
- Camera chapter gets a significant update with a small reorganization and some new content.
- Movies & TV chapter gets a significant update with a reorganization and new content.
- People chapter is updated throughout to address changes since the Windows 10 version 1511 release.
- Mail chapter is reorganized and updated throughout with new content about linked inboxes, configuring Conversation View, and more.

July 2016

- Calendar chapter is reorganized a bit and updated throughout.
- Minor update to the Groove chapter adds new Explore content and a small reorganization of the music discovery section.
- A number of typos are fixed, thanks to reader feedback.

- Backup and Recovery chapter is updated for new Anniversary Update functionality, primarily the new Refresh Windows tool. The chapter has also been reorganized a bit and updated throughout.
- Apps and Store chapter is updated for new Anniversary Update functionality. There is new information throughout the chapter, and many sections have been reorganized.

June 2016

- A number of typos are fixed, thanks to reader feedback.
- Networking chapter is partially updated for new Anniversary Update features like Hotspot 2.0 support and paid Wi-Fi networks. The Wi-Fi Sense section was updated to accommodate changes to this feature. And a new section about broadband cellular connections was added. A later update will expand the Hotspot 2.0 and Paid Wi-Fi Services content.
- Groove Music chapter is fully updated for new Anniversary Update features like Your Groove, which replaces the iHeartRadio content from previous versions of the book, and Cortana support.
- Microsoft Edge chapter is fully updated for new Anniversary Update features like extensions, tab pins, and Windows Hello support.

March 2016

• Added the section "Automatically save screenshots to OneDrive" to the Basic Navigation and Usage chapter.

February 2016

- Expanded the "Uninstall an app" section in the Apps and Store chapter.
- Windows 10 Field Guide Poster updated with general corrections to graphics, resized square sizes, a new content tile on removable storage, content and graphical updates to the "Configure Your Star Menu" and "Cortana" sections, a modified Coffee Cup graphic header, and high DPI vector tips tidying.

January 2016

- Fixed image formatting in the MSN Money, News, Sports, and Weather; Networking; OneNote Mobile; People; Personalize; Photos; Skype; Upgrade to Windows 10; User Accounts; Windows 10 At A Glance; and Xbox and Games chapters.
- Updated the section "Use Windows Defender to protect your PC from viruses and malware" and renamed it to "Protect your PC from viruses and malware."
- Fixed image formatting in the Mail, Movies & TV, and Security chapters.

- Fixed image formatting in Apps and Store, Backup and Recovery, Basic Navigation and Usage, Calendar, Camera, Clean Install Windows 10, Cortana and Search, Devices, Edge, Files and Storage, and Groove Music chapters.
- Various typos and small changes.
- Added "Create iHeartRadio radio stations with Groove" section to Groove Music chapter.
- Fixed some formatting issues in the Basic Navigation chapter.

November 2015

• Initial public release

Quick Reference Sheets

Windows 10 Tips and Tricks



Configure File Explorer Quick Access Quick Access is the default view in File Explorer. It lets you view your recent and frequently accessed files and folders. You can change the default to open to This PC instead. Open File Explorer and select View then Options. In the Folder Options window, click "Open File Explorer" drop-down menu at top, select the "This PC" option. File Home Share View Quick access Quick access Quick access Pownloads Pictures Pictures

Scrolling Inactive Window

In Windows 10, there is a new option that lets you scroll inactive Windows. It is enabled by default and lets you to scroll through content across open Windows without shifting focus between Windows. For example, scrolling through content in two open snapped instances of your browser.

If desirable, you can disable the ability in your Mouse and touchpad settings.



Pin Settings App Categories to Start menu

In addition to pinning programs and features to the Start menu, you can also pin the Settings app categories to the Start menu in Windows 10. You can even drill down further and pin individual settings to the Start menu and have all your important and frequently used settings within easy reach.



Disable Auto-Enhance in the Photos app

Photos is a new application that allows you to manage your photo collections on your PC and in OneDrive.

The Photo app will automatically auto-enhance your pictures for the best viewing experience, but you can disable this default feature if not required.



Windows 10 Quick Access Menu

This shortcut launches the Quick Access menu, which contains access to all the advanced Windows features you'll ever need.

You can access the Mobility Center, Computer Management, elevated Command Prompt, Control Panel, and shut down options.



Copyright © 2015 by Paul Thurrott, Rafael Rivera and Martin McClean.

Configure your Start menu

Reference With Windows 10, Microsoft has changed Start. Users with traditional form factor PCs will see a Start menu, as they did in Windows 7 and before, while those with tablets and other touch-first devices will see a full-screen Start experience similar to the one in Windows 8.1. You're also free to choose either Start style, regardless of your PC, and make a host of other customization changes to Start.

In Windows 10, you can easily organize new apps and desktop programs in one central location. You can pin applications to your Start menu or taskbar, group your applications, resize your tiles, add or remove tiles, manage your list of files and folders and even change your background color. If you need more space, you can easily resize the Start menu to make it bigger.



Start Menu and Action Center

Paul Thurrott

Sign out of your PC, switch accounts, or change your account picture.

Most used

Put the apps that you use every day in easy reach



interface, you can manage your notifications and access quick settings like rotation lock, screen brightness, and more.

Windows Store



Reference



Enhanced Snap

Reference Snap allows you to arrange your open windows by dragging and dropping a window to different edges of the screen. Snap has been enhanced with Snap Assist and you can now snap windows to all four quadrants of the screen.



- Snap to left or right upper quadrants.
- 2 Snap to the left or right lower quadrants.
- 3 Snap to the left or right sides of the display
- 4 Snap to the top or bottom of the display



The Snap Assist feature displays a list of thumbnails representing open windows in your empty screen

If you click on the desired application thumbnail, it will be snapped to the remaining available space.

Windows Hello

Windows Hello is a biometric sign-in feature that lets you to unlock your PC in new ways. It can recognize you and allow you access to your computing devices. In addition to passwords, picture passwords, PINs and smartcards, Windows 10 adds new sign-in types. Specifically, a fingerprint press, a facial scan or iris (eye) scan. New cameras are required for facial or iris scans. However, you can use Windows Hello with existing Windows fingerprint scanners.



If you want to configure your login options, go to your Start menu and navigate to Settings | Accounts | Sign-in options to set up Windows Hello.

You must have a PC that has a fingerprint reader or a

supported camera. With the right equipment, you will be able to sign in with a quick swipe or glance.



Copyright © 2015 by Paul Thurrott, Rafael Rivera and Martin McClean.
Continuum

Reference Windows 10 accommodates tablets and full-size PCs with a new feature known as Continuum. For convertible devices, a touch-enabled tablet. In each case, it switches the user interface to accommodate the way you're working, giving you the best environment for your needs.

